Confidential draft submitted on September 16, 2020.

This draft registration statement has not been filed publicly with the
Securities and Exchange Commission and all information contained herein remains strictly confidential.
Registration No. 333-

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, DC 20549

FORM S-1
REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933

PUBMATIC, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 7370 20-5863224
(State or other jurisdiction of (Primary Standard Industrial (L.LR.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Classification Code Number) Identification Number)

3 Lagoon Drive, Suite 180
Redwood City, California 94065
(650) 331-3485
(Address, including zip code, and telephone number, including area code, of registrant’s principal executive offices)

Rajeev K. Goel
Chief Executive Officer
PubMatic, Inc.
3 Lagoon Drive, Suite 180
Redwood City, California 94065
(650) 331-3485
(Name, address, including zip code, and telephone number, including area code, of agent for service)

Mark Stevens, Esq. Thomas C. Chow, Esq. Tad Freese, Esq.
James D. Evans, Esq. General Counsel and Secretary Latham & Watkins LLP
Nicolas H.R. Dumont, Esq. PubMatic, Inc. 140 Scott Drive
Eli Curi, Esq. 3 Lagoon Drive, Suite 180 Menlo Park, California 94025
Fenwick & West LLP Redwood City, California 94065 (650) 328-4600
801 California Street (650) 331-3485

Mountain View, California 94041
(650) 988-8500

Approximate date of commencement of proposed sale to the public: As soon as practicable after the effective date of this registration statement.

If any of the securities being registered on this form are to be offered on a delayed or continuous basis pursuant to Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the
“Securities Act”) check the following box. O

If this Form is filed to register additional securities for an offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration
statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering. O

If this Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(c) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement
number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering. O

If this Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(d) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement
number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering. O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth
company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company”, and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

Large accelerated filer O Accelerated filer O
Non-accelerated filer Smaller reporting company [
Emerging growth company

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial
accounting standards provided to Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act.

CALCULATION OF REGISTRATION FEE

Title of each class of securities Proposed maximum aggregate Amount of
to be registered offering price (@ registration fee
Class A common stock, $0.0001 par value per share $ $

(1) Estimated solely for the purpose of calculating the amount of the registration fee in accordance with Rule 457(0) of the Securities Act.

(2) Includes the additional shares that the underwriters have the option to purchase from the Registrant.

The Registrant hereby amends this Registration Statement on such date or dates as may be necessary to delay its effective date until the Registrant shall file a
further amendment which specifically states that this Registration Statement shall thereafter become effective in accordance with Section 8(a) of the Securities Act
of 1933, as amended, or until the Registration Statement shall become effective on such date as the Securities and Exchange Commission, acting pursuant to said
Section 8(a), may determine.




EXPLANATORY NOTE

Pursuant to the applicable provisions of the Fixing America’s Surface Transportation Act, we are omitting our financial statements as of June 30,
2020 and for the six month periods ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 because they relate to a historical period that we believe will not be required to
be included in the prospectus at the time of the contemplated offering. We intend to amend the registration statement to include all financial
information required by Regulation S-X at the date of such amendment before distributing a preliminary prospectus to investors.



PRELIMINARY PROSPECTUS
Shares

Matic

Class A Common Stock

This is an initial public offering of shares of Class A common stock of PubMatic, Inc. We are offering shares of our Class A common
stock, and the selling stockholders are offering shares of Class A common stock. We will not receive any proceeds from the sale of
shares by the selling stockholders. We have two classes of authorized common stock, Class A common stock and Class B common stock.
The rights of the holders of Class A common stock and Class B common stock are identical, except with respect to voting and conversion
rights. Each share of Class A common stock is entitled to one vote . Each share of Class B common stock is entitled to votes and is
convertible into one share of Class A common stock. Immediately following the completion of this offering, outstanding shares of Class B
common stock will represent approximately % of the voting power of our outstanding capital stock, and our directors, executive officers,
and 5% stockholders, and their respective affiliates will hold approximately % of the voting power of our outstanding capital stock.

Prior to this offering, there has been no public market for our Class A common stock. The initial public offering price of the Class A common
stock is expected to be between $ and $ per share. We intend to apply to list our Class A common stock on
under the symbol “PUBM.”

We are an “emerging growth company” as defined under federal securities laws and, as such, have elected to comply with certain reduced
public company reporting requirements.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these securities or
determined if this prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

Investing in our Class A common stock involves risks. See “Risk Factors” on page 14.

Underwriting Proceeds to Proceeds to
Price to Discounts and PubMatic Selling Stockholders
Public Commissions" (before expenses) (before expenses)
Per Share $ $ $ $
Total $ $ $ $

(1) See the section titled “Underwriting” for a description of the compensation payable to the underwriters.

We and the selling stockholders have granted the underwriters the option to purchase up to an additional shares of Class A
common stock at the initial public offering price, less the underwriting discount.

Delivery of the shares of Class A common stock will be made on or about , 2020.

Joint Book-Running Managers

Jefferies RBC Capital Markets

, 2020
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Neither we, the selling stockholders, nor the underwriters have authorized anyone to provide any information or to make any
representations other than those contained in this prospectus or in any free writing prospectuses prepared by or on behalf of us or to
which we have referred you. Neither we, the selling stockholders, nor the underwriters take any responsibility for, and can provide no
assurance as to the reliability of, any other information that others may give you. This prospectus is an offer to sell only the shares
offered hereby, but only under circumstances and in jurisdictions where it is lawful to do so. The information contained in this prospectus
or in any applicable free writing prospectus is current only as of its date, regardless of its time of delivery or any sale of shares of our
Class A common stock. Our business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects may have changed since that date.

Until (25 days after the date of this prospectus), all dealers that buy, sell, or trade shares of our Class A common stock, whether
or not participating in this offering, may be required to deliver a prospectus. This is in addition to the dealers’ obligation to deliver a
prospectus when acting as underwriters and with respect to their unsold allotments or subscriptions.

For investors outside of the United States: Neither we, the selling stockholders, nor the underwriters have done anything that would
permit this offering or possession or distribution of this prospectus in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required, other
than in the United States. Persons outside the United States are required to inform themselves about, and to observe any restrictions
relating to, this offering, and the distribution of this prospectus outside of the United States.



PROSPECTUS SUMMARY

The following summary highlights selected information contained elsewhere in this prospectus. This summary does not contain all
the information you should consider before investing in our Class A common stock. You should carefully read this prospectus in its
entirety before investing in our Class A common stock, including the sections entitled “Risk Factors” and “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our consolidated financial statements and related
notes included elsewhere in this prospectus. Some of the statements in this prospectus constitute forward-looking statements that
involve risks and uncertainties. See “Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.”

Our Mission
PubMatic fuels the endless potential of Internet content creators.

Our Company

Our company provides a specialized cloud infrastructure platform that enables real-time programmatic advertising transactions. We
believe that our purpose-built technology and infrastructure provides superior outcomes for both Internet content creators
(publishers) and advertisers (buyers). In August 2020, our platform efficiently processed approximately 127 billion ad impressions
daily, each in a fraction of a second.

PubMatic was founded 14 years ago with the vision that data-driven decisions would be the future of advertising and over that time
we have invested significantly in developing our platform. By harnessing our massive data asset and leveraging our sophisticated
machine learning algorithms, we increase publisher revenue, advertiser return on investment (ROIl), and marketplace liquidity,
while improving the cost efficiency of our technology platform and our publishers’ and buyers’ businesses.

Our cloud infrastructure platform provides superior monetization for publishers by increasing the value of an impression and
providing incremental demand through our deep and growing relationships with buyers. We are aligned with our publisher and app
developer partners by being independent. We do not own media and therefore do not have a vested interest in driving ad revenue
to specific media properties. Our global platform is omnichannel, supporting a wide array of ad formats and digital device types. In
the second quarter of 2020, we served approximately 1,000 publishers and app developers, including many of the leading digital
companies such as Verizon Media Group and News Corp. We have demonstrated that we can retain and grow revenues from our
publisher customers, as evidenced by our net dollar-based retention rate of 109% in 2019.

Building on our early success as a Sell Side Platform (SSP), we have extended our platform to also meet the needs of buyers. We
are integrated with the leading Demand Side Platforms (DSPs), such as The Trade Desk and Google DV360, allowing them to
execute real-time transactions with our publisher clients. More recently, agencies and advertisers have started consolidating their
spend with fewer, larger technology platforms to improve transparency, quality, and control over their advertising dollars. In 2019
and 2020 we entered into agreements directly with some of the largest agencies and advertisers in the world and believe this will
continue to drive more ad spend to our platform.

We believe we are positioned to benefit from several trends in the advertising industry, including the rapid proliferation of digital
media, the emergence of new media and advertising formats, and the increasing sophistication of the digital advertising
ecosystem. Innovations in how digital advertising is delivered have driven a meaningful increase in the available number of ad
impressions to be processed, which occur when an advertisement is shown to an Internet user’s device. This growth has driven a
corresponding need for scaled, real-time processing of massive volumes of data and efficient infrastructure. These trends are
occurring as buyers and consumers seek increased transparency and governments are creating new data and privacy regulations.

We own and operate our own software and hardware infrastructure around the world, which saves significant costs as compared to
companies that rely on public cloud alternatives, partly due to the data-intensive nature of digital advertising. As we have extended
our cloud infrastructure to service more ad formats and devices, we have expanded our profit margins and maintained our capital
efficiency that is among best-in-class for similar publicly-traded technology companies.




Our culture and our team are two of the most important assets in building and expanding our business. We have been recognized
as a “Great Place to Work” by Great Place to Work Institute Inc. and have benefited from strong employee retention rates. We
foster deep employee engagement through personal development and learning to create a diverse and inclusive culture focused
on rapid innovation, customer focus, and strong team execution.

Global advertising (digital and analog) spending was $647 billion in 2019 and is expected to grow to $841 billion in 2024, according
to eMarketer. As advertisers follow audiences online, digital advertising is expected to outpace growth of the overall advertising
market. According to eMarketer, global digital ad spend was approximately $325 billion in 2019 and is expected to grow to $526
billion by 2024. We believe that changes in the digital advertising landscape will continue to enhance our market opportunity.

We have achieved significant revenue scale with $99.3 million in revenue in 2018 and $113.9 million in 2019, representing a
growth rate of 15%. We have also achieved profitability while growing our business rapidly, demonstrating the power of our
platform, the strength of our relationships in the digital advertising ecosystem, and the operating leverage and efficiency inherent in
our business model. We generated net income of $4.4 million and Adjusted EBITDA of $20.4 million in 2018, and net income of
$6.6 million and Adjusted EBITDA of $23.3 million in 2019. We also generated net cash provided by operating activities of $15.6
million in 2018 and $35.1 million in 2019. For a definition of Adjusted EBITDA, an explanation of our management’s use of this
measure and reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net income, please refer to “Selected Consolidated Financial Data.”

Our Industry
Digital advertising is the primary business model of the Internet.

Advertising funds the creation of journalism, news, and entertainment, and for billions of consumers around the world, it subsidizes
or enables free Internet consumption. Buyers can achieve significantly higher return on investment with online advertisements that
are delivered both at scale and on a personalized basis. Publishers can successfully sell their advertising inventory by sharing data
and information about their digital audiences on an individualized basis and at scale.

In recent years, the digital advertising ecosystem has become increasingly complex due to a variety of factors. While programmatic
header bidding, a core digital advertising technology, has enabled the purchasing and selling of vast amounts of digital advertising
inventory, there now exist significant challenges related to the proliferation of media across platforms, transaction speed, increased
costs, transparency, and regulatory requirements. To address these issues at scale for both buyers and sellers, specialized
software, and hardware infrastructure are needed to optimally power these technology-driven transactions.

Rapid Proliferation of Digital Media Across Multiple Platforms

In the past decade, consumers have dramatically increased the amount of time that they spend online and on mobile devices
communicating with friends, consuming media, conducting business, and researching and purchasing goods and services.
According to eMarketer, consumers accessed the Internet via a mobile device on average 77 minutes per day in 2012. This usage
increased to 202 minutes per day in 2019, an increase of 162%. Numerous activities that historically occurred offline continue to
shift online, including visiting your doctor (telehealth), staying fit (streaming classes), ordering food (online delivery), and buying
cars (online with local delivery), in addition to work and school from home. In order to better reach consumers, every major media
format has transitioned or is in the process of transitioning content from traditional or analog means of delivery to digital. The
television market transition to over-the-top and connected TV, which is enabling consumers to stream content via the Internet, is
the latest transition and represents a significant opportunity for digital advertising. The COVID-19 pandemic has further accelerated
digital adoption habits which should lead to further rapid growth in the number of available ad impressions that can be monetized
programmatically, as well as increased advertiser budgets seeking to reach these audiences online.

The Rise of Programmatic Header Bidding

Direct sales via manual, person-to-person processes is inadequate to create a real-time advertising marketplace for buyers and
sellers. The challenges of scale and complexity of the digital advertising ecosystem require an automated and efficient approach to
purchasing ads online, known as programmatic advertising. Programmatic advertising, on an automated basis, enables buyers,
advertisers, and/or their ad agencies, to purchase ad




impressions on publisher supplied inventory, including websites, apps, TVs, and various other formats to transact within
milliseconds in a sophisticated, technology-driven marketplace.

Header bidding, which came to prominence starting in 2016, further increased the complexity of programmatic advertising. Header
bidding involves putting software code on a publisher’s website or app allowing it to host a single parallel auction with multiple
interested parties simultaneously, rather than the earlier process of sequential auctions for that impression. This innovation has
fundamentally transformed programmatic advertising by providing buyers with increased transparency and equal access to ad
impressions, which results in greater demand for each ad impression and increased publisher revenue. According to Adzerk,
header bidding has now been adopted by over 60% of digital publishers in the United States.

Massive Volumes of Data and Increased Costs

Header bidding has led to a significant increase in the number of ad impressions that need to be processed and analyzed in real-
time by each participant in the digital advertising ecosystem. As consumers increasingly engage with digital media, and as
advertisers bid on a growing array of ad formats and impressions, an immense amount of data is generated. The data includes
anonymized consumer information about interests and intent, log files of winning and losing advertiser bids, and transaction
records for billing and payment reconciliation. Technology infrastructure platforms must rapidly process this data while offering a
seamless digital ad experience for consumers.

Growing transaction volumes and increasingly complex data processing requirements can lead to rising overall costs for ad
technology vendors. While header bidding increases the number of SSPs processing each ad impression, the underlying number
of opportunities to place a personalized ad in front of a consumer does not grow, which creates processing complexity. Similarly, as
SSPs process more ad impressions due to header bidding, so must DSPs. Each of these trends created by header bidding can
significantly increase costs for ad technology providers if not properly addressed with superior technology.

Ad Spending Consolidating on Fewer Sell Side Platforms

As advertisers increase the percentage of their overall advertising budgets spent on digital formats, they are increasingly
demanding improved transparency and control of their entire digital advertising supply chain. Transparency includes understanding
what fees are being paid for every ad transaction, to whom the fees are being paid, and what value is being delivered by every fee
recipient. In addition, transparency allows the advertiser to know the type of ad inventory being purchased and the content
appearing adjacent to the advertiser’s ads to avoid purchasing fraudulent or fake inventory or appearing next to content that
reflects poorly on the advertiser’s brand. This desire for transparency and control has led to a growing trend for advertisers to
establish direct relationships with vendors in the digital advertising ecosystem which have transparent business practices and
technical capabilities to meet their objectives. This has resulted in a larger portion of media spend consolidating onto fewer, more
transparent technology platforms.

Protecting Consumer Privacy and Regulatory Challenges

There is an increasing awareness of how Internet user data is being leveraged to target ads, resulting in a growing number of
privacy laws and regulations being established globally, including the General Data Protection Regulation in the European Union,
the California Consumer Privacy Act in California, and the Video Privacy Protection Act in the United States. We believe these
trends will continue locally and globally. There have also been a growing number of consumer-focused non-profit organizations and
commercial entities advocating for privacy rights. These institutions are enabling Internet consumers to assert their rights over the
use of their online data in advertising transactions, a trend which we support.

The digital advertising landscape must continue to adapt to these trends and incorporate awareness of consumer privacy and
compliance with regulatory authorities. For example, publishers, and their downstream supply and demand partners, are required
to obtain unambiguous consent from EU data subjects to process their personal data. In addition to legal and policy requirements,
participants in the digital advertising supply chain were encouraged to agree upon technical specifications to collect and transmit
detailed records of consent (or an alternative basis for the processing of personal data) and the purposes of that data processing.
This demand resulted in widespread adoption of the Interactive Advertising Bureau (IAB) Transparency & Consent Framework 2.0
(TCF) in August 2020. Prior to the TCF, dueling technical standards resulted in industry-wide confusion following adoption of the
GDPR.




Over the years, Apple has greatly limited the use of third-party cookies within its web browser (Safari’s Intelligent Tracking
Prevention) and recently announced the decision to make the app-based Identifier for Advertisers (IDFA) opt-in by consumers
rather than opt-out. Google has also announced its intention to limit the use of third-party cookies potentially starting in 2022 in its
Chrome web browser and along with Apple is leading an active industry dialogue to deliver the next wave in privacy compliant
advertising solutions. We believe the “Open Web” outside the “walled gardens” (a colloquial term that refers to closed advertising
platforms including Google and Facebook) will shift from targeting by anonymized and invisible third-party cookies or identifiers to
known identities based on consumer choice and opt-in. This shift towards significantly more reliable and accurate consumer
identity has the potential to significantly increase advertiser ROl and therefore publisher revenue.

Our Role in the Digital Advertising Ecosystem

Our platform is a key component of powering the digital advertising ecosystem because of the role we play in meeting the needs of
ad sellers and ad buyers.
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Publishers and App Developers. Publishers and app developers create websites and apps that contain content for consumers
along with adjacent viewable space for advertisements. As consumers navigate through these websites and apps, individual ad
impressions are shown to them. These impressions are typically sold to buyers programmatically in real-time via a third-party
technology infrastructure platform or SSP. Publishers and app developers rely on advertising revenue as the key driver for their
businesses and rely on the capabilities of these third parties in order to achieve optimal yield for their advertising inventory. In the
second quarter of 2020, we served approximately 1,000 publishers and app developers worldwide on our platform, consisting of
over 45,000 domains and 8,000 apps.

Sell Side Platforms. Traditionally referred to as Sell Side Platforms, platforms such as ours are designed to monetize inventory for
publishers and app developers. Buyers and sellers come together through our marketplace to present, target, and purchase
available advertising inventory. Our platform rapidly and efficiently processes significant volumes of ad bid data, providing a
seamless digital experience for consumers. Traditionally, SSPs have focused exclusively on the needs of sellers in this process
and have limited their interactions with buyers to the buyer’s agent, the Demand Side Platform. As buyers have sought greater
control of their advertising supply chains, we have extended the capabilities of our specialized cloud infrastructure platform over
the last several years to serve the needs of advertisers and agencies as well.

Demand Side Platforms. Advertisers and agencies often engage Demand Side Platforms, which act as advertising demand
aggregators, to execute their digital marketing campaigns across various ad formats. We are integrated with the leading DSPs
around the world, such as The Trade Desk and Google DV360, enabling them to execute real-time transactions with our publisher
clients. We maintain active integrations with DSPs around the world, some of which are global and omnichannel in nature or more
narrowly targeted on specific ad formats or geographic markets.




Advertisers and Agencies. Spending begins with advertisers, who often engage advertising agencies to help plan and execute
their advertising campaigns. To better control and optimize their advertising operations, advertisers and agencies are consolidating
their spend with fewer, larger technology platforms who can deliver transparency and ensure the highest levels of inventory quality
and control. We believe our purpose-built technology platform and direct relationships with advertisers and agencies will lead to
significant consolidation of spend onto our platform.

Our Specialized Cloud Infrastructure Platform

We designed our specialized cloud infrastructure for the rapid and efficient processing of real-time, programmatic ad transactions
and the aggregation and analysis of the significant data accompanying each transaction. By harnessing our massive data assets
and advanced machine learning capabilities, we are able to deliver superior outcomes by increasing advertiser ROl and publisher
revenue, while increasing the cost efficiency of our platform and our customers’ and partners’ businesses. As an independent
infrastructure platform, we are aligned with both publishers and buyers. We operate on a fundamental principle of transparency,
being one of the first digital advertising infrastructure platforms to provide log-level data to buyers and provide transparency on
every ad impression. We designed our technology platform to be highly flexible and dynamic, which has enabled us to innovate
rapidly as the advertising industry has evolved.

For example, in 2018 and 2019, we extended our platform’s header bidding capabilities to be relevant for mobile app and digital
video ads. As of the second quarter of 2020, the share of ad impressions on our platform coming from these ad formats and
devices, together, accounted for approximately 40% of all ad impressions. A further example of the flexible and dynamic nature of
our platform relates to the evolving area of identity for ad targeting purposes. While there are various constituents across the digital
advertising industry creating new identity solutions, we have built a comprehensive platform that greatly simplifies the
implementation and ongoing management of identity solution providers. Our solution allows for the use of many of the leading
identifiers in a scaled and privacy-compliant fashion.

Our cloud infrastructure solutions are available via self-serve, including an easy-to-use customer user interface and a set of
application programming interfaces (APIs) that allow our publisher customers to configure new inventory, extend into new
geographies or ad formats, review reporting insights, and manage and track payments and billing cycles.

Our Strengths
We believe the following strengths provide us with long-term competitive advantages.

m Investment in Innovation Enabled by Profitable Business Model. Our business model driven by our technology platform,
owned infrastructure, and offshore R&D has led to positive net income since 2016 and positive Adjusted EBITDA for
seven consecutive years. We have generated positive net cash provided by operating activities for six consecutive years,
and have consistently achieved among best-in-class margins compared to other similar publicly-traded technology
companies.

n Flexi%le Platform and Culture of Rapid Innovation. We built our company and our technology platform to be highly dynamic
and to support rapid innovation. Our platform is highly modular, which allows us to innovate and improve individual
software components without affecting the rest of the platform.

m  Highly Efficient Infrastructure. As a result of our long-term, internal development efforts on our technology stack and
strategic approach of owning our own hardware, we believe that we have among the lowest cost infrastructures of any
specialized cloud infrastructure platform in the advertising market. We own and operate our proprietary software and
hardware infrastructure around the world. This approach saves significant costs compared to companies that rely on
public cloud alternatives due to the data-intensive nature of digital advertising and the immense volume of ad impressions
created by header bidding. As a result, our cost of revenue per impression processed decreased by 18% in 2019
compared to 2018, and by 12% in 2018 compared to 2017.

m  Machine Learning and Data Processing. We leverage our artificial intelligence and machine learning capabilities to record,
aggregate, analyze, and act on vast amounts of data to help our customers optimize their digital advertising businesses in
real-time.

m  Customer Trust and Alignment. We are aligned with both publishers and buyers, by being an independent and transparent
infrastructure provider. We do not own media and therefore do not have a




vested interest in driving ad revenue to specific media properties. Our trusted status has enabled us to build direct
relationships with publishers, advertisers, agencies, and Demand Side Platforms.

Global, Omnichannel Reach. We are a global business with distributed critical infrastructure and a go-to-market presence
in every major advertising market in the world outside of China.

Growth Strategy
Our growth strategy includes:

Attract New Publishers and Expand our Relationship with Existing Publishers;
Attract New Buyers and Expand our Relationship with Existing Buyers;
Efficiently Expand Our Infrastructure Platform to Process More Ad Impressions;
Improve Liquidity in Our Marketplace;

Develop New Products;

Expand Into New Ad Formats; and

Expand into New Geographies.

Risk Factor Summary

Our business is subject to many risks, which are highlighted in the section entitled “Risk Factors” immediately following this
prospectus summary. Some of these risks relate to:

Our revenue and results of operations are highly dependent on the overall demand for advertising. Factors that affect the
amount of advertising spending, such as economic downturns and the COVID-19 pandemic, can make it difficult to predict
our revenue and could adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition;

If our existing customers do not expand their usage of our platform, or if we fail to attract new publishers and buyers, our
growth will suffer. Moreover, any decrease in the use of the advertising channels that we primarily depend on, or failure to
expand into emerging channels, could adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition;

Our business depends on our ability to maintain and expand access to valuable ad impressions from publishers, including
our largest publishers;

Our business depends on our ability to maintain and expand access to spend from buyers, including a limited number of
DSPs, agencies, and advertisers;

If the use of digital advertising is rejected by consumers, through opt-in, opt-out or ad-blocking technologies or other
means, it could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial condition;

Our results of operations may fluctuate significantly and may not meet our expectations or those of securities analysts and
investors;

If we fail to make the right investment decisions in our platform, or if we fail to innovate and develop new solutions that are
adopted by publishers, we may not attract and retain publishers, which could have an adverse effect on our business,
results of operations, and financial condition;

The extent to which the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, including the resulting global economic uncertainty, and measures
taken in response to the pandemic, could adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition will
depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and difficult to predict;

Our business depends on our ability to collect, use, and disclose data to deliver advertisements. Any limitation imposed on
our collection, use or disclosure of this data could significantly diminish the value of our solution and cause us to lose
publishers, buyers, and revenue. Consumer tools, regulatory restrictions, and technological limitations all threaten our
ability to use and disclose data;

If the use of third-party “cookies,” mobile device IDs or other tracking technologies is restricted without similar or better
alternatives, our platform’s effectiveness could be diminished and our business, results of operations, and financial
condition could be adversely affected;




= Our operating history makes it difficult to evaluate our business and prospects and may increase the risk associated with
your investment; and

m  The digital advertising industry is intensely competitive, and if we do not effectively compete against current and future
competitors, our business, results of operations, and financial condition could be harmed.

Corporate Information

We were incorporated in the State of Delaware in 2006. Our principal executive offices are located at 3 Lagoon Drive, Suite 180,
Redwood City, California 94065. Our telephone number is (650) 331-3485. Our website address is www.pubmatic.com. The
information contained on, or that can be accessed through, our website is not incorporated by reference into this prospectus.
Unless otherwise indicated, the terms “PubMatic,” “we,” “us,” and “our” refer to PubMatic, Inc. and our consolidated subsidiaries.

This prospectus contains our trade names, trademarks, and service marks, including the PubMatic name and logo, and all product
names. This prospectus also contains the trade names, trademarks, and service marks of other companies. We do not intend our
use or display of other companies’ trade names, trademarks, or service marks to imply a relationship with these other companies,
or endorsement or sponsorship of us by these other companies. Other trademarks appearing in this prospectus are the property of
their respective holders.

Implications of Being an Emerging Growth Company

As a company with less than $1.07 billion in revenue during our most recently completed fiscal year, we qualify as an “emerging
growth company” as defined in Section 2(a) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, as modified by the
Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (JOBS Act). As an emerging growth company, we may take advantage of specified
reduced disclosure and other requirements that are otherwise applicable, in general, to public companies that are not emerging
growth companies. These provisions include:

= an exemption from compliance with the auditor attestation requirement on the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting pursuant to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (Sarbanes-Oxley Act);

m an exemption from compliance with any requirement that the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board may adopt
regarding mandatory audit firm rotation or a supplement to the auditor’s report providing additional information about the
audit and the financial statements;
reduced disclosure about our executive compensation arrangements;

exemptions from the requirements to obtain a non-binding advisory vote on executive compensation or a stockholder
approval of any golden parachute arrangements; and

m  extended transition periods for complying with new or revised accounting standards.

We will remain an emerging growth company until the earliest to occur of: (i) the last day of the fiscal year in which we have more
than $1.07 billion in annual revenue; (ii) the date we qualify as a “large accelerated filer,” with at least $700 million of equity
securities held by non-affiliates; (iii) the date on which we have issued, in any three-year period, more than $1.0 billion in non-
convertible debt securities; and (iv) the last day of the fiscal year ending after the fifth anniversary of the completion of this offering.

We may take advantage of these exemptions until such time that we are no longer an emerging growth company. Accordingly, the
information contained herein may be different than the information you receive from other public companies in which you hold
stock. Further, pursuant to Section 107 of the JOBS Act, as an emerging growth company, we have elected to take advantage of
the extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply
to private companies. As a result, our operating results and consolidated financial statements may not be comparable to the
operating results and financial statements of other companies who have adopted the new or revised accounting standards. It is
possible that some investors will find our Class A common stock less attractive as a result, which may result in a less active trading
market for our Class A common stock and higher volatility in our stock price.




THE OFFERING

The following is a brief summary of certain terms of this offering. For a more complete description of the terms of our Class A
common stock and Class B common stock, see “Description of Capital Stock—Common Stock.”

Class A common stock offered

Option to purchase additional shares of Class A common
stock

Class A common stock to be outstanding after this offering

Class B common stock to be outstanding after this offering

Total Class A and Class B common stock to be outstanding
after this offering

Use of proceeds

Voting rights

shares

shares

shares ( shares, if the underwriters exercise their
option to purchase additional shares in full)

shares

shares ( shares, if the underwriters exercise their
option to purchase additional shares in full)

We estimate that the net proceeds from the sale of shares of our
Class A common stock in this offering will be approximately

$ , or approximately $ if the underwriters exercise
their option to purchase additional shares in full, based upon an
assumed initial public offering price of $ per share, which is
the midpoint of the price range set forth on the cover page of this
prospectus, after deducting the estimated underwriting discounts
and commissions and estimated offering expenses.

We intend to use the net proceeds for working capital and other
general corporate purposes. We may also use a portion of the
proceeds for the acquisition of, or investment in, technologies,
solutions or businesses that complement our business, although
we have no present commitments or agreements to enter into
any acquisitions or investments. See “Use of Proceeds.”

Shares of Class A common stock are entitled to one vote per
share. Shares of Class B common stock are entitled to votes per
share.




Holders of our Class A common stock and Class B common
stock will generally vote together as a single class, unless
otherwise required by law or our restated certificate of
incorporation. Following the completion of this offering, each
share of our Class B common stock will be convertible into one
share of our Class A common stock at any time and convert
automatically upon certain transfers and upon . The
holders of our outstanding Class B common stock will

hold % of the voting power of our outstanding capital stock
following this offering, with our directors, executive officers, and
5% stockholders and their respective affiliates holding % in
the aggregate. These holders will have the ability to control the
outcome of matters submitted to our stockholders for approval,
including the election of our directors and the approval of any
change of control transaction. See “Principal and Selling
Stockholders” and “Description of Capital Stock” for additional
information.

Risk factors See “Risk Factors” and other information included in this

prospectus for a discussion of some of the factors you should
consider before deciding to purchase shares of our common
stock.

Proposed symbol “PUBM.”

The number of shares of our Class A and Class B common stock to be outstanding after this offering is based upon no shares of
our Class A common stock outstanding and 45,092,048 shares of our Class B common stock outstanding, in each case, as of
December 31, 2019, and excludes:

7,626,452 shares of Class B common stock issuable upon the exercise of options to purchase shares of our Class B
common stock outstanding as of December 31, 2019, with a weighted-average exercise price of $2.20 per share;

1,528,170 shares of Class B common stock issuable upon the exercise of options to purchase shares of our Class B
common stock granted after December 31, 2019, with a weighted-average exercise price of $2.28 per share;

18,216 shares of Class B common stock issuable upon exercise of warrants with a weighted-average exercise price of
$0.7999 per share, which warrants will terminate immediately prior to the completion of this offering unless exercised
before that time; and

shares of common stock reserved for future grants under our stock-based compensation plans, consisting of (a)
1,527,728 shares of Class B common stock reserved for future grants under our 2017 Equity Incentive Plan (2017 Plan),
as of December 31, 2019, (b) shares of our Class A common stock that will be reserved for issuance under our 2020
Equity Incentive Plan (2020 Plan), which will become effective on the day immediately prior to the date of this prospectus
and (c) shares of Class A common stock reserved for future issuance under our 2020 Employee Stock Purchase
Plan (ESPP), which will become effective on the date of this prospectus. Upon completion of this offering, any remaining
shares available for issuance under our 2017 Plan will be added to the shares of Class A common stock reserved under
our 2020 Plan, and we will cease granting awards under the 2017 Plan. Our 2020 Plan and ESPP also provide for
automatic annual increases in the number of shares reserved thereunder, as more fully described in “Executive
Compensation—Employee Benefit and Stock Plans.”




Unless otherwise noted, the information in this prospectus reflects and assumes the following:

m the amendment of our certificate of incorporation in 2020 to redesignate our outstanding common stock as Class B
common stock and create a new class of Class A common stock to be offered and sold in this offering;

m the conversion of all shares of our convertible preferred stock outstanding as of December 31, 2019 into an aggregate of
33,443,969 shares of Class B common stock effective immediately before the completion of this offering;

= the filing of our restated certificate of incorporation and the effectiveness of our restated bylaws, which will occur
immediately prior to the closing of this offering;

no exercise of outstanding options or warrants; and
no exercise of the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares of our Class A common stock in this offering.
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SUMMARY CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following tables present summary consolidated financial data for our business for the years ended December 31, 2018 and
2019. You should read this summary consolidated financial and other data together with “Selected Consolidated Financial Data,”
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our consolidated financial
statements and related notes that are included elsewhere in this prospectus. We derived the statements of operations data for the
years ended December 31, 2018 and 2019 and the balance sheet data as of December 31, 2019 from our audited financial
statements appearing elsewhere in this prospectus. Our historical results are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be
expected in the future.

Year Ended December 31,

2018 2019
(in thousands, except share and per share
data)
Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:
Revenue $ 99,264 $ 113,871
Cost of revenue(" 31,235 36,104
Gross profit 68,029 77,767
Operating expenses:(")
Technology and development 12,619 12,453
Sales and marketing 33,444 36,498
General and administrative 16,998 20,307
Total operating expenses 63,061 69,258
Operating income 4,968 8,509
Total other income, net 662 713
Income before provision for income taxes 5,630 9,222
Provision for income taxes 1,205 2,579
Net income $ 4,425 §$ 6,643
Net income per share attributable to common stockholders®):
Basic $ — 3 0.04
Diluted $ — 3 0.04
Weighted-average shares used to compute net income per share attributable to common
stockholders():
Basic 11,249,579 10,036,983
Diluted 14,157,492 12,169,884
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow Data:
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 15,595 $ 35,125
Net cash used in investing activities (12,749) (22,089)
Net cash used in financing activities (7,993) (1)
Non-GAAP Financial Data:
Adjusted EBITDA®) $ 20,430 $ 23,307
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(1) Amounts include stock-based compensation before tax benefit as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2018 2019
(in thousands)
Cost of revenue $ 38 § 26
Technology and development 554 402
Sales and marketing 759 684
General and administrative 2,041 890
Total stock-based compensation expense $ 3392 § 2,002

(2) See Notes 2 and 12 to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this prospectus for an explanation of the
calculations of our basic and diluted net income per share attributable to common stockholders and pro forma basic and
diluted net income per share attributable to common stockholders as well as the weighted average number of shares used in
computation of the per share amounts.

(3) For information on how we compute Adjusted EBITDA and a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net income on a GAAP
basis, see "Selected Consolidated Financial Data—Non-GAAP Financial Measures.”

As of December 31, 2019

Pro Forma As
Actual Pro Forma" Adjusted@®

(in thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 34,250 $ $
Marketable securities 21,202
Accounts receivable, net 117,655
Total assets 207,445
Accounts payable 99,384
Total liabilities 113,909
Convertible preferred stock 61,216
Redeemable common stock 19,025
Total stockholders’ equity 13,295

(1) Reflects the conversion of all outstanding shares of our convertible preferred stock as of December 31, 2019 into an aggregate
of 33,443,969 shares of Class B common stock.

(2) Reflects the pro forma adjustment described in footnote (1) and the sale by us of shares of Class A common stock in this
offering at an assumed initial public offering price of $ per share, the midpoint of the price range set forth on the cover
page of this prospectus, after deducting estimated underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses
payable by us.

(3) A $1.00 increase (decrease) in the assumed initial public offering price of $ per share, the midpoint of the price range set
forth on the cover page of this prospectus, would increase (decrease) each of pro forma as adjusted cash and cash
equivalents, total assets, and total stockholders’ equity by $ million, assuming the number of shares we are offering, as
set forth on the cover page of this prospectus, remains the same, after deducting estimated underwriting discounts and
commissions and estimated offering expenses payable by us. We may also increase or decrease the number of shares we are
offering. An increase (decrease) of 1.0 million in the number of shares we are offering would increase
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(decrease) each of pro forma as adjusted cash and cash equivalents, total assets, and total stockholders’ equity by
approximately $ million, assuming the initial public offering price per share remains the same. The pro forma as adjusted
information is illustrative only, and we will adjust this information based on the actual initial public offering price, number of
shares offered, and other terms of this offering determined at pricing.
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RISK FACTORS

Investing in our Class A common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below,
together with all of the other information in this prospectus, including our consolidated financial statements and related notes, before deciding to
invest in our Class A common stock. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties
that we are unaware of, or that we currently believe are not material, may also become important factors that affect us. If any of the following risks
materializes, our business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects could be materially harmed, which could cause the price of our
Class A common stock to decline, and cause any investment in our Class A common stock to lose some or all of its value.

Risks Related to Our Business and Our Industry

Our revenue and results of operations are highly dependent on the overall demand for advertising. Factors that affect the amount of
advertising spending, such as economic downturns and the COVID-19 pandemic, can make it difficult to predict our revenue and could
adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

Our business depends on the overall demand for advertising and on the economic health of our current and prospective publishers and buyers. For
example, due to the COVID-19 pandemic and the recession in the United States and global economy in the second quarter of 2020, advertising
demand on our platform decreased and did not recover to pre-COVID-19 levels for two months. Various macroeconomic factors could cause
advertisers to reduce their advertising budgets, including adverse economic conditions and general uncertainty about economic recovery or growth,
particularly in North America, Europe, and Asia, where we do most of our business; instability in political or market conditions generally; and any
changes in tax treatment of advertising expenses and the deductibility thereof. Reductions in overall advertising spending as a result of these factors
could make it difficult to predict our revenue and could adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

If our existing customers do not expand their usage of our platform, or if we fail to attract new publishers and buyers, our growth will
suffer. Moreover, any decrease in the use of the advertising channels that we primarily depend on, or failure to expand into emerging
channels, could adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

We depend upon our buyer and publisher relationships to continue to grow the usage of our platform. In doing so, we compete for both supply and
demand with larger, well-established companies that may have technological advantages stemming from their experience in the market. We must
continue to adapt and improve our technology to compete effectively, and customers have not always embraced our offering due to various factors,
including switching costs from moving away pre-existing technology integrations, such as already implemented header bidding wrappers, and lack of
awareness of our omni-channel offerings. Although we believe we provide superior transparency and accountability to such competitors, certain
customers may place technological or financial demands that we are unable to meet. These and other factors may make it difficult for us to increase
our business with our publishers and buyers, cause some buyers to reduce their spending with us, or increase our costs of doing business,
adversely affecting our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

Historically, our buyers have predominantly used our platform to purchase mobile, display, and video advertising inventory from our publishers. We
expect that these will continue to be significant channels used by our customers for digital advertising in the future. We also believe that our revenue
growth may depend on our ability to expand within mobile, video, and in particular, CTV, and we have been, and are continuing to, enhance such
channels. We may not be able to accurately predict changes in overall advertiser demand for the channels in which we operate and cannot assure
you that our investment in formats will correspond to any such changes. Any decrease in the use of mobile, display, and video advertising, whether
due to customers losing confidence in the value or effectiveness of such channels, regulatory restrictions or other causes, or any inability to further

14



penetrate CTV or enter new and emerging advertising channels, could adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

Our business depends on our ability to maintain and expand access to valuable ad impressions from publishers, including our largest
publishers.

Our business depends on our access to valuable ad impressions. We depend upon publishers, including channel partners, which aggregate large
numbers of smaller publishers, to provide advertising space which we can offer to prospective buyers. A relatively small number of premium
publishers have historically accounted for a significant portion of the ad impressions sold on our platform, as well as a significant portion of our
revenue from publishers, including a relatively small number of channel partners. In particular, for the six months ended June 30, 2020, over 20% of
our revenue was derived from ad impressions sold on our platform from our largest publisher, Verizon Media Group. We expect to depend upon a
relatively small number of premium publishers and channel partners for the foreseeable future. To support our continued growth, we will seek to add
additional publishers to our platform, and to expand current utilization with our existing publishers.

We have no minimum commitments from publishers, so the amount, quality, and cost of ad impressions available to us can change at any time, and
we cannot assure you that we will have access to a consistent volume or quality of ad impressions at a reasonable cost, or at all. For example, in
January 2020, MoPub disabled all access to traffic from Grindr due to a European consumer advocacy group filing a complaints against it for alleged
violations of the European General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR), which resulted in a pause of all monetization on Grindr for nearly two
months and reduced the number of ad impressions available on our platform. Any disruptions in our relationships with premium publishers or largest
channel partners could adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition. If we cannot retain or add individual publishers
with valuable ad impressions, or if such publishers decide not to make their valuable ad impressions available to us, then our buyers may be less
inclined to use our platform, which could adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

Our business depends on our ability to maintain and expand access to spend from buyers, including a limited number of DSPs, agencies,
and advertisers.

Our business depends on our ability to maintain and expand our access to ad campaigns and spending from buyers such as Demand Side
Platforms (DSPs), agencies, and advertisers to purchase advertising impressions from our publishers. A limited number of large DSPs — The Trade
Desk and Google DV360 in particular — account for a significant portion of the ad impressions purchased on our platform. We expect to depend upon
these DSPs for a large percentage of impressions purchased for the foreseeable future. Any disruptions in our relationships with DSPs, agencies or
advertisers could harm our business, results of operations, and financial condition. To support our continued growth, we will seek to expand upon
current levels of utilization with these DSPs, agencies, and advertisers.

We have no minimum commitments from buyers to spend on our platform, so the amount of demand available to us can change at any time, and we
cannot assure you that we will have access to a consistent volume or quality of ad campaigns or demand for our ad impressions at a reasonable, or
at all. If a buyer or group of buyers representing a significant portion of the demand in our marketplace decides to materially reduce use of our
platform, it could cause an immediate and significant decline in our revenue and profitability and adversely affect our business, results of operations,
and financial condition. Additionally, if we overestimate future usage, we may incur additional expenses in adding infrastructure without a
commensurate increase in revenue, which would adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

If the use of digital advertising is rejected by consumers, through opt-in, opt-out or ad-blocking technologies or other means, it could
have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

Consumers can, with increasing ease, implement technologies that limit our ability to collect and use data to deliver advertisements, or otherwise
limit the effectiveness of our platform. Cookies may be deleted or blocked by consumers. The most commonly used Internet browsers allow
consumers to modify their browser settings to block first-party cookies (placed directly by the publisher or website owner that the consumer intends
to interact with) or third-party cookies (placed by parties, like us, that have no direct relationship with the consumer), and some browsers block third-
party cookies by default. For example, Apple recently announced its intention to move
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to “opt-in” privacy models, requiring users to voluntarily choose to receive targeted ads, which may reduce the value of ad impressions on its iOS
mobile application platform. Many applications and other devices allow consumers to avoid receiving advertisements by paying for subscriptions or
other downloads. Mobile devices using Android and iOS operating systems limit the ability of cookies to track consumers while they are using
applications other than their web browser on the device. As a consequence, fewer of our cookies or publishers' cookies may be set in browsers or be
accessible in mobile devices, which adversely affects our business.

Some consumers also download free or paid “ad blocking” software on their computers or mobile devices, not only for privacy reasons, but also to
counteract the adverse effect advertisements can have on the consumer experience, including increased load times, data consumption, and screen
overcrowding. Ad-blocking technologies may prevent some third-party cookies, or other tracking technologies, from being stored on a consumer's
computer or mobile device. If more consumers adopt these measures, our business, results of operations, and financial condition could be adversely
affected. Ad-blocking technologies could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial condition if they reduce the
volume or effectiveness and value of advertising. In addition, some ad blocking technologies block only ads that are targeted through use of third-
party data, while allowing ads based on first-party data (i.e., data owned by the publisher). These ad blockers could place us at a disadvantage
because we rely on third-party data, while some large competitors have troves of first-party data they use to direct advertising. Other technologies
allow ads that are deemed “acceptable,” which could be defined in ways that place us or our publishers at a disadvantage, particularly if such
technologies are controlled or influenced by our competitors. Even if ad blockers do not ultimately have an adverse effect on our business, investor
concerns about ad blockers could cause our stock price to decline.

Our results of operations may fluctuate significantly and may not meet our expectations or those of securities analysts and investors.

Our results of operations have fluctuated in the past, and future results of operations are likely to fluctuate as well. In addition, because our business
is evolving, our historical results of operations may be of limited utility in assessing our future prospects. Factors that can cause our results of
operations to fluctuate include:

changes in demand and pricing for ad impressions sold on our platform;

changes in our access to valuable ad impressions from publishers;

addition or loss of publishers on our platform, and costs associated with adding or attempting to retain them;
seasonality in our business;

changes in the structure of the buying and selling of ad impressions;

changes in the pricing policies of publishers and competitors;

changes in costs of third-party services;

changes and uncertainty in our legislative, regulatory, and industry environment, particularly in the areas of data protection and consumer
privacy;

introduction of new technologies or solutions;

unilateral actions taken by DSPs, agencies, advertisers, or publishers; and

changes in our capital expenditures as we acquire hardware, technologies, and other assets for our business.

Any one or more of the factors above may result in significant fluctuations in our results of operations. You should not rely on our past results as an
indicator of our future performance.

Because many of our expenses are based upon forecasted demand and may be difficult to reduce in the short term, volatility in quarterly revenue
could cause significant variations in quarterly results of operations. We may not forecast our revenue or expenses accurately, causing our results of
operations to diverge from our estimates or the expectations of securities analysts, and investors. If we fail to meet or exceed such expectations for
these or any other reasons, the trading price of our Class A common stock could fall, and we could face costly litigation, including securities class
action lawsuits.
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If we fail to make the right investment decisions in our platform, or if we fail to innovate and develop new solutions that are adopted by
publishers, we may not attract and retain publishers, which could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and
financial condition.

We face intense competition in the marketplace and are confronted by rapidly changing technology, evolving industry standards, and consumer
preferences, regulatory changes, and the frequent introduction of new solutions by our competitors that we must adapt and respond to. We need to
continuously update our platform and the technology we invest in and develop, including our machine learning and other proprietary algorithms, in
order to attract publishers and buyers and keep ahead of changes in technology, evolving industry standards and regulatory requirements. Our
platform is complex and new solutions can require a significant investment of time and resources to develop, test, introduce, and enhance. These
activities can take longer than we expect. Moreover, we may not make the right decisions regarding these investments. New formats and channels,
such as mobile header bidding and CTV, present unique challenges that we must address in order to succeed. Our success in new formats and
channels depends upon our ability to integrate our platform with these new formats and channels. If our mobile and video solutions or our new CTV
solutions are not widely adopted by publishers, we may not retain publishers. In addition, new demands from publishers and buyers, superior
offerings by competitors, changes in technology, or new industry standards or regulatory requirements could render our platform or our existing
solutions less effective and require us to make unanticipated changes to our platform or business model. Our failure to adapt to a rapidly changing
market, anticipate publisher and buyer demand, or attract and retain publishers would cause our revenue or revenue growth rate to decline, and
adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

The extent to which the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, including the resulting global economic uncertainty, and measures taken in
response to the pandemic, could adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition will depend on future
developments, which are highly uncertain and difficult to predict.

In March 2020, the WHO characterized COVID-19 as a pandemic. Since then, the COVID-19 pandemic has disrupted the flow of the economy and
put unprecedented strains on governments, health care systems, educational institutions, businesses, and individuals around the world and resulted
in regional quarantines, labor shortages or stoppages, changes in consumer purchasing patterns, disruptions to service providers to deliver data on
a timely basis, or at all, and overall economic instability. The impact on the global population and the duration of the COVID-19 pandemic is difficult
to assess or predict. It is even more difficult to predict the impact on the global economic market, which will be highly dependent upon the actions of
governments, businesses, and other enterprises in response to the pandemic and the effectiveness of those actions. The pandemic has already
caused, and is likely to result in further, significant disruption of global financial markets and economic uncertainty. Although the advertising market
and our business have generally recovered from the economic effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, it did initially adversely impact our sales and
operations. We continue to monitor our operations, the operations of publishers, DSPs, and agencies, as well as government recommendations as
the pandemic continues to impact the U.S. and global economy.

In light of the uncertain and rapidly evolving situation relating to the spread of COVID-19, we have taken temporary precautionary measures
intended to help minimize the risk of the virus to our employees, our customers, and the communities in which we participate, which could adversely
affect our business, results of operations, or financial condition. As a company with employees, customers, partners, and investors across the globe,
we believe in upholding our company value of being good people by doing our part to help slow the spread of the virus. To this end, we are
temporarily requiring most employees to work remotely, have suspended all non-essential travel worldwide for our employees, are canceling or
postponing company-sponsored events, and are discouraging employee attendance at industry events and in-person work-related meetings. We
have also downsized our headquarters in the Bay Area as we expect greater numbers of our employees to work remotely in the short-term future,
reducing our operating costs. Although we continue to monitor the situation and may adjust our current policies as more information and guidance
become available, temporarily suspending travel and doing business in-person could negatively impact our marketing efforts, lengthen sales cycles
and result in an increase in certain prospective and current customers seeking lower prices or other more favorable contract terms, slow down our
recruiting efforts, or create operational or other challenges as we adjust to a fully-remote workforce, any of which could adversely affect our
business, results of operations, and financial condition.
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A recession, depression, or other sustained adverse market events resulting from the spread of COVID-19 could adversely affect our business,
results of operations, and financial condition, as well as the value of our common stock. Our customers or potential customers, particularly in
industries most impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic including transportation, travel and hospitality, retail, and energy, may reduce their advertising
spending or delay their advertising initiatives, which could adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition. We may also
experience curtailed customer demand, reduced customer spend or contract duration, delayed collections, lengthened payment terms, and
increased competition due to changes in terms and conditions and pricing of our competitors’ products and services.

Our business depends on our ability to collect, use, and disclose data to deliver advertisements. Any limitation imposed on our collection,
use or disclosure of this data could significantly diminish the value of our solution and cause us to lose publishers, buyers, and revenue.
Consumer tools, regulatory restrictions and technological limitations all threaten our ability to use and disclose data.

As we process transactions through our platform, we collect large amounts of data about advertisements and where they are placed, such as
advertiser and publisher preferences for media and advertising content. We also collect data on ad specifications such as placement, size and
format, ad pricing, and auction activity such as price floors, bid response behavior, and clearing prices. Further, we collect data on consumers that
does not identify the individual, including browser, device location and characteristics, online browsing behavior, exposure to and interaction with
advertisements, and inferential data about purchase intentions, and preferences. We collect this data through various means, including from our own
systems, pixels that publishers allow us to place on their websites to track consumer visits, software development kits installed in mobile
applications, cookies, and other tracking technologies. Our publishers, buyers, and data providers may choose to provide us with their proprietary
data about consumers.

We aggregate this data and analyze it in order to enhance our services, including the pricing, placement, and scheduling of advertisements. As part
of our real-time analytics service offering we also share the data, or analyses based on it, with our publishers and buyers. Our ability to collect, use
and share data about advertising transactions and consumer behavior is critical to the value of our services. There are many technical challenges
relating to our ability to collect, aggregate and associate the data, and we cannot assure you that we will be able to do so effectively. Evolving
regulatory standards could place restrictions on the collection, management, aggregation and use of information, which could result in a material
increase in the cost of collecting or otherwise obtaining certain kinds of data and could limit the ways in which we may use or disclose information.
Internet users can, with increasing ease, implement practices or technologies that may limit our ability to collect and use data to deliver
advertisements, or otherwise inhibit the effectiveness of our platform. Although our publishers and buyers generally permit us to aggregate and use
data from advertising placements, subject to certain restrictions, publishers or buyers might decide to restrict our collection or use of their data.

Any limitations on this ability could impair our ability to deliver effective solutions, which could adversely affect our business, results of operations,
and financial condition.

If the use of third-party “cookies,” mobile device IDs or other tracking technologies is restricted without similar or better alternatives, our
platform’s effectiveness could be diminished and our business, results of operations, and financial condition could be adversely affected.

We use “cookies,” or small text files placed on consumer devices when an Internet browser is used, as well as mobile device identifiers, to gather
data that enables our platform to be more effective. Our cookies and mobile device IDs do not identify consumers directly, but record information
such as when a consumer views or clicks on an advertisement, when a consumer uses a mobile app, the consumer’s location, and browser or other
device information. Publishers and partners may also choose to share their information about consumers’ interests or give us permission to use their
cookies and mobile device IDs. We use data from cookies, mobile device IDs, and other tracking technologies to help advertisers decide whether to
bid on, and how to price, an ad impression in a certain location, at a given time, for a particular consumer. Without cookies, mobile device IDs, and
other tracking technology data, transactions processed through our platform would be executed with less insight into consumer activity, reducing the
precision of advertisers' decisions about which impressions to purchase for an advertising campaign. This could make placement of advertising
through our platform less valuable, and harm our revenue. If our ability to use cookies, mobile device IDs or other tracking technologies is limited, we
may be
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required to develop or obtain additional applications and technologies to compensate for the lack of cookies, mobile device IDs and other tracking
technology data, which could be time consuming or costly to develop, less effective, and subject to additional regulation.

Our operating history makes it difficult to evaluate our business and prospects and may increase the risk associated with your
investment.

We operate in an evolving industry with ever-changing customer needs, and, as a result, our business has evolved over time such that our operating
history makes it difficult to evaluate our business and future prospects. Although we have experienced substantial revenue growth, we may not be
able to sustain this growth rate, current revenue levels or profitability. We expect to face challenges, risks, and difficulties frequently experienced by
growing companies in rapidly developing industries, including those relating to:

recruiting, integrating, and retaining qualified and motivated employees, particularly engineers;

developing, maintaining, and expanding relationships with publishers, DSPs, agencies, and advertisers;

innovating and developing new solutions that are adopted by and meet the needs of publishers, DSPs, agencies, and advertisers;
competing against companies with a larger customer base or greater financial or technical resources;

global economic disruption and technological changes driven by the COVID-19 pandemic;

further expanding our business internationally;

managing expenses as we invest in our infrastructure and platform technology to scale our business and operate as a public company; and
responding to evolving industry standards and government regulations that impact our business, particularly in the areas of data protection
and consumer privacy.

If we are not successful in addressing these and other issues, our business may suffer, our revenue may decline and we may not be able to achieve
further growth or sustain profitability.

The digital advertising industry is intensely competitive, and if we do not effectively compete against current and future competitors, our
business, results of operations, and financial condition could be harmed.

The digital advertising ecosystem is competitive and complex due to a variety of factors. While programmatic header bidding has enabled the
purchasing and selling of vast amounts of digital advertising inventory, there now exist significant challenges related to proliferation of media across
platforms, transaction speed, increased costs, transparency, and regulatory requirements. To address these issues at scale for both buyers and
sellers, we provide specialized software and hardware infrastructure to optimally power technology-driven transactions. To successfully grow our
business, we compete with Sell Side Platforms (SSPs) like Magnite, Inc., smaller private SSPs in markets around the world, as well as divisions of
larger companies like Google.

Some of our competitors have longer operating histories, greater name recognition, and greater financial, technical, sales, and marketing resources
than we have. In addition, some competitors, particularly those with greater scale or a more diversified revenue base and a broader offering, have
greater flexibility than we do to compete aggressively on the basis of price and other contract terms, or to compete with us by including in their
product offerings services that we may not provide. Some competitors are able or willing to agree to contract terms that expose them to risks that
might be more appropriately allocated to publishers or buyers of advertising (including inventory risk and the risk of having to pay publishers for
unsold advertising impressions), and in order to compete effectively we might need to accommodate risks that could be difficult to manage or insure
against. Some existing and potential buyers have their own relationships with publishers or are seeking to establish such relationships, and many
publishers are investing in capabilities that enable them to connect more effectively directly with buyers. Our business suffers to the extent that
publishers and buyers purchase and sell advertising inventory directly from one another or through other intermediaries other than us, reducing the
amount of advertising spend on our platform. If we are unable to compete effectively for publishers’ ad impressions and buyer’s advertising spend,
we may experience less demand for the ad impressions on our platform, which could adversely affect our business, results of operations, and
financial condition.

There has also been rapid evolution and consolidation in the advertising technology industry, and we expect these trends to continue, thereby
increasing the capabilities and competitive posture of larger companies,
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particularly those that are already dominant in various ways, and enabling new or stronger competitors to emerge. Many publishers and buyers are
large consolidated organizations that may need to acquire other companies in order to grow. Smaller publishers and buyers may need to consolidate
in order to compete effectively. There is a finite number of large publishers and buyers in our target markets, and any consolidation of publishers or
buyers may give the resulting enterprises greater bargaining power or result in the loss of publishers and buyers that use our platform, reducing our
potential base of publishers and buyers, each of which would lead to erosion of our revenue.

Some of our competitors may also choose to sell products or services competitive to ours at lower prices by accepting lower margins and
profitability, or may be able to sell products or services competitive to ours at lower prices given proprietary ownership of data, technical superiority,
or economies of scale. Such introduction of competent, competitive products, pricing strategies, or other technologies by our competitors that are
superior to or that achieve greater market acceptance than our products and services could adversely affect our business. In such event, we could
experience a decline in market share and revenues and be forced to reduce our prices, resulting in lower profit margins for us. Loss of existing or
future market share to new competitors and increased price competition could substantially harm our business, results of operations, and financial
condition.

Our sales and marketing efforts may require significant investments and, in certain cases, involve long sales cycles, and may not yield
the results we seek.

Our sales and marketing teams educate prospective publishers and buyers about the use, technical capabilities, and benefits of our platform. Our
sales cycle, from initial contact to contract execution and implementation, can take significant time with certain buyers, including agencies. We are
often required to explain how our platform can optimize the value of a premium publisher’s ad impressions or how a DSP can discover valuable ad
impressions. We may spend substantial time and resources prospecting for new business or responding to requests for proposals from potential
publishers and buyers, and it may not result in revenue. Following contract execution and implementation, ongoing sales cycles and account
management can take significant time. We are often required to explain how an additional platform integration can enhance incremental demand or
engage multiple trading teams within an advertising agency to source ad campaigns and create additional demand. We may not succeed in
attracting new publishers despite our significant investment in our business development, sales and marketing organizations, and it is difficult to
predict when new publishers will begin generating revenue through our platform, and the extent of that revenue. We may not succeed in expanding
relationships with existing publishers and buyers, despite our significant investment in our sales, account management, and marketing organizations,
and it is difficult to predict when additional products will generate revenue through our platform, and the extent of that revenue.

If we do not manage our growth effectively, the quality of our platform and solutions may suffer, and our business, results of operations,
and financial condition may be adversely affected.

The continued growth in our business may place demands on our infrastructure and our operational, managerial, administrative, and financial
resources. Our success will depend on the ability of our management to manage growth effectively. Among other things, this will require us at
various times to:

strategically invest in the development and enhancement of our platform and data center infrastructure;
improve coordination among our engineering, product, operations, and other support organizations;
manage multiple relationships with various partners, customers, and other third parties;

manage international operations;

develop our operating, administrative, legal, financial, and accounting systems and controls; and
recruit, hire, train, and retain personnel.

If we do not manage our growth well, the efficacy and performance of our platform may suffer, which could harm our reputation and reduce demand
for our platform and solutions. Failure to manage future growth effectively could harm our business and have an adverse effect on our business,
results of operations, and financial condition.
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Market pressure may reduce our revenue per impression.

Our revenue may be affected by market changes, new demands by publishers and buyers, new solutions, and competitive pressure. Our solutions
may be priced too high or too low, either of which may carry adverse consequences. We may receive requests from publishers for discounts, fee
revisions, rebates, and refunds, or from DSPs, agencies and advertisers for volume discounts, fee revisions, and rebates. Any of these
developments could adversely affect our business, results of operations, or financial condition.

In addition, although header bidding is well-established, some of our other, newer products such as OpenWrap and Audience Encore utilize different
pricing approaches, and we do not know whether our current or potential customers or the market in general will continue to accept such
approaches going forward. Any failure for our pricing approaches to gain acceptance could adversely affect our business, results of operations, and
financial condition.

We must scale our platform infrastructure to support anticipated growth and transaction volume. If we fail to do so, we may limit our
ability to process ad impressions, and we may lose revenue.

Our business depends on processing ad impressions in milliseconds, and we must handle an increasingly large volume of such transactions. The
addition of new solutions, such as header bidding in mobile and the connected TV (CTV) and over-the-top (OTT) formats, support of evolving
advertising formats, handling, and use of increasing amounts of data, and overall growth in impressions place growing demands upon our platform
infrastructure. If we are unable to grow our platform to support substantial increases in the number of transactions and in the amount of data we
process, on a high-performance, cost-effective basis, our business, results of operations, and financial condition could be adversely affected. We
expect to continue to invest in our platform in order to meet these requirements, and that investment may adversely affect our business, results of
operations, and financial condition.

If we fail to detect or prevent fraud on our platform, or malware intrusion into the systems or devices of our publishers and their
consumers, publishers could lose confidence in our platform, and we could face legal claims that could adversely affect our business,
results of operations, and financial condition.

We may be subject to fraudulent or malicious activities undertaken by persons seeking to use our platform for improper purposes. For example,
someone may attempt to divert or artificially inflate advertiser purchases through our platform, or to disrupt or divert the operation of the systems,
and devices of our publishers, and their consumers in order to misappropriate information, generate fraudulent billings or stage cyberattacks, or for
other illicit purposes. For example, sophisticated bot-nets and other complex forms of click fraud might be used to generate fraudulent impressions
and divert advertising revenue from legitimate websites of publishers. Those activities could also introduce malware through our platform in order to
commandeer or gain access to information on consumers’ computers. We use third-party tools and proprietary technology to identify non-human
traffic and malware, and we may reduce or terminate relationships with publishers that we find to be engaging in such activities. For example, in May
2020, we terminated a publisher for sending traffic that was part of the Icebucket spoofing scheme, where cybercriminals sent traffic mimicking
connected TVs to fraudulently take CTV advertising dollars. During the investigative phase, we terminated the publisher which was reportedly a
major vector for this particular spoofing attack. Although we continuously assess the quality and performance of advertising on publishers’ digital
media properties, it may be difficult to detect fraudulent or malicious activity, and we rely on our own and third-party tools, as well as the controls of
publishers. Further, perpetrators of fraudulent impressions and malware frequently change their tactics and may become more sophisticated over
time, requiring both us and third parties to improve processes for assessing the quality of publisher inventory and controlling fraudulent activity. If we
fail to detect or prevent fraudulent or malicious activity of this sort, our reputation could be damaged, publishers may contest payment, demand
refunds, or fail to give us future business, or we could face legal claims from publishers. Even if we are not directly involved in fraud or malicious
activity, any sustained failures of others in our industry to adequately detect and prevent fraud could generate the perception that programmatic
trading is unsafe and lead our publishers to avoid programmatic advertising.
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If publishers, buyers, and data providers do not obtain necessary and requisite consents from consumers for us to process their personal
data, we could be subject to fines and liability.

Because we do not have direct relationships with consumers, we rely on publishers, buyers, and data providers, as applicable, to obtain the consent
of the consumer on our behalf to process their data and deliver interest-based advertisements, and to implement any notice or choice mechanisms
required under applicable laws, but if publishers, buyers, or data providers do not follow this process (and in any event as the legal requirements in
this area continue to evolve and develop), we could be subject to fines and liability. We may not have adequate insurance or contractual indemnity
arrangements to protect us against any such claims and losses.

Prominent technology companies have announced plans to replace cookies with alternative mechanisms, and if cookies are discontinued
in favor of proprietary tracking mechanisms, our costs to develop alternatives could increase.

Some prominent technology companies, including Google, have announced intentions to discontinue the use of cookies, and to develop alternative
methods and mechanisms for tracking consumers. For example, in January 2020, Google announced its intention to limit the use of third-party
cookies potentially starting in 2022 in its Chrome web browser. As companies replace cookies, it is possible that such companies may rely on
proprietary algorithms or statistical methods to track consumers without cookies, or may utilize log-in credentials entered by consumers into other
web properties owned by these companies, such as their email services, to track web usage, including usage across multiple devices. Alternatively,
such companies may build different and potentially proprietary consumer tracking methods into their widely-used web browsers. Although we believe
our platform is well-positioned to adapt and continue to provide key data insights to our publishers without cookies, this transition could be more
disruptive, slower, or more expensive than we currently anticipate, and could materially affect our ability to serve our customers, and our business,
results of operations, and financial condition could be adversely affected.

We are subject to laws and regulations related to data privacy, data protection, and information security, and consumer protection across
different markets where we conduct our business, including in the United States and Europe and industry requirements and such laws,
regulations, and industry requirements are constantly evolving and changing. Our actual or perceived failure to comply with such
obligations could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

We receive, store, and process data about or related to consumers in addition to our customers, employees, and services providers. Our handling of
this data is subject to a variety of federal, state, and foreign laws and regulations and is subject to regulation by various government authorities. Our
data handling also is subject to contractual obligations and may be deemed to be subject to industry standards.

The U.S. federal and various state and foreign governments have adopted or proposed limitations on the collection, distribution, use, and storage of
data relating to individuals, including the use of contact information and other data for marketing, advertising and other communications with
individuals and businesses. In the United States, various laws and regulations apply to the collection, processing, disclosure, and security of certain
types of data. Additionally, the FTC and many state attorneys general are interpreting federal and state consumer protection laws as imposing
standards for the online collection, use, dissemination, and security of data. If we fail to comply with any such laws or regulations, we may be subject
to enforcement actions that may not only expose us to litigation, fines, and civil and/or criminal penalties, but also require us to change our business
practices as well as have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

The regulatory framework for data privacy issues worldwide is currently evolving and is likely to remain uncertain for the foreseeable future. The
occurrence of unanticipated events often rapidly drives the adoption of legislation or regulation affecting the use, collection, or other processing of
data and manners in which we conduct our business. Restrictions could be placed upon the collection, management, aggregation, and use of
information, which could result in a material increase in the cost of collecting or otherwise obtaining certain kinds of data and could limit the ways in
which we may use or disclose information. In particular, interest-based advertising, or the use of data to draw inferences about a user’s interests and
deliver relevant advertising to that user, and similar or related practices (sometimes referred to as behavioral advertising or personalized
advertising), such as cross-device data collection and aggregation, steps taken to de-identify personal data, and to use and distribute
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the resulting data, including for purposes of personalization and the targeting of advertisements, have come under increasing scrutiny by legislative,
regulatory, and self-regulatory bodies in the United States and abroad that focus on consumer protection or data privacy. Much of this scrutiny has
focused on the use of cookies and other technology to collect information about Internet users’ online browsing activity on web browsers, mobile
devices, and other devices, to associate such data with user or device identifiers or de-identified identities across devices and channels. In addition,
providers of Internet browsers have engaged in, or announced plans to continue or expand, efforts to provide increased visibility into, and certain
controls over, cookies and similar technologies and the data collected using such technologies. For example, in January 2020, Google announced
that at some point in the following 24 months the Chrome browser will block third-party cookies. Because we, and our customers, rely upon large
volumes of such data collected primarily through cookies and similar technologies, it is possible that these efforts may have a substantial impact on
our ability to collect and use data from Internet users, and it is essential that we monitor developments in this area domestically and globally, and
engage in responsible privacy practices, including providing consumers with notice of the types of data we collect and how we use that data to
provide our services.

In the United States, the U.S. Congress and state legislatures, along with federal regulatory authorities have recently increased their attention on
matters concerning the collection and use of consumer data. In the United States, non-sensitive consumer data generally may be used under current
rules and regulations, subject to certain restrictions, so long as the person does not affirmatively “opt-out” of the collection or use of such data. If an
“opt-in” model or other more restrictive regulations were to be adopted in the United States, less data would be available, and the cost of data would
be higher.

California recently enacted legislation, the California Consumer Privacy Act that became operative on January 1, 2020 and became enforceable by
the California Attorney General on July 1, 2020, along with related regulations which came into force on August 14, 2020 (CCPA). The CCPA creates
individual privacy rights for California residents and increases the privacy and security obligations of businesses handling personal data. The CCPA
is enforceable by the California Attorney General and there is also a private right of action relating to certain data security incidents. The CCPA
generally requires covered businesses to, among other things, provide new disclosures to California consumers and afford California consumers
new abilities to opt-out of certain sales of personal information, a concept that is defined broadly, and although formal guidance has not been issued,
behavioral advertising is believed to be a sale under CCPA by us, consumer advocacy groups and in some cases our larger competitors. We cannot
yet fully predict the impact of the CCPA or subsequent guidance on our business or operations, but it may require us to further modify our data
processing practices and policies and to incur substantial costs and expenses in an effort to comply. Decreased availability and increased costs of
information could adversely affect our ability to meet our customers’ requirements and could have an adverse effect on our business, results of
operations, and financial condition.

Additionally, a new California ballot initiative, the California Privacy Rights Act (CPRA), would impose additional data protection obligations on
companies doing business in California, including additional consumer rights processes and opt-outs for certain uses of sensitive data. The CPRA
has garnered enough signatures to be included on the November 2020 ballot in California and, if voted into law by California residents, could have
an adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial condition. The effects of the CCPA and CPRA are potentially significant and
may require us to modify our data collection or processing practices and policies and to incur substantial costs and expenses in an effort to comply
and increase our potential exposure to regulatory enforcement and/or litigation.

The CCPA has encouraged “copycat” laws and in other states across the country, such as in Nevada, Virginia, New Hampshire, lllinois, and
Nebraska. This legislation may add additional complexity, variation in requirements, restrictions, and potential legal risk, require additional
investment in resources to compliance programs, and could impact strategies and availability of previously useful data and could result in increased
compliance costs and/or changes in business practices and policies. Such new privacy laws add additional complexity, requirements, restrictions,
and potential legal risk, require additional investment in resources to compliance programs, and could impact trading strategies and availability of
previously useful data.

In Europe, the GDPR took effect on May 25, 2018 and applies to products and services that we provide in Europe, as well as the processing of

personal data of EU citizens, wherever that processing occurs. The GDPR includes operational requirements for companies that receive or process
personal data of residents of the
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European Union that are different than those that were in place in the European Union. For example, we have been required to offer new controls to
data subjects in Europe before processing data for certain aspects of our service. Failure to comply with GDPR may result in significant penalties for
non-compliance of up to the greater of €20 million or 4% of an enterprise’s global annual revenue. In addition to the foregoing, a breach of the GDPR
could result in regulatory investigations, reputational damage, orders to cease/ change our processing of our data, enforcement notices, and/ or
assessment notices (for a compulsory audit). We may also face civil claims including representative actions and other class action type litigation
(where individuals have suffered harm), potentially amounting to significant compensation or damages liabilities, as well as associated costs,
diversion of internal resources, and reputational harm.

Further, in the European Union, regulators are increasingly focusing on compliance with requirements in the online behavioral advertising
ecosystem, and current national laws that implement the ePrivacy Directive will be replaced by an EU Regulation, known as the ePrivacy
Regulation, which will significantly increase fines for non-compliance and impose burdensome requirements around obtaining consent. While the
text of the ePrivacy Regulation is still under development, a recent European court decision and regulators’ recent guidance are driving increased
attention to cookies and tracking technologies. As regulators start to enforce the strict approach (which has already begun to occur in Germany,
where data protection authorities have initiated a probe on third-party cookies), this could lead to substantial costs, require significant systems
changes, limit the effectiveness of our marketing activities, divert the attention of our technology personnel, adversely affect our margins, increase
costs, and subject us to additional liabilities. In addition, some countries are considering or have passed legislation implementing data protection
requirements or requiring local storage and processing of data or similar requirements that could increase the cost and complexity of delivering our
services. Any failure to achieve required data protection standards (which are not currently clear when applied to the online advertising ecosystem)
may result in lawsuits, regulatory fines, or other actions or liability, all of which may harm our results of operations. Because the interpretation and
application of privacy and data protection laws such as the CCPA and GDPA, and the related regulations and standards, are uncertain, it is possible
that these laws, regulations and standards may be interpreted and applied in manners that are, or are asserted to be, inconsistent with our data
management practices or the technological features of our solutions.

We are also subject to laws and regulations that dictate whether, how, and under what circumstances we can transfer, process and/or receive certain
data that is critical to our operations, including data shared between countries or regions in which we operate and data shared among our products
and services.

In addition to government regulation, privacy advocacy and industry groups may propose new and different self-regulatory standards that either
legally or contractually apply to us or our customers. We are members of self-regulatory bodies that impose additional requirements related to the
collection, use, and disclosure of consumer data. Under the requirements of these self-regulatory bodies, in addition to other compliance obligations,
we are obligated to provide consumers with notice about our use of cookies and other technologies to collect consumer data and of our collection
and use of consumer data for certain purposes, and to provide consumers with certain choices relating to the use of consumer data. Some of these
self-regulatory bodies have the ability to discipline members or participants, which could result in fines, penalties, and/or public censure (which could
in turn cause reputational harm). Additionally, some of these self-regulatory bodies might refer violations of their requirements to the Federal Trade
Commission or other regulatory bodies. If we were to be found responsible for such a violation, it could adversely affect our reputation, as well as our
business, results of operations, and financial condition.

Our success depends on our ability to retain key members of our management team, and on our ability to hire, train, retain, and motivate
new employees.

Our success depends upon the continued service of members of our senior management team and other key employees. Our Co-Founder and
Chief Executive Officer, Rajeev K. Goel, is critical to our overall management, as well as the continued development of our platform and relationships
with publishers, DSPs, and agencies, and our strategic direction. We do not maintain key-person insurance on any of our employees. Some of our
key employees may receive significant proceeds from sales of our Class A common stock after this offering, which may reduce their motivation to
continue to work for us. As a result, we may be unable to retain them, which could make it difficult to operate our business, cause us to lose
expertise or know-how, and increase our recruitment and training costs.
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Our success also depends on our ability to hire, train, retain, and motivate new employees. Competition for employees in our industry can be
intense, and we compete for experienced personnel with many companies that have greater resources than we have. The market for talent in our
key areas of operations, especially in engineering, and competition for qualified personnel is particularly intense in the San Francisco Bay Area,
where we are headquartered, as well as in Pune, India, and New York, where we maintain offices.

Seasonal fluctuations or market changes in digital advertising activity could adversely affect our business, results of operations, or
financial condition.

We generate all of our revenue directly or indirectly from the purchase and sale of digital ad impressions on our platform. Our revenue, net cash
provided by operating activities, results of operations, and other key operating and performance metrics may vary from quarter to quarter due to the
seasonal nature of digital advertising spending. For example, digital advertisers tend to devote a large portion of their budgets to campaigns in the
fourth quarter of the year, to coincide with consumer holiday spending, and then have a significantly smaller advertising budget in the first calendar
quarter. Pricing of digital ad impressions in the fourth quarter is likely to be higher due to increased demand. In addition, adverse economic
conditions or economic uncertainty may cause advertisers to decrease purchases of digital ad impressions, adversely affecting our revenue and
results of operations. For example, if the walled gardens of Google and Facebook become the preferred destinations for advertisers, lower demand
for ad impressions on our platform could cause publishers to reduce their use of our platform or to cease using it altogether. A decline in the market
for programmatic advertising or the failure of that market to grow as expected could also adversely affect our business, results of operations, and
financial condition. Any decline in the volume or perceived quality of the ad impressions available on our platform could further reduce demand. Any
such developments could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

Our efforts to offer private marketplace solutions may not be successful, or we may not be able to scale our platform to meet this demand
in a timely manner, and, as a result, we may not realize a return from our investments in that area.

We believe there is significant and growing demand for private marketplace solutions (PMPs), and we are making significant investments to meet
that demand and grow our market share of PMPs. PMPs may involve lower fees than we can charge for our real-time bidding services, which may
not be fully offset by anticipated higher pricing. In some cases, we have experienced fee pressure as we have built out our PMP offering, and we
expect this fee pressure to increase as more competitors, including new entrants as well as publishers themselves, build their own technology and
infrastructure to enter this business. Even if the market for these solutions develops as we anticipate, publishers and buyers might not embrace our
offerings to the degree we expect due to various factors such as inertia from moving off of existing implementations of competitive products.
Additionally, even if publishers and buyers embrace our offerings, the positive effect of our PMP offerings on our results of operations may be offset
or negated if PMPs cannibalize our open marketplace transaction volumes, by similar offerings from our competitors, or other adverse
developments.

We are subject to payment-related risks if DSPs dispute or do not pay their invoices, and any decreases in payments or in our overall take
rate could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial condition. These risks mays be heightened
as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and resulting economic downturn.

We generate revenue primarily through revenue share agreements with our publishers. We invoice DSPs and collect the full purchase price for the
digital ad impressions they purchase, retain our fees, and remit the balance to the publisher. However, in some cases, we are required to pay
publishers for digital ad impressions delivered even if we are unable to collect from the buyer that purchased the digital ad impressions. In the past,
certain buyers have sought to slow their payments to us or been forced into filing for bankruptcy protection, resulting in us not receiving payment.
These challenges have been exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic and resulting economic impact, as many of our buyers are experiencing
financial difficulties and liquidity constraints. In certain cases, buyers have been unable to timely make payments and we have suffered losses. For
example, in early 2019, the advertising company Sizmek declared bankruptcy, which led us to lose approximately $6 million in contracted spending
on our platform. While our contracts generally do not contain such exposure, there are certain agreements under which we may be responsible for
the whole amount of contracted spending, whether or not ultimately paid by the buyer.
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In addition, a prolonged economic downturn, as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic or otherwise, may lead additional buyers to slow or default on
payments or in some cases seek bankruptcy protection. We cannot assure you that we will not experience bad debt in the future, and write-offs for
bad debt could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations, or financial condition in the periods in which the write-offs occur. If our
cash collections are significantly diminished as a result of these dynamics, our revenue and/or cash flow could be adversely affected, and we may
need to use working capital to fund our accounts payable pending collection from the buyers. This may result in additional costs and cause us to
forgo or defer other more productive uses of that working capital.

Moreover, a majority of our advertising spend comes from buyers purchasing advertising inventory programmatically on our platform through their
DSPs. We experience requests from publishers and buyers for discounts, fee concessions or revisions, rebates, or other forms of consideration,
refunds, and greater levels of pricing transparency and specificity, in some cases as a condition to maintain the relationship or to increase the
amount of advertising spend that the buyer sends to our platform. In addition, we charge fees to publishers for use of our platform, and we may
decide to offer discounts or other pricing concessions in order to attract more inventory or demand, or to compete effectively with other providers that
have different or lower pricing structures and may be able to undercut our pricing due to greater scale or other factors. Our revenue, take rate, the
value of our business, and the price of our Class A common stock could be adversely affected if we cannot maintain and grow our revenue and
profitability through volume increases that compensate for any price reductions, or if we are forced to make significant fee concessions, rebates, or
refunds, or if buyers reduce spending with us, or publishers reduce inventory available through our exchange due to fee disputes or pricing issues.

Our international operations subject us to additional costs and risks, and may not yield returns, and our continued international
expansion may not be successful.

We have entered into several international markets and expect to enter into additional markets in the future. For the year ended December 31, 2019,
we generated approximately 32% of our revenue from outside the United States. We expect to continue to expand our international operations;
further expansion may require significant management attention and financial resources and may place burdens on our management, administrative,
operational, legal, and financial infrastructure. The costs and risks inherent in conducting business internationally include:

= difficulty and cost associated with maintaining effective controls at foreign locations;

= adapting our platform and solutions to non-U.S. publishers’ preferences and customs;

m difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations;

= (difficulties in enforcing our intellectual property rights;

m new and different sources of competition;

= regulatory and other delays and difficulties in setting up foreign operations;

m compliance with anti-bribery laws, such as the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and the U.K. Anti-Bribery Act 2010, by us, our employees,
and our business partners;

m compliance with export and import control and economic sanctions, laws and regulations, such as those administered by the U.S. Office of
Foreign Assets Control;

m  compliance with foreign data privacy laws, such as the European Union (EU) ePrivacy Directive and GDPR;

m restrictions on the transfers of funds;

m currency exchange rate fluctuations and foreign exchange controls;

m  economic and political instability in some countries;

m  health or similar issues, such as a pandemic or epidemic;

m compliance with the laws of numerous taxing jurisdictions where we conduct business, potential double taxation of our international

earnings, and potentially adverse tax consequences due to changes in applicable U.S. and foreign tax laws; and
m the complexity and potential adverse consequences of U.S. tax laws as they relate to our international operations.
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As we continue to expand our business globally, our success will depend, in large part, on our ability to anticipate and effectively manage these
risks. These factors and others could harm our ability to increase international revenues and, consequently, could adversely affect our business,
results of operations, and financial condition. The expansion of our existing international operations and entry into additional international markets
will require significant management attention and financial resources. Our failure to manage these risks successfully could adversely affect our
business, results of operations, and financial condition.

Our use and reliance upon technology and development resources in India may expose us to unanticipated costs and liabilities, which
could affect our ability to realize cost savings from our technology operations in India.

Most of our technology and development work is conducted in Pune, India. We cannot assure you that our reliance upon development resources in
India will enable us to achieve meaningful cost reductions or greater resource efficiency. Further, our development efforts and other operations in
India involve significant risks, including:

m difficulty hiring and retaining engineering and management resources due to intense competition for such resources and resulting wage
inflation;
heightened exposure to changes in economic, security, and political conditions in India;
the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on general health and economic conditions in India; and

m fluctuations in currency exchange rates and tax compliance in India.

In addition, enforcement of intellectual property rights and confidentiality protections in India may not be as effective as in the United States or other
countries. Policing unauthorized use of proprietary technology is difficult and expensive, and we might need to resort to litigation to protect our trade
secrets and confidential information. The experience and capabilities of Indian courts in handling intellectual property litigation vary, and outcomes
are unpredictable. Further, such litigation may require significant expenditure of cash and management efforts and could harm our business,
financial condition, and results of operations. An adverse determination in any such litigation will impair our intellectual property rights and may harm
our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

We expect to continue to rely on significant cost savings obtained by concentrating our technology and development and engineering work in India,
rather than in the United States, but difficulties resulting from the factors noted above and other risks related to our operations in India could increase
our expenses and harm our competitive position. The historical rate of wage inflation has been higher in India than in the United States. In addition, if
the Rupee strengthens against the U.S. Dollar, our costs would increase. If the cost of technology and development work in India significantly
increases or the labor environment in India changes unfavorably, our cost savings may be diminished. Any such developments could adversely
affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

We must provide value to both publishers and buyers of advertising without being perceived as favoring one over the other or being
perceived as competing with them through our service offerings.

We provide a platform that intermediates between publishers seeking to sell advertising space and buyers seeking to purchase that space. Although
only the publishers are our direct customers and represent nearly all of our revenue, we believe we have strong relationships with the DSPs,
agencies, and advertisers that purchase advertisements through our programmatic bidding and other solutions. Our ability to provide quality
impressions with price transparency and competitive pricing to both publishers and buyers is critical to our ability to succeed, and if we were to be
perceived as favoring one side of the transaction to the detriment of the other, or presenting a competitive challenge to their own businesses,
demand for our platform from publishers or buyers would decrease and our business, results of operations, and financial condition would be
adversely affected.

We depend on third-party data centers, the disruption of which could adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial
condition.

We host our company-owned infrastructure at third-party data centers. Any damage to or failure of our systems generally would prevent us from
operating our business. We rely on the Internet and, accordingly, depend upon the continuous, reliable, and secure operation of Internet servers,
related hardware and software, and network
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infrastructure. While we control and have access to our servers and all of the components of our network that are located in our external data
centers, we do not control the operation of these facilities. The owners of our data center facilities have no obligation to renew their agreements with
us on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. If we are unable to renew these agreements on commercially reasonable terms, or if one of our data
center operators is acquired, we may be required to transfer our servers and other infrastructure to new data center facilities, and we may incur
significant costs and possible service interruption in connection with doing so.

Problems faced by our third-party data center operations, with the telecommunications network providers with whom we or they contract, or with the
systems by which our telecommunications providers allocate capacity among their customers, including us, could adversely affect the experience of
publishers. Additionally, improving our platform’s infrastructure and expanding its capacity in anticipation of growth in new channels and formats, as
well as implementing technological enhancements to our platform to improve its efficiency and cost-effectiveness are key components of our
business strategy, and if our data centers are unable to keep up with our growing needs for capacity, this could have an adverse effect on our
business. Any changes in third-party service levels at our data centers or any errors, defects, disruptions, or other performance problems could
adversely affect our reputation, expose us to liability, cause us to lose customers, or otherwise adversely affect our business, results of operations,
and financial condition. Service interruptions might reduce our revenue, trigger refunds to publishers, subject us to potential liability, or adversely
affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

The ongoing effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, or the occurrence of a natural disaster, an act of terrorism, vandalism or sabotage, or other
unanticipated problems at these facilities could result in interruptions in the availability of our platform. While we have disaster recovery
arrangements in place, they have not been tested under actual disasters or similar events and may not effectively permit us to continue to provide
our products and services in the event of any problems with respect to our data centers. Moreover, because we do not currently have full
redundancy with respect to the services at each data center, if one of our data centers shuts down there may be a period of time that our products or
services, or some of our products or services, will be unavailable to publishers served by that data center. If any of these events were to occur to our
business, our business, results of operations, or financial condition could be adversely affected.

Platform outages or disruptions, including any interruptions due to cyberattacks or to our failure to maintain adequate security and
supporting infrastructure as we scale, could damage our reputation and our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

As we grow our business, we expect to continue to invest in our platform infrastructure, including hardware and software solutions, network services
and database technologies, as well as potentially increase our reliance on open source software. Without these improvements, our operations might
suffer from unanticipated system disruptions, slow transaction processing, unreliable service levels, impaired quality or delays in reporting accurate
information regarding transactions in our platform, any of which could negatively affect our reputation and ability to attract and retain publishers. The
steps we take to enhance the reliability, integrity and security of our platform as it scales are expensive and complex, and poor execution could result
in operational failures. In addition, cyberattack techniques are constantly evolving and becoming increasingly diverse growing increasingly more
sophisticated and could involve denial-of-service attacks or other maneuvers that have the effect of disrupting the availability of services on our
platform, which could seriously harm our reputation and business. Other types of cyberattacks could harm us even if our platform operations are left
undisturbed. For example, attacks may be designed to deceive employees into releasing control of their systems to a hacker, while others may aim
to introduce computer viruses or malware into our systems with a view to stealing confidential or proprietary data. We are also vulnerable to
unintentional errors or malicious actions by persons with authorized access to our systems that exceed the scope of their access rights, distribute
data erroneously, or, unintentionally or intentionally, interfere with the intended operations of our platform. Incidents like this can give rise to a variety
of losses and costs, including legal exposure, and regulatory fines, damages to deputation, amongst others. Although we maintain insurance
coverage, it may be insufficient to protect us against all losses and costs stemming from security breaches, cyberattacks and other types of unlawful
activity, or any resulting disruptions from such events. Outages and disruptions of our platform, including any caused by cyberattacks, may harm our
reputation and our business, results of operations, and financial condition.
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Maintaining the security and availability of our platform, network, and internal IT systems and the security of information we hold on behalf of our
customers is a critical issue for us and our customers. Attacks on our customers and our own network are frequent and take a variety of forms,
including DDoS attacks, infrastructure attacks, botnets, malicious file attacks, cross-site scripting, credential abuse, ransomware, bugs, viruses,
worms, and malicious software programs.

Our software platform could be susceptible to errors, defects, or unintended performance problems that could adversely affect our
business, results of operations, and financial condition.

We depend upon the sustained and uninterrupted performance of our platform to operate our business. Software bugs, faulty algorithms, technical
or infrastructure problems, or system updates could lead to an inability to process data to place advertisements or price inventory effectively, or
cause advertisements to display improperly or be placed in proximity to inappropriate content, which could adversely affect our business, results of
operations, and financial condition. These risks are compounded by the complexity of our technology and the large amounts of data we utilize.
Because our software is complex, undetected material defects, errors and failures may occur. Despite testing, errors, or bugs in our software may
not be found until the software is in our live operating environment. For example, changes to our solution have in the past caused errors in the
measurements of transactions conducted through our platform, resulting in disputes raised by publishers. Errors or failures in our solution, even if
caused by the implementation of changes by publishers or partners to their systems, could also result in negative publicity, damage to our reputation,
loss of or delay in market acceptance of our solution, increased costs or loss of revenue, or loss of competitive position. In such an event, we may
be required or choose to expend additional resources to help mitigate any problems resulting from defects, errors and failures in our software. As a
result, defects or errors in our products or services could harm our reputation, result in significant costs to us, impair the ability of publishers to sell
and for buyers to purchase inventory and impair our ability to fulfill obligations with publishers and partners. Any significant interruptions could
adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

Legal uncertainty and industry unpreparedness for new regulations may mean substantial disruption and inefficiency, demand
constraints, and reduced inventory supply and value.

Some of our publishers may be unprepared to comply with evolving regulatory guidance under the CCPA, GDPR, or other new regulations, and may
therefore remove personal data from their inventory before passing it into the bid stream, at least temporarily. This may lower their inventory,
resulting in loss of ad spend and revenue for us. Further, since do not have direct relationships with end users, we rely on publishers to obtain such
consents as required. While we can and do provide training and guidance on compliance, the nature of the ecosystem and technology does not
support 100% verification that consent from end users has been obtained, when required, and we may pass on unknowingly pass on consumer
personal information when we should not be. This exposes us to potential regulatory scrutiny, investigations, fines, penalties, and other legal and
financial exposure. Additionally, privacy and data protection laws are evolving, and it is possible that these laws may be interpreted and applied in a
manner that is inconsistent with our safeguards and practices that could result in fines, lawsuits and other penalties, and significant changes to our
publishers business practices and inventory. Even well-prepared publishers and buyers may be confronted with difficult choices and administrative
and technical hurdles as they implement their compliance programs and integrate with multiple other parties in the ecosystem. Privacy and data
protection laws are evolving, and it is possible that these laws may be interpreted and applied in a manner that is inconsistent with our safeguards
and practices that could result in fines, lawsuits and other penalties, and significant changes to our publisher’s business practices. Further,
compliance program design and implementation will be an ongoing process as understanding of CCPA, GDPR, or other new regulations increase
and industry compliance standards evolve. The resulting process friction could result in substantial inefficiency and loss of inventory and demand, as
well as increased burdens upon our organization as we seek to assist customers and adapt our own technology and processes as necessary to
comply with the law and adapt to industry practice. The uncertain regulatory environment caused by the CCPA, GDPR, or other new regulations may
disadvantage us in comparison to large, integrated competitors such as Google and Facebook, which have greater compliance resources and can
take advantage of their direct relationships with end users to secure consents from end users. Changes in the business practices of such large
integrated competitors could impose additional requirements with respect to the retention and security of our handling or ability to handle
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customer and end user data, could limit our marketing and core business activities, and have an adverse effect on our business, results of
operations, and financial condition.

Recent rulings from the Court of Justice of the European Union invalidated the EU-US Privacy Shield as a lawful means for transferring
personal data from the European Union to the United States; this introduces increased uncertainty and may require us to change our EU
data practices and/or rely on an alternative legally sufficient compliance measure.

The GDPR generally prohibits the transfer of personal data of EU subjects outside of the European Union, unless a lawful data transfer solution has
been implemented or a data transfer derogation applies. On July 16, 2020, in a case known as Schrems I, the Court of Justice of the European
Union (CJEU) ruled on the validity of two of the primary data transfer solutions. The first method, EU-US Privacy Shield operated by the U.S.
Department of Commerce, was declared invalid as a legal mechanism to transfer data from Europe to the United States. As a result, despite the fact
that we have certified our compliance to the EU-US Privacy Shield, our customers may no longer rely on this mechanism as a lawful means to
transfer European data to us in the United States. For the time being, however, the Department of Commerce continues to operate the EU-US
Privacy Shield, and if we fail to comply with the Privacy Shield requirements, we risk investigation and sanction by U.S. regulatory authorities,
including the Federal Trade Commission. Such investigation could cost us significant time and resources, and could potentially result in fines,
criminal prosecution, or other penalties. While the United States and the European Union are in discussions regarding a replacement to Privacy
Shield, we cannot predict if we it will happen or if it does, what impact it will have on our business and industry.

The second mechanism, Standard Contractual Clauses (SCCs), an alternative transfer measure that we also offer to our EU customers for extra-EU
data transfers, was upheld as a valid legal mechanism for transnational data transfer. However, the ruling requires that European organizations
seeking to rely on the SCCs to export data out of the European Union ensure the data is protected to a standard that is "essentially equivalent" to
that in the European Union including, where necessary, by taking "supplementary measures" to protect the data. It remains unclear what
"supplementary measures" must be taken to allow the lawful transfer of personal data to the United States, and it is possible that EU data protection
authorities may determine that there are no supplementary measures that can legitimize EU-US data transfers. For the time being, we will rely on
SCCs for EU-US transfers of EU personal data and explore what "supplementary measures" it can implement to protect EU personal data that is
transferred to us in the United States. SCCs also contemplate data received from a third party, but may not cover data that is collected directly on
behalf of a third party. It remains unclear whether SCCs can cover our use of cookies and other tracking technologies placed directly on consumer’s
browsers or devices through our publishers or buyers’ websites.

We may also need to restructure our data export practices as a result of Brexit. At the end of this year, European Union law will cease to apply to the
United Kingdom. This means that data may not be able to flow freely between the European Union and the United Kingdom, and our United
Kingdom subsidiaries may need to enter into SCCs and adopt "supplementary measures” both with customers and other group entities, in order to
ensure the continuing flow of data to and from the United Kingdom subsidiary. We would likely need to restructure our transfers of European data via
another European subsidiary and have such entity enter into the SCCs with other group entities and implement "supplementary measures" to ensure
the continuing flow of data from the European Union to the United States. In the event that use of the SCCs is subsequently invalidated as a solution
for data transfers to the United States, or there are additional changes to the data protection regime in the European Union resulting in any inability
to transfer personal data from the European Union to the United States in compliance with data protection laws, European customers may be more
inclined to work with businesses that do not rely on such compliance mechanisms to ensure legal and regulatory compliance, such as EU-based
companies or other competitors that do not need to transfer personal data to the United States in order to avoid the above-identified risks and legal
issues. Such changes could cause us to incur penalties under GDPR and could increase the cost and complexity of operating our business.

If mobile devices or their operating systems and Internet browsers develop in ways that prevent advertisements from being delivered to
consumers, our header bidding business, as well as our business, results of operations, and financial condition generally, will be
adversely affected.

Our success in the mobile channel depends upon the ability of our platform to provide advertising for mobile connected devices, the major operating
systems or Internet browsers that run on them, and the thousands of
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applications that are downloaded onto them. The design of mobile devices and operating systems or browsers is controlled by third parties that may
also introduce new devices and operating systems or modify existing ones, and network carriers may affect our ability to access specified content on
mobile devices. For example, Apple recently announced its intent to eliminate the Identifier for Advertisers, which we and other advertising firms
have used to deliver targeted advertisements to consumers. While the effects of this development are uncertain and would not prevent us from
operating our header bidding technology on Apple products, it could reduce the value of the ad impressions we offer. If our platform cannot operate
effectively with popular devices, operating systems, or Internet browsers, including Apple devices and iOS, our business, results of operations, and
financial condition would be adversely affected.

Our platform utilizes header bidding, a nascent technology solution for mobile advertising, by which impressions that would have previously been
exposed to different potential sources of demand in a sequence dictated by ad server priorities are instead available for concurrent competitive
bidding by demand sources. This can help publishers increase revenue by exposing their inventory to more bidders, thereby allocating more
inventory to demand sources that value it most highly. Header bidding allows us to compete with demand sources that would previously have been
above us in publishers' ad server sequences.

We sell advertisement inventory directly through mobile application publishers, as well as through software development kits such as our OpenWrap
SDK, and other proprietary technology of third parties, such as aggregators. From time to time our relationships with these third parties are
terminated, the scale of these third parties' business with application providers is reduced, these third parties develop their own solutions that render
ours obsolete, and the third parties' customers begin transacting directly between each other rather than through the third party, which causes the
amount of mobile inventory available through our platform to decline. Any rapid or significant decline in mobile inventory would adversely affect our
business, results of operations, and financial condition.

If CTV develops in ways that prevent advertisements from being delivered to consumers, our business, results of operations, and
financial condition may be adversely affected.

As online video advertising has continued to scale and evolve, the amount of online video advertising being bought and sold programmatically has
increased dramatically; this market continues to grow with the increased popularity of CTV and OTT media. However, despite the opportunities
created by programmatic advertising, programmatic solutions for CTV and OTT publishers are still nascent compared to desktop and mobile video
solutions. Many CTV publishers have backgrounds in cable or broadcast television and have limited experience with digital advertising, and in
particular programmatic advertising. For these publishers, it is extremely important to protect the quality of the viewer experience to maintain brand
goodwill and ensure that online advertising efforts do not create sales channel conflicts or otherwise detract from their direct sales force. In this
regard, programmatic advertising presents a number of potential challenges, including the ability to ensure that ads are brand safe, comply with
business rules around competitive separation, are not overly repetitive, are played at the appropriate volume, and do not cause delays in load-time
of content. We believe that our platform is well-positioned to allow publishers the opportunity to achieve these goals and also reliably achieve “ad
potting,” or the placement of the desired number of advertisements in commercial breaks. In fact, our OpenWrap OTT platform was designed to
address these challenges and we have invested significant time and resources cultivating relationships with CTV publishers to establish best
practices and evangelize the benefits of programmatic CTV. While we believe that programmatic advertising will continue to grow as a percentage of
overall CTV advertising, there can be no assurance that CTV publishers will adopt programmatic solutions such as ours, or the rate at which they
may adopt such solutions, which could adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

Failure to comply with industry self-regulation could adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

In addition to complying with government regulations, we participate in trade associations and industry self-regulatory groups that promote best
practices or codes of conduct addressing privacy. For example, we have undertaken to comply with industry codes of conduct in the United States
and Europe. On our website, we offer consumers the ability to opt out of receiving advertisements based on cookies or other technologies. If we
encounter difficulties implementing such guidelines, or our opt-out mechanisms fail to work as designed, we

31



may experience negative publicity and be the subject of investigations or litigation. Any representations that we make regarding our adherence to
self-regulatory standards could result in regulatory action if we fail to meet them. Any such action against us could be costly and time consuming,
require us to change our business practices, cause us to divert management’s attention and our resources, and be damaging to our reputation and
our business. New self-regulatory guidelines that are inconsistent with our practices or in conflict with applicable laws and regulations in the United
States and other countries where we do business could arise. If we fail to abide by or are perceived as not operating in accordance with applicable
laws and regulations and industry best practices or any industry guidelines or codes with regard to privacy or the provision of Internet advertising,
our reputation may suffer and we could lose relationships with our publishers or others.

In addition to government regulation, privacy advocates, and industry groups may propose new and different self-regulatory standards that may
apply to us, and are constantly evolving in the United States, European Union, and other countries. Because the interpretation and application of
privacy and data protection laws, regulations, rules, and other standards are still uncertain, it is possible that these laws, rules, regulations, and other
actual or alleged legal obligations, such as contractual or self-regulatory obligations, may be interpreted and applied in a manner that is inconsistent
with our existing data management practices or the functionality of our platform. If so, in addition to the possibility of fines, lawsuits, and other claims,
we could be required to fundamentally change our business activities and practices or modify our software, which could have an adverse effect on
our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

We generally do not have a direct relationship with consumers who view advertisements placed through our platform, so we may not be
able to disclaim liabilities from such consumers through terms of use on our platform.

Advertisements on websites, applications and other digital media properties of publishers purchased through our platform are viewed by consumers
visiting the publishers’ digital media properties. Those publishers often have terms of use in place with their consumers that disclaim or limit their
potential liabilities to consumers, or pursuant to which consumers waive rights to bring class actions against the publishers. We generally do not
have terms of use in place with such consumers, so we cannot disclaim or limit potential liabilities to them through terms of use, which may expose
us to greater liabilities than certain of our competitors.

Our continued business success depends upon our ability to offer high-quality inventory with appropriate viewability capabilities, and if
our inventory quality declines or if we are unable to offer functionality that addresses quality concerns of both advertisers and publishers,
our business, results of operations, and financial condition could be adversely affected.

We must address quality concerns of both advertisers and publishers. Publishers require ad quality tools that enable granular control over the
characteristics of the ads that run on their ad impressions, including those relating to the advertiser, industry and content for a particular ad. We must
also provide automatic or ad hoc blocking of ads that contain malware or other ads the publisher deems undesirable. Our inventory quality tools
must continue to help publishers demonstrate the value and quality of their ad impressions to DSPs, advertisers, and agencies with automated fraud
detection and viewability reporting. Maintaining and upgrading our capabilities associated with ad quality and inventory quality is complex and costly.
If we fail to maintain high quality controls for our publishers and partners, our business, results of operations, and financial condition could be
adversely affected.

In addition, the viewability of ad impressions is important to certain advertisers, because it enables them to assess the value of particular ad
impressions as a means to reach a target audience. However, there is no consensus regarding the definition of viewability or the minimum standard
viewability thresholds and metrics that should apply for different ad formats. We cannot predict whether consensus views will emerge, or what they
will be. Incorporating accepted viewability approaches fully into our business as they evolve will require us to incur additional costs to integrate
relevant technologies and process additional information through our platform. In addition, ad impressions that are well differentiated on the basis of
viewability will also typically be differentiated on the basis of value, with those that are less viewable valued lower. In this context, if we are not able
to effectively transact ad impressions with higher viewability and to incorporate appropriate viewability capabilities into our platform, we could be
competitively disadvantaged and our business, results of operations, and financial condition could be adversely affected.
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Future acquisitions or strategic investments could be difficult to identify and integrate, divert the attention of management, and could
disrupt our business, dilute stockholder value and adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

As part of our growth strategy, we may acquire or invest in other businesses, assets or technologies that are complementary to and fit within our
strategic goals. Any acquisition or investment may divert the attention of management and require us to use significant amounts of cash, issue
dilutive equity securities or incur debt. We have limited experience in acquiring other businesses. In addition, the anticipated benefits of any
acquisition or investment may not be realized, and we may be exposed to unknown risks, any of which could adversely affect our business, results of
operations, and financial condition, including risks arising from:

m difficulties in integrating the operations, technologies, product or service offerings, administrative systems, and personnel of acquired
businesses, especially if those businesses operate outside of our core competency or geographies in which we currently operate;

ineffectiveness or incompatibility of acquired technologies or solutions;

potential loss of key employees of the acquired business;

inability to maintain key business relationships and reputation of the acquired business;

diversion of management attention from other business concerns;

litigation arising from the acquisition or the activities of the acquired business, including claims from terminated employees, customers,

former stockholders or other third parties;

m assumption of contractual obligations that contain terms that are not beneficial to us, require us to license or waive intellectual property
rights, or increase our risk of liability;

m  complications in the integration of acquired businesses or diminished prospects, including as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and its

global economic effects;

failure to generate the expected financial results related to an acquisition on a timely manner or at all;

failure to accurately forecast the impact of an acquisition transaction; and

implementation or remediation of effective controls, procedures, and policies for acquired businesses.

To fund future acquisitions, we may pay cash or issue additional shares of our Class A common stock, which could dilute our stockholders or
diminish our cash reserves. Borrowing to fund an acquisition would result in increased fixed obligations and could also subject us to covenants or
other restrictions that could limit our ability to effectively run our business.

We rely on publishers, buyers, and partners to abide by contractual requirements and relevant laws, rules, and regulations when using
our platform, and legal claims or enforcement actions resulting from their actions could expose us to liabilities, damage our reputation,
and be costly to defend.

The publishers, buyers, and partners engaging in transactions through our platform impose various requirements upon each other, and they and the
underlying advertisers are subject to regulatory requirements by governments and standards bodies applicable to their activities. We may assume
responsibility for satisfying or facilitating the satisfaction of some of these requirements through the contracts we enter into with publishers, buyers,
and partners. In addition, we may have responsibility for some acts or omissions of publishers, buyers, or partners transacting business through our
platform under applicable laws or regulations or as a result of common law duties, even if we have not assumed responsibility contractually. These
responsibilities could expose us to significant liabilities, perhaps without the ability to impose effective mitigating controls upon, or to recover from,
publishers and buyers. Moreover, for those third parties who are both publishers and buyers on our platform, it is feasible that they could use our
platform to buy and sell advertisements in an effort to inflate their own revenue. We could be subject to litigation as a result of such actions, and, if
we were sued, we would incur legal costs in our defense and cannot guarantee that a court would not attribute some liability to us.

We contractually require our publishers, buyers, data providers, and partners to abide by relevant laws, rules and regulations, and restrictions by
their counterparties, when transacting on our platform, and we generally attempt to obtain representations from buyers that the advertising they
place through our platform complies with applicable laws and regulations and does not violate third-party intellectual property rights, and from
publishers about the quality and characteristics of the impressions they provide. We also generally receive representations from publishers, buyers,
and data providers about their privacy practices and compliance with applicable laws
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and regulations, including their maintenance of adequate privacy policies that disclose and permit our data collection practices. Nonetheless, there
are many circumstances in which it is difficult or impossible for us to monitor or evaluate their compliance. For example, we cannot control the
content of publisher’s media properties, and we are often unable to determine exactly what information a partner collects after an ad has been
placed, and how the buyer uses any such collected information. Moreover, we are unable to prevent DSPs from aggregating bid requests from
publishers and directing it to their own buying platforms or even reselling such bid data to advertisers or third parties.

If publishers, buyers, data providers, or partners fail to abide by relevant laws, rules and regulations, or contract requirements, when transacting over
our platform, or after such a transaction is completed, we could potentially face liability to consumers for such misuse. Potential sources of liability to
consumers include malicious activities, such as the introduction of malware into consumers’ computers through advertisements served through our
platform, and code that redirects consumers to sites other than the ones consumers sought to visit, potentially resulting in malware downloads or
use charges from the redirect site. Publishers often have terms of use in place with their consumers that disclaim or limit their potential liabilities to
such consumers, or pursuant to which consumers waive rights to bring class-action lawsuits against the publishers related to advertisements.
Similarly, if such misconduct results in enforcement action by a regulatory body or other governmental authority, we could become involved in a
potentially time-consuming and costly investigation or we could be subject to some form of sanction or penalty. We may not have adequate
indemnity to protect us against, and our policies of insurance may not cover, such claims and losses.

We are subject to anti-bribery, anti-corruption, and similar laws and non-compliance with such laws can subject us to criminal penalties or
significant fines and harm our business and reputation.

We are subject to anti-bribery and similar laws, such as the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, or the FCPA, the U.S.
domestic bribery statute contained in 18 U.S.C. § 201, the USA PATRIOT Act, U.S. Travel Act, the U.K. Bribery Act 2010 and Proceeds of Crime Act
2002, and possibly other anti-corruption, anti-bribery, and anti-money laundering laws in countries in which we conduct activities. Anti-corruption laws
have been enforced with great rigor in recent years and are interpreted broadly and prohibit companies and their employees and their agents from
making or offering improper payments or other benefits to government officials and others in the private sector. The FCPA or other applicable anti-
corruption laws may also hold us liable for acts of corruption or bribery committed by our third-party business partners, representatives, and agents,
even if we do not authorize such activities. As we increase our international sales and business, and increase our use of third parties, our risks under
these laws will increase. As a public company, the FCPA separately requires that we keep accurate books and records and maintain internal
accounting controls sufficient to assure management’s control, authority, and responsibility over our assets. We have adopted policies and
procedures and conduct training designed to prevent improper payments and other corrupt practices prohibited by applicable laws, but cannot
guarantee that improprieties will not occur. Noncompliance with these laws could subject us to investigations, sanctions, settlements, prosecution,
other enforcement actions, disgorgement of profits, significant fines, damages, other civil and criminal penalties or injunctions, suspension and/or
debarment from contracting with specified persons, the loss of export privileges, reputational harm, adverse media coverage, and other collateral
consequences. Any investigations, actions, and/or sanctions could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial
condition.

We are subject to governmental economic sanctions requirements and export and import controls that could impair our ability to compete
in international markets or subject us to liability if we are not in compliance with applicable laws.

We are subject to various U.S. export control and trade and economic sanctions laws and regulations, including the U.S. Export Administration
Regulations and the various sanctions programs administered by the U.S. Department of the Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets Control
(collectively, Trade Controls). U.S. Trade Controls may prohibit the shipment of specified products and services to certain countries, governments,
and persons. Although we endeavor to conduct our business in compliance with Trade Controls, our failure to successfully comply may expose us to
negative legal and business consequences, including civil or criminal penalties, governmental investigations, and reputational harm.
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Furthermore, if we export our technology or software, the exports may require authorizations, including a license, a license exception, or other
appropriate government authorization or regulatory requirements. Complying with Trade Controls may be time-consuming and may result in the
delay or loss of opportunities.

In addition, various countries regulate the import of encryption technology, including the imposition of import permitting and licensing requirements,
and have enacted laws that could limit our ability to offer our platform or could limit our customers’ ability to use our platform in those countries.
Changes in our platform or future changes in export and import regulations may create delays in the introduction of our platform in international
markets or prevent our customers with international operations from deploying our platform globally. Any change in export or import regulations,
economic sanctions or related legislation, or change in the countries, governments, persons, or technologies targeted by such regulations, could
result in decreased use of our platform by, or in our decreased ability to export our technology and services to, existing or potential customers with
international operations. Any decreased use of our platform or limitation on our ability to export our platform would likely adversely affect our
business, results of operations, and financial condition.

Our corporate culture has contributed to our success, and if we cannot maintain it as we grow, we could lose the innovation, creativity,
and teamwork fostered by our culture, and our business may be harmed.

We believe our corporate culture has been a critical component of our success as we believe it fosters innovation, creativity, and teamwork across
our business, helping to drive our success. We intend to expand our overall headcount and operations both domestically and internationally, with no
assurance that we will be able to do so while effectively maintaining our corporate culture. As we expand and change, in particular across multiple
geographies or following acquisitions, it may be difficult to preserve our corporate culture, which could reduce our ability to innovate, create, and
operate effectively. In turn, the failure to preserve our culture could adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition by
negatively affecting our ability to attract, recruit, integrate and retain employees, continue to perform at current levels, and effectively execute our
business strategy.

Our intellectual property rights may be difficult to enforce and protect, which could enable others to copy or use aspects of our
technology without compensating us, thereby eroding our competitive advantages and having an adverse effect on our business, results
of operations, and financial condition.

We rely upon a combination of trade secrets, third-party confidentiality and non-disclosure agreements, additional contractual restrictions on
disclosure and use, and trademark, copyright, patent, and other intellectual property laws to establish and protect our proprietary technology and
intellectual property rights. We currently own trademark registrations and applications for the “PubMatic’ name and variants thereof and other
product-related marks in the United States and certain foreign countries. We have also registered numerous Internet domain names related to our
business. We also rely on copyright laws to protect computer programs related to our platform and our proprietary technologies, although to date we
have not registered for statutory copyright protection. In order to bring a copyright infringement lawsuit in the United States, the copyright must be
registered. Accordingly, the remedies and damages available to us for unauthorized use of our software may be limited. Historically, we have
prioritized keeping our technology architecture, trade secrets, and engineering roadmap private, and as a general matter, have not patented our
proprietary technology. As a result, we cannot look to patent enforcement rights to protect much of our proprietary technology. Furthermore, our
patent strategy is still in its early stages. We may not be able to obtain any further patents, and our pending application may not result in the
issuance of a patent. Any issued patents may be challenged, invalidated, or circumvented, and any rights granted under these patents may not
actually provide adequate defensive protection or competitive advantages to us. Additionally, the process of obtaining patent protection is expensive
and time-consuming, and we may not be able to prosecute all necessary or desirable patent applications at a reasonable cost or in a timely manner.

While it is our policy to protect and defend our rights to our intellectual property, we cannot predict whether steps taken by us to protect our
intellectual property will be adequate to prevent infringement, misappropriation, dilution, or other violations of our intellectual property rights. Third
parties may knowingly or unknowingly infringe our intellectual property rights, third parties may challenge intellectual property rights held by us, and
pending and future trademark and patent applications may not be approved. These claims may result in restrictions on our use of our intellectual
property or the conduct of our business. In any of these cases, we may
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be required to expend significant time and expense to prevent infringement or to enforce our rights. We also cannot guarantee that others will not
independently develop technology with the same or similar functions to any proprietary technology we rely on to conduct our business and
differentiate ourselves from our competitors. Unauthorized parties may also attempt to copy or obtain and use our technology to develop applications
with the same functionality as our solutions, and policing unauthorized use of our technology and intellectual property rights is difficult and may not
be effective. In addition, the laws of some foreign countries may not be as protective of intellectual property rights as those of the United States, and
mechanisms for enforcement of our intellectual property rights in such countries may be inadequate. If we are unable to protect our intellectual
property rights (including in particular, the proprietary aspects of our platform) we may find ourselves at a competitive disadvantage to others who
have not incurred the same level of expense, time and effort to create, and protect their intellectual property.

Our customer agreements generally restrict the use of our confidential information solely to such customer’s use in connection with its use of our
services. In spite of such limitations, reverse engineering our software or the theft or misuse of our confidential information could occur by customers
or other third parties who have access to our technology.

We also endeavor to enter into agreements with our employees and contractors in order to limit access to and disclosure of our confidential
information, as well as to clarify rights to intellectual property and technology associated with our business. These agreements may not effectively
grant all necessary rights to any inventions that may have been developed by the employees or consultants party thereto. In addition, these
agreements may not effectively prevent unauthorized use or disclosure of our confidential information, intellectual property or technology and may
not provide an adequate remedy in the event of unauthorized use or disclosure of our confidential information, intellectual property, or technology.
Furthermore, protecting our intellectual property is particularly challenging after our employees or our contractors end their relationship with us, and,
in some cases, decide to work for our competitors. Enforceability of the non-compete agreements that we have in place is not guaranteed, and
contractual restrictions could be breached without discovery or adequate remedies.

We rely on licenses to use the intellectual property rights of third parties to conduct our business.

We rely on products, technologies, and intellectual property that we license from third parties, for use in operating our business. We cannot assure
you that these third-party licenses, or support for such licensed products and technologies, will continue to be available to us on commercially
reasonable terms, if at all. We cannot be certain that our licensors are not infringing the intellectual property rights of others or that our suppliers and
licensors have sufficient rights to the technology in all jurisdictions in which we may operate. Some of our license agreements may be terminated by
our licensors for convenience. If we are unable to obtain or maintain rights to any of this technology because of intellectual property infringement
claims brought by third parties against our suppliers and licensors or against us, or if we are unable to continue to obtain the technology or enter into
new agreements on commercially reasonable terms, our ability to operate and expand our business could be harmed.

If publishers or buyers do not have sufficient rights to the content, technology, data, or other material that they provide or make available
to us, our business and reputation may be harmed.

If publishers or buyers do not have sufficient rights to the content, technology, data, or other material associated with an ad impression that they
provide, or if it infringes or is alleged to infringe the intellectual property rights of third parties, we could be subject to claims from those third parties,
which could adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition. For example, channel partners may aggregate ad
impressions across several publishers, and we may not be able to verify that these aggregators own or have rights to all of their digital ad
impressions. As a result, we may face potential liability for copyright, patent, trademark or other intellectual property infringement, or other claims.
Litigation to defend these claims could be costly and have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial condition. We
cannot assure you that we are adequately insured to cover claims of these types or adequately indemnified for all liability that may be imposed on us
as a result of these claims.
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We may be subject to intellectual property rights claims by third parties, which are costly to defend, could require us to pay significant
damages and could limit our ability to use technology or intellectual property.

We operate in an industry with extensive intellectual property litigation. There is a risk that our business, platform, and services may infringe or be
alleged to infringe the trademarks, copyrights, patents, and other intellectual property rights of third parties, including patents held by our competitors
or by non-practicing entities. We may also face allegations that our employees have misappropriated or divulged the intellectual property of their
former employers or other third parties. Regardless of whether claims that we are infringing patents or other intellectual property rights have any
merit, the claims are time consuming, divert management attention and financial resources and are costly to evaluate and defend. Some of our
competitors have substantially greater resources than we do and are able to sustain the cost of complex intellectual property litigation to a greater
extent and for longer periods of time than we could. Results of these litigation matters are difficult to predict and may require us to stop offering some
features, purchase licenses, which may not be available on favorable terms or at all, or modify our technology or our platform while we develop non-
infringing substitutes, or incur significant settlement costs. Any of these events could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations,
and financial condition.

Our platform relies on third-party open source software components. Failure to comply with the terms of the underlying open source
software licenses could expose us to liabilities, and the combination of open source software with code that we develop could
compromise the proprietary nature of our platform.

Our platform utilizes software licensed to us by third-party authors under “open source” licenses and we expect to continue to utilize open source
software in the future. The use of open source software may entail greater risks than the use of third-party commercial software, as open source
licensors generally do not provide warranties or other contractual protections regarding infringement claims or the quality of the code. To the extent
that our platform depends upon the successful operation of the open source software we use, any undetected errors or defects in this open source
software could prevent the deployment or impair the functionality of our platform, delay new solutions introductions, result in a failure of our platform,
and injure our reputation. For example, undetected errors or defects in open source software could render it vulnerable to breaches or security
attacks, and, in conjunction, make our systems more vulnerable to data breaches. Furthermore, some open source licenses contain requirements
that we make available source code for modifications or derivative works we create based upon the type of open source software we use. If we
combine our proprietary software with open source software in a specific manner, we could, under some open source licenses, be required to
release the source code of our proprietary software to the public. This would allow our competitors to create similar solutions with lower development
effort and time and ultimately put us at a competitive disadvantage.

Although we monitor our use of open source software to avoid subjecting our platform to conditions we do not intend, we cannot assure you that our
processes for controlling our use of open source software in our platform will be effective. If we are held to have breached the terms of an open
source software license, we could be required to seek licenses from third parties to continue operating using our solution on terms that are not
economically feasible, to re-engineer our solution or the supporting computational infrastructure to discontinue use of code, or to make generally
available, in source code form, portions of our proprietary code.

Our business is subject to the risk of catastrophic events such as pandemics, earthquakes, flooding, fire, and power outages, and to
interruption by man-made problems such as terrorism.

Our business is vulnerable to damage or interruption from pandemics, earthquakes, flooding, fire, power outages, telecommunications failures,
terrorist attacks, acts of war, human errors, break-ins, and similar events. In particular, the COVID-19 pandemic, including the reactions of
governments, markets, and the general public, may result in a number of adverse consequences for our business, results of operations, and
financial condition, many of which are beyond our control. A significant natural disaster could have a material adverse effect on our business, results
of operations, and financial condition, and our insurance coverage may be insufficient to compensate us for losses that may occur. Our corporate
offices and one of our data center facilities are located in California, a state known for seismic activity. Significant portions of our development and
advertising operations work is located in Pune, India, which is susceptible to earthquakes and flooding. In addition, acts of terrorism, which may be
targeted at metropolitan areas that have higher population density than rural areas,
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could cause disruptions in our or publishers’ and partners’ businesses or the economy as a whole. Our servers may also be vulnerable to computer
viruses, break-ins, denial-of-service attacks, and similar disruptions from unauthorized tampering with our computer systems, which could lead to
interruptions, delays, loss of critical data. We may not have sufficient protection or recovery plans in some circumstances, such as natural disasters
affecting California, New York, Virginia, or Pune, India. As we rely heavily on our data center facilities, computer and communications systems and
the Internet to conduct our business and provide high-quality customer service, these disruptions could negatively impact our ability to run our
business and either directly or indirectly disrupt publishers’ and partners’ businesses, which could have an adverse effect on our business, results of
operations, and financial condition.

We are an emerging growth company subject to reduced disclosure requirements, and there is a risk that availing ourselves of such
reduced disclosure requirements will make our Class A common stock less attractive to investors.

We are an emerging growth company, and for as long as we continue to be an emerging growth company, we intend to take advantage of
exemptions from various reporting requirements such as, but not limited to, not being required to obtain auditor attestation of our reporting on
internal control over financial reporting, having reduced disclosure obligations about our executive compensation in this prospectus and in our
periodic reports and proxy statements, and not being required to hold advisory stockholder votes on executive compensation and stockholder
approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved. If some investors find our Class A common stock less attractive as a result,
there may be a less active trading market for our Class A common stock, and our stock price may be more volatile.

We will remain an emerging growth company until the earliest of: the end of the fiscal year in which the market value of the shares of our outstanding
capital stock held by non-affiliates is $700 million or more as of the end of the second quarter of that year, the end of the fiscal year in which we have
total annual gross revenue of $1.07 billion, the date on which we issue more than $1.0 billion in nonconvertible debt in a three-year period, or five
years from the date of this prospectus.

If we fail to establish and maintain effective internal controls, our ability to produce accurate financial statements and other disclosures
on a timely basis could be impaired.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over
financial reporting. We are continuing to develop and refine our disclosure controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we will file with the SEC is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the
time periods specified in SEC rules and forms and that information required to be disclosed in reports under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (Exchange Act), is accumulated and communicated to our principal executive and financial officers. We are also continuing to expand our
internal controls over financial reporting. In order to maintain and improve the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures and internal
control over financial reporting, we have expended, and anticipate that we will continue to expend, significant resources, including accounting-related
costs, and significant management oversight. If any of these new or improved controls and systems do not perform as expected, we may experience
material weaknesses in our controls. In addition to our results determined in accordance with GAAP, we believe certain non-GAAP measures and
key metrics may be useful in evaluating our operating performance. We present certain non-GAAP financial measures and key metrics in this
prospectus and intend to continue to present certain non-GAAP financial measures and key metrics in future filings with the SEC and other public
statements. Any failure to accurately report and present our non-GAAP financial measures and key metrics could cause investors to lose confidence
in our reported financial and other information, which would likely have a negative effect on the trading price of our Class A common stock.

Our current controls and any new controls that we develop may become inadequate because of changes in conditions in our business. Further,
weaknesses in our disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting may be discovered in the future. Any failure to develop or maintain
effective controls or any difficulties encountered in their implementation or improvement could harm our results of operations or cause us to fail to
meet our reporting obligations and may result in a restatement of our consolidated financial statements for prior periods. Any failure to implement
and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting also could adversely affect the results of periodic management evaluations and annual
independent registered public
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accounting firm attestation reports regarding the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting that we will eventually be required to
include in our periodic reports that will be filed with the SEC. Ineffective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial
reporting could also cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial and other information, which would likely have a negative effect on
the trading price of our Class A common stock. In addition, if we are unable to continue to meet these requirements, we may not be able to remain
listed on . We are not currently required to comply with the SEC rules that implement Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and are therefore
not required to make a formal assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting for that purpose. As a public company,
we will be required to provide an annual management report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting commencing with our
second annual report on Form 10-K.

Our independent registered public accounting firm is not required to formally attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting
until after we are no longer an “emerging growth company” as defined in the JOBS Act. At such time, our independent registered public accounting
firm may issue a report that is adverse in the event it is not satisfied with the level at which our internal control over financial reporting is
documented, designed or operating. Any failure to maintain effective disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting could harm our
business, results of operations, and financial condition and could cause a decline in the price of our Class A common stock.

Our management team has limited experience managing a public company and we will incur significantly increased costs and devote
substantial management time as a result of operating as a public company.

Most members of our management team have limited experience managing a publicly traded company, interacting with public company investors,
and complying with the increasingly complex laws, rules, and regulations that govern public companies. As a public company, we are subject to
significant obligations relating to reporting, procedures and internal controls, and our management team may not successfully or efficiently manage
such obligations. These obligations and scrutiny will require significant attention from our management and could divert their attention away from the
day-to-day management of our business, which could adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition. We expect that
compliance with these requirements will increase our compliance costs. We will need to hire additional accounting, financial, and legal staff with
appropriate public company experience and technical accounting knowledge and will need to establish an internal audit function. We cannot predict
or estimate the amount of additional costs we may incur as a result of becoming a public company or the timing of these costs.

We also expect that being a public company will make it more expensive for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance, and we may be
required to accept reduced coverage or incur substantially higher costs to obtain coverage. These factors could also make it more difficult for us to
attract and retain qualified members of our board of directors, particularly to serve on our Audit Committee and Compensation Committee, and
qualified executive officers.

Our loan agreement contains operating and financial covenants that may restrict our business and financing activities.

As of June 30, 2020, we had no outstanding borrowings under our loan and security agreement with Silicon Valley Bank (SVB). Borrowings under
this agreement are secured by substantially all of our assets, excluding our intellectual property. This loan and security agreement also restricts our
ability, without SVB’s written consent, to, among other things:

dispose of or sell our assets;

make material changes in our business or management;
consolidate or merge with other entities;

incur additional indebtedness;

create liens on our assets;

pay dividends;

make investments;

enter into transactions with affiliates;

pay off or redeem subordinated indebtedness; and
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m  become an “investment company” under the Investment Company Act of 1940.

In addition, our loan and security agreement with SVB requires us to comply with minimum liquidity and modified EBITDA (as defined in the loan and
security agreement) requirements.

The operating and financial restrictions and covenants in the loan and security agreement, as well as any future financing arrangements that we may
enter into, may restrict our ability to finance our operations, engage in, expand, or otherwise pursue our business activities and strategies. On
occasion in the past, we failed to comply with covenants related to providing audited financial statements, for which we obtained waivers from SVB.
Our ability to comply with these or other covenants may be affected by events beyond our control, and future breaches of these or other covenants
could result in a default under the loan and security agreements. If not waived, future defaults could cause all of the outstanding indebtedness under
our loan and security agreement to become immediately due and payable and terminate all commitments to extend further credit.

If we do not have or are unable to generate sufficient cash to repay our debt obligations when they become due and payable, either upon maturity or
in the event of a default, we may not be able to obtain additional debt or equity financing on favorable terms, if at all, which may negatively impact
our ability to operate and continue our business as a going concern.

We are subject to regulation with respect to political advertising, which lacks clarity and uniformity.

We are subject to regulation with respect to political advertising activities, which are governed by various federal and state laws in the United States,
and national and provincial laws worldwide. Online political advertising laws are rapidly evolving and our publishers may impose restrictions on
receiving political advertising. The lack of uniformity and increasing compliance requirements around political advertising may adversely impact the
amount of political advertising spent through our platform, increase our operating and compliance costs, and subject us to potential liability from
regulatory agencies.

We may need additional capital in the future to meet our financial obligations and to pursue our business objectives. Additional capital
may not be available on favorable terms, or at all, which could compromise our ability to meet our financial obligations and grow our
business.

We may need to raise additional capital to fund operations in the future or to finance acquisitions or other business objectives. Additional capital may
not be available on favorable terms or at all. Lack of sufficient capital resources could significantly limit our ability to meet our financial obligations or
to take advantage of business and strategic opportunities. Any additional capital raised through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities would
dilute your stock ownership, and any new equity securities we issue could have rights, preferences, and privileges superior to those of holders of our
Class A common stock. Any debt financing we secure in the future could involve restrictive covenants relating to our capital raising activities and
other financial and operational matters, which may make it more difficult for us to obtain additional capital and to pursue business opportunities,
including potential acquisitions. If we are unable to obtain adequate financing or financing on terms satisfactory to us when we require it, we may be
required to delay, reduce the scope of, or eliminate material parts of our business strategy, including potential additional acquisitions or development
of new technologies and geographic expansion.

Our tax liabilities may be greater than anticipated.

The U.S. and non-U.S. tax laws applicable to our business activities are subject to interpretation and are changing. We are subject to audit by the
Internal Revenue Service and by taxing authorities of the state, local and foreign jurisdictions in which we operate. Our tax obligations are based in
part on our corporate operating structure, including the manner in which we develop, value, use and hold our intellectual property, the jurisdictions in
which we operate, how tax authorities assess revenue-based taxes such as sales and use taxes, the scope of our international operations, and the
value we ascribe to our intercompany transactions. Taxing authorities may challenge, and have challenged, our tax positions and methodologies for
valuing developed technology or intercompany arrangements, positions regarding the collection of sales and use taxes, and the jurisdictions in which
we are subject to taxes, which could expose us to additional taxes. Any adverse outcomes of such challenges to our tax positions could result in
additional taxes for prior periods, interest and penalties, as well as higher future taxes. In addition, our future tax expense could increase as a result
of changes in tax
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laws, regulations or accounting principles, or as a result of earning income in jurisdictions that have higher tax rates. For example, the European
Commission has proposed, and various jurisdictions have enacted or are considering enacting laws that impose separate taxes on specified digital
services, which may increase our tax obligations in such jurisdictions. Any increase in our tax expense could have a negative effect on our financial
condition and results of operations. Moreover, the determination of our provision for income taxes and other tax liabilities requires significant
estimates and judgment by management, and the tax treatment of certain transactions is uncertain. Given uncertainty with respect to the impact of
the COVID-19 pandemic on our operations, the income tax benefit/expense we record may vary significantly in future periods. Any changes,
ambiguity, or uncertainty in taxing jurisdictions’ administrative interpretations, decisions, policies and positions, including the position of taxing
authorities with respect to revenue generated by reference to certain digital services, could also materially impact our income tax liabilities. Although
we believe we will make reasonable estimates and judgments, the ultimate outcome of any particular issue may differ from the amounts previously
recorded in our financial statements and any such occurrence could adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

Risks Related to this Offering, the Securities Markets and Ownership of Our Class A Common Stock

There has been no prior public trading market for our Class A common stock, and an active trading market for our Class A common stock
might not develop.

Before this offering, there has been no public market for shares of our Class A common stock. We cannot assure you that an active trading market
for our shares will develop or, that any market will be sustained. We cannot predict the prices at which our Class A common stock will trade. The
initial public offering price of our Class A common stock will be determined by negotiations between us, the selling stockholders, and the
underwriters, and may not bear any relationship to the price at which our Class A common stock will trade after the completion of this offering or to
any other established criteria of the value of our business.

In addition, the market price of our common stock following this offering is likely to be highly volatile and could be subject to wide fluctuations in
response to various factors, some of which are beyond our control. Accordingly, we cannot assure you of the liquidity of any trading market, your
ability to sell your shares of our common stock when desired or the prices that you may obtain for your shares of our common stock.

The trading price of the shares of our Class A common stock is likely to be volatile, and purchasers of our Class A common stock could
incur substantial losses.

Technology stocks historically have experienced high levels of volatility. The trading price of our Class A common stock following this offering may
fluctuate substantially. Following the completion of this offering, the market price of our Class A common stock may be higher or lower than the price
you pay in the offering, depending on many factors, some of which are beyond our control and may not be related to our operating performance.
These fluctuations could cause you to incur substantial losses, including all of your investment in our Class A common stock. Factors that could
cause fluctuations in the trading price of our Class A common stock include the following:

= significant volatility in the market price and trading volume of technology companies in general and of companies in the digital advertising
industry in particular;

announcements of new solutions or technologies, commercial relationships, acquisitions, or other events by us or our competitors;

price and volume fluctuations in the overall stock market from time to time;

changes in how customers perceive the benefits of our platform and future offerings;

the public’s reaction to our press releases, other public announcements, and filings with the SEC;

fluctuations in the trading volume of our shares or the size of our public float;

sales of large blocks of our common stock; actual or anticipated changes or fluctuations in our results of operations or financial projections;
changes in actual or future expectations of investors or securities analysts;

litigation involving us, our industry, or both;

governmental or regulatory actions or audits;
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regulatory developments applicable to our business, including those related to privacy in the United States or globally;
general economic conditions and trends;

major catastrophic events in our domestic and foreign markets; and

departures of key employees.

In addition, if the market for technology stocks, the stock of digital advertising companies or the stock market, in general, experiences a loss of
investor confidence, the trading price of our Class A common stock could decline for reasons unrelated to our business, results of operations, or
financial condition. The trading price of our Class A common stock might also decline in reaction to events that affect other companies in the digital
advertising industry even if these events do not directly affect us. In the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a company’s
securities, securities class action litigation has often been brought against that company. If litigation is instituted against us, we could incur
substantial costs and divert management’s attention and resources.

The dual class structure of our common stock will have the effect of concentrating voting control with those stockholders who held our
capital stock prior to the completion of this offering, including our directors, executive officers, and 5% stockholders who will hold in the
aggregate % of the voting power of our capital stock following the completion of this offering, which will limit or preclude your
ability to influence corporate matters, including the election of directors and the approval of any change of control transaction.

Our Class B common stock has  votes per share, and our Class A common stock has one vote per share. Following this offering, our directors,
officers, and holders of more than 5% of our common stock, and their respective affiliates, will hold in the aggregate % of the voting power of
our capital stock. Because of the voting ratio between our Class B and Class A common stock, the holders of our Class B common stock
collectively will continue to control a majority of the combined voting power of our common stock and therefore be able to control all matters
submitted to our stockholders for approval until . This concentrated control will limit or preclude your ability to influence corporate
matters for the foreseeable future, including the election of directors, amendments of our organizational documents, and any merger, consolidation,
sale of all or substantially all of our assets, or other major corporate transaction requiring stockholder approval. The interests of this group of
stockholders may not coincide with our interests or the interests of other stockholders. This concentration of ownership may also have the effect of
deterring, delaying or preventing a change of control of our company, could deprive our stockholders of an opportunity to receive a premium for their
common stock as part of a sale of our company and might ultimately affect the market price of our common stock. Having a dual-class common
stock structure may make our Class A common stock less attractive to some investors, such as funds and investment companies that attempt to
track the performance of any indexes that prohibit or limit the inclusion of companies with such structures.

Future transfers by holders of Class B common stock will generally result in those shares converting to Class A common stock, subject to limited
exceptions, such as transfers effected for estate planning purposes. The conversion of Class B common stock to Class A common stock will have
the effect, over time, of increasing the relative voting power of those holders of Class B common stock who retain their shares in the long term. As a
result, it is possible that one or more of the persons or entities holding our Class B common stock could gain significant voting control as other
holders of Class B common stock sell or otherwise convert their shares into Class A common stock. See “Description of Capital Stock—Anti-
Takeover Provisions” for additional information.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish unfavorable research about our business, our stock price and trading
volume could decline.

The trading market for our Class A common stock will, to some extent, depend on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts
publish about us or our business. We do not have any control over these analysts. If one or more of the analysts who cover us should downgrade
our shares, change their opinion of our business prospects or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our share price may
decline. If one or more of these analysts who cover us ceases coverage of our company or fails to regularly publish reports on us, we could lose
visibility in the financial markets, which could cause our share price or trading volume to decline.
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If you purchase shares of our Class A common stock in this offering, your investment will experience immediate dilution.

We expect the initial public offering price of our Class A common stock to be substantially higher than the pro forma net tangible book value per
share of our Class A common stock following this offering based on the total value of our tangible assets less our total liabilities. Therefore, if you
purchase shares of our Class A common stock in this offering, you will pay a price per share that substantially exceeds our pro forma net tangible

book value per share after this offering. Based on an assumed initial public offering price of $ per share, which is the midpoint of the price
range set forth on the cover page of this prospectus, you will experience immediate dilution of $ per share, representing the difference between
our pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value per share as of June 30, 2020, after giving effect to the issuance of shares of our Class A

common stock in this offering. To the extent current or future outstanding equity awards are settled in shares of our capital stock, you will incur
further dilution. Furthermore, if the underwriters exercise their option to purchase additional shares or outstanding options are exercised, you could
experience further dilution. For a further description of the dilution that you will experience immediately after this offering, see “Dilution.”

Sales of substantial amounts of our Class A common stock in the public markets, or the perception that they might occur, could cause the
market price of our Class A common stock to decline.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our Class A common stock into the public market, particularly sales by our directors, executive officers,
and principal stockholders, or the perception that these sales might occur, could cause the market price of our Class A common stock to decline and
may make it more difficult for you to sell your common stock at a time and price that you deem appropriate.

All of the shares of Class A common stock sold in this offering will be freely tradable without restrictions or further registration under the Securities
Act, except for any shares held by our affiliates as defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act (including any shares that may be purchased by any
of our affiliates in this offering). The remaining shares of our common stock are subject to the lock-up agreement or market stand-off agreements
described below.

Subject to certain exceptions, we, all of our directors and executive officers, the selling stockholders, and substantially all of the holders of our
common stock, or securities exercisable for or convertible into our common stock outstanding immediately prior to this offering, are subject to market
stand-off agreements or have agreed not to offer, sell, or agree to sell, directly or indirectly, any shares of common stock without the permission of
Jefferies LLC on behalf of the underwriters, for a period of 180 days from the date of this prospectus. When the lock-up period expires, we and our
securityholders subject to a lock-up agreement or market stand-off agreement will be able to sell our shares in the public market. In addition, the
underwriters may, in their sole discretion, release all or some portion of the shares subject to lock-up agreements prior to the expiration of the lock-
up period. See “Shares Eligible for Future Sale” and “Underwriting” for more information. Sales of a substantial number of such shares upon
expiration of the lock-up and market stand-off agreements, or the perception that such sales may occur, or early release of these agreements, could
cause our market price to fall or make it more difficult for you to sell your Class A common stock at a time and price that you deem appropriate.

In addition, as of June 30, 2020, we had options outstanding that, if fully exercised, would result in the issuance of 7,616,964 shares of Class B
common stock. We also granted options to purchase 1,350,000 shares of our Class B common stock subsequent to June 30, 2020. All of the shares
of Class B common stock issuable upon the exercise or settlement of stock options, and the shares reserved for future issuance under our equity
incentive plans, will be registered for public resale under the Securities Act. Accordingly, these shares will be able to be freely sold in the public
market upon issuance subject to existing lock-up or market standoff agreements and applicable vesting requirements.

Additionally, after this offering, the holders of an aggregate of shares of our Class B common stock and shares of Class B common stock
issuable upon the exercise of outstanding warrants, or their transferees, will have rights, subject to some conditions, to require us to file registration
statements for the public resale of the Class A common stock issuable upon conversion of such shares or to include such shares in registration
statements that we may file for us or other stockholders. If we were to register these shares for resale, they could be freely sold in the public market.
If these additional shares are sold, or if it is perceived that they will be sold, in the public market, the trading price of our common stock could
decline.
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Defensive measures in our charter documents and under Delaware law could make an acquisition of us, which may be beneficial to our
stockholders, more difficult and may prevent attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management and limit the
market price of our Class A common stock.

Our restated certificate of incorporation and restated bylaws that will be in effect upon completion of this offering contain provisions that could delay
or prevent a change in control of our company. These provisions could also make it difficult for stockholders to elect directors who are not nominated
by the current members of our board of directors or take other corporate actions, including effecting changes in our management. These provisions
include:

m classified board of directors, which could delay the ability of stockholders to change the membership of our board;

= the ability of our board to issue shares of preferred stock without stockholder approval, which could be used to significantly dilute the
ownership of a hostile acquirer;

a prohibition on stockholder action by written consent;

the requirement that a special meeting of stockholders may be called only by the chairman of the board, our chief executive officer, our lead
director, or a majority of our board;

m the requirement for the affirmative vote of holders of at least 66-2/3% of the voting power of all of the then outstanding shares of the voting
stock, voting together as a single class, to amend provisions of our restated certificate of incorporation or our restated bylaws;

= the ability of our board to amend the bylaws, which may allow it to take additional actions to prevent an unsolicited takeover and inhibit the
ability of an acquirer;

= the requirement that stockholders submitting notice of a nomination or proposal to be considered at an annual meeting of our stockholders
must have continuously beneficially owned at least 1% of our outstanding common stock for a period of one year before giving such notice;

m  advance notice procedures with which stockholders must comply to nominate candidates to our board or to propose matters to be acted
upon at a stockholders’ meeting; and

m the dual class common stock structure in which holders of our Class B common stock have the ability to control the outcome of matters
requiring stockholder approval, even if they own significantly less than a majority of the outstanding shares of our common stock, including
the election of directors and significant corporate transactions, such as a merger or other sale of our company or its assets.

In addition, our restated certificate of incorporation will provide that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware will be the exclusive forum for
derivative actions, actions asserting a breach of fiduciary duty, actions asserting a claim against us arising pursuant to the Delaware General
Corporation Law, our restated certificate of incorporation or restated bylaws, or any action asserting a claim against us that is governed by the
internal affairs doctrine. This choice of forum provision may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for
disputes with us or any of our directors, officers, or other employees, which may discourage lawsuits with respect to such claims. Alternatively, if a
court were to find the choice of forum provision contained in our restated certificate of incorporation to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action,
we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions, which could harm our business, results of operations, and
financial condition.

In addition, because we are incorporated in Delaware, we are governed by the provisions of the antitakeover provisions of the Delaware General
Corporation Law, which may discourage, delay or prevent a change in control by prohibiting us from engaging in a business combination with an
interested stockholder for a period of three years after the person becomes an interested stockholder, even if a change of control would be beneficial
to our existing stockholders. Although we believe these provisions collectively provide for an opportunity to obtain greater value for stockholders by
requiring potential acquirers to negotiate with our board, they would apply even if an offer rejected by our board was considered beneficial by some
stockholders. In addition, these provisions may frustrate or prevent any attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management
by making it more difficult for stockholders to replace members of our board, which is responsible for appointing the members of our management.
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We will have broad discretion in the use of proceeds from this offering and may invest or spend the proceeds in ways with which you do
not agree and in ways that may not yield a return.

We intend to use the net proceeds that we receive in this offering for working capital and other general corporate purposes, which may include
product development, general and administrative matters and capital expenditures. We may also use a portion of the net proceeds for the acquisition
of, or investment in, technologies, solutions or businesses that complement our business, although we have no present commitments or agreements
to enter into any acquisitions or investments. Consequently, our management will have broad discretion over the specific use of these net proceeds
and may do so in a way with which our investors disagree. The failure by our management to apply and invest these funds effectively may not yield a
favorable return to our investors and may adversely affect our business and financial condition. Pending their use, we may invest the net proceeds
from this offering in a manner that does not produce income or that loses value. If we do not use the net proceeds that we receive in this offering
effectively, our business, results of operations, and financial condition could be adversely affected.

Because we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future, capital appreciation, if any, will
be your sole source of gains.

We have never declared or paid any dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to retain any earnings to finance the operation and
expansion of our business, and we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Any determination to pay dividends in the
future will be at the discretion of our board of directors. In addition, the terms of our existing debt arrangements preclude us from paying dividends
and our future debt agreements, if any, may contain similar restrictions. As a result, you may only receive a return on your investment in our Class A
common stock if the market price of our Class A common stock increases.
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This prospectus, including the sections entitled “Prospectus Summary,” “Risk Factors,” “Use of Proceeds,” “Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” and “Business” contains forward-looking statements. The words “believe,” “may,” “will,”
“potentially,” “estimate,” “continue,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “could,” “would,” “project,” “plan,” “expect,” and similar expressions that convey uncertainty
of future events or outcomes are intended to identify forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements contained in this prospectus include,
but are not limited to, statements about:

» o« » o« ” o«

our future financial and operating results;

our ability to maintain our growth and profitability;

our ability to attract and retain publishers;

our ability to expand the utilization of our buyers;

our ability to maintain a consistent supply of quality advertising inventory;

our ability to maintain our competitive technological advantages against competitors in our industry;

our expectations concerning the advertising industry and, in particular, the market for programmatic ad purchasing;
our ability to successfully navigate our business through the COVID-19 pandemic;

our ability to timely and effectively adapt our existing technology;

our ability to introduce new offerings and bring them to market in a timely manner;

our ability to maintain, protect, and enhance our brand and intellectual property;

our ability to continue to expand internationally;

our plans to use the proceeds from this offering;

our expectations concerning relationships with third parties;

our ability to attract and retain qualified employees and key personnel while maintaining our corporate culture;
future acquisitions of or investments in complementary companies or technologies; and

our ability to comply with evolving legal and industry standards and regulations, particularly concerning data protection and consumer
privacy.

These forward-looking statements are subject to a number of risks, uncertainties and assumptions, including those described in “Risk Factors” and
elsewhere in this prospectus. Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and rapidly changing environment, and new risks emerge from time to
time. It is not possible for our management to predict all risks, nor can we assess the impact of all factors on our business or the extent to which any
factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements we may make.
In light of these risks, uncertainties, and assumptions, the forward-looking events and circumstances discussed in this prospectus may not occur and
actual results could differ materially and adversely from those anticipated or implied in the forward-looking statements.

You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the
forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee that the future results, levels of activity, performance, or events and circumstances
reflected in the forward-looking statements will be achieved or occur. We undertake no obligation to update publicly any forward-looking statements
for any reason after the date of this prospectus to conform these statements to actual results or to changes in our expectations, except as required
by law.

You should read this prospectus and the documents that we reference in this prospectus and have filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC), as exhibits to the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part with the understanding that our actual future results,
levels of activity, performance, and circumstances may be materially different from what we expect.
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MARKET AND INDUSTRY DATA

Unless otherwise indicated, information contained in this prospectus concerning our industry and the markets in which we operate, including our
general expectations and market position, market opportunity and market size, is based on information from various sources, including eMarketer
Inc. (eMarketer) and a report by Magna Global USA, Inc. (Magna) that we commissioned, as well as assumptions that we have made that are based
on those data and other similar publicly available sources and on our knowledge of the markets for our products and services. This information
involves important assumptions and limitations, and you are cautioned not to give undue weight to such estimates. While we believe the market
position, market opportunity and market size information included in this prospectus is generally reliable, information of this sort is inherently
imprecise and we have not independently verified market and industry data from third-party sources. In addition, projections, assumptions, and
estimates of our future performance and the future performance of the industry in which we operate is necessarily subject to a high degree of
uncertainty and risk due to a variety of factors, including those described in “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this prospectus. These and other factors
could cause results to differ materially from those expressed in the estimates made by the independent parties and by us. The information contained
on, or that can be accessed through, eMarketer’s and Magna'’s websites are not a part of this prospectus.

The source of, and selected additional information contained in, the independent industry publications related to the information so identified are
provided below:

eMarketer, Total Media Ad Spending Worldwide, 2020-2024 (June 2020);

eMarketer, Digital Ad Spending Worldwide, 2019-2024 (June 2020);

eMarketer, Programmatic Ad Spending Worldwide, 2012-2021 (Nov 2019);

eMarketer, Over-the-Top (OTT) Video Revenues Worldwide, 2013, 2019 & 2023 (Jan 2020);

eMarketer, Mobile Ad Spending Worldwide, 2020-2024 (June 2020);

eMarketer, Average Time Spent per Day by Internet Users Worldwide Using the Internet via Mobile vs. Desktop, 2012-2019 (March 2020);
and

m  Report commissioned from Magna Global USA, Inc. (September 2020).
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USE OF PROCEEDS

We estimate that the net proceeds from our sale of shares of Class A common stock in this offering at an assumed initial public offering price of
$ per share, which is the midpoint of the estimated offering price range set forth on the cover page of this prospectus, after deducting estimated
underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses payable by us, will be approximately $ million, or $ million if the
underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares is exercised in full. We will not receive any proceeds from the sale of shares of our Class A
common stock by the selling stockholders, although we will bear the costs, other than the underwriting discounts and commissions, associated with
the sale of these shares.

A $1.00 increase (decrease) in the assumed initial public offering price of $ per share, the midpoint of the price range set forth on the cover
page of this prospectus, would increase (decrease) the net proceeds to us from this offering by approximately $ million, assuming the number
of shares of our Class A common stock offered by us remains the same and after deducting estimated underwriting discounts and commissions.
Similarly, each increase (decrease) of 1.0 million shares in the number of shares of our Class A common stock offered by us would increase
(decrease) the net proceeds to us from this offering by approximately $ million, assuming that the assumed initial public offering price of

$ remains the same, after deducting the estimated underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses payable by us.

The principal purposes of this offering are to create a public market for our Class A common stock, increase our visibility in the marketplace, facilitate
an orderly distribution of shares for the selling stockholders, obtain additional capital, and increase our capitalization and financial flexibility. As of the
date of this prospectus, we have no specific plans for the use of the net proceeds we receive from this offering. However, we currently intend to use
the net proceeds we receive from this offering primarily for working capital and other general corporate purposes, which may include product
development, general and administrative matters, and capital expenditures. We may also use a portion of the net proceeds for the acquisition of, or
investment in, technologies, solutions or businesses that complement our business, although we have no present commitments or agreements to
enter into any acquisitions or investments. We will have broad discretion over the uses of the net proceeds of this offering. Pending these uses, we
intend to invest the net proceeds from this offering in short-term, investment-grade, interest-bearing securities such as money market accounts,
certificates of deposit, commercial paper, and guaranteed obligations of the United States government.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain all available funds and any future earnings for use
in the operation of our business and do not anticipate paying any dividends on our capital stock in the foreseeable future. In addition, our loan
agreement with Silicon Valley Bank contains restrictions on our ability to pay dividends. Any future determination to declare dividends will be made at
the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on our financial condition, operating results, capital requirements, general business
conditions, and other factors that our board may deem relevant.
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CAPITALIZATION

The following table sets forth our cash and cash equivalents and capitalization as of December 31, 2019, on:
m  an actual basis;

a pro forma basis, which reflects (i) the redesignation of our outstanding common stock as Class B common stock in , 2020, (i) the
automatic conversion of all outstanding shares of our convertible preferred stock into 33,443,969 shares of our Class B common stock,
effective immediately prior to the completion of this offering, (iii) the reclassification of all of our redeemable common stock, and (iv) the filing
and effectiveness of our restated certificate of incorporation; and

a pro forma as adjusted basis, which reflects (i) all adjustments included in the pro forma column, and (ii) the sale of shares of our
Class A common stock in this offering at an assumed initial public offering price of $ per share, which is the midpoint of the estimated

offering price range set forth on the front cover of this prospectus, after deducting the estimated underwriting discounts and commissions
and estimated offering expenses payable by us.

The information below is illustrative only, and our capitalization following the closing of this offering will be adjusted based on the actual initial public
offering price and other terms of the offering determined at the pricing of this offering. You should read this table together with “Management’s

Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our audited and unaudited consolidated financial statements and
related notes included elsewhere in this prospectus.
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Cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities

Convertible preferred stock, par value of $0.0001 per share, issuable in Series A,
B, C, D, and D Prime — 34,000,000 shares authorized and 33,443,969 shares
issued and outstanding, actual; no shares authorized, issued and outstanding,
pro forma and pro forma as adjusted

Redeemable common stock, 5,901,863 shares issued and outstanding; no shares
issued and outstanding, pro forma and pro forma as adjusted

Stockholders’ equity:

Preferred stock, par value $0.0001 per share — no shares authorized, issued
and outstanding, actual; shares authorized, no shares issued and
outstanding, pro forma and pro forma as adjusted

Common stock, par value $0.0001 per share — 55,000,000 shares authorized,
5,746,216 shares issued and outstanding, actual; no shares authorized,
issued and outstanding, pro forma and pro forma as adjusted

Class A common stock, $0.0001 par value per share: no shares authorized,
issued and outstanding, actual, shares authorized, no shares issued
and outstanding, pro forma; shares authorized, shares
issued and outstanding, pro forma as adjusted

Class B common stock, $0.0001 par value per share: no shares authorized,
issued and outstanding, actual, shares authorized, shares
issued and outstanding, pro forma and pro forma as adjusted

Treasury stock, at cost
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Retained earnings
Total stockholders’ equity
Total capitalization

As of December 31, 2019

Pro Forma as
Actual Pro Forma Adjusted

(in thousands, except share and per share data)

55,452

61,216

19,025

(11,431)
8,641
6
16,078

13,295

93,536 $ $

(1) The pro forma as adjusted information presented is illustrative only and will be adjusted based on the actual public offering price and other terms
of this offering determined at pricing. Each $1.00 increase (decrease) in the assumed initial public offering price of $ per share, which is
the midpoint of the estimated offering price range set forth on the cover page of this prospectus, would increase (decrease) our pro forma as
adjusted cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities, additional paid-in capital, total stockholders’ equity and total capitalization by
approximately $ million, assuming that the number of shares offered by us, as set forth on the cover page of this prospectus, remains the
same and after deducting the estimated underwriting discounts and commissions. Similarly, each increase (decrease) of 1.0 million shares in the
number of shares of our Class A common stock offered by us would increase (decrease) the amount of our pro forma as adjusted cash, cash
equivalents, and marketable securities, additional paid-in capital total stockholders’ equity and total capitalization by approximately

$ million, assuming that the assumed
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initial public offering price remains the same, after deducting the estimated underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated offering
expenses payable by us. If the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares is exercised in full, the pro forma as adjusted amount of each
of cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities, additional paid-in capital, total stockholders’ equity and total capitalization would increase
by approximately $ million, after deducting the estimated underwriting discounts and commissions, and we would have shares of our
Class A common stock and shares of our Class B common stock issued and outstanding, pro forma as adjusted.

The number of shares of our Class A and Class B common stock to be outstanding after this offering is based upon no shares of our Class A
common stock outstanding and 45,092,048 shares of our Class B common stock outstanding, in each case, as of December 31 2019, and excludes:

7,626,452 shares of Class B common stock issuable upon the exercise of options to purchase shares of our Class B common stock
outstanding as of December 31, 2019, with a weighted-average exercise price of $2.20 per share;

1,528,170 shares of Class B common stock issuable upon the exercise of options to purchase shares of our Class B common stock granted
after December 31, 2019, with a weighted-average exercise price of $2.28 per share;

18,216 shares of Class B common stock issuable upon exercise of warrants with a weighted-average exercise price of $0.7999 per share,
which warrants will terminate immediately prior to the completion of this offering unless exercised before that time; and

shares of common stock reserved for future grants under our stock-based compensation plans, consisting of (a) 1,527,728 shares of
Class B common stock reserved for future grants under our 2017 Equity Incentive Plan (2017 Plan), as of December 31, 2019,
(b) shares of our Class A common stock that will be reserved for issuance under our 2020 Equity Incentive Plan (2020 Plan), which
will become effective on the day immediately prior to the date of this prospectus and (c) shares of Class A common stock reserved for
future issuance under our 2020 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP), which will become effective on the date of this prospectus. Upon
completion of this offering, any remaining shares available for issuance under our 2017 Plan will be added to the shares of Class A common
stock reserved under our 2020 Plan, and we will cease granting awards under the 2017 Plan. Our 2020 Plan and ESPP also provide for

automatic annual increases in the number of shares reserved thereunder, as more fully described in “Executive Compensation—Employee
Benefit and Stock Plans.”
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DILUTION

If you invest in our Class A common stock, your interest will be diluted to the extent of the difference between the amount per share paid by
purchasers of shares of Class A common stock in this initial public offering and the pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value per share of Class
A common stock immediately after this offering.

As December 31, 2019, our pro forma net tangible book value was approximately $  million, or$  per share of common stock. Our pro forma net
tangible book value per share represents the amount of our total tangible assets reduced by the amount of our total liabilities and divided by the total
number of shares of our common stock outstanding as of December 31, 2019, after giving effect to (i) the redesignation of our outstanding common
stock as Class B common stock in 2020, (ii) the automatic conversion of all outstanding shares of our convertible preferred stock into
33,443,969 shares of our Class B common stock, effective immediately before the completion of this offering, and (iii) the filing and effectiveness of
our restated certificate of incorporation.

After giving effect to our sale in this offering of shares of our Class A common stock, at an assumed initial public offering price of $ per
share, the midpoint of the estimated offering price range set forth on the cover page of this prospectus, after deducting estimated underwriting
discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses payable by us, our pro forma net tangible book value as of December 31, 2019 would
have been approximately $ million, or $ per share. This represents an immediate increase in pro forma net tangible book value of

$ per share to our existing stockholders and an immediate dilution of $ per share to investors purchasing Class A common stock in this
offering at the assumed initial public offering price.

The following table illustrates this dilution:

Assumed initial public offering price per share $
Pro forma net tangible book value per share as of December 31, 2019, before giving effect to this offering $

Increase in pro forma net tangible book value per share attributable to new investors in this offering

Pro forma net tangible book value, as adjusted to give effect to this offering

Dilution in pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value per share to new investors in this offering

A $1.00 increase (decrease) in the assumed initial public offering price of $ per share, the midpoint of the price range reflected on the cover
page of this prospectus, would increase (decrease) our pro forma net tangible book value, as adjusted to give effect to this offering, by $ per
share, the increase (decrease) attributable to this offering by $ per share, and the dilution in pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value per
share to new investors in this offering by $ per share, assuming the number of shares of Class A common stock offered by us, as set forth on
the cover page of this prospectus, remains the same and after deducting the estimated underwriting discounts and commissions payable by us.
Similarly, each increase or decrease of 1.0 million shares in the number of shares of Class A common stock offered by us would increase or
decrease the pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value by approximately $ per share and the dilution to new investors by $ per
share, assuming the assumed initial public offering price remains the same and after deducting the estimated underwriting discounts and
commissions and estimated offering expenses payable by us.

Sales of shares of Class A common stock by the selling stockholders in this offering will reduce the number of shares of common stock held by
existing stockholders to , or approximately % of the total shares of common stock outstanding after this offering, and will increase the
number of shares held by new investors to , Or approximately % of the total shares of common stock outstanding after this offering.
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Except as otherwise indicated, the above discussion and tables assume no exercise of the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares of our
Class A common stock. If the underwriters exercise their option in full to purchase additional shares, our existing stockholders would own % and
our new investors would own % of the total number of shares of our common stock outstanding after this offering, including the shares to be sold
by selling stockholders.

If the underwriters exercise their option to purchase additional shares in full, the pro forma net tangible book value per share of our common stock
after giving effect to this offering would be $ per share, and the dilution in net tangible book value per share to investors in this offering would
be $ per share.

The following table summarizes, on a pro forma as adjusted basis as of December 31, 2019, after giving effect to the pro forma adjustments
described above, the difference between existing stockholders and new investors purchasing shares of Class A common stock in this offering with
respect to the number of shares purchased from us, the total consideration paid to us and the average price per share paid or to be paid to us at an
assumed offering price of $ per share, which is the midpoint of the estimated offering price range set forth on the cover page of this prospectus,
before deducting the estimated underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses payable by us:

Shares Purchased Total Consideration Average Price Per

Number Percent Amount Percent Share
Existing stockholders % $ % $
New public investors
Total 100 % 100 %
A $1.00 increase (decrease) in the assumed initial public offering price of $ per share, the midpoint of the price range set forth on the cover
page of this prospectus, would increase (decrease) total consideration paid by new investors and total consideration paid by all stockholders by
approximately $ million, assuming that the number of shares offered by us, as set forth on the cover page of this prospectus remains the same

and after deducting the estimated underwriting discounts and commissions.

Except as otherwise indicated, the above discussion and tables assume no exercise of the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares of our

Class A common stock from us. If the underwriters exercise their option in full to purchase additional shares from us, our existing stockholders
would own % and our new investors would own % of the total number of shares of our common stock outstanding upon the completion of
this offering.

To the extent that any outstanding options are exercised, investors will experience further dilution.

The number of shares of our Class A and Class B common stock to be outstanding after this offering is based upon no shares of our Class A
common stock outstanding and 45,092,048 shares of our Class B common stock outstanding, in each case, as of December 31, 2019, and
excludes:

m 7,626,452 shares of Class B common stock issuable upon the exercise of options to purchase shares of our Class B common stock
outstanding as of December 31, 2019, with a weighted-average exercise price of $2.20 per share;

m 1,528,170 shares of Class B common stock issuable upon the exercise of options to purchase shares of our Class B common stock granted
after December 31, 2019, with a weighted-average exercise price of $2.28 per share;

m 18,216 shares of Class B common stock issuable upon exercise of warrants with a weighted-average exercise price of $0.7999 per share,
which warrants will terminate immediately prior to the completion of this offering unless exercised before that time; and

n shares of common stock reserved for future grants under our stock-based compensation plans, consisting of (a) 1,527,728 shares of
Class B common stock reserved for future grants under our 2017 Equity Incentive Plan (2017 Plan), as of December 31, 2019,
(b) shares of our Class A common stock that will be reserved for issuance under our 2020 Equity Incentive Plan (2020 Plan), which
will become effective on the day immediately prior to the date of this prospectus and (c) shares of
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Class A common stock reserved for future issuance under our 2020 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP), which will become effective on
the date of this prospectus. Upon completion of this offering, any remaining shares available for issuance under our 2017 Plan will be added
to the shares of Class A common stock reserved under our 2020 Plan, and we will cease granting awards under the 2017 Plan. Our 2020
Plan and ESPP also provide for automatic annual increases in the number of shares reserved thereunder, as more fully described in
“Executive Compensation—Employee Benefit and Stock Plans.”
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SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following tables present selected historical consolidated financial data for our business. You should read this information in conjunction with
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our consolidated financial statements and related
notes, which are included elsewhere in this prospectus.

We derived the consolidated statements of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2019 and the consolidated balance sheet
data as of December 31, 2018 and 2019 from our audited consolidated financial statements that are included elsewhere in this prospectus. Our
historical results are not necessarily indicative of future results.

Year Ended December 31,

2018 2019

(in thousands, except share and per share data)
Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:

Revenue $ 99,264 $ 113,871
Cost of revenue 31,235 36,104
Gross profit 68,029 77,767
Operating expenses("):
Technology and development 12,619 12,453
Sales and marketing 33,444 36,498
General and administrative 16,998 20,307
Total operating expenses 63,061 69,258
Operating income 4,968 8,509
Total other income, net 662 713
Income before provision for income taxes 5,630 9,222
Provision for income taxes 1,205 2,579
Net income $ 4,425 $ 6,643
Net income per share attributable to common stockholders(?
Basic $ — 3 0.04
Diluted $ — 3 0.04

Weighted-average shares used to compute net income per share attributable to common
stockholders®:

Basic 11,249,579 10,036,983
Diluted 14,157,492 12,169,884
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow Data:
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 15,595 $ 35,125
Net cash used in investing activities (12,749) (22,089)
Net cash used in financing activities (7,993) (1)
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(1) Amounts include stock-based compensation before tax benefit as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2018 2019
(in thousands)
Cost of revenue $ 38 $ 26
Technology and development 554 402
Sales and marketing 759 684
General and administrative 2,041 890
Total stock-based compensation expense $ 3,392 § 2,002

(2) See Notes 2 and 12 to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this prospectus for an explanation of the calculations of our
basic and diluted net income per share attributable to common stockholders and pro forma basic and diluted net income per share attributable to
common stockholders as well as the weighted average number of shares used in computation of the per share amounts.

As of December 31,
2018 2019
(in thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 21,215 $ 34,250
Marketable securities 14,294 21,202
Accounts receivable, net 109,293 117,655
Total assets 178,223 207,445
Accounts payable 81,861 99,384
Total liabilities 93,753 113,909
Convertible preferred stock 60,820 61,216
Redeemable common stock 19,025 19,025
Total stockholders’ equity $ 4625 $ 13,295

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

In addition to our results determined in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), including, in particular operating
income, net cash provided by operating activities, and net income, we believe that Adjusted EBITDA, a non-GAAP measure, is useful in evaluating
our operating performance. We define Adjusted EBITDA as net income adjusted for stock-based compensation expense, depreciation and
amortization, impairments of long-lived assets, interest income, and provision for income taxes.
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The following table presents a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net income for each of the periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,

2018 2019

(in thousands)

Net income $ 4,425 $ 6,643
Add back (deduct):
Stock-based compensation 3,392 2,002
Depreciation and amortization 12,285 12,671
Impairment of internal use software — 702
Interest income (877) (1,290)
Provision for income taxes 1,205 2,579
Adjusted EBITDA $ 20,430 $ 23,307

In addition to operating income and net income, we use Adjusted EBITDA as a measure of operational efficiency. We believe that this non-GAAP

financial measure is useful to investors for period to period comparisons of our business and in understanding and evaluating our operating results
for the following reasons:

Adjusted EBITDA is widely used by investors and securities analysts to measure a company’s operating performance without regard to
items such as stock-based compensation expense, depreciation and amortization, interest expense, provision for income taxes, and certain
one-time items such as impairments of long-lived assets, that can vary substantially from company to company depending upon their
financing, capital structures and the method by which assets were acquired;

Our management uses Adjusted EBITDA in conjunction with GAAP financial measures for planning purposes, including the preparation of
our annual operating budget, as a measure of operating performance and the effectiveness of our business strategies and in
communications with our board of directors concerning our financial performance; and

Adjusted EBITDA provides consistency and comparability with our past financial performance, facilitates period-to-period comparisons of

operations, and also facilitates comparisons with other peer companies, many of which use similar non-GAAP financial measures to
supplement their GAAP results.

Our use of this non-GAAP financial measures has limitations as an analytical tool, and you should not consider them in isolation or as a substitute
for analysis of our financial results as reported under GAAP. Some of these limitations are as follows:

Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect: (a) changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs; (b) the potentially dilutive impact of
stock-based compensation; or (c) tax payments that may represent a reduction in cash available to us;
Although depreciation and amortization expense are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized may have to be

replaced in the future, and Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect cash capital expenditure requirements for such replacements or for new
capital expenditure requirements;

Because of these and other limitations, you should consider Adjusted EBITDA along with other GAAP-based financial performance measures,
including net income and our GAAP financial results.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with the section titled
“Selected Consolidated Financial Data” and the consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this prospectus. This
discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from those discussed
below. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those identified below and those discussed in the
section titled “Risk Factors” included elsewhere in this prospectus.

Overview
PubMatic fuels the endless potential of Internet content creators.

Our company provides a specialized cloud infrastructure platform that enables real-time programmatic advertising transactions. We believe that our
purpose-built technology and infrastructure provides superior outcomes for both Internet content creators (publishers) and advertisers (buyers). In
August 2020, our platform efficiently processed approximately 127 billion ad impressions daily, each in a fraction of a second.

Our cloud infrastructure platform provides superior monetization for publishers by increasing the value of an impression and providing incremental
demand through our deep and growing relationships with buyers. We are aligned with our publisher and app developer partners by being
independent. We do not own media and therefore do not have a vested interest in driving ad revenue to specific media properties. Our global
platform is omnichannel, supporting a wide array of ad formats and digital device types. In the second quarter of 2020, we served approximately
1,000 publishers and app developers, including many of the leading digital companies such as Verizon Media Group and News Corp. We have
demonstrated that we can retain and grow revenues from our publisher customers, as evidenced by our net dollar-based retention rate of 109% in
2019.

Building on our early success as a Sell Side Platform (SSP), we have extended our platform to also meet the needs of buyers. We are integrated
with the leading Demand Side Platforms (DSPs), such as The Trade Desk and Google DV360, allowing them to execute real-time transactions with
our publisher clients. More recently, agencies and advertisers have started consolidating their spend with fewer, larger technology platforms to
improve transparency, quality, and control over their advertising dollars. In 2019 and 2020 we entered into agreements directly with some of the
largest agencies and advertisers in the world and believe this will continue to drive more ad spend to our platform.

We own and operate our own software and hardware infrastructure around the world, which saves significant costs as compared to companies that
rely on public cloud alternatives, partly due to the data-intensive nature of digital advertising. As we have extended our cloud infrastructure to service
more ad formats and devices, we have expanded our profit margins and maintained our capital efficiency that is among best-in-class for similar
publicly-traded technology companies. We measure capital expenditures (capex) efficiency over a period time to assess the full impact of our capex
investments. The numerator is the sum of our revenues over a two year period (i.e. 2018 to 2019) divided by the sum of capital expenditures for the
same period. On this measure, we believe we are among the highest among similar publicly-traded technology companies.

We generate revenue from publishers primarily through revenue share agreements, generally one-year contracts that renew automatically for
successive one-year periods, unless terminated prior to renewal.

We primarily work with publishers and app developers who allow us direct access to their ad inventory, as well as select channel partners that meet
our quality and scale thresholds. We have direct relationships with publishers such as Verizon Media Group and News Corp and app developers
such as Zynga and Electronic Arts. Our channel partners aggregate and provide further access to thousands of sites and apps from smaller
publishers. We refer to our publishers, app developers, and channel partners collectively as our publishers.

We help monetize valuable impressions for our clients across a wide array of ad formats and digital device types, including mobile app, mobile web,
desktop, display, video, over-the-top (OTT), connected television (CTV), and rich media. In the second quarter of 2020, we served approximately
1,000 publishers and app developers representing over 50,000 individual domains and apps worldwide on our platform across a diverse group of
content verticals including news, eCommerce, gaming, media, weather, fashion, technology, and more.
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We enter into written service agreements with our buyers that allow them to use our platform to buy ad inventory, but we earn revenue from our
publishers. Our platform service agreements with DSPs generally have one-year terms that renew automatically for successive one-year periods,
unless terminated prior to renewal. The tenure of each of the top ten DSP buyers on our platform at the end of 2019 was over eight years. We also
negotiate Supply Path Optimization (SPO) agreements with agencies and advertisers that encourage these buyers to spend a higher share of their
advertising budgets on our platform by providing custom data and workflow integrations, product features, and volume-based business terms. SPO
agreements typically have a one-year term and renewal terms are generally discussed one quarter prior to a new term. The effect of these SPO
agreements is to increase the volume of ad spend on our platform without corresponding increases in technology costs.

Since our founding, we have developed a large portfolio of buyers, reaching on average approximately 65,000 advertisers per month in 2020
through our application programmatic interfaces.

Our buyer partners include:

m  DSPs, which are technology-based firms that programmatically purchase ad impressions on behalf of advertisers, and include firms such as
Google’s Display & Video 360 platform (DV360) and The Trade Desk;

m  Agencies and agency trading desks, which consist of firms that provide advertising-related services to advertisers, such as managing the
programmatic purchase of advertising inventory, including Dentsu, Havas, Interpublic Group, Omnicom, Publicis, and WPP; and

m Advertisers, who are increasingly taking portions of the media buying process in-house to better control and optimize their digital ad
investment and derive superior outcomes.

Our ability to efficiently add and monetize valuable impressions on our platform has led to revenue growth, profitability, and operating cash flow
(GAAP net cash provided by operating activities). By focusing on valuable ad impressions, investing in our own specialized cloud software and
hardware infrastructure, optimizing platform utilization, and implementing workflow automation, we have achieved strong gross margins. In 2019, our
gross margin was 68%, our Adjusted EBITDA margin (Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of revenue) was 20%, and operating cash flow margin
(operating cash flows as a percentage of revenue) was 31%.

In 2019, we derived approximately 69% of our revenue from Americas-based publishers, 21% from Europe-based publishers, Middle East and
Africa-based (EMEA) publishers, and 10% from Asia-Pacific (APAC)-based publishers. We are focused on expanding outside the United States and
expect to increase our proportion of revenue from non-U.S. geographies in the future. We classify publishers by geography based on the billing
address of the publisher transacting with us.

In the second quarter of 2020, mobile (including mobile video) comprised the majority our revenue. We expect mobile to continue increasing as a
percentage of our total impressions and revenue in the future. We further expect video (including mobile video) to constitute an increasingly
important component of our business.

COVID-19

The COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in a global slowdown of economic activity which is likely to decrease demand for a broad variety of goods and
services, including those provided by certain of the advertisers on our platform. This situation could also potentially limit our ad buyers’ budgets or
disrupt sales channels and advertising and marketing activities generally. The duration of these disruptive effects will continue for an unknown period
of time until the virus is contained or economic activity normalizes. With the decline in economic activity, our revenue growth slowed and turned
negative in the second quarter of 2020. Although our revenue has subsequently returned to growth, the impact of the pandemic on our future growth
and our results of operations is unknown and we are unable to accurately predict the future impact. The extent of the impact of the COVID-19
pandemic on our operational and financial performance will depend on a variety of factors, including the duration and spread of the virus and its
impact on our publishers, ad buyers, industry, and employees, all of which are uncertain at this time and cannot be accurately predicted. See “Risk
Factors” for further discussion of the adverse impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business.
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The table below summarizes the financial highlights of our business:

Year Ended December 31,

2018 2019
(in thousands)
Revenue $ 99,264 $ 113,871
Operating income $ 4968 $ 8,509
Net income $ 4,425 $ 6,643
Adjusted EBITDA(") $ 20,430 $ 23,307
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 15,595 $ 35,125

(1) For a definition of Adjusted EBITDA, an explanation of our management’s use of this measure, and a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net
income, see “Selected Consolidated Financial Data—Non-GAAP Financial Measures.”

Factors Affecting Our Performance
We believe our growth and financial performance are dependent on many factors, including those described below.

Growing access to valuable ad impressions

Our recent growth has been driven by a variety of factors including increased access to mobile web and mobile app (display and video) impressions
and desktop video impressions. Our performance is affected by our ability to maintain and grow our access to valuable ad impressions from current
publishers as well as through new relationships with publishers.

Monetizing ad impressions for publishers and buyers

We focus on monetizing digital impressions by coordinating daily over a hundred billion real-time auctions and nearly a trillion bids globally, using our
specialized cloud software, machine learning algorithms, and scaled transaction infrastructure. Valuable ad impressions are transparent and data
rich, viewable by humans, and verifiable. Each ad impression we auction consists of over 300 independent data parameters, which can yield
valuable insights if recorded and analyzed properly. This processing of voluminous data for each ad impression must occur in less than half a
second as consumers expect a seamless digital ad experience. By deploying our specialized software and hardware and continuously optimizing our
machine learning algorithms, we are able to derive superior outcomes by increasing advertiser return on investment (ROI) and publisher revenue,
while increasing the cost efficiency of our platform and our customers’ businesses. We continually assess impressions from new and existing
publishers through a rigorous validation process. We add or remove impressions from our platform based on an assessment of the projected value
of the impressions, which is influenced by the type of publisher and its related consumers, as well as the potential volume of monetizable
impressions and ad format types, such as digital video. We continuously create and iterate algorithms that leverage vast datasets flowing through
our infrastructure to improve the liquidity in our marketplace. Our ability to drive successful outcomes in the real-time auction process on behalf of
our publishers and buyers will affect our operating results.

Identifying valuable ad impressions that we can profitably monetize at scale

We continuously review our available inventory from existing publishers across every format (mobile, desktop, digital video, OTT, CTV, and rich
media). The factors we consider to determine which impressions we process include transparency, viewability, and whether or not the impression is
human sourced. By consistently applying these criteria, we believe that the ad impressions we process will be valuable and marketable to
advertisers. In addition, using a combination of proprietary analysis driven by machine learning algorithms that are continuously updated along with
specialized third-party tools, we aim to exclude low value impressions from our platform and, in some cases, may suspend certain publishers, or
particular publisher sites and apps, from using our platform if they do not meet our standards. Our confidence in our ability to achieve our quality
goals is backed by a fraud-free guarantee to all of our buyers which we introduced in 2017. We believe that this rigorous commitment to quality helps
us maintain our reputation as a leader in the programmatic advertising ecosystem.
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Our financial performance depends in part on how efficiently and effectively we can conduct these activities at scale.

Increasing revenue from publishers and advertising spend from buyers

We leverage our extensive platform capabilities and the subject matter expertise of our team members to grow revenue from our publishers and
increase advertising spending from our buyers. Our sales and marketing team includes customer success pods to enhance customer knowledge
and implementation of best practices. Once we onboard a new customer, we seek to expand our relationship with existing publishers by establishing
multiple header bidding integrations by leveraging our omnichannel capabilities to maximize our access to publishers’ ad formats and devices, and
expanding into the various properties that a publisher may own around the world. We may also up-sell additional products to publisher customers
including our header bidding management, identity, and audience solutions. We automate workflow processes whenever feasible to drive predictable
and value-added outcomes for our customers and increase productivity of our organization.

Net dollar-based retention rate is an important indicator of publisher satisfaction and usage of our platform, as well as potential revenue for future
periods. We calculate our net dollar-based retention rate at the end of each year. We calculate our net dollar-based retention rate by starting with the
revenue from publishers in the last prior year (Prior Period Revenue). We then calculate the revenue from these same publishers in the current year
(Current Period Revenue). Current Period Revenue includes any upsells and is net of contraction or attrition, but excludes revenue from new
publishers. Our net dollar-based retention rate equals the Current Period Revenue divided by Prior Period Revenue. Our net dollar-based retention
rate was 109% for 2019 and 71% for 2018. Our growth in 2019 was primarily attributable to an increase in the number of ad impressions processed
from our publishers, upselling additional products, penetration of header bidding for mobile app and digital video, and increased demand from the
growth of our buyer relationships primarily through SPO agreements. Our 2018 net dollar-based retention rate reflected our proactive efforts to
improve the quality of our available impressions by removing ad impressions and publishers who did not meet the emerging industry standards for
ad inventory quality.

We work with DSPs to help them reduce their costs and improve advertiser ROI, which in turn makes us the specialized cloud infrastructure platform
of choice for many of our buying partners. As buyers increasingly consolidate their spending with fewer larger technology platforms, we seek to bring
an increased proportion of their digital ad spending to our platform through direct deals. We have entered into SPO agreements directly with buyers,
advertisers and agencies through various arrangements ranging from custom data and workflow integrations, product features, and volume-based
business terms. The effect of these SPO agreements is to increase the volume of ad spend on our platform without corresponding increases in
technology costs.

Managing industry dynamics

We operate in the rapidly evolving digital advertising industry. Due to the scale and complexity of the digital advertising ecosystem, direct sales via
manual, person-to-person processes are insufficient for delivering a real-time, personalized ad experience, creating the need for programmatic
advertising. In turn, advances in programmatic technologies have enabled publishers to auction their ad inventory to more buyers, simultaneously,
and in real time through a process referred to as header bidding. Header bidding has also provided advertisers with transparent access to ad
impressions. As advertisers keep pace with ongoing changes in the way that consumers view and interact with digital media there will be further
innovation and we anticipate that header bidding will be extended into new areas such as OTT/CTV. We believe our focus on publishers and buyers
has allowed us to understand their needs and our ongoing innovation has enabled us to quickly adapt to changes in the industry, develop new
solutions and do so cost effectively. Our performance depends on our ability to keep pace with industry changes such as header bidding and the
evolving needs of our publishers and buyers while continuing our cost efficiency.

Expanding and managing investments

We make software and hardware infrastructure investment decisions to meet expected increases in ad impressions on both a global and regional
data center level throughout the calendar year based on the projected quantity, ad format type, and associated data requirements. In parallel, we
seek to continuously improve our infrastructure utilization. Our ability to identify and monetize high value impressions allows us to operate more
efficiently because the cost of processing low-value impressions and high-value impressions are approximately the same. We believe that increasing
utilization of our platform leads to improved outcomes for our customers
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and more efficient and effective operations for us. To achieve improved utilization, we leverage the data on our platform through extensive
application of artificial intelligence technologies, including machine learning and natural language processing. The magnitude and timing of our
investments in our software and hardware may lead to fluctuations in our operating results.

Expanding internationally

We plan to continue expanding our international presence and making additional investments in sales and marketing and infrastructure to support
our long-term growth and to position ourselves for expected increases in the penetration of programmatic advertising globally. We expect
programmatic advertising to grow at different rates in different geographic markets. Our publishers outside of the United States typically have smaller
amounts of programmatic inventory, and as a result, our sales and marketing expenses associated with non-U.S. publishers are generally
proportionally higher. We are constantly evaluating new markets with a strategy to use our existing infrastructure and adjacent sales offices, or by
expanding our infrastructure footprint and placing personnel directly in those markets. Our ability to efficiently expand into new markets will affect our
operating results.

Managing Seasonality

The global advertising industry experiences seasonal trends that affect the vast majority of participants in the digital advertising ecosystem. Most
notably, advertisers have historically spent relatively more in the fourth quarter of the calendar year to coincide with the holiday shopping season,
and relatively less in the first quarter. We expect seasonality trends to continue, and our ability to manage our resources in anticipation of these
trends will affect our operating results.

Components of Our Results of Operations

Revenue

We generate revenue from publishers who use our platform. Our platform allows publishers to sell, in real time, customized ad inventory to buyers
and provides automated inventory management and monetization tools to publishers across various device types and digital ad formats. We
generate revenue primarily through fees charged to our publishers, which are generally a percentage of the value of the advertising impressions that
publishers monetize on the platform. We report revenue on a net basis. This represents gross billings to buyers, net of amounts we pay publishers.
We record our accounts receivable at the amount of gross billings to buyers, net of allowances, for the amounts we are responsible to collect, and
we record our accounts payable at the net amount payable to publishers. Accordingly, both accounts receivable and accounts payable appear large
in relation to revenue, which is reported on a net basis.

Our revenue recognition policies are discussed in more detail under “—Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates.”

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue consists of data center co-location costs, depreciation expense related to hardware supporting our platform, amortization expense
related to capitalized internal use software development costs, personnel costs, and allocated facilities costs. Personnel costs include salaries,
bonuses, stock-based compensation, and employee benefit costs, and are primarily attributable to our cloud operations group, which maintains our
servers, and our client operations group, which is responsible for the integration of new publishers and buyers and providing customer support for
existing customers.

Operating Expenses

Technology and Development. Technology and development expenses consist of personnel costs, including salaries, bonuses, stock-based
compensation, and employee benefits costs, allocated facilities costs, and professional services. These expenses include costs incurred in the
development, implementation and maintenance of internal use software, including platform and related infrastructure. We expend technology and
development costs as incurred, except to the extent that such costs are associated with internal use software development that qualifies for
capitalization. We expect technology and development expenses to generally increase in absolute dollars in future periods.
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Sales and Marketing. Sales and marketing expenses consist of personnel costs, including salaries, bonuses, stock-based compensation, and
employee benefits costs, for our employees engaged in sales, sales support, marketing, business development, and customer relationship functions.
Sales and marketing expenses also include expenses related to promotional, advertising and marketing activities, allocated facilities costs, travel,
and entertainment primarily related to sales activity and professional services. We expect sales and marketing expenses to increase in absolute
dollars in future periods.

General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses consist of personnel costs, including salaries, bonuses, stock-based
compensation, and employee benefits costs for our executive, finance, legal, human resources, information technology, and other administrative
employees. General and administrative expenses also include outside consulting, legal and accounting services, allocated facilities costs, and travel
and entertainment primarily related to intra-office travel and conferences.

We expect to invest in corporate infrastructure and incur additional expenses associated with the transition to and operation as a public company,
including increased legal and accounting costs, increased investor relations costs, higher insurance premiums, and compliance costs associated
with developing the requisite infrastructure required for internal controls. As a result, we expect general and administrative expenses to increase in
absolute dollars in future periods.

Total Other Income, Net

Total other income, net consists of interest income and other income (expense), net. Interest income is generated by investing excess cash into
money market accounts and marketable securities. Other income (expense), net consists primarily of gains and losses from foreign currency
exchange transactions and the change in fair value of our convertible preferred stock warrant liability, which we previously marked-to-market until the
warrant’s exercise in the third quarter of 2019.

Provision for Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes consists primarily of federal, state, and foreign income taxes. Our income tax provision may be significantly affected
by changes to our estimates for tax in jurisdictions in which we operate and other estimates utilized in determining the global effective tax rate.
Actual results may also differ from our estimates based on changes in economic conditions. Such changes could have a substantial impact on the
income tax provision. We reevaluate the judgments surrounding our estimates and make adjustments, as appropriate, each reporting period.

Our effective tax rate differs from the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate due to state taxes, foreign tax rate differences, technology and
development tax credits, and non-deductible stock-based compensation.

Realization of our deferred tax assets is dependent primarily on the generation of future taxable income. In considering the need for a valuation
allowance, we consider our historical, as well as future projected, taxable income along with other objectively verifiable evidence. Objectively
verifiable evidence includes our realization of tax attributes, assessment of tax credits, and utilization of net operating loss carryforwards during the
year.
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Results of Operations

The following tables set forth our consolidated results of operations data (in thousands) and such data as a percentage of revenue for the periods

presented:

Consolidated Statements of Operations:

Revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Technology and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Operating income
Total other income, net
Income before provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income

Revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Technology and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Operating income
Total other income, net
Income before provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income
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Year Ended December 31,

2018 2019
99,264 $ 113,871
31,235 36,104
68,029 77,767
12,619 12,453
33,444 36,498
16,998 20,307
63,061 69,258

4,968 8,509
662 713
5,630 9,222
1,205 2,579
4425 § 6,643
Year Ended December 31,
2018 2019

(as percentage of revenue)

100 % 100 %
31 32
69 68
13 11
34 32
17 18
64 61

5 7
1 1
6 8
1 2
5% 6 %




Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2019
Revenue, Cost of Revenue and Gross Profit
Year Ended December 31,

2018 2019 $ Change % Change
(dollars in thousands)
Revenue $ 99,264 $ 113,871 $ 14,607 15 %
Cost of revenue $ 31,235 $ 36,104 $ 4,869 16 %
Gross profit $ 68,029 $ 77,767 $ 9,738 14 %
Gross profit margin 69 % 68 %

Revenue increased $14.6 million, or 15%, in 2019 driven by growth in impressions processed on our platform from both existing and new publishers.
In 2019, we served over 840 publishers worldwide on our platform, including 269 net new publishers in 2019, which represented over 37,000
domains and 7,000 apps in total. For purposes of our publisher count, we aggregate multiple business accounts from separate divisions, segments
or subsidiaries into a single “master” publisher. In addition, in 2019 we completed a number of SPO initiatives which increased buyer spend on our
platform.

Cost of revenue increased $4.9 million in 2019 primarily due to a $1.6 million increase in personnel costs as headcount increased by 27% in order to
support our growing business, a $1.0 million increase in depreciation of data center equipment and amortization of internal use software, a $0.7
million impairment expense that we incurred in the second half of 2019 related to internal use software of a discontinued product offering, a

$0.6 million increase in guaranteed inventory purchases related to a test program that was cancelled in the first quarter of 2019. Overall, our cost of
revenue per impression processed in 2019 declined by 18% compared to 2018.

Our gross margin of 68% in 2019 was relatively flat compared to 2018, due to greater utilization of our platform offset by investments for capacity
expansion.

Technology and Development
Year Ended December 31,

2018 2019 $ Change % Change
(dollars in thousands)
Technology and development $ 12,619 $ 12,453 $ (166) (1)%
Percent of revenue 13 % 11 %

The decrease in technology and development costs was primarily due to an increase of $1.4 million in the capitalization of internal use software
principally as a result of new product development offset by a $0.7 million increase in personnel costs and $0.5 million increase in professional fees
due to outsourced product development. While our technology and development headcount increased 27%, our personnel costs only increased 5%
as a result of lower personnel costs in India where the majority of the incremental hires were based.

Sales and Marketing
Year Ended December 31,
2018 2019 $ Change % Change
(dollars in thousands)
Sales and marketing $ 33,444 $ 36,498 $ 3,054 9 %
Percent of revenue 34 % 32 %

Sales and marketing costs increased primarily due to a $2.1 million increase in personnel costs as headcount increased by 18%, travel costs
increased by $0.5 million, marketing spend increased by $0.4 million, and
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facilities costs increased by $0.4 million. The increased costs were offset by a $0.5 million decrease in amortization of intangible assets obtained
from a prior acquisition that became fully amortized in 2019.

General and Administrative
Year Ended December 31,

2018 2019 $ Change % Change
(dollars in thousands)
General and administrative $ 16,998 $ 20,307 $ 3,309 19 %
Percent of revenue 17 % 18 %

General and administrative expense increased primarily due to a $2.8 million increase in bad debt expense primarily related to the bankruptcy of one
of our buyers in early 2019 and $0.6 million increase in professional services, legal and other service costs.

Total Other Income, net
Year Ended December 31,
2018 2019 $ Change % Change
(dollars in thousands)
Total other income, net $ 662 $ 713 $ 51 8 %

The increase in total other income, net was primarily due to a $0.4 million increase in interest income as a result of increased cash and marketable
securities balances, partially offset by an increase of $0.2 million in expense recognized on the change in fair value of preferred stock warrant liability
that was exercised in 2019.

Provision for Income Taxes

Year Ended December 31,
2018 2019 $ Change % Change
(dollars in thousands)
Provision for income taxes $ 1,205 $ 2579 $ 1,374 114 %

The difference between the effective tax rate in 2018 of 21.4% and the federal statutory income tax rate of 21.0% was primarily due to increases
related to non-deductible stock option expenses and foreign rate differential as offset by federal and state research credits.

The difference between the effective tax rate in 2019 of 28.0% and the federal statutory income tax rate of 21.0% was primarily due to non-
deductible stock option expenses, forfeitures of vested non qualifying stock options that had previously been expensed, and the foreign tax rate
differential.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have financed our operations and capital expenditures primarily through utilization of cash generated from operations, as well as borrowings
under our credit facilities. As of December 31, 2019, we had cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities of $55.5 million and net working
capital, consisting of current assets less current liabilities, of $67.1 million. As of December 31, 2019, we had retained earnings of $16.1 million.

We believe our existing cash and anticipated net cash provided by operating activities, together with available borrowings under our credit facility, will
be sufficient to meet our working capital requirements for at least the next 12 months. However, if our operating performance during the next 12
months is below our expectations, our liquidity and ability to operate our business could be adversely affected. In light of the recent worldwide
COVID-19 pandemic we are closely monitoring the effect that current economic conditions may have on our working capital requirements. To date,
the pandemic has not had a material negative impact on our cash flow or liquidity. Our future capital requirements and the adequacy of available
funds will depend on many factors, including those set forth under “Risk Factors.”
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In the future, we may attempt to raise additional capital through the sale of equity securities or through equity-linked or debt financing arrangements.
If we raise additional funds by issuing equity or equity-linked securities, the ownership of our existing stockholders will be diluted. If we raise
additional financing by the incurrence of additional indebtedness, we may be subject to increased fixed payment obligations and could also be
subject to additional restrictive covenants, such as limitations on our ability to incur additional debt, and other operating restrictions that could
adversely impact our ability to conduct our business. Any future indebtedness we incur may result in terms that could be unfavorable to equity
investors. We cannot guarantee that we will be able to raise additional capital in the future on favorable terms, or at all. Any inability to raise capital
could adversely affect our ability to achieve our business objectives.

Revolving Line of Credit

In February 2011, we entered into a Loan and Security Agreement (Loan Agreement), with Silicon Valley Bank (SVB), which was subsequently
amended at various times to provide we with additional borrowing capacity and/or flexibility.

As of December 31, 2019, the amount we can borrow under the Loan Agreement was the lesser of $45.0 million or 80% of eligible accounts
receivable less certain reserves, minus the aggregate principal amount of all outstanding advances. Interest accrues on advances under the Loan
Agreement at a variable rate equal to the prime rate. For any quarter where the average closing outstanding balance under the Loan Agreement is
less than $5 million, a fee for such unused capacity in the amount of 0.30% per annum of the average unused portion is charged and is payable in
arrears. As of December 31, 2019, the applicable interest rate under the Loan Agreement was 4.75%. The maturity date of the Loan Agreement is
November 7, 2020. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018 there were no outstanding borrowings under the Loan Agreement.

Our obligations under the Loan Agreement are secured by substantially all of our assets excluding its intellectual property. The Loan Agreement
contains affirmative covenants including financial covenants that, among other things, require us to maintain an adjusted quick ratio of no less than
1.0 to 1.0. The adjusted quick ratio is defined as the ratio of unrestricted cash and cash equivalents at SVB, plus billed accounts receivable to total
accounts payable plus all SVB loans outstanding and outstanding letters of credit. The Loan Agreement also restricts us from paying dividends to
stockholders without prior consent from SVB. We were in compliance with the covenants as of December 31, 2019.

Cash Flows
The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods presented:

Year Ended December 31,

2018 2019
(in thousands)
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 15,595 $ 35,125
Net cash used in investing activities (12,749) (22,089)
Net cash used in financing activities (7,993) (1)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents $ (5,147) § 13,035

Operating Activities

Our cash flows from operating activities are primarily influenced by growth in our operations, increases or decreases in collections from our buyers
and related payments to our publishers, as well as our investment in personnel to support the anticipated growth of our business. Cash flows from
operating activities have been affected by changes in our working capital, particularly changes in accounts receivable and accounts payable. The
timing of cash receipts from buyers and payments to publishers can significantly impact our cash flows from operating activities. In addition, we
expect seasonality to impact quarterly cash flows from operating activities.

In 2018, net cash provided by operating activities of $15.6 million resulted primarily from net income of $4.4 million adjusted for non-cash items of
$15.9 million, including $12.3 million for depreciation and amortization and $3.2 million for stock-based compensation, partially offset by a net
decrease in working capital of
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$4.7 million. The net decrease in working capital was primarily related to an increase in accounts receivable of $24.2 million, partially offset by a
$17.6 million increase in accounts payable. The change in accounts receivable was primarily due to the increase in advertising spend through our
platform in the fourth quarter of 2018 compared to the same quarter in 2017 and the timing of cash receipts from clients. The change in accounts
payable was primarily due to the increase in advertising spend flowing through our platform payable to publishers.

In 2019, net cash provided by operating activities of $35.1 million resulted from our net income of $6.6 million, adjustments for non-cash expenses of
$18.9 million, including $12.7 million for depreciation and amortization and $2.0 million for stock-based compensation, and a net increase in our
working capital of $9.6 million. The net increase in working capital was primarily related to an increase in accounts payable of $18.5 million, partially
offset by an increase in accounts receivable of $11.9 million. The change in accounts payable was primarily due to the increase in advertising spend
through our platform payable to publishers and a shift of business to publishers with longer payment terms. The change in accounts receivable was
primarily due to the increase of advertising spend flowing through our platform in the fourth quarter of 2019 compared to the same quarter in 2018.

Investing Activities

Our investing activities primarily included investments in marketable securities, purchases of equipment as we expanded the infrastructure in our
third-party data centers, and capitalized internal-use software costs in support of enhancing our platform. Purchases of property and equipment may
vary from period-to-period due to the timing of the expansion of our data centers, the addition of headcount, and the development cycles of our
software development. As our business grows, we expect our capital expenditures and our investment activity to continue to increase.

In 2018, we used $12.7 million of cash in investing activities, consisting of $5.2 million in purchases of property and equipment (primarily data center
infrastructure), $4.5 million of investments in capitalized internal use software, and a net increase in investments of marketable securities of
$3.1 million.

In 2019, we used $22.1 million of cash in investing activities, consisting of $9.6 million of purchases of property and equipment (primarily data center
infrastructure), a net increase in investments of marketable securities of $6.6 million, $5.4 million of investments in capitalized internal use software
and a $0.5 million investment in equity securities of a private company.

Financing Activities
Our financing activities consisted primarily of borrowings and repayments of our indebtedness.

In 2018, net cash used in financing activities of $8.0 million was primarily due to the issuance of stockholders’ notes receivable of $4.0 million and
the paydown of the $3.0 million outstanding balance on our revolving line of credit.

In 2019, financing activities were immaterial.

Contractual Obligations and Future Cash Requirements

Our principal contractual obligations consist of non-cancelable leases for our various facilities. In certain cases, the terms of the lease agreements
provide for rental payments that increase over time.

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations, at December 31, 2019 (in thousands):

Payments due by period

More than 5§
Total Less than 1 year 1-3years 3 -5years years
Leases $ 5133 $ 2515 $ 2514 $ 104 $ —
Other contractual obligations( 3,820 1,519 2,301 — —
Total $ 8,953 §$ 4,034 $ 4815 §$ 104 $ —
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(1) Other contractual obligations consist primarily of contractual obligations to third-party data center providers.

As of December 31, 2019, we had $2.5 million of long-term income tax liabilities, including interest, related to uncertain tax positions. Because of the
high degree of uncertainty regarding the settlement of these liabilities, we are unable to estimate the years in which future cash outflows may occur.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Through December 31, 2019, we did not have any relationships with unconsolidated organizations or financial partnerships, such as structured
finance or special purpose entities that would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other
contractually narrow or limited purposes.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

We have operations both within the United States and internationally, and we are exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of our business.
These risks include primarily interest rate, foreign exchange, and inflation risks.

Interest Rate Risk

Our cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities consist of cash, money market funds, commercial paper, and U.S. Treasury and government
debt securities. The primary objective of our investment activities is to preserve principal while maximizing income without significantly increasing
risk. Because our cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities have a relatively short maturity, our portfolio’s fair value is relatively insensitive
to interest rate changes. Our line of credit is at variable interest rates. We had no amounts outstanding under our credit facility as of December 31,
2019. We do not believe that an increase or decrease in interest rates of 100 basis points would have a material effect on our operating results or
financial condition. In future periods, we will continue to evaluate our investment policy relative to our overall objectives.

Foreign Currency Risk

Our consolidated results of operations and cash flows are subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Historically, the
majority of our revenue contracts have been denominated in U.S. Dollars. Our expenses are generally denominated in the currencies in which our
operations are located, primarily the U.S. Dollar, Indian Rupee and British Pound. To date, we have not entered into any hedging arrangements with
respect to foreign currency risk or other derivative instruments. In the event our foreign sales and expenses increase, our operating results may be
more greatly affected by foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations, which can affect our operating income. A hypothetical 10% change in the U.S.
Dollar to India Rupee exchange rate could result in a change of $0.8 million in our operating income for the year ended December 31, 2019. A
hypothetical 10% change in the U.S. Dollar to British Pound exchange rate could result in a change of $0.9 million in our operating income for the
year ended December 31, 2019.

Inflation Risk

We do not believe that inflation has had a material effect on our business, results of operations, or financial condition. If our costs were to become
subject to significant inflationary pressures, for example in India, we might not be able to fully offset such higher costs through price increases. Our
inability or failure to do so could adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

We prepare our consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires us to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts of assets and liabilities reported, disclosures about contingent assets and liabilities, and
reported amounts of revenue and expenses. We evaluate our estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis using historical experience and other
factors, and adjust those estimates and assumptions when facts and circumstances dictate. Actual results could materially differ from these
estimates and assumptions.

We believe estimates and assumptions associated with the evaluation of revenue recognition criteria, including the determination of revenue
reporting as net versus gross in our revenue arrangements, as well as internal use software development costs, fair values of stock-based awards,
and income taxes have the greatest potential impact on our consolidated financial statements. Therefore, we consider these to be our critical
accounting policies and estimates.
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Revenue Recognition

On January 1, 2019, we adopted Accounting Standards Update 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) (ASU 2014-09) using
a modified retrospective approach applied to all contracts. The adoption of ASU 2414-09 did not result in a change in timing or amount of revenue
recognized.

We recognize revenue through the following steps:

Identification of a contract with a customer;

Identification of the performance obligations in the contract;

Determination of the transaction price;

Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and
Recognition of revenue when or as the performance obligations are satisfied.

We refer to our publishers, app developers, and channel partners collectively as our publishers. We generate revenue through the monetization of
publisher ad impressions on our platform. Our platform allows publishers to sell, in real time, ad impressions to buyers and provides automated
inventory management and monetization tools to publishers across various device types and digital ad formats. We charge publishers a fee, which is
typically a percentage of the value of the impressions monetized through our platform.

We maintain agreements with each publisher and buyer in the form of written service agreements, which set out the terms of the relationship,
including payment terms (typically ninety days or less) and access to our platform.

We invoice buyers for publisher digital advertising inventory purchased through its platform. We recognize revenue when a bid is won and a buyer
purchases inventory on our platform. We estimate and records reductions to revenue for volume discounts based on expected volumes during the
incentive term.

The determination as to whether revenue should be reported gross of amounts billed to buyers (gross basis) or net of payments to publishers (net
basis) requires significant judgment, and is based on our assessment of whether we are acting as the principal or an agent in the transaction. We
have determined that we do not act as the principal in the purchase and sale of digital advertising inventory because we do not control the
advertising inventory and do not set the price which is the result of an auction within the marketplace. Based on these and other factors, we report
revenue on a net basis.

We generally invoice buyers at the end of each month for the full purchase price of ad impressions monetized in that month. Accounts receivable are
recorded at the amount of gross billings for the amounts it is responsible to collect, and accounts payable are recorded at the net amount payable to
publishers. Accordingly, both accounts receivable and accounts payable appear large in relation to revenue reported on a net basis.

Internal Use Software Development Costs

We capitalize certain internal use software development costs associated with creating and enhancing internal use software related to our platform
and technology infrastructure. These costs include personnel and related employee benefits expenses for employees who are directly associated
with and who devote time to software projects, and external direct costs of materials and services consumed in developing or obtaining the software.
We expense software development costs that do not meet the criteria for capitalization as incurred and record them in technology and development
expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.

Software development activities generally consist of three stages: (i) the planning stage; (ii) the application and infrastructure development stage;
and (iii) the post implementation stage. Costs incurred in the planning and post implementation stages of software development, including costs
associated with the post configuration training and repairs and maintenance of the developed technologies, are expensed as incurred. We capitalize
costs associated with software developed for internal use when both the preliminary project stage is completed and management has authorized
further funding for the completion of the project. We capitalize costs incurred in the application and infrastructure development stages, including
significant enhancements and upgrades. Capitalization ends once a project is substantially complete and the software and technologies are ready
for their intended purpose. We amortize internal use software development costs using a straight-line method over the estimated useful life of two to
five years, commencing when the software is ready for its intended use.
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Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation includes stock options and restricted stock awards. We calculate the fair value of stock options on the date of grant using
the Black-Scholes option-pricing model for stock options, which is impacted by the fair value of our common stock, as well as changes in
assumptions regarding a number of highly complex and subjective variables. These variables include, but are not limited to, the fair value of the
underlying common stock, the expected common stock price volatility over the term of the option awards, the expected term of the awards, risk-free
interest rates, and the expected dividend yield. We determine the fair value of restricted stock awards by the estimated fair value of our common
stock at the time of grant.

We recognize stock-based compensation for stock-based awards on a straight-line basis over the period during which an employee is required to
provide services in exchange for the award (generally the vesting period). We account for forfeitures as they occur.

We calculated the estimated grant-date fair value of our equity-based awards issued to employees calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model, based on the following assumptions:

Year Ended December 31,

2018 2019
Fair market value of common stock $3.04-$3.69 $3.01-$3.18
Expected term (in years) 5.0-6.6 5.2-6.6
Risk-free interest rate 2.6%-3.1% 1.4%—-2.6%
Expected volatility 52%—-54% 52%-54%
Dividend rate 0% 0%

Expected Term - The expected term represents the period that we expect our stock-based awards to be outstanding. For option grants that are
considered to be “plain vanilla,” we determine the expected term using the simplified method. The simplified method deems the term to be the
average of the time-to-vesting and the contractual life of the options. For other option grants, we estimate expected term using historical data on
employee exercises and post-vesting employment termination behavior taking into account the contractual life of the award.

Risk-Free Interest Rate - The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant for zero-coupon U.S.
Treasury notes with maturities approximately equal to the option’s expected term.

Expected Volatility - Since we do not have a trading history of our common stock, we derived the expected volatility from the average historical stock
volatilities of several unrelated public companies within our industry that we consider to be comparable to our business over a period equivalent to
the expected term of the stock option grants.

Dividend Rate - We assumed the expected dividend to be zero as we have never paid dividends and have no current plans to do so.

Common Stock Valuations

In the absence of a public trading market, the fair value of our common stock was determined by our board of directors, with input from
management, taking into account our most recent valuations provided by management from an independent third-party valuation specialist. Our
board intended all options granted to have an exercise price per share not less than the per share fair value of our common stock underlying those
options on the date of grant. We determined the valuations of our common stock in accordance with the guidelines outlined in the American Institute
of Certified Public Accountants Practice Aid, Valuation of Privately-Held-Company Equity Securities Issued as Compensation. The assumptions we
use in the valuation models were based on future expectations combined with management judgment, and considered numerous objective and
subjective factors to determine the fair value of our common stock as of the date of each option grant, including the following factors:

m the prices, rights, preferences, and privileges of our preferred stock relative to our common stock;
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our operating and financial performance;
current business conditions and projections;
the hiring of key personnel;

our stage of development;

the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event for the shares of common stock underlying these stock options, such as an initial public offering
or sale of our company, given prevailing market conditions;

any adjustment necessary to recognize a lack of marketability of the common stock underlying the granted options;
the market performance of comparable publicly-traded companies; and
the United States and global capital market conditions.

Based upon the assumed initial public offering price of $ per share, the midpoint of the price range set forth on the cover page of this
prospectus, the aggregate intrinsic value of options outstanding as of December 31, 2019 was $ million, of which $ million related to
vested options and $ million related to unvested options.

In valuing our common stock at various dates in 2019 and 2018, our board determined the equity value of our business using various valuation
methods including combinations of income and market approaches. The income approach estimates value based on the expectation of future cash
flows that a company will generate. These future cash flows are discounted to their present values using a discount rate derived from an analysis of
the cost of capital of comparable publicly traded companies in our industry or similar lines of business as of each valuation date and are adjusted to
reflect the risks inherent in our cash flows.

The market approach estimates value considering an analysis of guideline public companies. The guideline public companies method estimates
value by applying a representative revenue multiple from a peer group of companies in similar lines of business to us to our forecasted revenue. To
determine our peer group of companies, we considered public software and digital advertising companies and selected those that represent similar,
but alternative investment opportunities to an investment in our company. From time to time, we updated the set of comparable companies as new or
more relevant information became available.

The equity values implied by the income and market approaches reasonably approximated each other as of each valuation date.

Once we determined an equity value, we used a combination of approaches to allocate the equity value to each of our classes of stock. We used a
combination of option pricing method (OPM), and Probability Weighted Expected Return Method (PWERM). The OPM allocates values to each
equity class by creating a series of call options on our equity value, with exercise prices based on the liquidation preferences, participation rights,
and strike prices of the equity instruments. Using the PWERM, the value of our common stock is estimated based upon a probability-weighted
analysis of varying values for our common stock assuming possible future events for our company, such as a strategic sale, an initial public offering
or a downside scenario in which we sell at a lower than expected shareholder liquidation value.

Application of this approach involves the use of estimates, judgment and assumptions, such as revenue, expenses, future cash flows, and selection
of comparable companies and relevant multiples.

In addition, we also considered an appropriate discount adjustment to recognize the lack of marketability and liquidity due to the fact that
stockholders of private companies do not have access to trading markets similar to those enjoyed by stockholders of public companies. The discount
for marketability was determined using a protective put option model, in which a put option is used as a proxy for measuring discounts for lack of
marketability of securities.

For valuations after the completion of this offering, our board will determine the fair value of each share of underlying common stock based on the
closing price of our common stock as reported on the date of grant. Future expense amounts for any particular period could be affected by changes
in our assumptions or market conditions.
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Income Taxes

Our income tax provision may be significantly affected by changes to our estimates for tax in jurisdictions in which we operate and other estimates
utilized in determining the global effective tax rate. Actual results may also differ from our estimate based on changes in economic conditions. Such
changes could have a substantial impact on the income tax provision. We evaluate the judgments surrounding our estimates and make adjustments,
as appropriate, each reporting period.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are determined based upon the net effects of the differences between the consolidated financial
statements carrying amounts and the tax basis of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rate expected to apply to taxable
income in the years in which the differences are expected to be reversed. A valuation allowance is used to reduce some or all of the deferred tax
assets if, based upon the weight of available evidence, it is more likely than not that those deferred tax assets will not be realized.

We recognize the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained on examination by
the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. The tax benefits recognized in the consolidated financial statements from such
positions are then measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized. We recognize interest and
penalties accrued related to our uncertain tax positions in our income tax provision in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this prospectus for recently adopted accounting pronouncements and
recently issued accounting pronouncements not yet adopted as of the date of this prospectus.
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BUSINESS

Our Mission
PubMatic fuels the endless potential of Internet content creators.

Overview

Our company provides a specialized cloud infrastructure platform that enables real-time programmatic advertising transactions. We believe that our
purpose-built technology and infrastructure provides superior outcomes for both Internet content creators (publishers) and advertisers (buyers). In
August 2020, our platform efficiently processed approximately 127 billion ad impressions daily, each in a fraction of a second.

PubMatic was founded 14 years ago with the vision that data-driven decisions would be the future of advertising and over that time we have invested
significantly in developing our platform. By harnessing our massive data asset and leveraging our sophisticated machine learning algorithms, we
increase publisher revenue, advertiser return on investment (ROI), and marketplace liquidity, while improving the cost efficiency of our technology
platform and our publishers’ and buyers’ businesses.

Our cloud infrastructure platform provides superior monetization for publishers by increasing the value of an impression and providing incremental
demand through our deep and growing relationships with buyers. We are aligned with our publisher and app developer partners by being
independent. We do not own media and therefore do not have a vested interest in driving ad revenue to specific media properties. Our global
platform is omnichannel, supporting a wide array of ad formats and digital device types. In the second quarter of 2020, we served approximately
1,000 publishers and app developers, including many of the leading digital companies such as Verizon Media Group and News Corp. We have
demonstrated that we can retain and grow revenues from our publisher customers, as evidenced by our net dollar-based retention rate of 109% in
2019.

Building on our early success as a Sell Side Platform (SSP), we have extended our platform to also meet the needs of buyers. We are integrated
with the leading Demand Side Platforms (DSPs), such as The Trade Desk and Google DV360, allowing them to execute real-time transactions with
our publisher clients. More recently, agencies and advertisers have started consolidating their spend with fewer, larger technology platforms to
improve transparency, quality, and control over their advertising dollars. In 2019 and 2020 we entered into agreements directly with some of the
largest agencies and advertisers in the world and believe this will continue to drive more ad spend to our platform.

We believe we are positioned to benefit from several trends in the advertising industry, including the rapid proliferation of digital media, the
emergence of new media and advertising formats, and the increasing sophistication of the digital advertising ecosystem. Innovations in how digital
advertising is delivered have driven a meaningful increase in the available number of ad impressions to be processed, which occur when an
advertisement is shown to an Internet user’s device. This growth has driven a corresponding need for scaled, real-time processing of massive
volumes of data and efficient infrastructure. These trends are occurring as buyers and consumers seek increased transparency and governments
are creating new data and privacy regulations.

We own and operate our own software and hardware infrastructure around the world, which saves significant costs as compared to companies that
rely on public cloud alternatives, partly due to the data-intensive nature of digital advertising. As we have extended our cloud infrastructure to service
more ad formats and devices, we have expanded our profit margins and maintained our capital efficiency that is among best-in-class for similar
publicly-traded technology companies.

Our culture and our team are two of the most important assets in building and expanding our business. We have been recognized as a “Great Place
to Work” by Great Place to Work Institute Inc. and have benefited from strong employee retention rates. We foster deep employee engagement
through personal development and learning to create a diverse and inclusive culture focused on rapid innovation, customer focus, and strong team
execution.

Global advertising (digital and analog) spending was $647 billion in 2019 and is expected to grow to $841 billion in 2024, according to eMarketer. As
advertisers follow audiences online, digital advertising is expected to
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outpace growth of the overall advertising market. According to eMarketer, global digital ad spend was approximately $325 billion in 2019 and is
expected to grow to $526 billion by 2024. We believe that changes in the digital advertising landscape will continue to enhance our market
opportunity.

We have achieved significant revenue scale with $99.3 million in revenue in 2018 and $113.9 million in 2019, representing a growth rate of 15%. We
have also achieved profitability while growing our business rapidly, demonstrating the power of our platform, the strength of our relationships in the
digital advertising ecosystem, and the operating leverage and efficiency inherent in our business model. We generated net income of $4.4 million
and Adjusted EBITDA of $20.4 million in 2018, and net income of $6.6 million and Adjusted EBITDA of $23.3 million in 2019. We also generated net
cash provided by operating activities of $15.6 million in 2018 and $35.1 million in 2019. For a definition of Adjusted EBITDA, an explanation of our
management’s use of this measure and reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net income, please refer to “Selected Consolidated Financial Data.”

Our Industry
Digital advertising is the primary business model of the Internet.

Advertising funds the creation of journalism, news, and entertainment, and for billions of consumers around the world, it subsidizes or enables free
Internet consumption. Buyers can achieve significantly higher return on investment with online advertisements that are delivered both at scale and
on a personalized basis. Publishers can successfully sell their advertising inventory by sharing data and information about their digital audiences on
an individualized basis and at scale.

In recent years, the digital advertising ecosystem has become increasingly complex due to a variety of factors. While programmatic header bidding,
a core digital advertising technology, has enabled the purchasing and selling of vast amounts of digital advertising inventory, there now exist
significant challenges related to the proliferation of media across platforms, transaction speed, increased costs, transparency, and regulatory
requirements. To address these issues at scale for both buyers and sellers, specialized software and hardware infrastructure are needed to optimally
power these technology-driven transactions.

Rapid Proliferation of Digital Media Across Multiple Platforms

In the past decade, consumers have dramatically increased the amount of time that they spend online and on mobile devices communicating with
friends, consuming media, conducting business, and researching and purchasing goods and services. According to eMarketer, consumers accessed
the Internet via a mobile device on average 77 minutes per day in 2012. This usage increased to 202 minutes per day in 2019, an increase of 162%.
Numerous activities that historically occurred offline continue to shift online, including visiting your doctor (telehealth), staying fit (streaming classes),
ordering food (online delivery), and buying cars (online with local delivery), in addition to work and school from home. In order to better reach
consumers, every major media format has transitioned or is in the process of transitioning content from traditional or analog means of delivery to
digital. The television market transition to over-the-top (OTT) and connected TV (CTV), which is enabling consumers to stream content via the
Internet, is the latest transition and represents a significant opportunity for digital advertising. The COVID-19 pandemic has further accelerated digital
adoption habits which should lead to further rapid growth in the number of available ad impressions that can be monetized programmatically, as well
as increased advertiser budgets seeking to reach these audiences online.

The Rise of Programmatic Header Bidding

Direct sales via manual, person-to-person processes is inadequate to create a real-time advertising marketplace for buyers and sellers. The
challenges of scale and complexity of the digital advertising ecosystem require an automated and efficient approach to purchasing ads online,
known as programmatic advertising. Programmatic advertising, on an automated basis, enables buyers, advertisers, and/or their ad agencies, to
purchase ad impressions on publisher supplied inventory, including websites, apps, TVs, and various other formats to transact within milliseconds in
a sophisticated, technology-driven marketplace.

Header bidding, which came to prominence starting in 2016, further increased the complexity of programmatic advertising. Header bidding involves

putting software code on a publisher’s website or app allowing it to host a single parallel auction with multiple interested parties simultaneously,
rather than the earlier process of sequential auctions for that impression. This innovation has fundamentally transformed programmatic
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advertising by providing buyers with increased transparency and equal access to ad impressions, which results in greater demand for each ad
impression and increased publisher revenue According to Adzerk, header bidding has now been adopted by over 60% of digital publishers in the
United States.

Massive Volumes of Data and Increased Costs

Header bidding has led to a significant increase in the number of ad impressions that need to be processed and analyzed in real-time by each
participant in the digital advertising ecosystem. As consumers increasingly engage with digital media, and as advertisers bid on a growing array of
ad formats and impressions, an immense amount of data is generated. The data includes anonymized consumer information about interests and
intent, log files of winning and losing advertiser bids, and transaction records for billing and payment reconciliation. Technology infrastructure
platforms must rapidly process this data while offering a seamless digital ad experience for consumers.

Growing transaction volumes and increasingly complex data processing requirements can lead to rising overall costs for ad technology vendors.
While header bidding increases the number of SSPs processing each ad impression, the underlying number of opportunities to place a personalized
ad in front of a consumer does not grow, which creates processing complexity. Similarly, as SSPs process more ad impressions due to header
bidding, so must DSPs. Each of these trends created by header bidding can significantly increase costs for ad technology providers if not properly
addressed with superior technology.

Ad Spending Consolidating on Fewer Sell Side Platforms

As advertisers increase the percentage of their overall advertising budgets spent on digital formats, they are increasingly demanding improved
transparency and control of their entire digital advertising supply chain. Transparency includes understanding what fees are being paid for every ad
transaction, to whom the fees are being paid, and what value is being delivered by every fee recipient. In addition, transparency allows the advertiser
to know the type of ad inventory being purchased and the content appearing adjacent to the advertiser’s ads to avoid purchasing fraudulent or fake
inventory or appearing next to content that reflects poorly on the advertiser’s brand. This desire for transparency and control has led to a growing
trend for advertisers to establish direct relationships with vendors in the digital advertising ecosystem which have transparent business practices and
technical capabilities to meet their objectives. This has resulted in a larger portion of media spend consolidating onto fewer, more transparent
technology platforms.

Protecting Consumer Privacy and Regulatory Challenges

There is an increasing awareness of how Internet user data is being leveraged to target ads, resulting in a growing number of privacy laws and
regulations being established globally, including the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) in the European Union, the California Consumer
Privacy Act (CCPA) in California, and the Video Privacy Protection Act in the United States. We believe these trends will continue locally and
globally. There have also been a growing number of consumer-focused non-profit organizations and commercial entities advocating for privacy
rights. These institutions are enabling Internet consumers to assert their rights over the use of their online data in advertising transactions, a trend
which we support.

The digital advertising landscape must continue to adapt to these trends and incorporate awareness of consumer privacy and compliance with
regulatory authorities. For example, publishers, and their downstream supply and demand partners, are required to obtain unambiguous consent
from EU data subjects to process their personal data. In addition to legal and policy requirements, participants in the digital advertising supply chain
were encouraged to agree upon technical specifications to collect and transmit detailed records of consent (or an alternative basis for the processing
of personal data) and the purposes of that data processing. This demand resulted in widespread adoption of the Interactive Advertising Bureau (IAB)
Transparency & Consent Framework 2.0 (TCF) in August 2020. Prior to the TCF, dueling technical standards resulted in industry-wide confusion
following adoption of the GDPR.

Over the years, Apple has greatly limited the use of third-party cookies within its web browser (Safari’s Intelligent Tracking Prevention) and recently
announced the decision to make the app-based Identifier for Advertisers (IDFA) opt-in by consumers rather than opt-out. Google has also
announced its intention to limit the use of third-party cookies potentially starting in 2022 in its Chrome web browser and along with Apple is leading
an active industry dialogue to deliver the next wave in privacy compliant advertising solutions. We believe the “Open Web” outside the “walled
gardens” (a colloquial term that refers to closed advertising platforms including
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Google and Facebook) will shift from targeting by anonymized and invisible third-party cookies or identifiers to known identities based on consumer
choice and opt-in. This shift towards significantly more reliable and accurate consumer identity has the potential to significantly increase advertiser
ROI and therefore publisher revenue.

Our Market Opportunity

We believe that changes in the digital advertising landscape greatly enhance our market opportunity, namely: increasing impression volumes and
data requirements, the growing desirability of Open Web advertising, increased demand for transparent and privacy-safe solutions, and complex
regulatory and commercial requirements.

Global advertising (digital and analog) spending was $647 billion in 2019 and is expected to grow to $841 billion in 2024, according to eMarketer. As
advertisers follow audiences online, digital advertising is expected to outpace growth of the overall advertising market. According to eMarketer,
global digital ad spend was approximately $325 billion in 2019 and is expected to grow to $526 billion by 2024.

We define our addressable market as global programmatic advertising spending. According to a report we commissioned from Magna, global
programmatic ad spending, excluding search, is estimated to be $128 billion in 2020, and to grow to $199 billion by 2025, representing a compound
annual growth rate of 9%. By 2025, programmatic ad spending, excluding search, will represent 87% of global digital ad spend. Programmatic
spending is growing on mobile, video, and OTT/CTV. According to Magna, mobile programmatic ad spending is expected to grow to $175 billion in
2025, from $102 billion in 2020, representing a compound annual growth rate of 11%. Similarly, the combined opportunities in mobile-app video,
(included in mobile programmatic ad spending), OTT, and CTV programmatic ad spending is expected to grow to $165 billion in 2025, from $75
billion in 2020, a compound annual growth rate of 17%. We believe that digital advertising spending is also likely to be resilient during periods of
economic weakness. Notably, during the last economic recession, United States digital advertising grew 1% between 2008 and 2010, even as total
United States advertising spending declined by 14%.

Our solutions enable advertising on the Open Web. While walled gardens have grown their market share in recent years, advertisers have become
increasingly dissatisfied with their limited ability to access and use their data outside the walled gardens, the lack of control over the user-generated
content shown next to their ads, and the poor stewardship of user data. As a result of these concerns, more than 1,000 advertisers on Facebook,
including 5 of their top 20 advertisers, announced their intention to pause ad budgets in 2020. In contrast, Open Web advertising can provide
advertisers control over where their ads appear, enable access to high quality, professional content, allow control over their data, and achieve
transparency into the cost of media and associated technology fees. As publishers improve their ability to target ads using known consumer identity,
the Open Web offers the potential to further increase advertiser ROI, grow publisher revenue, and expand our market opportunity.
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Our Role in the Digital Advertising Ecosystem

Our platform is a key component of powering the digital advertising ecosystem because of the role we play in meeting the needs of ad sellers and ad
buyers.
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Publishers and App Developers. Publishers and app developers create websites and apps that contain content for consumers along with adjacent
viewable space for advertisements. As consumers navigate through these websites and apps individual ad impressions are shown to them. These
impressions are typically sold to buyers programmatically in real-time via a third-party technology infrastructure platform or SSP. Publishers and app
developers rely on advertising revenue as the key driver for their businesses and rely on the capabilities of these third parties in order to achieve
optimal yield for their advertising inventory. In the second quarter of 2020, we served approximately 1,000 publishers and app developers worldwide
on our platform, consisting of over 45,000 domains and 8,000 apps.

Sell Side Platforms. Traditionally referred to as Sell Side Platforms, platforms such as ours are designed to monetize inventory for publishers and
app developers. Buyers and sellers come together through our marketplace to present, target, and purchase available advertising inventory. Our
platform rapidly and efficiently processes significant volumes of ad bid data, providing a seamless digital experience for consumers. Traditionally,
SSPs have focused exclusively on the needs of sellers in this process, and have limited their interactions with buyers to the buyer’s agent, the
Demand Side Platform. As buyers have sought greater control of their advertising supply chains, we have extended the capabilities of our
specialized cloud infrastructure platform over the last several years to serve the needs of advertisers and agencies as well.

Demand Side Platforms. Advertisers and agencies often engage Demand Side Platforms, which act as advertising demand aggregators, to
execute their digital marketing campaigns across various ad formats. We are integrated with the leading DSPs around the world, such as The Trade
Desk and Google DV360, enabling them to execute real-time transactions with our publisher clients. We maintain active integrations with DSPs
around the world, some of which are global and omnichannel in nature or more narrowly targeted on specific ad formats or geographic markets.

Advertisers and Agencies. Spending begins with advertisers, who often engage advertising agencies to help plan and execute their advertising
campaigns. To better control and optimize their advertising operations, advertisers and agencies are consolidating their spend with fewer, larger
technology platforms who can deliver transparency and ensure the highest levels of inventory quality and control. We believe our purpose-built
technology platform and direct relationships with advertisers and agencies will lead to significant consolidation of spend onto our platform.
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Our Specialized Cloud Infrastructure Platform

We are a specialized cloud infrastructure provider that enables real-time programmatic advertising transactions in a market characterized by
significant data and impression volumes, regulatory complexity, and increased focus on transparency and privacy. Over the past 14 years we have
built, enhanced and deployed our technology infrastructure to address these market conditions and provide superior outcomes for both publishers
and buyers.

We have deployed our purpose-built infrastructure globally in order to serve our customers with the high-speed transaction capabilities required to
provide a seamless digital ad experience for consumers. Our offering is omnichannel and targets a diverse set of publishers touching many ad
formats, and digital device types, including mobile app, mobile web, desktop, display, video, connected TV, and rich media.

Real-time Ad Transaction Processing

We have designed our specialized cloud infrastructure for the rapid and efficient processing of real-time, programmatic ad transactions and the
aggregation and analysis of the significant data accompanying each transaction. We power our cloud platform by proprietary our software deployed
on PubMatic-owned and operated hardware close to our customers around the world. Our technology platform processes each potential ad in a
fraction of a second to optimize the consumer ad experience. In aggregate, we process 127 billion ad impressions daily, which generates 1.65
petabytes of data per day.

Sophisticated, Purpose-built Technology that Delivers Superior Outcomes

Since our founding, we have believed that data-driven decisions would be the future of advertising and have accordingly invested in developing our
machine learning capabilities. By harnessing our massive data assets and advanced machine learning capabilities, we are able to deliver superior
outcomes by increasing advertiser ROl and publisher revenue, while increasing the cost efficiency of our platform and our customers’ and partners’
businesses. Some examples of the outcomes of our machine learning competencies include:

m  Reducing buyers’ and our operational costs. Our algorithms determine the optimal traffic to send to each buyer, and then prioritize the
DSPs most likely to bid on and win a particular ad impression, which in turn reduces the number of bid requests we send them, leading to
reduced costs for buyers and for PubMatic.

m Increasing publisher revenue while maximizing the buyer’s probability of winning. Our system dynamically predicts the winning price
of an auction and seeks to ensure that a buyer’s bid is high enough to clear this price.

We created our own internal machine learning program to train promising engineers to further our machine learning technology and over the last two
years have developed over 50 machine learning based software projects through this program. Today, every engineering team at PubMatic has
machine learning expertise embedded within it.

Independent and Customer Aligned

We are aligned with our customers, both publishers and buyers, by being an independent infrastructure platform. We do not own media and
therefore do not have a vested interest in driving ad revenue to specific media properties. We do not take a position in media or arbitrage media. Our
independence and alignment have resulted in a strong level of trust and confidence among publishers and buyers alike that our data-driven software
decisions and our recommendations are in their best interests.

Transparency and Quality for Agencies and Advertisers

We operate on a fundamental principle of transparency, being one of the first digital advertising infrastructure platforms to provide log-level data to
buyers and provide transparency on every ad impression. In addition, advertisers utilizing our cloud infrastructure have full control over which
publishers, ad formats, and specific ad impressions on which they would like to bid. We are among the first to offer a fraud-free program in 2017
where buyers are credited for any fraudulent inventory they may have purchased on our platform. Our buyers have experienced very low fraud levels
with credits of 0.3% of overall ad spending on our platform in the second
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quarter of 2020. This compares very favorably to a recent Trustworthy Accountability Group (TAG) industry average of fraud at 11% of advertising
spending.

Enabling Identity on the Open Web

As advertising in the Open Web shifts from targeting by anonymized and invisible third-party cookies that consumers must opt out of, and instead
towards known first-party identity based on consumer choice and opt-in, publishers and advertisers must transition to a new identity paradigm. While
there are various constituents across the digital advertising industry creating new identity solutions, we have built a comprehensive platform that
greatly simplifies the implementation and ongoing management of identity solution providers. Our solution allows for the use of many of the leading
identifiers in a scaled and privacy-compliant fashion resulting in increased publisher revenue and buyer ROI.

Scalable, Self-service Platform that Eases the Burden of a Complex Digital Advertising Landscape

Our cloud infrastructure solutions are available via self-serve, including an easy-to-use customer user interface and a set of application programming
interfaces that allow our publisher customers to configure new inventory, extend into new geographies or ad formats, review reporting insights, and
manage and track payments and billing cycles. Our platform also assists with managing the increasingly complex compliance burdens brought on by
new industry guidelines and government regulations. We provide the tools and the mechanisms to help enable publisher inventory to be in
compliance with these norms and requirements, maintaining strong data minimization practices, and allocating responsibility for data flows and legal
compliance in agreements with vendors, publishers, and buyers.

Our Strengths

Publishers are actively seeking to maximize the value of their ad inventory, and buyers are seeking to increase advertising ROI. We believe that our
efficient cloud infrastructure, rapid innovation, and transparent business model provide incentives to ad buyers to consolidate an increasing share of
their total digital spend on our platform. At the same time, our direct publisher relationships, omnichannel header bidding capabilities, global scale,
and access to incremental advertiser demand through direct relationships with buyers drive superior yield for publishers.

We believe the following strengths provide us with long-term competitive advantages:
Investment in Innovation Enabled by Profitable Business Model

Our business model driven by our technology platform, owned infrastructure, and offshore R&D has led to positive net income since 2016 and
positive Adjusted EBITDA for seven consecutive years. We have generated positive net cash provided by operating activities for six consecutive
years. We have consistently achieved among best-in-class margins compared to other similar publicly-traded technology companies. Our structural
cost advantages enable us to continuously invest in driving innovation, while delivering both top line revenue growth and profitability.

Flexible Platform and Culture of Rapid Innovation

We built our company and our technology platform to be highly dynamic and to support rapid innovation. Our product and development teams are
focused on continuous innovation and enhancement of our products and solutions. We believe that the flexibility of our platform and responsiveness
to evolving customer needs and technical requirements enables us to achieve superior outcomes for our customers.

Since our founding, we have invested significantly in a software ideation, development, build, test, and deployment process that allows us to
routinely convert a requirement into working software within two weeks or less. Our platform is highly modular, which allows us to innovate and
improve individual software components without affecting the rest of the platform. We utilize a microservices architecture to interconnect each
module via APIs with defined interfaces for internal and external consumption. We focus on reliability and scalability of each individual module and
across our platform to maximize uptime and scale up based on customer demand. In 2019, we released new software across our global
infrastructure approximately 317 times, more than once per business day. The result of our flexible platform and culture of rapid innovation is that we
are highly
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responsive to evolving customer needs, which we believe is important in a rapidly evolving digital advertising industry.

Indicative of the flexibility and robustness of our platform, since header bidding’s rise in 2016, we have increased the efficiency of our platform
dramatically, introduced solutions to make auctions more transparent for advertisers, and expanded our header bidding technology beyond desktop
to mobile web, mobile app, digital video, and most recently OTT/CTV.

Highly Efficient Infrastructure

As a result of our long-term, internal development efforts on our technology stack and strategic approach of owning our own hardware, we believe
that we have among the lowest cost infrastructures of any specialized cloud infrastructure platform in the advertising market. We own and operate
our proprietary software and hardware infrastructure around the world. This approach saves significant costs compared to companies that rely on
public cloud alternatives due to the data-intensive nature of digital advertising and the immense volume of ad impressions created by header
bidding. Since our inception, we have built and constantly improved upon our infrastructure, and in turn we have developed a deep expertise in
continuously optimizing and growing it. As a result, our cost of revenue per impression processed decreased by 18% in 2019 compared to 2018, and
by 12% in 2018 compared to 2017. We believe that the capital efficiency and operating expertise requirements that we possess present a significant
barrier to entry. Even as we grow the applicability of our cloud infrastructure to include more ad formats and devices, such as mobile, video, and now
OTT/CTV, we have maintained strong capital efficiency as measured by revenue per dollar of capital expenditures. The efficiency of our
infrastructure has enabled us to grow our access to first-party data, which generally refers to customer owned audience data, ad impression and bid
request data, and advertiser bid response data, further driving superior results across our platform for buyers and sellers.

Since our founding, the vast majority of our technology team, which represents 45% of our workforce, has been based in Pune, India, with an
average tenure of 3.4 years as of June 30, 2020. Many of our senior engineers have worked together at PubMatic since the founding of our
company. Our mindset and culture of driving efficiency across our business, whether in engineering, sales, marketing, or elsewhere, continuously
pushes us to find ways to achieve greater results with less human and capital resources.

Machine Learning and Data Processing

We leverage our artificial intelligence and machine learning capabilities to record, aggregate, analyze, and act on vast amounts of data to help our
customers optimize their digital advertising businesses in real-time. In August 2020, our technology platform processed approximately 127 billion ad
impressions and 1.65 petabytes of data every day. This data includes first party customer owned audience data, ad impression and bid request data,
and advertiser bid response data. We flow all of this data through our machine learning platform in order to run thousands of algorithmic iterations on
trillions of data points per month. These capabilities improves long term marketplace liquidity resulting in increased publisher revenue and higher
advertiser ROI.

Customer Trust and Alignment

We are aligned with both publishers and buyers, by being an independent and transparent infrastructure provider. We do not own media and
therefore do not have a vested interest in driving ad revenue to specific media properties. We do not take a position in media or arbitrage media. We
operate with a fundamental principle of transparency and provide detailed insights into fees to our customers. Our customers can therefore be
confident that our algorithmic software decisions and our guidance are independent and in their best interests. Our trusted status has enabled us to
build direct relationships with publishers, advertisers, agencies, and DSPs. Our ability to meet the demands of both buyers and inventory sellers
enables us to produce superior outcomes for all industry participants.

Global, Omnichannel Reach

We are a global business with distributed critical infrastructure and a go-to-market presence in every major advertising market in the world outside of
China. Many of our publisher customers have diversified businesses with media properties and audiences across the globe and with a wide variety
of ad products including display
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and video ads across desktop, tablet, mobile, and connected TV devices. Similarly, many of our advertiser and agency customers have brand
portfolios that span the globe with a variety of ad campaign requirements — from branding to performance, to combinations thereof. All of these
parties actively seek global, omnichannel platform providers that can solve for their needs around the world and across ad formats and devices. By
providing global, omnichannel reach of our infrastructure, we are well positioned to help publishers and ad buyers make their advertising businesses
more efficient and effective.

Growth Strategy

We believe we are positioned to benefit from tailwinds in the advertising industry, including the rapid proliferation of digital media, the need for
purpose-built infrastructure to address the increasing complexity in the digital advertising landscape, and increasing consumer time spent online, all
of which have been accelerated by the COVID-19 pandemic. Our growth strategy includes:

Attract New Publishers and Expand our Relationship with Existing Publishers

We constantly seek to acquire new high-quality publishers around the world. New publisher clients may include major media companies, app
developers, ecommerce providers, and OTT platforms— any company that monetizes its audience through digital advertising. Once acquired, we
seek to expand our relationship with existing publishers by establishing multiple header bidding integrations, leveraging our omnichannel capabilities
to maximize our access to publishers’ ad formats and devices, and expanding into the various properties that a publisher may own around the world.
We may also up-sell additional products to publisher customers including our header bidding management as well as identity and audience
solutions. To capitalize on new and existing publisher opportunities, we continue to grow our specialized customer success teams, which are
structured around specific ad formats, products and geographies. We have demonstrated that we can retain and grow revenues from our publisher
customers, as evidenced by our net dollar-based retention rate of 109% in 2019.

Attract New Buyers and Expand our Relationship with Existing Buyers

We strive to acquire new buyers (including advertisers, agencies and DSPs) through our strong value proposition that includes omni-channel real-
time bidding, transparency, our fraud-free program and efficiency. We work with DSPs to help them reduce their costs and improve advertiser ROI,
which in turn makes us the specialized cloud infrastructure platform of choice for many of our buying partners. As advertisers and agencies
increasingly consolidate their spending with fewer larger technology platforms, we seek to increase the proportion of their digital ad spending on our
platform through direct relationships. We have entered into Supply Path Optimization (SPO) agreements directly with both advertisers and agencies
through various arrangements ranging from custom data and workflow integrations, product features, and volume-based business terms. The effect
of these SPO agreements is to increase the volume of ad spend on our platform without corresponding increases in technology costs. We have
expanded and realigned our sales team to focus on advertisers and agencies directly and will continue to hire additional sales headcount to support
these efforts.

Efficiently Expand Our Infrastructure Platform to Process More Ad Impressions

The COVID-19 pandemic has further accelerated digital adoption, which should lead to further growth in the number of available ad impressions that
can be monetized programmatically as well as advertiser budgets seeking to reach various audiences digitally. We have a track record of cost-
effectively expanding the capacity of our infrastructure platform as exemplified by average daily ad impressions having increased approximately
three-fold over the last three years, while our costs related to them have increased less than 40%. We expect to continue to invest in both software
and hardware infrastructure to continue growing the number of valuable ad impressions we process on our platform.

Improve Liquidity in Our Marketplace

We strive to continuously improve publisher revenue and advertiser ROI by investing in our technology and improving our machine learning
capabilities. We leverage our artificial intelligence and machine learning capabilities, alongside our growing publisher and buyer relationships, to
improve liquidity in our marketplace. Increasing numbers of ad impressions, increasing advertiser bids, and data proliferation provide us with many
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opportunities to better match sellers and buyers of ad inventory. We believe that improved matching will lead to growth of our platform and greater
publisher and buyer retention.

Develop New Products

As we grow our customer base and process increasing volumes of ad impressions and data, we gain insights into new challenges we can solve on
behalf of our customers. We have successfully introduced multiple new products into the market over the past 12 months, including our identity
solution (Identity Hub), our header bidding management solution for OTT (OpenWrap OTT), and our audience data platform (Audience Encore). We
are constantly focused on creating new products that we believe solve our customers’ needs.

Expand Into New Ad Formats

We have demonstrated an ability to extend header bidding into a variety of ad formats — initially desktop display, then mobile web, mobile app, digital
video, and most recently with OTT/CTV. As technology and media evolve, additional ad formats may become attractive to us — whether existing in
the ecosystem today or entirely new. These may include audio/podcast ads, native ads and digital out of home ads. Each ad format represents an
opportunity to further extend our cloud infrastructure, increase our platform utilization, and acquire new customers or expand our relationship with
existing customers.

Expand into New Geographies

We decide to enter new advertising markets around the world based on size, growth rate, and other characteristics. For example, in 2018, we
entered Indonesia and in 2019 we entered South Korea. We are constantly evaluating new markets with a strategy to use our existing global
infrastructure and adjacent sales office, or by expanding our infrastructure footprint and placing personnel directly in those markets.

Our Publishers and App Developers

We primarily work with publishers and app developers who allow us direct access to their ad inventory, as well as select channel partners that meet
our quality and scale thresholds. We have direct relationships with publishers such as Verizon Media Group and News Corp and app developers
such as Zynga and Electronic Arts. Our channel partners aggregate and provide further access to thousands of sites and apps from smaller
publishers. We refer to our publishers, app developers, and channel partners collectively as our publishers.

We help monetize valuable impressions for our clients across a wide array of ad formats and digital device types, including mobile app, mobile web,
desktop, display, video, OTT/CTV, and rich media. In the second quarter of 2020, we served approximately 1,000 publishers and app developers
representing over 50,000 individual domains and apps worldwide on our platform across a diverse group of content verticals including news,
eCommerce, gaming, media, weather, fashion, technology, and more.

We believe our specialized cloud infrastructure platform provides the following benefits:

m  Customer alignment. We are aligned with our publishers by being an independent infrastructure provider. We do not own media and
therefore do not have a vested interest in driving ad revenue to specific media properties.

m  Monetization. Through our infrastructure-based approach, we provide superior monetization for publishers. We achieve this by increasing
the value of each impression by enhancing available data and providing incremental demand via our deep relationships with buyers.

m Innovation. Since our inception, we have consistently delivered new capabilities to our publishers, including Identity Hub, OpenWrap OTT,
and Audience Encore.

m  Global, Omni-channel. Our offering is global, omni-channel and efficient for our publishers to work with, targeting a wide array of ad
formats and digital device types, including mobile app, mobile web, desktop, display, video, connected TV, and rich media.

m  Compliance. We assist publishers with their regulatory compliance by managing advertising transactions in a transparent manner with our
buyers, adopting industry wide technical specifications and business processes that respect consumer choices, and providing guidance on
best practices regarding user consents and opt-outs.
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We are party to an agreement with Verizon Sourcing LLC, under which Verizon Media Group is a publisher customer of ours. The initial term of the
agreement ended in June 2016, and it automatically renews for successive one-year terms unless either party provides written notice at least 60
days prior to the end of the initial term or such successive terms. Either party may terminate for convenience immediately upon prior written notice.
For the six months ended June 30, 2020, Verizon Media Group represented over 20% of our revenue.

Our Buyers

Buyers on our platform include DSPs, agencies and individual advertisers. We have broad exposure to the ecosystem of buyers, reaching on
average approximately 65,000 advertisers per month in 2020. As spending on programmatic increasingly becomes a larger share of overall ad
spending, advertisers and agencies are seeking greater control of their digital advertising supply chains. To take advantage of this industry shift, we
have entered into Supply Path Optimization (SPO) agreements directly with buyers. As part of these agreements, we are providing advertisers and
agencies with benefits ranging from custom data and workflow integrations, product features, and volume-based business terms. As a result of these
direct relationships, our existing advertisers and agencies are incentivized to allocate an increasing percentage of their advertising budgets to our
platform. We are increasing buyer spend on our platform for the following reasons:

m  Buyer Alignment. We do not own media and therefore do not have a vested interest in driving ad revenue to specific media properties. We
do not take a position in media or arbitrage media.

m  Omni-channel Real Time Bidding. Advertisers and agencies often have a large portfolio of brands requiring a variety of campaign types
and support for a wide array of inventory formats and devices. Our omni-channel platform meets these requirements, which is a further
driver of efficiency for our buyers.

m  Transparent business model. We were one of the first Sell Side Platforms to provide log-level data to buyers and provide fee transparency
on every ad impression.

» Inventory quality. We operate one of the most comprehensive processes in the digital advertising ecosystem to enhance inventory quality.

We were among the first to offer a fraud-free program in 2017 where our buyers are credited for any fraudulent inventory they may have
purchased on our platform.

m  Efficiency. We work closely with DSPs to make them more efficient which has led to certain DSPs consolidating their spend on our
platform. Our algorithms determine the optimal traffic to send to each buyer, and then prioritize the DSPs most likely to bid on and win a
particular ad impression, which reduces the number of bid requests we send them, leading to reduced costs for buyers and for PubMatic.

Two of our largest DSP relationships are with Google and The Trade Desk. We are party to an agreement with Google LLC, under which Google is a
buyer on our platform. The initial term of the agreement ended in May 2019, and it automatically renews for successive one-year terms unless either
party provides written notice at least 60 days prior to the end of the initial term or such successive terms. Either party may terminate for convenience
upon providing at least 30 days prior written notice. We are also party to an agreement with The Trade Desk, Inc., under which The Trade Desk is a
buyer on our platform. The initial term of the agreement ended in November 2013, and it automatically renews for successive one-year terms. Either
party may terminate for convenience upon providing at least 30 days prior written notice.

Our Technology

Overview

We have designed our technology to efficiently process real-time advertising transactions while leveraging data to optimize outcomes for publishers
and buyers. We own and operate our software and hardware infrastructure globally, which saves significant infrastructure expenditures as compared
to public cloud alternatives. We designed our platform using a flexible, service-oriented architecture in order to facilitate rapid development of new
solutions, to meet evolving industry demands, and to support new use cases and new ad formats. Our omni-channel platform supports a wide array
of publishers, ad formats and devices, including mobile app, mobile web, desktop, display, video, OTT/CTV, and rich media.

Rapid innovation is a core driver of our business success and our corporate culture. Our technical personnel are located across our global offices in

Pune, India, Redwood City, California, and New York, New York. Our agile development process and flexible, service-oriented architecture empower
our development teams to routinely
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convert a requirement into working software within a typical time frame of two weeks or less. In 2019, we released new software across our global
infrastructure approximately 317 times, more than once per business day.

We offer our solution as a complete, unified offering for publishers who want a simple, efficient and comprehensive solution. We also offer modular
access to our platform via rich APIs and a mobile SDK, for publishers who wish to integrate with or extend the platform, or develop new business
models and custom advertising solutions.

Data

Among the central benefits of our software platform is the processing, management and analysis of valuable data assets. The tens of billions of ad
impressions and nearly trillion advertiser bids that we process every day generate enormous volumes of data that we harness to drive higher
revenue for our publishers and increased ROI for our buyers. This data includes:

m  Ad impression and bid request data, which contain parameters such as page URL or app bundle ID, location of the user, operating system
of the user’s device, device type, ad size and ad location on the page;

m  First party customer owned audience data, such as segment data that specifies whether a consumer is a recent shopper for electronics or
automobiles; and

= Advertiser bid response data, which is bidding data received from DSPs, agencies, and advertisers.

We have developed proprietary data and analytics offerings that allow publishers to monitor their ad business in near real-time, as well as advanced
tools publishers can use to find new business opportunities, optimize their monetization strategy, and help maximize the value of their digital ad
business. This data is also used by our machine learning algorithms to enhance our bidding and auctioning process by analyzing large datasets and
applying algorithms to drive optimal results.

Artificial Intelligence and Machine Learning

We analyze the data on our platform through extensive application of artificial intelligence technologies, including machine learning and natural
language processing. Examples of how we leverage our artificial intelligence and machine learning capabilities to improve outcomes for our
customers are:

= Identify valuable ad impressions and predict auction behavior: When our machine learning models predict that an impression will
attract high bids, our algorithms adjust pricing guidance to bidders in real time, which can lead to significant inventory yield improvements
for publishers and higher win rates for ad buyers.

= Optimize impression selection: Our ability to accurately predict and monetize high value impressions allows us to operate more efficiently,
due to the fact that the cost of processing low-value impressions and high-value impressions are approximately the same. Our algorithms,
such as impression throttling, deploy a variety of levers to optimize traffic sent to DSPs, agencies, and advertisers.

= Improve our self-service capabilities: Publishers can enter natural language queries, such as “Show me average CPM for yesterday” and
the analytics system will generate charts and tables with relevant data for rapid and informative analysis.

We have developed a proprietary machine learning training curriculum called the ML? Program in order to significantly expand our use of machine
learning throughout our technical organization. In the past two years, 237 machine learning training courses have been completed by 107 of our
engineers who have then leveraged that learning to solve PubMatic specific problems. In total, we have completed 50 machine learning projects
over the last two years.

Programmatic Header Bidding

We are a leading provider of technology solutions that enable and improve header bidding for our customers. We developed an enterprise wrapper,
OpenWrap, that was among the first header bidding solutions launched for general availability. OpenWrap was released in April 2016 and enables
publishers to holistically manage and configure all header bidding partners through a powerful, synchronized and intuitive user interface. OpenWrap
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provides a transparent, real-time view into bid activity and volume, monetization and latency metrics which allow publishers to make smarter
decisions and drive sustainable monetization. Our cloud infrastructure is interoperable with the other major header bidding software frameworks
including open source Prebid, Google’s Open Bidding, Amazon’s Transparent Ad Marketplace, and others. We believe we are thought leaders in the
header bidding space and are represented on the boards of Prebid and the IAB Tech Lab.

We have continuously enhanced the capabilities of our OpenWrap solution and our header bidding technology. For example, in 2017, we expanded
OpenWrap’s header bidding technology to mobile app developers and introduced the industry’s first hybrid client and server side wrapper. In 2019,
we launched the OpenWrap SDK for in-app developers. In 2020, we launched header bidding support for OTT and CTV inventory and announced
that our Identity Hub product would support server-to-server integration with OpenWrap.

Regulatory Compliance

A growing set of privacy regulations have introduced complexity regarding the collection, use, and transmission of consumer data to the digital
advertising ecosystem. Most notably, the GDPR that took effect in May 2018 and the CCPA that took effect in January 2020, among other global
privacy laws and regulations, have created a compliance burden for advertisers, publishers, and their partners to navigate. The advertising industry
has developed a number of the technical and policy solutions to create standards for compliance, such as IAB TCF.

We have implemented a number technology innovations, process enhancements, and industry solutions in response to our publishers’ increased
obligations. Through the TCF and other frameworks, we can identify and pass user consent parameters, and opt-in or opt-out as applicable, in a bid
request. We are also able to evaluate whether such consents apply to our various demand partners, such as DSPs and agencies. Some of the
specific measures we have taken include:

m  User Consent. Working with publishers and channel partners to ensure appropriate consent is being obtained, recorded, and transmitted as
applicable.

m  Data Mapping. Undertaking data mapping exercises for the purpose of understanding data flows in how we collect, use, and transmit
personal information from our publishers, buyers, and data providers.

m  Data Minimization. Establishing mechanisms to collect only the data that is needed and pseudonymizing data wherever possible (including
masking IP address or geolocation data as applicable).

m Data Retention. Implementing a short data retention period across our technology platform so that we promptly delete, aggregate, or
anonymize consumer data.

m  Publisher and Demand Side Agreements. Monitoring and updating our agreements with publishers, DSPs, agencies, and advertisers, as
applicable, to address privacy and regulatory compliance.

Inventory Quality

The quality of the inventory made available to advertisers has a significant impact on their ROI. Bad actors promoting botnets, fake ads, ad stuffing
and other malignant methodologies reduce the ROI for advertisers and siphon dollars away from quality publishers. We have developed a multi-
pronged strategy to create a high-quality marketplace beginning with high quality publisher selection, supported by proprietary and third-party fraud
detection software, manual review, timely fraud investigations, and a fraud-free program in which buyers are credited for any fraudulent inventory
they may have purchased on our platform. Our buyers have experienced very low fraud levels with credits of 0.3% of overall ad spending on our
platform in the second quarter of 2020. This compares very favorably to a recent Trustworthy Accountability Group (TAG) industry average of fraud
at 11% of advertising spending.

Ad Quality

Ad quality refers to the quality of the advertisements that run on publishers’ sites. We have developed proprietary solutions targeting the reduction of
security issues, including malware, redirects, unsafe code, and other similar practices; quality issues, including unsafe creative categories (such as
alcohol or drugs) and creative attributes (Inbanner video, Expandables, Text Ads); and performance issues, including network load, number of
trackers and memory size.

On an average day, we scan nearly one million new advertisement creatives in near real-time using our Real-Time Ad Scanning (RTAS) system.
RTAS connects to proprietary technology and partners’ services to extract the
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nature of creatives. Publishers can configure their preferences for quality attributes using our blocklist manager, creative attribute selection, and
keyword blocking. A comprehensive reporting suite is available for publishers to monitor the top performing creatives and review the lost opportunity
due to excessive blocking.

Log-level Transparency and Insights

We enable buyers to gain additional transparency and insights to help them inform future ad buying and optimize their supply paths by providing
them access to log-level data, which is comprised of various attributes that are relevant to a single ad impression within an auction. Log-level data
provides buyers transaction verification data, or how the auction operates and what fees are being charged.

Reporting

Our technology platform provides extensive reporting capabilities to both buyers and publishers via APIs for direct integration into a customer’s
reporting systems. Publishers are able to review performance, monitor key performance indicators (KPIs), and make adjustments to their set up and
optimization. Buyers have access to campaign insight data to facilitate testing and adaptation toward maximizing ROI. Detailed performance by ad
format, channels, and ad sizes allows for optimization to achieve maximum performance.

Self-Service

We design and implement self-service workflow solutions to allow publishers to efficiently manage their ad inventory. For example, publishers can
update their own price floors, add or remove advertisers from blocklists, add new web sites and mobile apps, manage optimize their header bidding
set ups, and leverage identity graphs from multiple ID providers. Ad buyers can configure the attributes for the inventory they desire, setup new or
adjust existing Private Marketplace deals, and access extensive reporting on their media buying activities with PubMatic.

Our Team and Culture

Our culture and our team are the most important asset in building and expanding our business. Our team identifies new problems to solve, builds
solutions, optimizes and extends our infrastructure, and acquires and serves customers. We believe that strong and diverse customer teams deepen
customer relationships, promote innovation, and increase productivity.

Our people strategy revolves around creating employee experiences that foster deep employee engagement built upon personal development &
achievement that is supported by continuous feedback, learning, and team building. PubMatic’s steadfast focus on driving employee engagement
has resulted in increasing employee retention rates (92% annualized employee retention through the first six months of 2020) and average global
tenure (3.4 years as of June 30, 2020). Our workplaces in the United States have been certified a Great Place To Work (2017-2020) and recognized
on Fortune’s list of Best Workplaces in the Bay Area 2020. Our India office has also been certified by Great Place To Work (2018-2020) as well as
named to the list of Great Mid-size Workplaces and Best Workplaces in IT & IT-BPM in 2019 and 2020.

We have achieved these results by delivering custom learning programs and creating opportunities for advancement that align with the dynamic
needs of our business. Our practice of open and transparent communication coupled with a performance-based approach to compensation has
created a culture in which employees feel empowered in their ability to influence and impact our business and be rewarded for their efforts. The
value proposition we offer to our employees is rounded out with strong benefits programs that include paid family leave, health and wellness benefits
and company sponsored opportunities to give back to the communities in which they work and live.

We are also committed to being inclusive in our hiring practices, promotion practices, and management practices as a means of ensuring equal
opportunity for all employees as we continue to diversify our workforce. The diversity of PubMatic’s workforce has been publicly documented since
2017 with our annual Diversity & Inclusion Report. Our Inclusion Action Plan for 2020-2021 consists of five areas that focus on listening, learning,
hiring, socio-economic support, and activism. This plan will be executed in part by our newly established Diversity & Inclusion Committee. The plan
has a global focus that takes into consideration regional cultural differences to provide interactive employee experiences that drive continuous
support for inclusion throughout our organization.
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It has always been our goal to attract and retain the best talent in the industry and our inclusive interview process includes finding those candidates
that best add to our company mission, values, and cultural principles. These three guiding elements form a social contract between employees as
well as set expectations for the common behaviors we can expect from each other and inform how we treat our customers. They are infused in every
aspect of our business, from employee experience and workplace culture to marketing strategies and customers success.

Our mission: fuel the endless potential of Internet content creators.

Values:
m  We put the customer first.
m We are biased towards action.
m  We are leaders and innovators.
m  We are committed to integrity.
m  We celebrate teamwork.

Cultural Principles:

m  We will empower every individual team member and treat each other as partners.
m  We will make having fun a priority.

m  We will hire and retain the best talent.

m  We will communicate internally with honesty, transparency, and authenticity, including positive and negative information.

As of July 31, 2020, we had 499 employees, of whom 186 were located in the United States, 229 in India, and 84 in our other offices around the
world.

Technology and Development

We expect to continue investing in our technology in order to support efficient and effective ad monetization, which includes maximizing the yield
from existing ad impressions and productively adding new ad impressions on our platform. We also intend to continue developing innovative
capabilities for our customers.

Our technology and development personnel, based in Pune, India, Redwood City, California, and New York, New York, are highly credentialed—32%
of the 188 personnel have advanced degrees. As of July 31, 2020, we had 188 employees engaged in technology and development. Our technology
and development expenses totaled $13 million in 2018, and $12 million in 2019. In 2019, technology and development headcount increased 27%
compared to 2018 with the majority of hiring in our India-based development organization.

Our Competition

The digital advertising ecosystem is competitive and complex due to a variety of factors. While programmatic header bidding has enabled the
purchasing and selling of vast amounts of digital advertising inventory, there now exist significant challenges related to the proliferation of media
across platforms, transaction speed, increased costs, transparency, and regulatory requirements. To address these issues at scale for both
publishers and buyers, we provide specialized software and hardware infrastructure to optimally power technology-driven transactions. We compete
with SSPs like Magnite, smaller private SSPs in markets around the world, as well as divisions of larger companies like Google.

Factors that enable us to effectively compete for ad impressions from publishers include:

Publisher Trust and Alignment.
Monetization.

Innovation.

Global, Omni-channel Scale.
Regulatory Compliance.
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Factors that enable us to effectively compete for ad spending from buyers include:

Buyer Alignment.

Omni-channel Real Time Bidding.
Transparent business model.
Inventory quality.

Efficiency.

While there is direct competition as noted above, our cloud infrastructure is interoperable with the major header bidding software frameworks
including open source Prebid, Google’s Open Bidding, Amazon’s Transparent Ad Marketplace, and others. As a result, we are able to gain access to
competitors’ ad impressions.

We have also demonstrated an ability to extend our header bidding infrastructure into a variety of higher-growth ad formats such as mobile web,
mobile app, digital video, and most recently OTT/CTV.

We believe that our specialized cloud infrastructure enables us to compete favorably on the factors described above. In addition, we believe that
new market entrants would find it difficult to gain direct access to publishers and ad buyers given their limited scale and would face significant costs
to integrate with publishers and ad buyers and comply with growing regulatory requirements around the world.

Sales and Marketing

We primarily deploy a self-service model and focus our sales and marketing efforts on supporting, advising, and training our publishers to optimize
their usage of our platform. We employ a nimble in-market sales team with expertise in programmatic advertising to attract premium publishers to
our platform. New publishers on our platform work closely with our Customer Success team, which handles on-boarding and providing support
throughout the publisher relationship life cycle. We have streamlined the on-boarding process through automation and self-service tools.

We have dedicated teams focused on new publisher acquisition and existing publisher relationship management. Our Customer Success team,
which focuses on existing publishers, is organized and specialized by type of ad format and device and is trained to both maximize the number of
integrations with each publisher, and deploy of value added solutions that we provide. Similarly, we have teams focused on new business acquisition
and existing partner retention and expansion for advertisers, agencies, and DSPs. These teams focus on onboarding new partners and increasing
spend across a variety of ad formats, devices, and geographies.

Our marketing team is focused on achieving thought leadership, educating customers on how to harness programmatic advertising to improve their
business, guiding buyers on how to maximize ROI via the PubMatic cloud infrastructure, supporting our sales team, generating new leads and
increasing awareness for our brand.

Intellectual Property

The protection of our technology and intellectual property is an important component of our success. We protect our intellectual property rights by
relying on federal and state statutory and common law rights, foreign laws where applicable, and contractual restrictions. We seek to control access
to our proprietary technology by entering into non-disclosure agreements with third parties and disclosure and invention assignment agreements with
our employees and contractors.

We consider our trademarks, patents, copyrights, trade secrets, and other intellectual property rights to be, in the aggregate, material to our
business. We currently own two issued U.S. patents, expiring in 2034, relating to online advertising and auction techniques. We also own one issued
Japanese patent. We also own trademark registrations and applications for the “PubMatic” name and variants thereof and other product-related
marks in the United States and certain foreign countries. We have also registered numerous Internet domain names related to our business. In
addition to our intellectual property rights, we also consider the skills and ingenuity of our employees and the functionality and frequent
enhancements to our solutions to be contributors to our success in the marketplace. We believe our platform would be difficult, time consuming, and
costly to replicate. We protect our competitive technology position through our ability to execute and deliver new functionality quickly, as well as our
continuous development of new intellectual property as we innovate.
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We intend to pursue additional intellectual property protection to the extent we believe it would be beneficial and cost effective. Despite our efforts to
protect our intellectual property rights, they may not be respected in the future or may be invalidated, circumvented, or challenged. In addition, the
laws of various foreign countries where our products are distributed may not protect our intellectual property rights to the same extent as laws in the
United States.

Privacy and Data

We are subject to laws and regulations governing privacy and the transmission, collection, and use of consumer data. Interest-based advertising, or
the use of data to draw inferences about a consumer’s interests and deliver relevant advertising to that consumer, has come under increasing
scrutiny by legislative, regulatory, and self-regulatory bodies, privacy advocates, academics, and commercial interests in the United States and
abroad that focus on data protection and consumer privacy. In particular, much of this scrutiny has focused on the use of cookies and other tracking
technologies that collect or aggregate information about consumers’ online browsing and mobile app usage activity. Because both our company and
our publishers rely upon large volumes of such data collected primarily through cookies and other tracking technologies, it is essential that we
monitor legal requirements and other developments in this area, domestically and globally, maintain a robust privacy and security compliance
program, and engage in responsible privacy practices, including providing consumers with notice of the types of data we collect, how we collect it,
with whom we share it, how we use that data to provide our solutions, and the applicable choices we offer consumers.

We provide notice through our privacy policies and notices, which can be found on our website at www.pubmatic.com. As stated in our privacy
policy, we do not collect information, such as names, addresses or telephone phone numbers, for providing our advertising services that can be used
directly to reveal the identity of the underlying individual. We take steps not to collect and store such information (although on occasion, our
publishers voluntarily share information of their consumers with us and in such circumstances we require the publishers to have obtained all
necessary consents for such sharing). Our advertising and reporting rely on information that does not, on its own, directly reveal the identity of the
underlying individuals (and we do not attempt to associate this information with other information that can identify such individuals). We typically do
collect and store IP addresses, geo-location information, and device identifiers that are considered personal data or personal information under the
privacy laws of some jurisdictions or otherwise may be the subject of current or future data privacy legislation or regulation. The definition of
personally identifiable information, personal information, or personal data, varies by jurisdiction and continues to evolve in ways that may require us
to adapt our practices to avoid violating laws or regulations related to the collection, storage, and use of consumer data. As a result, our technology
platform and business practices must be assessed regularly against a continuously evolving legal and regulatory landscape, and we have adopted
strong data minimization practices that mitigate our compliance risks.

There are also a number of specific laws and regulations governing the collection and use of certain types of consumer data relevant to our
business. For example, the Children’s Online Privacy Protection Act (COPPA) imposes restrictions on the collection and use of data provided by
children under the age of 13 by child-directed websites or online services, such as apps, directed to children or any website if the collection of such
data is known to the website or app operator. We have taken various steps to implement a system in which our publishers are contractually obligated
to either flag or notify us in writing of child-directed websites. When websites are flagged, or we receive notice of such websites, we do not collect
personal information, as defined by COPPA, including cookie identifiers that can recognize the same consumer across multiple sites over time, or
location information more specific than street and city, on such websites or online services.

Additionally, our compliance with our privacy policy and our general consumer data privacy and security practices are subject to review by the
Federal Trade Commission, which may bring enforcement actions to challenge allegedly unfair and deceptive trade practices, including the violation
of privacy policies and representations or material omissions therein.

Certain State Attorneys General in the United States may also bring enforcement actions based on comparable state laws or federal laws that permit
state-level enforcement. In California, for example, the Attorney General may bring enforcement actions for violations of the CCPA, as modified by
the Attorney General’s recently approved enforcement guidelines. We have registered as a data broker in California with the California Attorney
General. When we receive bid requests that include an opt-out signal, we do not sell personal information, as
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defined by the CCPA. We have also adopted the IAB CCPA Compliance Framework, which includes a technical specification to identify consumer
signals to opt-out of sale of their data, and have signed the IAB Limited Service Provider Agreement that imposes service provider obligations for
certain opted-out bid requests. These IAB frameworks are designed to facilitate compliance with the CCPA although the California Attorney
General’s office has not yet approved such frameworks. The CCPA sets forth high potential liabilities for data privacy violations on a per-record
basis, and the industry faces an uncertain compliance burden as our partners and publishers work to become compliant with the law. Adding further
complexity in California, a new California ballot initiative, the California Privacy Rights Act (CPRA) would impose additional data protection
obligations on companies doing business in California, including additional consumer rights processes and opt-outs for certain uses of sensitive
data. The CPRA has garnered enough signatures to be included on the November 2020 ballot in California and, if approved by California voters, will
take effect in January 2023.

Outside of the United States, our privacy and data practices are subject to regulation by data protection authorities and other regulators in the
countries in which we do business. The use and transfer of personal data in member states of the European Union is currently governed under the
GDPR, which grants additional rights to consumers about their data, such as deletion and portability, and generally prohibits the transfer of personal
data of EU subjects outside of the EU, unless the party exporting the data from the EU implements a compliance mechanism designed to ensure
that the receiving party will adequately protect such data. We had relied on the EU-U.S. Privacy Shield framework (Privacy Shield framework), to
transfer personal data of EU subjects to the United States, but the Privacy Shield framework was recently declared invalid by Court of Justice of the
European Union. (CJEU) on 16 July 2020. In the same judgement, while the CJEU upheld the adequacy of the standard contractual clauses (a
standard form of contract approved by the European Commission as an adequate personal data transfer mechanism, and potential alternative to the
Privacy Shield framework), it made clear that reliance on them alone may not necessarily be sufficient in all circumstances and cast doubt on their
future use. Use of the standard contractual clauses must now be assessed on a case-by-case basis taking into account the legal regime applicable
in the destination country, in particular applicable surveillance laws and rights of individuals. The use of standard contractual clauses for the transfer
of personal data specifically to the United States remains under review by a number of European data protection supervisory authorities.

The GDPR sets out higher potential liabilities for certain data protection violations, which may result in fines up to the great of €20 million or 4% of an
enterprise’s global annual revenue. Additionally, when the transition period following Brexit expires at the beginning of 2021, we will also have to
comply with the UK GDPR, which will also have the ability to fine up to of €20 million (£17 million) or 4% of global turnover.

Further, the EU is currently in discussions to replace the ePrivacy Directive (commonly called the “Cookie Directive”) with the ePrivacy Regulation
that governs the use of technologies that collect, access, and store consumer information and may create additional compliance burdens for us in
Europe.

Other jurisdictions have enacted legislation that closely tracks the concepts, obligations, and consumer rights described in the GDPR, including
Brazil's General Data Protection law and Thailand’s Personal Data Protection Act. Some jurisdictions, including Russia and China, have in recent
years enacted data localization laws, which require any personal information of citizens of those jurisdictions to be stored and processed on servers
located in those jurisdictions. Such laws are gaining momentum and are being enforced by local authorities.

Beyond laws and regulations, we are also members of self-regulatory bodies that impose additional requirements related to the collection, use, and
disclosure of consumer data, including the IAB, the Digital Advertising Alliance, and the NAI. Under the requirements of these self-regulatory bodies,
in addition to other compliance obligations, we provide consumers with notice via our privacy policies about our use of cookies and other
technologies to collect consumer data, our collection and use of consumer data to deliver interest-based advertisements, and consumers’ opt-out
choices. We also allow consumers to opt-out from the use of data we collect for purposes of interest-based advertising through mechanisms
described in our privacy policies available on our website. Some of these self-regulatory bodies have the ability to discipline members or
participants, which could result in penalties and cause reputational harm. Additionally, some of these bodies might refer violations of their
requirements to the Federal Trade Commission or other regulators.
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Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we may become involved in legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of our business. We are not presently a party to any
legal proceedings that, in the opinion of our management, would individually or taken together have a material adverse effect on our business,
operating results, financial condition, or cash flows. Regardless of outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on us due to defense and
settlement costs, diversion of management resources, negative publicity and reputational harm, and other factors. For additional information, see
Note 6 to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this prospectus.

Facilities

Prior to the Covid-19 pandemic, our corporate headquarters were located in Redwood City, California. Since April 2020, all headquarter personnel
have been working remotely. We decided to not renew our headquarters lease which expired in August 2020. Beginning in September 2020, we
have leased 3,554 rentable square feet to support our general and administrative functions, while our sales and marketing, technology and
development, engineering and customer support employees continue to work remotely. We intend to move to a new headquarters in 2021.

Since our founding, we have maintained a presence in Pune, India overseen by one of our founders. We occupy space consisting of approximately
35,300 square feet under a lease which expires in 2021 and which we intend to extend under a renewal agreement until 2023. We use this facility
primarily for technology and development, and to a lesser extent general administration and customer support. We also maintain regional offices in
New York, London, Tokyo, and Singapore for regional sales and marketing, technology and development, and customer support personnel. We also
have sales offices in several locations, including Los Angeles, Munich, Hamburg, Stockholm, Amsterdam, New Delhi, and Sydney. We maintain data
center co-location facilities in San Jose, California; San Francisco, California; Clifton, New Jersey; Manassas, Virginia; London, United Kingdom;
Amsterdam, The Netherlands; Tokyo, Japan; and Singapore.

We believe that our current facilities are adequate to meet our needs for the immediate future, and that, should it be needed, suitable additional
space will be available to accommodate any such expansion of our operations.
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MANAGEMENT

Executive Officers and Directors
The following table provides information regarding our executive officers, key employees and directors as of August 31, 2020:

Name Age Position(s)
Executive Officers:
Rajeev K. Goel 42 Chief Executive Officer, Director
Amar K. Goel 44 Chief Growth Officer, Chairman, Director
Steven Pantelick 57 Chief Financial Officer
Mukul Kumar 49 President of Engineering
Thomas C. Chow 42 General Counsel and Secretary
Jeffrey K. Hirsch 62 Chief Commercial Officer
Non-Employee Directors:
Cathleen Black 76 Director
W. Eric Carlborg 56 Director
Ashish Gupta 53 Director
Narendra K. Gupta* 7 Director

* Lead independent director

Executive Officers

Rajeev K. Goel is one of our co-founders and has served as our Chief Executive Officer since December 2008. He also has served as a member of
our board of directors since September 2006. He served as our General Manager from 2006 to 2008. Before co-founding our company, Mr. Goel
served in various technical and business roles, including as a product marketing director at SAP AG, a publicly-traded multinational enterprise
software company, from 2005 to 2007. Mr. Goel was a Principal at Diamond Management and Technology Consultants, Inc., an information
technology strategy consulting firm, from 2001 to 2005, and a co-founder and Vice President of Technology of Chipshot.com, an online retailer of
custom-built golf equipment, from 1996 to 2000. Mr. Goel holds a B.A. in Economics, Political Science, and Spanish from The Johns Hopkins
University and an M.S. in Computer and Information Technology from the University of Pennsylvania. We believe that Mr. Goel possesses specific
attributes that qualify him to serve as a director, including the historical knowledge, operational expertise, and continuity that he brings to our board
as our co-founder and Chief Executive Officer.

Amar K. Goel is our founder and has served as a member of our board of directors and Chairman since 2006. He has served as our Chief Growth
Officer since March 2018, and previously supported us in various roles since our founding. He currently works for the company on a part-time basis.
Since May 2020, Mr. Goel has also served as a co-founder and Chief Executive Officer of Safeter Inc., a company focused on helping workforces
safely return to work amidst the COVID-19 pandemic. Mr. Goel served as our Chief Executive Officer from 2006 to 2008. He served as Chairman of
the board of directors of RevX, Inc., an Asia-focused mobile advertising company from 2015 to 2018. Previously, he was the founder of Komli Media,
Inc., an Asia-focused digital media platform company that was spun out of our company, where he served as Chairman of the board of directors from
2008 to 2015 and Chief Executive Officer from 2006 to 2011 and again from December 2013 to September 2015. Mr. Goel also served in various
sales roles at Microsoft Corporation, a software, services and hardware company, from 2003 to 2006 and as a consultant at McKinsey & Co., a
global management consulting firm, from 2000 to 2003. He was the co-founder, President, and Chief Executive Officer of Chipshot.com, an online
retailer of custom-built golf equipment, from 1995 to 2000. Mr. Goel holds an A.B. in Economics and an M.S. in Computer Science from Harvard
University. We believe that Mr. Goel possesses specific attributes that qualify
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him to serve as a director, including the perspective and experience he brings as our founder and his operational expertise and experience with
software and digital advertising. He is the brother of Rajeev K. Goel.

Steven Pantelick has served as our Chief Financial Officer since 2011. Before joining us, Mr. Pantelick served as the Chief Financial Officer of
Aggregate Knowledge Inc., a data management platform company, from 2007 to 2010; the Chief Financial Officer and Vice President of Operations
of Kodak Gallery (formerly known as Ofoto Inc.), a technology company focused on imaging solutions and services for consumers, from 2004 to
2007; and as the Chief Financial Officer of SkyPilot Network, a broadband wireless equipment and networking company, from 2002 to 2003. From
1997 to 2001, Mr. Pantelick served in several roles at Blockbuster Inc., a movie and game rental entertainment company, including as Chief
Operating Officer of the New Media division, Senior Vice President of U.S. Financial Operations, and Vice President of Worldwide Planning. Prior to
Blockbuster, Mr. Pantelick spent seven years with Cadbury Schweppes plc in a variety of finance roles in the United States and Europe. Mr.
Pantelick holds an A.B. from Harvard University and an M.B.A. from the Tuck School of Business at Dartmouth.

Mukul Kumar is one of our co-founders and has served as our President, Engineering since 2006. Before co-founding our company, Mr. Kumar was
the Director of Engineering at PANTA Systems, Inc., a high -performance computing company, from 2005 to 2006, and Director of Engineering at
Veritas (India) Limited, a storage solutions company, from 1997 to 2005. Mr. Kumar holds a B. Tech. in Electrical Engineering from the Indian
Institute of Technology, Kharagpur.

Thomas C. Chow has served as our General Counsel and Secretary since July 2018. Prior to joining us, he served as Senior Counsel, Media &
Technology for Snap Inc., a publicly-traded camera and social media company, from November 2017 to July 2018, as General Counsel, Chief
Compliance Officer, and Secretary for Exponential Interactive, Inc., an adtech company, from February 2014 to October 2017, as Vice President,
General Counsel for Vindicia, Inc., a subscription payments company, from 2011 to 2014, and as Director and Associate General Counsel for
TechSoup Global, a technology non-profit organization from 2008 to 2011. Mr. Chow holds a B.A. in Sociology, with honors, from the University of
California, Berkeley and a J.D. from the University of California, Hastings College of the Law.

Jeffrey K. Hirsch has served us in various roles, including in his current role as our Chief Commercial Officer, since March 2019, and previously
supported us in various other roles, including, as our Head of Global Publisher Development, between January 2017 and February 2019, and our
Chief Marketing Officer, between July 2016 and February 2019. Prior to joining us, he served as Chief Marketing Officer for SundaySky, Inc., a
personalized video technology company, from June 2015 to June 2016, as President for Digital Remedy, a digital media execution and technology
company, from July 2013 to May 2015, as Chief Executive Officer of Underdog Media, LLC, from 2011 to 2013, as Chief Executive Officer for
Audience Science, Inc., a global data technology company, from 2008 to 2011, and Chief Revenue Officer for Audience Science, Inc. from 2006 to
2008. Mr. Hirsch holds a B.A. in Experimental Psychology from the University of California, Santa Barbara.

Non-Employee Directors

Cathleen Black has served as a member of our board of directors since May 2014. Ms. Black served as chancellor of the New York City Department
of Education in 2011, as President of Hearst Corporation, a multinational mass media group, from 1995 to 2010, and as President and Chief
Executive Officer of Newspaper Association of America, a newspaper trade association, from 1991 to 1996. Ms. Black has previously served on the
boards of directors of International Business Machines Corporation, a publicly-traded multinational technology and consulting corporation, from 1996
to 2010 and The Coca Cola Company, a publicly-traded multinational beverage company, from 1990 to 2010. Ms. Black holds a B.A. in English from
Trinity College. We believe that Ms. Black possesses specific attributes that qualify her to serve as a director, including her background in media and
business management.

W. Eric Carlborg has served as a member of our board of directors since May 2012. Mr. Carlborg has served as an investment professional and a
partner at August Capital, a venture capital firm, since 2010. Before August Capital, Mr. Carlborg served in various executive and financial positions,
including: partner at Continental Investors LLC, an investment company; managing director of investment banking with Merrill Lynch & Co., a
financial services company; Chief Financial Officer at Provide Commerce, Inc., an online provider of high quality gifts, and Einstein/Noah Bagel
Corp., a wholly owned subsidiary of Einstein Noah Restaurant Group, Inc., a food
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service company; and Chief Strategy Officer at Go2Net, Inc., a provider of Internet products and services. Mr. Carlborg previously served as a
member of the board of directors of Blue Nile, Inc., an online retailer of fine jewelry and zulily, inc, an online daily deal company. Mr. Carlborg holds a
B.A. in Economics from the University of lllinois and an M.B.A. from the University of Chicago’s Booth School of Business. We believe that Mr.
Carlborg possesses specific attributes that qualify him to serve as a director, including his background in accounting and financial management and
his deep understanding of our financial statements and our business.

Ashish Gupta has served as a member of our board of directors since 2010. Mr. Gupta has been director and Senior Managing Director at Helion
Advisors, or Helion Investment Partners, a venture capital advisory firm, since 2006. Before Helion Advisors, Mr. Gupta served in various investment
and technical positions, including as: a venture partner at Woodside Fund, a venture capital firm, from 2002 to 2006; Director of Engineering at
Amazon.com, Inc., an ecommerce company, from 1998 to 2000; and Vice President of Engineering at Junglee Corp., a database technology
company that was acquired by Amazon.com, Inc. from 1996 to 1998. Mr. Gupta serves as a member of the board of directors of InfoEdge (India)
Limited, a publicly-traded Indian online classified ads company. He holds a B. Tech. in Computer Science from the Indian Institute of Technology,
Kanpur, and a Ph.D. in Computer Science from Stanford University. We believe that Mr. Gupta possesses specific attributes that qualify him to serve
as a director, including his extensive experience working with leading technology companies as well as his substantial experience as an investment
and technology professional.

Narendra (Naren) K. Gupta has served as a member of our board of directors since February 2011. Mr. Gupta co-founded and has served as
Managing Director of Nexus Venture Partners, a US/India venture capital fund, since 2006. Mr. Gupta founded Integrated Systems Inc., a provider of
products for embedded software development, in 1980, and served as its President, CEO, and Chairman at various times until 2000. Mr. Gupta
served as a member of the board of directors of Red Hat Inc., an open source software company, from 2005 to 2019, and as the chairman of its
board of directors from 2017 to 2019. Previously, he served on the boards of Wind River Systems, Inc., a provider of device software optimization
solutions and Tibco Software Inc., an enterprise software company. He also serves as a member of the Board of Trustees of the California Institute
of Technology, or Caltech. Mr. Gupta holds a B. Tech. in Engineering from the Indian Institute of Technology, Delhi, an M.S. in Engineering from
Caltech, and a Ph.D. in Engineering from Stanford University. We believe that Mr. Gupta possesses specific attributes that qualify him to serve as a
director, including his experience as a current and former executive and board member of a number of technology-related private and public
companies, as an investor in global companies, as well as his science and technology expertise.

Governance

Appointment of Officers

Our executive officers are appointed by, and serve at the discretion of, our board of directors. Amar K. Goel and Rajeev K. Goel are brothers.
Otherwise, there are no family relationships between any of our directors or executive officers.

Board Composition

Our board of directors currently consists of six members. Four of our directors are independent within the meaning of the independent director
guidelines of . Pursuant to a voting agreement, as amended through May 19, 2014, and our seventh amended and restated
certificate of incorporation, Ms. Black, Rajeev K. Goel, Amar K. Goel, Narendra Gupta, Ashish Gupta, and Mr. Carlborg have been designated to
serve as members of our board of directors. Rajeev K. Goel and Amar K. Goel were elected by the holders of our common stock, Narendra Gupta
and Ashish Gupta were elected by the holders of our Series A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock and Series C Preferred Stock voting
together as a separate class, Mr. Carlborg was elected by the holders of our Series D Preferred Stock, and Ms. Black was elected by the holders of
our common stock and preferred stock, voting together as a single class.

The voting agreement and the provisions of our seventh amended and restated certificate of incorporation by which all of our current directors were
elected will terminate upon, and no contractual obligations regarding the election of our directors will remain, following the completion of this offering.
Each of our current directors will continue to serve until the election and qualification of his or her successor, or his or her earlier death, resignation,
or removal.
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Classified Board of Directors

Upon the completion of this offering, our board of directors will consist of six members and be divided into three classes of directors that will serve

staggered three-year terms. At each annual meeting of stockholders, a class of directors will be elected for a three-year term to succeed the same
class whose term is then expiring. As a result, only one class of directors will be elected at each annual meeting of our stockholders, with the other
classes continuing for the remainder of their respective three-year terms. Our directors will be divided among the three classes as follows:

m the Class | directors will be and , and their terms will expire at the first annual meeting of stockholders to be held after the
completion of this offering;

m the Class Il directors will be. and , and their terms will expire at the second annual meeting of stockholders to be held after
the completion of this offering; and

m the Class lll directors will be and , and their terms will expire at the third annual meeting of stockholders to be held after

the completion of this offering.

Each director’s term continues until the election and qualification of his or her successor, or his or her earlier death, resignation, or removal. Our
restated certificate of incorporation and restated bylaws, as we expect them to be in effect upon the completion of this offering, will authorize only our
board of directors to fill vacancies on our board of directors. Any increase or decrease in the number of directors will be distributed among the three
classes so that, as nearly as possible, each class will consist of one-third of the directors. This classification of our board of directors may have the
effect of delaying or preventing changes in control of our company. See “Description of Capital Stock—Anti-Takeover Provisions—Restated
Certificate of Incorporation and Restated Bylaw Provisions.”

Director Independence

In connection with this offering, we intend to list our Class A common stock on the . Under the rules of the , independent
directors must comprise a majority of a listed company’s board of directors within a specified period after the completion of this offering. In addition,
the rules of the require that, subject to specified exceptions, each member of a listed company’s audit, compensation, and nominating and
corporate governance committees be independent. Under the rules of the , a director will only qualify as an “independent director” if, in the
opinion of that company’s board, that person does not have a relationship that would interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying
out the responsibilities of a director. Additionally, compensation committee members must not have a relationship with us that is material to the
director’s ability to be independent from management in connection with the duties of a compensation committee member.

Audit committee members must also satisfy the independence criteria set forth in Rule 10A-3 under the Exchange Act. In order to be considered
independent for purposes of Rule 10A-3, a member of an audit committee of a listed company may not, other than in his or her capacity as a
member of the audit committee, the board of directors or any other committee: accept, directly or indirectly, any consulting, advisory or other
compensatory fee from the listed company or any of its subsidiaries; or be an affiliated person of the listed company or any of its subsidiaries. We
intend to satisfy the audit committee independence requirements of Rule 10A-3 as of the completion of this offering.

Our board of directors has undertaken a review of the independence of each director and considered whether each director has a material
relationship with us that could compromise his or her ability to exercise independent judgment in carrying out his or her responsibilities. As a result of
this review, our board of directors determined that Ms. Black, Mr. Carlborg, Ashish Gupta, and Narendra Gupta are “independent directors” as
defined under the applicable rules and regulations of the SEC and the listing requirements and rules of the . In making these
determinations, our board of directors reviewed and discussed information provided by the directors and by us with regard to each director’s
business and personal activities and relationships as they may relate to us and our management, including the beneficial ownership of our common
stock by each non-employee director and the transactions involving them described in the section entitled “Certain Relationships and Related
Person Transactions.”
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Committees of the Board of Directors

Our board of directors has an audit committee, a compensation committee, and a nominating and corporate governance committee, each of which,
pursuant to its respective charter, will have the composition and responsibilities described below upon the completion of this offering. Following the
completion of this offering, copies of the charters for each committee will be available on the investor relations portion of our website. Members serve
on these committees until their resignation or until otherwise determined by our board of directors.

Our corporate governance principles, which our board of directors has established in connection with this offering, provide that when the
Chairperson and Chief Executive Officer positions are held by the same person or by directors that are not independent, a lead independent director
shall be designated. Because neither our Chairman Amar K. Goel nor our Chief Executive Officer Rajeev K. Goel is independent, our board of
directors appointed Narendra Gupta to serve as our lead independent director. As lead independent director, Mr. Gupta will, among other
responsibilities, preside over executive sessions of our independent directors, serve as a liaison between the Chairman and the independent
directors, and perform such functions and responsibilities as our board of directors may otherwise determine and delegate.

Audit Committee

Our audit committee is composed of M. and M. .M. is the chairman of our audit committee. The members of our audit
committee meet the independence requirements under and SEC rules. Each member of our audit committee is financially literate. In addition,
our board of directors has determined that M. is an “audit committee financial expert” as that term is defined in ltem 407(d)(5)(ii) of

Regulation S-K promulgated under the Securities Act. This designation does not, however, impose on him any supplemental duties, obligations or
liabilities beyond those that are generally applicable to the other members of our audit committee and board of directors. Our audit committee’s
principal functions are to assist our board of directors in its oversight of:

selecting a firm to serve as our independent registered public accounting firm to audit our financial statements;
ensuring the independence of the independent registered public accounting firm;

discussing the scope and results of the audit with the independent registered public accounting firm, and reviewing, with management and
that firm, our interim and year-end operating results;

establishing procedures for employees to anonymously submit concerns about questionable accounting or audit matters;
considering the adequacy of our internal controls and internal audit function;
reviewing related-party transactions that are material or otherwise implicate disclosure requirements; and

approving, or as permitted, pre-approving all audit and non-audit services to be performed by the independent registered public accounting
firm.

Compensation Committee

Our compensation committee is composed of M. , M. and M. .M. is the chairman of our compensation committee.
The members of our compensation committee meet the independence requirements under and SEC rules. Each member of this committee
is also a “non-employee director” within the meaning of Rule 16b-3 under the Exchange Act and an “outside director” within the meaning of

Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1984, as amended (the Code). Our compensation committee is responsible for, among other things:

reviewing and approving, or recommending that our board of directors approve, the compensation of our executive officers;
reviewing and recommending to our board of directors the compensation of our directors;

reviewing and recommending to our board of directors the terms of any compensatory agreements with our executive officers;
administering our stock and equity incentive plans;
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m reviewing and approving, or making recommendations to our board of directors with respect to, incentive compensation and equity plans;
and

m  establishing our overall compensation philosophy.

Nominating and Governance Committee

Our nominating and governance committee is composed of M . , M. and M. , who serves as the chairman of the committee.
Our nominating and governance committee’s principal functions include:

identifying and recommending candidates for membership on our board of directors;

reviewing and recommending to our board of directors any changes to our corporate governance principles;
reviewing proposed waivers of the code of conduct for directors and executive officers;

overseeing the process of evaluating the performance of our board of directors; and

advising our board of directors on corporate governance matters.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

None of the members of the compensation committee is currently, or has been at any time, one of our officers or employees. None of our executive
officers has served as a member of the board of directors, or as a member of the compensation or similar committee, of any entity that has one or
more executive officers who served on our board of directors or compensation committee during 2019.

Director Compensation

Directors who are also our employees do not receive cash or equity compensation for service on our board of directors in addition to the
compensation payable for their service as our employees. The following table presents the total compensation for each person who served as a non-
employee member of our board of directors in 2019. Other than as set forth in the table, we did not make any equity awards or non-equity awards to
or pay any other compensation to the non-employee members of our board of directors in 2019.

Fees Earned or Paid in
Name Cash Option Awards Total

Cathleen Black $ 25,000 $50,629M@ ¢ 75,629
W. Eric Carlborg — — —
Ashish Gupta — — —
Narendra Gupta — — _

(1) Represents the aggregate grant date fair value of 75,000 options received pursuant to an August 16, 2016 grant under our 2006 Stock Option
Plan, as computed in accordance with Financial Accounting Standard Board Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718 (ASC 718) and
recorded as stock-based compensation in our financial statements. The options vested in four equal installments on each of July 1, 2017, July 1,
2018, July 1, 2019, and July 1, 2020. The assumptions used in calculating the dollar amount recognized for financial statement reporting
purposes of the option awards reported in this column are set forth in Note 11 to our consolidated financial statements included in this
prospectus. This dollar amount reflects the accounting cost for these option awards and does not necessarily correspond to the actual economic
value of the awards.

(2) As of December 31, 2019, Ms. Black had an aggregate of 75,000 option awards outstanding.

Directors who are employees do not receive any fees or equity awards for their service on our board of directors or any committee. Our non-
employee directors currently receive an annual cash fee of $25,000. In connection with this offering, our board of directors expects to approve an
annual non-employee director compensation policy, which will take effect following the completion of this offering.
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EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The following tables and accompanying narrative set forth information about the 2019 compensation provided to our principal executive officer and
the two most highly-compensated executive officers (other than our principal executive officer) who were serving as executive officers as of
December 31, 2019. These executive officers were Rajeev K. Goel, our Chief Executive Officer, Amar K. Goel, our Chief Growth Officer, and Steven
Pantelick, our Chief Financial Officer, and we refer to them in this section as our “named executive officers.”

2019 Summary Compensation Table

The following table presents summary information regarding the total compensation for services rendered in all capacities that was awarded to,
earned by, and paid to our named executive officers during the year ended December 31, 2019.

Non-Equity

Option Incentive Plan All Other
Name and Principal Position Salary ($) Bonus' ($) Awards® ($) Compensation® Compensation ($) Total ($)
Rajeev K. Goel,
Chief Executive Officer 450,000 313,188 409,242 450,000 — 1,622,430
Amar K. Goel, Chief Growth Officer
Former President 305,882 153,682 155,254 214,118 — 828,936
Steven Pantelick,
Chief Financial Officer 400,000 156,594 245,391 225,000 — 1,026,985

(1) The amounts in this column represent bonuses earned by exceeding the target performance measures established under our 2019 Executive
Bonus Plan. For more information see "—Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation—Executive Bonus Plan."

(2) The amounts set forth in this column represent the aggregate grant date fair value of the stock options awarded to the named executive officer
during 2019 in accordance with Financial Accounting Standard Board Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718 (ASC 718) and recorded as
stock-based compensation in our financial statements. The assumptions used in calculating the dollar amounts recognized for financial
statement reporting purposes of the option awards reported in this column are set forth in Note 11 to our consolidated financial statements
included in this prospectus. These dollar amounts reflect the accounting cost for these option awards and do not necessarily correspond to the
actual economic value of the awards.

(3) The amounts reported represent the amounts earned based upon achievement of certain performance goals under our executive bonus
program. These payments are described in greater detail under "—Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation—Executive Bonus Plan."

Equity Compensation

From time to time, we grant equity awards in the form of stock options to our named executive officers, which are generally subject to vesting based
on each named executive officer’s continued service with us. Each of our named executive officers currently holds outstanding options to purchase
shares of our Class B common stock that were granted under our 2006 Stock Option Plan and 2017 Equity Incentive Plan, as set forth in the table
below for “2019 Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End.”

In May 2019, we granted Rajeev K. Goel, Amar K. Goel, and Steven Pantelick options to purchase 250,000 shares, 95,000 shares, and 150,000
shares of our common stock, respectively, in each case at an exercise price of $2.97 per share, under our 2017 Equity Incentive Plan. The shares
subject to these options vest monthly, in equal installments, over the 48-month period following the grant, subject to the optionee’s continued service
through each vesting date.

The options are subject to vesting acceleration upon a change of control as described under the caption “Executive Compensation—Potential
Payments upon Termination or Change of Control.”
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Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation

Executive Bonus Plan

During 2019, each of our named executive officers earned cash bonuses based on his participation in our 2019 Executive Bonus Plan (Executive
Bonus Plan). Under the Executive Bonus Plan, our named executive officers were eligible to receive bonuses based on the achievement of
individual performance targets and our overall performance as measured by gross revenue associated with publisher accounts, revenue gross profit,
and adjusted net income. Total cash bonus awards for 2019 were targeted at $450,000 for Rajeev K. Goel, $214,118 for Amar K. Goel, and
$225,000 for Steven Pantelick. In February 2020, our compensation committee determined, based upon our achievement in excess of certain target
financial metrics set forth in the Executive Bonus Plan, to approve total cash bonus awards of $763,188 for Rajeev K. Goel, $367,800 for Amar K.
Goel, and $381,594 for Steven Pantelick.

Employment Agreements

We intend to enter into new employment agreements with certain senior management personnel in connection with this offering, including our
named executive officers. We expect that each of these agreements will provide for at-will employment and include each officer’s base salary, a
discretionary annual incentive bonus opportunity, and standard employee benefit plan participation. We also expect these agreements, or a separate
related policy, to provide for severance benefits upon termination of employment or a change in control of our company.

Potential Payments upon Termination or Change of Control

Our named executive officers’ employment agreements provide for benefits described below upon either a termination by us of the executive
officer’'s employment without “cause” or a voluntary resignation by the executive officer from his employment that qualifies as a “constructive
termination” (each as defined in their employment agreements). We refer to either of these terminations as a “qualifying termination.” These benefits
depend on whether such termination occurs during the two-year period following an acquisition or other change of control and are contingent upon
the executive officer executing a customary release of claims.

If the qualifying termination of a named executive officer occurs during the two-year period following a change of control, the named executive officer
will be entitled to receive: a lump sum payment equal to the sum of half of his annual base salary, plus a prorated portion of his annual target bonus
(calculated based on the achievement of bonus targets as of the qualifying termination date and based on the number of days worked during the
bonus period), plus six months of COBRA premiums; and accelerated vesting and immediate exercisability of 100% of all stock options awards.

If the termination of a named executive officer occurs outside of the two-year period following a change of control, the named executive officer will be
entitled to receive a lump sum payment equal to the sum of half of his annual base salary, plus a prorated portion of his annual target bonus
(calculated based on the achievement of bonus targets as of the qualifying termination date and based on the number of days worked during the
bonus period), plus six months of COBRA premiums.
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2019 Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End

The following table presents, for each of our named executive officers, information regarding outstanding stock options held as of December 31,
2019.

Option Awards

Number of Number of
Securities Securities
Underlying Underlying
Unexercised Unexercised Option
Options Options Exercise Option
Exercisable Unexercisable Price Expiration Vesting
Name Grant Date (#) (#) (%) Date Commencement Date
Rajeev K. Goel 07/08/2016(" 1,250,000 — 1.11 07/07/2026 08/01/2016
05/02/2017@® 283,333 116,667 2.15 05/01/2027 02/01/2017
03/14/20182® 167,708 182,292 3.89 03/13/2028 01/01/2018
05/21/2019@® 57,292 192,708 2.97 05/20/2029 01/01/2019
Amar K. Goel 05/02/2017@® 106,250 43,750 2.15 05/01/2027 02/01/2017
03/14/2018@® 126,979 138,021 3.89 03/13/2028 01/01/2018
05/21/2019@® 21,771 73,229 2.97 05/20/2029 01/01/2019
Steven Pantelick 12/13/2011™M 532,344 — 1.50 12/12/2021 11/07/2011
07/08/2016(" 50,000 — 1.11 07/07/2026 08/01/2016
05/02/2017@®) 123,958 51,042 2.15 05/01/2027 02/01/2017
03/14/2018@ @) 95,833 104,167 3.89 03/13/2028 01/01/2018
05/21/2019@ @) 34,375 115,625 2.97 05/20/2029 01/01/2019

(1) Granted under our 2006 Stock Option Plan.
(2) Granted under our 2017 Equity Incentive Plan.

(3) Of the total award, 1/48th of the shares of Class B common stock underlying the stock option vest monthly beginning on the one-month
anniversary of the vesting commencement date, subject to the optionee’s continued service through the applicable vesting date.

Employee Benefit and Stock Plans

2006 Stock Option Plan

Our 2006 Stock Option Plan (2006 Plan) was adopted by our board of directors and stockholders in November 2006, and was last amended in June
2014. In connection with the adoption of the 2017 Equity Incentive Plan, the 2006 Plan was terminated, and accordingly, no further grants will be
made under the 2006 Plan. However, any outstanding awards granted under the 2006 Plan will remain outstanding, subject to the terms of the 2006
Plan and the applicable award agreements, until such awards are exercised or otherwise terminate or expire by their terms. The 2006 Plan provided
for the grant of both incentive stock options (ISOs), which qualify for favorable tax treatment to their recipients under Section 422 of the Code, and
nonstatutory stock options (NSOs), as well as for the issuance of shares of restricted stock. In the event of a merger or consolidation, the 2006 Plan
provides that stock options may be continued, assumed, substituted, cashed out, or fully accelerated and then canceled upon the consummation of
the merger or consolidation. Our board of directors, in its sole discretion, may provide in any award agreement for the accelerated vesting of awards.

As of December 31, 2019, options to purchase 3,568,699 shares of our Class B common stock remained outstanding and no shares of restricted

stock had been granted and remained outstanding under the 2006 Plan. The options outstanding as of December 31, 2019 had a weighted-average
exercise price of $1.29 per share.
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Options and granted under the 2006 Plan have terms similar to those described below with respect to options and restricted stock awards granted
under our 2017 Equity Incentive Plan.

2017 Equity Incentive Plan

Our 2017 Equity Incentive Plan (2017 Plan) was adopted by our compensation committee in February 2017 and by our stockholders in August 2017.
The 2017 Plan provides for the grant of both ISOs and NSOs, as well as for the issuance of shares of restricted stock and grants of restricted stock
units or stock appreciation rights. We may grant ISOs only to our employees. We may grant NSOs, restricted stock units and restricted stock awards
to our employees, directors and consultants. The exercise price of each stock option will generally be at least equal to the fair market value of our
Class B common stock on the date of grant. If, at the time of the option grant, the optionee directly or by attribution owns stock and possesses more
than 10% of the total combined voting power of all classes of our stock, or 10% stockholder, the exercise price must be at least 110% of the fair
market value of our Class B common stock on the date of grant, as determined by our board of directors. The maximum permitted term of options
and restricted stock units granted under our 2017 Plan is ten years, except that the maximum permitted term of incentive stock options granted to
10% stockholders is five years. In the event of a merger or consolidation, the 2017 Plan provides that stock options and restricted stock units may be
continued, assumed, substituted, cashed out or canceled for no consideration upon the consummation of the merger or consolidation. Our
compensation committee, in its sole discretion, may provide in any award agreement for the accelerated vesting of awards.

As of December 31, 2019, options to purchase 4,057,753 shares of our Class B common stock remained outstanding, and no restricted stock units,
stock appreciation rights, or shares of restricted stock had been granted and remained outstanding under the 2017 Plan. The options outstanding as
of December 31, 2019 had a weighted-average exercise price of $3.01 per share. We will cease issuing awards under our 2017 Plan upon the
implementation of our 2020 Equity Incentive Plan. As a result, we will not grant any additional awards under the 2017 Plan following the date of this
prospectus, and the 2017 Plan will terminate at that time. However, any outstanding awards granted under the 2017 Plan will remain outstanding,
subject to the terms of our 2017 Plan and award agreements, until any such outstanding options are exercised or the awards terminate or expire by
their terms. Options, restricted stock units, and restricted stock awards granted under the 2017 Plan have terms similar to those described below
with respect to options, restricted stock units, and restricted stock awards to be granted under our 2020 Equity Incentive Plan.

2020 Equity Incentive Plan
In 2020, our board of directors adopted our 2020 Equity Incentive Plan (2020 Plan), that will become effective on the date immediately
prior to the date of the effectiveness of the registration of which this prospectus forms a part and will serve as the successor to our 2017 Plan. Our
2020 Plan authorizes the award of stock options, RSAs, SARs, RSUs, performance awards, and stock bonus awards. We have initially reserved
shares of our Class A common stock, plus any reserved shares not issued or subject to outstanding grants under the 2017 Plan on the
effective date of the 2020 Plan, for issuance pursuant to awards granted under our 2020 Plan. The number of shares reserved for issuance under
our 2020 Plan will increase automatically on January 1 of each of 2021 through 2030 by the number of shares equal to the lesser of % of the
aggregate number of outstanding shares of our Class A common and Class B common stock as of the immediately preceding December 31, or a
number as may be determined by our board of directors.

In addition, the following shares will again be available for issuance pursuant to awards granted under our 2020 Plan:

m  shares subject to options or SARs granted under our 2020 Plan that cease to be subject to the option or SAR for any reason other than
exercise of the option or SAR;

m shares subject to awards granted under our 2020 Plan that are subsequently forfeited or repurchased by us at the original issue price;
shares subject to awards granted under our 2020 Plan that otherwise terminate without such shares being issued;

shares subject to awards granted under our 2020 Plan that are surrendered, cancelled or exchanged for cash or a different award (or
combination thereof);
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m  shares issuable upon the exercise of options granted under our 2017 Plan that cease to be subject to such options, by forfeiture after the
effective date of the 2020 Plan;

m  shares subject to awards granted under our 2017 Plan that are forfeited or repurchased by us at the original price after the termination of the
2017 Plan; and

m  shares subject to awards under our 2017 Plan or our 2020 Plan that are used to pay the exercise price of an option or withheld to satisfy the
tax withholding obligations related to any award.

Administration. Our 2020 Plan is expected to be administered by our compensation committee, all of the members of which are outside directors as
defined under applicable federal tax laws, or by our board of directors acting in place of our compensation committee. Subject to the terms and
conditions of the 2020 Plan, the compensation committee will have the authority, among other things, to select the persons to whom awards may be
granted, construe and interpret our 2020 Plan as well as to determine the terms of such awards and prescribe, amend and rescind the rules and
regulations relating to the plan or any award granted thereunder. The 2020 Plan provides that the board or compensation committee may delegate
its authority, including the authority to grant awards, to one or more executive officers to the extent permitted by applicable law, provided that awards
granted to non-employee directors may only be determined by our board of directors.

Eligibility. Our 2020 Plan provides for the grant of awards to our employees, directors, consultants, independent contractors and advisors. No non-
employee director may receive awards under our 2020 Plan that, when combined with cash compensation received for service as a non-
employee director, exceeds $ in a calendar year or $ in the calendar year of his or her initial services as a non-employee director with us.

Options. The 2020 Plan provides for the grant of both incentive stock options intended to qualify under Section 422 of the Code, and non-

statutory stock options to purchase shares of our Class A common stock. Incentive stock options may only be granted to employees, including

officers and directors who are also employees. The exercise price of stock options granted under the 2020 Plan must be at least equal to the fair

market value of our Class A common stock on the date of grant. Incentive stock options granted to an individual who holds, directly or by attribution,

more than ten percent of the total combined voting power of all classes of our capital stock must have an exercise price of at least 110% the fair

market value of our Class A common stock on the date of grant. Subject to stock splits, dividends, recapitalizations or similar events, no more than
shares may be issued pursuant to the exercise of incentive stock options granted under the 2020 Plan.

Options may vest based on service or achievement of performance conditions. Our compensation committee may provide for options to be
exercised only as they vest or to be immediately exercisable, with any shares issued on exercise being subject to our right of repurchase that lapses
as the shares vest. In the event of a participant's termination of service, an option is generally exercisable, to the extent vested, for a period of 3
months in the case of a termination other than for cause or 12 months in the case of a termination due to the participant’s death or disability, or such
longer or shorter time as the administrator may provide, but in any event no later than the expiration date of the stock option. Stock options generally
terminate upon a participant’s termination of employment for cause. The maximum term of options granted under our 2020 Plan is ten years from the
date of grant, except that the maximum permitted term of incentive stock options granted to an individual who holds, directly or by attribution, more
than ten percent of the total combined voting power of all classes of our capital stock is five years from the date of grant.

Restricted Stock Awards. An RSA is an offer by us to grant or sell shares of our Class A common stock subject to restrictions, which may lapse
based on the satisfaction of service or achievement of performance conditions. The price, if any, of an RSA will be determined by the compensation
committee. Holders of RSAs will have the right to vote and any dividends or stock distributions paid pursuant to unvested RSAs will be accrued and
paid when the restrictions on such shares lapse. Unless otherwise determined by the compensation committee at the time of award, vesting will
cease on the date the participant no longer provides services to us and unvested shares will be forfeited to or repurchased by us.

Stock Appreciation Rights. An SAR provides for a payment, in cash or shares of our Class A common stock (up to a specified maximum number of
shares, if determined by our compensation committee), to the holder based upon the difference between the fair market value of our Class A
common stock on the date of exercise and a predetermined exercise price, multiplied by the number of shares. The exercise price of a SAR must be
at least the fair market value of a share of our Class A common stock on the date of grant. SARs may vest based on
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service or achievement of performance conditions, and may not have a term that is longer than ten years from the date of grant.

Restricted Stock Units. RSUs represent the right to receive shares of our Class A common stock at a specified date in the future, and may be
subject to vesting based on service or achievement of performance conditions. Payment of earned RSUs will be made following vesting as provided
in the applicable award agreement, and may be settled in cash, shares of our Class A common stock or a combination of both. No RSU may have a
term that is longer than ten years from the date of grant.

Performance Awards. Performance awards granted pursuant to the 2020 Plan may be in the form of a cash bonus, or an award of performance
shares or performance units denominated in shares of our Class A common stock, that may be settled in cash, property or by issuance of those
shares subject to the satisfaction of achievement of specified performance conditions.

Stock Bonus Awards. A stock bonus award provides for payment in the form of cash, shares of our Class A common stock or a combination thereof,
based on the fair market value of shares subject to such award as determined by our compensation committee. The awards may be granted as
consideration for services already rendered, or at the discretion of the compensation committee, may be subject to vesting restrictions based on
continued service or performance conditions.

Dividend Equivalents Rights. Dividend equivalent rights may be granted at the discretion of our compensation committee, and represent the right to
receive the value of dividends, if any, paid by us in respect of the number of shares of our Class A common stock underlying an award. Dividend
equivalent rights will be subject to the same vesting or performance conditions as the underlying award and will be paid only at such time as the
underlying award has become fully vested. Dividend equivalent rights may be settled in cash, shares or other property, or a combination of thereof
as determined by the compensation committee.

Change of Control. Our 2020 Plan provides that, in the event of a corporate transaction, as defined in the 2020 Plan, outstanding awards under our
2020 Plan shall be subject to the agreement evidencing the corporate transaction, any or all outstanding awards may be (a) continued by us, if we
are the successor entity; or (b) assumed or substituted by the successor corporation, or a parent or subsidiary of the successor corporation, for
substantially equivalent awards (including, but not limited to, a payment in cash or the right to acquire the same consideration paid to the
stockholders of the company pursuant to the corporate transaction), in each case after taking into account appropriate adjustments for the number
and kind of shares and exercise prices.

The successor corporation may also issue, as replacement of outstanding shares of the company held by a participant, substantially similar shares
or other property subject to repurchase restrictions no less favorable to the participant. In the event such successor corporation refuses to assume,
substitute or replace any award, then each such award shall become fully vested and, as applicable, exercisable and any rights of repurchase or
forfeiture restrictions thereon shall lapse, immediately prior to the consummation of the corporate transaction. If an award vests in lieu of assumption
or substitution in connection with a corporate transaction as provided above, the board or committee will notify the holder of such award in writing or
electronically that such award will be exercisable for a period of time determined by the board or compensation committee in its sole discretion, and
such award will terminate upon the expiration of such period without consideration. Any determinations by the board or compensation committee
need not treat all outstanding awards in an identical manner, and shall be final and binding on each applicable participant.

Adjustment. In the event of a change in the number of outstanding shares of our Class A common stock without consideration by reason of a stock
dividend, extraordinary dividend or distribution, recapitalization, stock split, reverse stock split, subdivision, combination, consolidation
reclassification, spin-off or similar change in our capital structure, appropriate proportional adjustments will be made to the number of shares
reserved for issuance under our 2020 Plan; the exercise prices, number and class of shares subject to outstanding options or SARs; the number and
class of shares subject to other outstanding awards; and any applicable maximum award limits with respect to incentive stock options.

Exchange, Repricing and Buyout of Awards. The board or compensation committee may, without prior stockholder approval, (i) reduce the

exercise price of outstanding options or SARs without the consent of any participant and (ii) pay cash or issue new awards in exchange for the
surrender and cancellation of any, or all,
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outstanding awards, subject to the consent of any affected participant to the extent required by the terms of the 2020 Plan.

Director Compensation Limits. No non-employee director may receive awards under our 2020 Plan with a grant date value that when combined
with cash compensation received for his or her service as a director, exceed $ in a calendar year or $ in the calendar year of his or her initial
services as a non-employee director on our board of directors.

Clawback; Transferability. All awards will be subject to clawback or recoupment pursuant to any compensation clawback or recoupment policy
adopted by our board of directors (or a committee thereof) or required by law during the term of service of the award holder, to the extent set forth in
such policy or applicable agreement. Except in limited circumstances, awards granted under our 2020 Plan may generally not be transferred in any
manner prior to vesting other than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution.

Sub-Plans. Subject to the terms of the 2020 Plan, the plan administrator may establish a sub-plan under the 2020 Plan and/or modify the terms of
awards granted to participants outside of the United States to comply with any the laws or regulations applicable to any such jurisdiction.

Amendment and Termination. Our board of directors may amend our 2020 Plan at any time, subject to stockholder approval as may be required. Our
2020 Plan will terminate ten years from the date our board of directors adopts the plan, unless it is terminated earlier by our board of directors. No
termination or amendment of the 2020 Plan may adversely affect any then-outstanding award without the consent of the affected participant, except
as is necessary to comply with applicable laws or as otherwise provided by the terms of the 2020 Plan.

2020 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In 2020, our board of directors adopted and our stockholders approved our 2020 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP), that will become
effective upon the effectiveness of the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part in order to enable eligible employees to purchase
shares of our Class A common stock with accumulated payroll deductions. Our ESPP is intended to qualify under Section 423 of the Code, provided
that the administrator may adopt sub-plans under the ESPP designed to be outside of the scope of Section 423 for participants who are non-U.S.
residents.

Shares Available. We have initially reserved shares of our Class A common stock for sale under our ESPP. The aggregate number of shares
reserved for sale under our ESPP will increase automatically on January 1st of each of the first ten calendar years after the first offering date under
the ESPP by the number of shares equal to the lesser of % of the total outstanding shares of our Class A common stock and Class B common stock
as of the immediately preceding December 31 (rounded to the nearest whole share) or a number of shares as may be determined by our board of
directors in any particular year. The aggregate number of shares issued over the term of our ESPP, subject to stock-splits, recapitalizations or similar
events, may not exceed shares of our Class A common stock.

Administration. Our compensation committee will administer our ESPP subject to the terms and conditions of the ESPP. Among other things, the
compensation committee will have the authority to determine eligibility for participation in the ESPP, designate separate offerings under the plan, and
construe, interpret and apply the terms of the plan.

Eligibility. Employees eligible to participate in any offering pursuant to the ESPP generally include any employee that is employed by us (including
certain employees of subsidiaries if so designated in the future) at the beginning of each offering period. However, our compensation committee may
determine that employees who have been employed for less than 2 years, are customarily employed for 20 hours or less per week or for five months
or less in a calendar year, or certain highly-compensated employees, as determined in accordance with applicable tax laws, are not eligible to
participate in the ESPP. In addition, any employee who owns (or is deemed to own as a result of attribution) 5% or more of the total combined voting
power or value of all classes of our capital stock, or the capital stock of one of our qualifying subsidiaries, or who will own such amount as a result of
participation in the ESPP, will not be eligible to participate in the ESPP. The compensation committee may impose additional restrictions on eligibility
from time to time subject to compliance with applicable law.
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Offerings. Under our ESPP, eligible employees will be offered the option to purchase shares of our Class A common stock at a discount over a
series of offering periods. Each offering period may itself consist of one or more purchase periods. No offering period may be longer than 27 months.

Participation. Participating employees will be able to purchase the offered shares of our Class A common stock by accumulating funds through
payroll deductions. Participants may select a rate of payroll deduction between 1% and 15% of their compensation. However, a participant may not
purchase more than shares during any one purchase period, and may not subscribe for more than $25,000 in fair market value of shares of our
Class A common stock (determined as of the date the offering period commences) in any calendar year in which the offering is in effect. Our
compensation committee, in its discretion, may set a lower maximum amount of shares which may be purchased.

The purchase price for shares of our common stock purchased under the ESPP will be 85% of the lesser of the fair market value of our Class A
common stock on (i) the first trading day of the applicable offering period or (ii) the last trading day of each purchase period in the applicable offering
period.

Once an employee becomes a participant in an offering period, the participant will be automatically enrolled in each subsequent offering period at
the same contribution level. A participant may reduce his or her contribution in accordance with procedures set forth by the compensation committee
and may withdraw from participation in the ESPP at any time prior the end of an offering period, or such other time as may be specified by the
compensation committee. Upon withdrawal, the accumulated payroll deductions will be returned to the participant without interest.

Adjustments upon Recapitalization. If the number of outstanding shares of our Class A common stock is changed by stock dividend, recapitalization,
stock split, reverse stock split, subdivision, combination, reclassification or similar change in our capital structure without consideration, then our
compensation committee will proportionately adjust the number of shares of Class A common stock and class of shares that are available under the
ESPP, the purchase price and number of shares any participant has elected to purchase as well as the maximum number of shares which may be
purchased by each participant.

Corporate Transaction. If we experience a corporate transaction (as defined in the ESPP), any offering period that commenced prior to the closing of
the proposed corporate transaction will be shortened and terminated on a new purchase date. The new purchase date will occur on or prior to the
closing of the proposed corporate transaction, and our ESPP will then terminate on the closing of the proposed corporate transaction.

Transferability. A participant may not assign, transfer, pledge or otherwise dispose of payroll deductions credited to his or her account, or any rights
with regard to an election to purchase shares pursuant to the ESPP other than by will or the laws of descent or distribution.

Amendment; Termination. The compensation committee may amend, suspend or terminate the ESPP at any time without stockholder consent,
except to the extent such amendment would increase the number of shares available for issuance under the ESPP, change the class or designation
of employees eligible for participation in the plan or otherwise as required by law. If the ESPP is terminated, the compensation committee may elect
to terminate all outstanding offering periods immediately, upon the next purchase date (which may be sooner that originally scheduled) or upon the
last day of such offering period. If any offering period is terminated prior to its scheduled completion, all payroll deduction amounts credited to
participants which have not been used to purchase shares will be returned to participants as soon as administratively practicable. . Our ESPP
will continue until the earlier to occur of (a) termination of the ESPP by the Board, (b) issuance of all of the shares reserved for issuance under the
ESPP or (c) the tenth anniversary of the first purchase date under the ESPP.

401(k) Plan

We sponsor a broad-based 401(k) plan intended to provide eligible U.S. employees with an opportunity to defer eligible compensation up to certain
annual limits. As a tax-qualified retirement plan, contributions (if any) made by us are deductible by us when made, and contributions and earnings
on those amounts are generally not taxable to the employees until withdrawn or distributed from the 401(k) plan. Our named executive officers are
eligible to participate in our employee benefit plans, including our 401(k) plan, on the same basis as our other employees.
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Limitations on Liability and Indemnification Matters

Our restated certificate of incorporation that will become effective in connection with this offering contains provisions that will limit the liability of our
directors for monetary damages to the fullest extent permitted by the Delaware General Corporation Law (DGCL). Consequently, our directors will
not be personally liable to us or our stockholders for monetary damages for any breach of fiduciary duties as directors, except liability for:

any breach of the director’s duty of loyalty to us or our stockholders;

any act or omission not in good faith or that involves intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law;

unlawful payments of dividends or unlawful stock repurchases or redemptions as provided in Section 174 of the DGCL; or
any transaction from which the director derived an improper personal benefit.

Our restated certificate of incorporation and our restated bylaws, that will become effective in connection with this offering will require us to indemnify
our directors and officers to the maximum extent not prohibited by the DGCL and allow us to indemnify other employees and agents as set forth in
the DGCL. Subject to certain limitations, our restated bylaws will also require us to advance expenses incurred by our directors and officers for the
defense of any action for which indemnification is required or permitted, subject to very limited exceptions.

We have entered, and intend to continue to enter, into separate indemnification agreements with our directors, officers, and certain of our other
employees. These agreements, among other things, require us to indemnify our directors, officers, key employees, and some large stockholders for
certain expenses, including attorneys’ fees, judgments, fines, and settlement amounts actually and reasonably incurred by such director, officer or
key employee in any action or proceeding arising out of their service to us or any of our subsidiaries or any other company or enterprise to which the
person provides services at our request. Subject to certain limitations, our indemnification agreements also require us to advance expenses incurred
by our directors, officers, and key employees for the defense of any action for which indemnification is required or permitted.

We believe that these provisions in our restated certificate of incorporation and indemnification agreements are necessary to attract and retain
qualified persons such as directors, officers, and key employees. We also maintain directors’ and officers’ liability insurance.

The limitation of liability and indemnification provisions in our restated certificate of incorporation and restated bylaws may discourage stockholders
from bringing a lawsuit against our directors and officers for breaches of their fiduciary duties. They may also reduce the likelihood of derivative
litigation against our directors and officers, even though an action, if successful, might benefit us and other stockholders. Further, a stockholder’s
investment may be adversely affected to the extent that we pay the costs of settlement and damage awards against directors and officers as
required by these indemnification provisions.

At present, we are not aware of any pending litigation or proceeding arising out of any indemnitee’s service to us or any of our subsidiaries or any
other company or enterprise to which the person provides services at our request, involving any person who is or was one of our directors, officers,
employees or other agents or is or was serving at our request as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint
venture, trust or other enterprise, for which indemnification is sought, and we are not aware of any threatened litigation that may result in claims for
indemnification.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to directors, executive officers or persons controlling us, we

have been informed that in the opinion of the SEC such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is therefore
unenforceable.
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CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PERSON TRANSACTIONS

We describe below transactions and series of similar transactions since January 1, 2017, to which we were a party or will be a party, in which the
amounts involved exceeded or will exceed $0.1 million and any of our directors, executive officers or beneficial holders of more than 5% of any class
of our capital stock had or will have a direct or indirect material interest. Other than as described below, there have not been, nor are there any
currently proposed, transactions or series of similar transactions to which we have been or will be a party other than compensation arrangements,
which are described where required under “Executive Compensation.”

Transactions with Directors and Officers

The Goel Family Trust Promissory Note, Stock Pledge Agreement and Put Option Agreement

On August 30, 2018, we entered into a secured non-recourse promissory note and stock pledge agreement with The Goel Family Trust dated
September 25, 2012 (The Goel Family Trust), a trust controlled by Rajeev K. Goel, our co-founder and Chief Executive Officer, and a put option
agreement with Mr. Goel (collectively, the Goel Family Trust Transaction Documents). Pursuant to The Goel Family Trust Transaction Documents,
we purchased from The Goel Family Trust a promissory note in the principal amount of $3.0 million. This promissory note is due on August 30, 2021,
bears interest at the rate of 2.42% per annum and is secured by the stock pledge agreement. The stock pledge agreement provides, among other
things that 1,200,000 shares of our common stock held by The Goel Family Trust are pledged to us to secure the payment and performance of the
obligations of The Goel Family Trust under the promissory note. The put option agreement provides, among other things, that if Mr. Goel repays the
promissory note with shares subject to the pledge agreement and incurs income and/or capital gains tax obligations resulting from the surrender and
cancellation of such shares, then Mr. Goel shall have the right to cause us to purchase the minimum number of shares of our common stock
necessary to cover such tax obligation at a price equal to the fair market value of such shares on the date of sale. The Goel Family Trust intends to
repay the promissory note prior to the filing of the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part.

The Blue Rock Trust Promissory Note, Stock Pledge Agreement and Put Option Agreement

On August 30, 2018, we entered into a secured non-recourse promissory note and stock pledge agreement with the Blue Rock Trust, N/A (the Blue
Rock Trust), a trust controlled by Amar K. Goel, our co-founder and Chairman and a put option agreement with Mr. Goel (collectively, the Blue Rock
Trust Transaction Documents). Pursuant to the Blue Rock Trust Transaction Documents, we purchased from the Blue Rock Trust a promissory note
in the principal amount of $1.0 million. This promissory note is due on August 30, 2021, bears interest at the rate of 2.42% per annum and is secured
by the stock pledge agreement. The stock pledge agreement provides, among other things that 400,000 shares of our common stock held by the
Blue Rock Trust are pledged to us to secure the payment and performance of the obligations of the Blue Rock Trust under the promissory note. The
put option agreement provides, among other things, that if Mr. Goel repays the promissory note with shares subject to the pledge agreement and
incurs income and/or capital gains tax obligations resulting from the surrender and cancellation of such shares, then Mr. Goel shall have the right to
cause us to purchase the minimum number of shares of our common stock necessary to cover such tax obligation at a price equal to the fair market
value of such shares on the date of sale. The Blue Rock Trust repaid the promissory note on September 9, 2020.

Repurchase of Shares from Mukul Kumar

On November 20, 2018, we entered into a stock repurchase agreement with Mukul Kumar, one of our executive officers, pursuant to which we
repurchased 70,000 shares of our common stock at an aggregate purchase price of approximately $0.3 million, or $3.89 per share.
Indemnification Agreements

We have entered or will enter into indemnification agreements with each of our directors and executive officers. The indemnification agreements and
our restated bylaws will require us to indemnify our directors to the fullest extent not prohibited by Delaware General Corporation Law. Subject to
very limited exceptions, our restated bylaws will also require us to advance expenses incurred by our directors and officers. For more information
regarding these agreements, see “Executive Compensation—Limitations on Liability and Indemnification Matters.”

109



Policies and Procedures for Related-Person Transactions

We intend to adopt a written related-person transactions policy, effective upon completion of this offering, under which we will be prohibited from
entering into any transaction or series of transaction where amounts involved will exceed $0.1 million or that we otherwise determine to be a material
transaction with any of our executive officers, directors, nominees for election as a director, beneficial owners of more than 5% of any series of our
common stock, and any members of the immediate family of the foregoing persons without the review and approval of our audit committee, or a
committee composed solely of independent directors in the event it is inappropriate for our audit committee to review such transaction due to a
conflict of interest. We expect the policy to provide that any request for us to enter into any such transaction with any related person will be
presented to our audit committee for review, consideration, and approval. In approving or rejecting any such proposal, we expect that our audit
committee will consider the relevant facts and circumstances available and deemed relevant to the audit committee, including, but not limited to,
whether the transaction is on terms no less favorable than terms generally available to an unaffiliated third party under the same or similar
circumstances and the extent of the related person’s interest in the transaction.

Although historically we have not had a written policy for the review and approval of transactions with related persons, our board of directors has
reviewed and approved any transaction where a director or officer had a financial interest, including the transactions described above. Before
approving such a transaction, the material facts as to a director’s or officer’s relationship or interest as to the agreement or transaction were
disclosed to our board of directors. Our board of directors would take this information into account when evaluating the transaction and in
determining whether such transaction was fair to us and in the best interest of all of our stockholders.
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PRINCIPAL AND SELLING STOCKHOLDERS

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to the beneficial ownership of our common stock as of June 30, 2020, and as adjusted
to reflect the sale of Class A common stock in this offering, for:

each of our directors;

each of our named executive officers;

all of our current directors and executive officers as a group;

each person, or group of affiliated persons, who beneficially owned more than 5% of our common stock; and
each selling stockholder.

We have determined beneficial ownership in accordance with the rules of the SEC, and the information is not necessarily indicative of beneficial
ownership for any other purpose. Except as indicated by the footnotes below, we believe, based on information furnished to us, that the persons and
entities named in the table below have sole voting and sole investment power with respect to all shares of common stock that they beneficially
owned, subject to applicable community property laws.

Applicable percentage ownership is based on no shares of Class A common stock and 45,153,115 shares of our Class B common stock outstanding
as of June 30, 2020 and assumes the conversion of all outstanding shares of convertible preferred stock into an aggregate of 33,443,969 shares of
our Class B common stock. Percentage ownership of our common stock after this also assumes the sale by us and the selling stockholders of

shares of Class A common stock in this offering. For purposes of the table below, we have assumed that shares of Class A common
stock will be issued by us in this offering. In computing the number of shares of common stock beneficially owned by a person and the percentage
ownership of that person, we deemed to be outstanding all shares of common stock subject to options held by that person or entity that are currently
exercisable or that will become exercisable within 60 days of June 30, 2020. We did not deem these shares outstanding, however, for the purpose of
computing the percentage ownership of any other person. Unless otherwise indicated, the address of each beneficial owner listed in the table below
is c/o PubMatic, Inc., 3 Lagoon Drive, Suite 180, Redwood City, California 94065.
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Class B

Shares Beneficially v % Total Shares Beneficially Owned After this Offering 70 Total
Owned Before this Offering ;2?3:3:5 Class A Class B Vo:frt\grlit’;:i\ger
Name of Beneficial Owner Shares Offering" Shares % Shares % Offering"
Directors and Named Executive
Officers:
Rajeev K. Goel®? 4,911,761 10.4 104 —
Amar K. Goel® 5,751,996 12.6 12.6 —
Steven Pantelick®) 953,178 2.1 2.1 —
Cathleen Black® 89,577 * * —
W. Eric Carlborg® 7,173,750 15.9 15.9 —
Ashish Gupta(® 8,502,661 18.8 18.8 —
Narendra Gupta® 11,624,843 25.8 25.8 —
All executive officers and directors as a
group (10 persons)®) 40,002,244 81.2 81.2 —
Other 5% Stockholders:
Nexus India Capital I, LP® 11,624,843 25.8 25.8 —
Helion Venture Partners, LLC() 8,502,661 18.8 18.8 —
August Capital V Special
Opportunities, L.P.©) 7,173,750 15.9 15.9 —
Entities affiliated with Draper Fisher
Jurvetson(10) 4,129,829 9.1 9.1 —

Other Selling Stockholders:

* Represents beneficial ownership of less than one percent.

(1) Percentage of total voting power represents voting power with respect to all shares of our Class A and Class B common stock, as a single class.
The holders of our Class B common stock are entitled to votes per share, and holders of our Class A common stock are entitled to one vote per
share. See the section titled “Description of Capital Stock—Common Stock” for additional information about the voting rights of our Class A and

Class B common stock.

(2) Consists of (i) 1,695,097 shares held by Rajeev K. Goel and Ruchi Goel, Trustees of the Goel Family Trust dated September 25, 2012, (ii)
354,562 shares held by Rajeev K. Goel, Trustee of the Rajeev Kumar Goel 2016 Annuity Trust A dated November 10, 2016, (iii) 354,562 shares
held by Rajeev Kumar Goel, Trustee of the Ruchi Goel 2016 Annuity Trust A dated November 10, 2016, (iv) 262,854 shares held by Mr. Goel as
custodian for the benefit of his child under the California Uniform Transfers to Minors Act, (v) 232,186 shares held by Mr. Goel as custodian for
the benefit of his child under the California Uniform Transfers to Minors Act, and (vi) 2,012,500 shares subject to options held by Mr. Goel that
are exercisable within 60 days of June 30, 2020.

(3) Consists of (i) 1,000,000 shares held by Amar K. Goel, (ii) 1,000,000 shares held by Mr. Goel’'s spouse, (iii) 1,321,304 shares held by The RAJN
Trust, (iii) 1,695,538 shares held by The Birchwood Trust, (iv) 232,186 shares held by Amar K. Goel as custodian for the benefit of his child
under the California Uniform Transfers to Minors Act, (iv) 155,676 shares held by Amar K. Goel as custodian for the benefit of his child
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under the California Uniform Transfers to Minors Act, and (v) 347,292 shares subject to options held by Mr. Goel that are exercisable within 60
days of June 30, 2020.

(4) Consists of 953,178 shares subject to options held by Mr. Pantelick that are exercisable within 60 days of June 30, 2020.

(5) Consists of 14,577 shares held by Ms. Black, and 75,000 shares subject to options held by Ms. Black that are exercisable within 60 days of June
30, 2020.

(6) Consists of 7,173,750 shares held by August Capital V Special Opportunities, L.P., as nominee for August Capital V Special Opportunities, L.P.,
August Capital Strategic Partners V, L.P. and related individuals (collectively, the August Capital Funds). August Capital Management V, L.L.C. is
the general partner of the August Capital Funds and may be deemed to have sole voting power and sole investment power over the shares held
by the August Capital Funds. Howard Hartenbaum and David M. Hornik, members of our board of directors, are the members of August Capital
Management V, L.L.C. and may be deemed to share voting and investment power with respect to the shares held by the August Capital Funds.
The address for the August Capital Funds is PMB #456, 660 4th Street, San Francisco, California 94107.

(7) Consists of 8,502,661 shares held by Helion Venture Partners, LLC (HVP LLC). The general partner of HVP LLC is Helion Investment
Management LLC (HIM LLC), of which KS Holdings Global Ltd. (KS Holdings), SA Holdings Global Ltd. (SA Holdings), and the Gupta Goyal
Revocable Trust (Goyal Trust) are members. Kanwaljit Singh has sole voting and investment power with respect to the shares held by KS
Holdings, and Sanjeev Aggarwal has sole voting and investment power with respect to the shares held by SA Holdings. Ashish Gupta, a
member of our board of directors, and Nita Goyal share voting and investment power with respect to the shares held by the Goyal Trust.
Accordingly, Kanwaljit Singh, Sanjeev Aggarwal, Ashish Gupta, and Nita Goyal may be deemed to share voting and investment power over
these shares. The address for HVP LLC is IQ EQ Fund Services (Mauritius) Ltd., 33 Edith Cavell Street, Port Louis 11324.

(8) Consists of 11,624,843 shares held by Nexus India Capital |, L.P., a Cayman Islands exempted limited partnership (Nexus Capital). The sole
general partner of Nexus Capital is Nexus India Management |, L.P., a Cayman Islands exempted limited partnership (Nexus Management), and
the sole general partner of Nexus Management is Nexus India Master Management |, Ltd., a Cayman Islands exempted company (Nexus
Master). Narendra Gupta, a member of our board of directors, holds sole voting, and investment power in Nexus Master, and thus may be
deemed to hold sole voting and investment power over these shares. The address for each of the Nexus entities is 3000 Sand Hill Road,
Building 1, Suite 260, Menlo Park, CA 94025.

(9) Consists of (i) 35,874,796 shares and (ii) 4,127,448 shares subject to options held by executive officers and directors as a group.

(10)Consists of (i) 3,716,846 shares held by Draper Fisher Jurvetson Fund VIII, L.P. (Fund VIII), (ii) 321,329 shares held by Draper Associates, L.P.
(DALP), (iii) 82,597 shares held by Draper Fisher Jurvetson Partners VIII, LLC (Partners VIII), (iv) 4,909 shares held by Draper Associates
Riskmasters Fund II, LLC (DAREF ll), and (v) 4,148 shares held by Draper Associates Riskmasters Fund I, LLC (DAREF llI). Timothy C. Draper
and John H.N. Fisher are Managing Directors of the general partner entities of Fund VIl that directly hold shares and as such, they may be
deemed to have voting and investment power with respect to such shares. Partners VIl invests lockstep alongside Fund VIIl. The Managing
Members of Partners VIII are Timothy C. Draper and John H.N. Fisher. DALP invests lockstep alongside Fund VIII. The General Partner of
DALP is Draper Management Company, LLC (DMC). The Managing Member of DMC is Timothy C. Draper. DARF Il and DAREF Il invest
lockstep alongside Fund VIII. The Managing Member of DARF Il and DAREF Il is Timothy C. Draper. The address for the Draper Fischer
Jurvetson entities is 2882 Sand Hill Road, Suite 150 Menlo Park, CA 94025. The address for DALP, DARF Il and DAREF Il is 55 East 3rd
Avenue, San Mateo, CA 94401.
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DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK

The following description summarizes the most important terms of our capital stock, as they will be in effect following this offering. Because it is only
a summary, it does not contain all the information that may be important to you. We expect to adopt a restated certificate of incorporation and
restated bylaws that will become effective immediately prior to the completion of this offering, and this description summarizes provisions that are
expected to be included in these documents. For a complete description, you should refer to our restated certificate of incorporation and restated
bylaws, which are included as exhibits to the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part, and to the applicable provisions of
Delaware law.

Upon the completion of this offering, our authorized capital stock will consist of shares of Class A common stock, $0.0001 par value per
share, shares of Class B common stock, $0.0001 par value per share, and shares of undesignated preferred stock, $0.0001 par value
per share.

Pursuant to the provisions of our seventh amended and restated certificate of incorporation all of our outstanding convertible preferred stock will
automatically convert stock into common stock, effective upon the completion of this offering. Assuming the conversion of all outstanding shares of
our convertible preferred stock into shares of our Class B common stock, which will occur immediately prior to the completion of this offering, as of
December 31, 2019, there were no shares of our Class A common stock outstanding, 45,092,048 shares of our Class B common stock outstanding,
held by approximately 220 stockholders of record, and no shares of our convertible preferred stock outstanding.

Common Stock

Dividend Rights

Subject to preferences that may apply to any shares of convertible preferred stock outstanding at the time, the holders of our common stock are
entitled to receive dividends out of funds legally available if our board of directors, in its discretion, determines to issue dividends and then only at the
times and in the amounts that our board of directors may determine. See “Dividend Policy” above.

Voting Rights

Holders of our Class A common stock are entitled to one vote for each share of Class A common stock held on all matters submitted to a vote of
stockholders and holders of our Class B common stock are entitled to  votes for each share of Class B common stock held on all matters
submitted to a vote of stockholders. Holders of shares of our Class A common stock and Class B common stock vote together as a single class on
all matters (including the election of directors) submitted to a vote of stockholders, unless otherwise required by Delaware law or our restated
certificate of incorporation. Delaware law could require either holders of our Class A common stock or Class B common stock to vote separately as a
single class in the following circumstances:

m if we were to seek to amend our restated certificate of incorporation to increase or decrease the par value of a class of our capital stock,
then that class would be required to vote separately to approve the proposed amendment; and

m if we were to seek to amend our restated certificate of incorporation in a manner that alters or changes the powers, preferences, or special
rights of a class of our capital stock in a manner that affected its holders adversely, then that class would be required to vote separately to
approve the proposed amendment.

We have not provided for cumulative voting for the election of directors in our restated certificate of incorporation. Accordingly, holders of a majority
of the shares of our common stock will be able to elect all of our directors. Our restated certificate of incorporation establishes a classified board of
directors, to be divided into three classes with staggered three-year terms. Only one class of directors will be elected at each annual meeting of our
stockholders, with the other classes continuing for the remainder of their respective three-year terms.

No Preemptive or Similar Rights
Our common stock is not entitled to preemptive rights, and is not subject to redemption or sinking fund provisions.
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Right to Receive Liquidation Distributions

Upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding-up, the assets legally available for distribution to our stockholders would be distributable ratably among
the holders of our common stock and any participating convertible preferred stock outstanding at that time, subject to prior satisfaction of all
outstanding debt and liabilities and the preferential rights of and the payment of liquidation preferences, if any, on any outstanding shares of
convertible preferred stock.

Conversion

Each outstanding share of Class B common stock is convertible at any time at the option of the holder into one share of Class A common stock. In
addition, each share of Class B common stock will convert automatically into one share of Class A common stock upon any transfer, whether or not
for value, which occurs after the closing of this offering, except for certain permitted transfers described in our restated certificate of incorporation,
including transfers to family members, trusts solely for the benefit of the stockholder or their family members, and partnerships, corporations, and
other entities exclusively owned by the stockholder or their family members. Once converted or transferred and converted into Class A common
stock, the Class B common stock will not be reissued.

All the outstanding shares of Class B common stock will convert automatically into shares of Class A common stock upon
Following such conversion, each share of Class A common stock will have one vote per share and the rights of the holders of all outstandmg
common stock will be identical. Once converted into Class A common stock, the Class B common stock may not be reissued.

Preferred Stock

Pursuant to the provisions of our restated certificate of incorporation, all of our outstanding convertible preferred stock will automatically convert into
one share of Class B common stock, with such conversion to be effective immediately before the completion of this offering. As a result, we will have
no shares of preferred stock outstanding immediately following the completion of this offering.

Following the completion of this offering, our board of directors will be authorized, subject to limitations prescribed by the Delaware General
Corporation Law, to issue preferred stock in one or more series, to establish from time to time the number of shares to be included in each series
and to fix the designation, powers, preferences, and rights of the shares of each series and any of its qualifications, limitations or restrictions, in each
case without further vote or action by our stockholders. Our board of directors may increase or decrease the number of shares of any series of
preferred stock, but not below the number of shares of that series then outstanding, without any further vote or action by our stockholders. Our board
of directors may authorize the issuance of preferred stock with voting or conversion rights that could adversely affect the voting power or other rights
of the holders of our common stock. The issuance of preferred stock, while providing flexibility in connection with possible acquisitions and other
corporate purposes, could, among other things, have the effect of delaying, deferring, or preventing a change in control of our company and might
adversely affect the market price of our Class A common stock and the voting and other rights of the holders of our common stock. We have no
current plan to issue any shares of preferred stock.

Options

As of December 31, 2019, we had outstanding options to purchase an aggregate of 7,626,452 shares of our Class B common stock, with a
weighted-average exercise price of $2.20 per share.

Warrants

As of December 31, 2019, we had 18,216 shares of Class B common stock issuable upon exercise of warrants with a weighted-average exercise
price of $0.7999 per share. These warrants have since expired in accordance with their terms.

Registration Rights

Following the completion of this offering, the holders of an aggregate of shares of our Class B common stock or their permitted transferees
will be entitled to rights with respect to the registration of these shares under the Securities Act. These rights are provided under the terms of an
amended and restated investors’ rights
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agreement between us and the holders of these shares, which was entered into in connection with our convertible preferred stock financings, and
include demand registration rights, Form S-3 registration rights and piggyback registration rights. In any registration made pursuant to such
amended and restated investors’ rights agreement, all fees, costs, and expenses of underwritten registrations will be borne by us and all selling
expenses, including estimated underwriting discounts, selling commissions, and stock transfer taxes, will be borne by the holders of the shares
being registered.

The registration rights terminate five years following the completion of this offering or, with respect to any particular stockholder, at the time that
stockholder can sell all of its shares during any 90-day period pursuant to Rule 144 of the Securities Act.

Demand Registration Rights

The holders of an aggregate of shares of our common stock, or their permitted transferees, are entitled to demand registration rights. Under
the terms of the amended and restated investors’ rights agreement, we will be required, upon the written request of holders of at least a majority of
the shares that are entitled to registration rights under the amended and restated investors’ rights agreement, to register, as soon as practicable, all
or a portion of these shares for public resale, if the aggregate price to the public of the shares offered is at least $5.0 million. We are required to
effect only two registrations pursuant to this provision of the amended and restated investors’ rights agreement. We may postpone the filing of a
registration statement up to two times for up to 90 days in a 12-month period if our board of directors determines that the filing would be materially
detrimental to us. We are not required to effect a demand registration under certain additional circumstances specified in the amended and restated
investors’ rights agreement, including at any time earlier than 180 days after the effective date of this offering.

Form S-3 Registration Rights

The holders of an aggregate of shares of our common stock or their permitted transferees are also entitled to Form S-3 registration rights.
The holders representing at least 10 percent of the then-outstanding shares having registration rights can request that we register all or part of their
shares on Form S-3 if we are eligible to file a registration statement on Form S-3 and if the aggregate price to the public of the shares offered is at
least $1.0 million. The holders may only require us to effect at most two registration statements on Form S-3 in any 12-month period. We may
postpone the filing of a registration statement on Form S-3 no more than twice during any 12-month period, each for a period of not more than 90
days if our board of directors determines that the filing would be materially detrimental to us.

Piggyback Registration Rights

If we register any of our securities for public sale, holders of an aggregate of shares of our common stock or their permitted transferees
having registration rights will have the right to include their shares in the registration statement. However, this right does not apply to a registration
relating to employee benefit plans, a registration relating to a corporate reorganization or a registration related to the offer and sale of debt securities.
The underwriters of any underwritten offering will have the right to limit the number of shares registered by these holders if they determine that
marketing factors require limitation, in which case the number of shares to be registered will be apportioned, first, to the company for its own account
and second, pro rata among these holders, according to the total amount of securities entitled to be included by each holder. However, the number
of shares to be registered by these holders cannot be reduced below 30% of the total shares covered by the registration statement, other than in the
initial public offering.

Anti-Takeover Provisions

The provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law (DGCL), our restated certificate of incorporation, and our restated bylaws, as we expect
they will be in effect upon the completion of this offering, could have the effect of delaying, deferring or discouraging another person from acquiring
control of our company. These provisions, which are summarized below, are expected to discourage certain types of coercive takeover practices and
inadequate takeover bids and encourage persons seeking to acquire control of our company to first negotiate with our board of directors. We believe
that the benefits of increased protection of our potential ability to negotiate with an unfriendly or unsolicited acquirer outweigh the disadvantages of
discouraging a proposal to acquire us because negotiation of these proposals could result in an improvement of their terms.
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Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law

We are subject to the provisions of Section 203 of the DGCL regulating corporate takeovers. In general, Section 203 prohibits a publicly held
Delaware corporation from engaging in a “business combination” with an “interested stockholder” for a three-year period following the time that this
stockholder becomes an interested stockholder, unless the business combination is approved in a prescribed manner. Under Section 203, a
business combination between a corporation and an interested stockholder is prohibited unless it satisfies one of the following conditions:

Section

before the stockholder became interested, our board of directors approved either the business combination or the transaction which resulted
in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder;

upon consummation of the transaction which resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, the interested stockholder
owned at least 85% of the voting stock of the corporation outstanding at the time the transaction commenced, excluding for purposes of
determining the voting stock outstanding, shares owned by persons who are directors and also officers, and employee stock plans in some
instances, but not the outstanding voting stock owned by the interested stockholder; or

at or after the time the stockholder became interested, the business combination was approved by our board of directors and authorized at
an annual or special meeting of the stockholders by the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the outstanding voting stock which is not
owned by the interested stockholder.

203 defines a business combination to include:

any merger or consolidation involving the corporation and the interested stockholder;

any sale, transfer, lease, pledge or other disposition involving the interested stockholder of 10% or more of the assets of the corporation;
subject to exceptions, any transaction that results in the issuance of transfer by the corporation of any stock of the corporation to the
interested stockholder;

subject to exceptions, any transaction involving the corporation that has the effect of increasing the proportionate share of the stock of any
class or series of the corporation beneficially owned by the interested stockholder; and

the receipt by the interested stockholder of the benefit of any loans, advances, guarantees, pledges or other financial benefits provided by or
through the corporation.

In general, Section 203 defines an interested stockholder as any entity or person beneficially owning 15% or more of the outstanding voting stock of
the corporation and any entity or person affiliated with or controlling or controlled by the entity or person.

Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Restated Bylaw Provisions

Our restated certificate of incorporation and our restated bylaws will include a number of provisions that may have the effect of deterring hostile
takeovers, or delaying or preventing changes in control of our management team or changes in our board of directors or our governance or policy,
including the following:

Dual Class Common Stock. As described above in the section titled “—Common Stock—Voting Rights,” our restated certificate of
incorporation will provide for a dual class common stock structure pursuant to which holders of our Class B common stock will have the
ability to control the outcome of matters requiring stockholder approval, even if they own significantly less than a majority of the shares of
our outstanding Class A and Class B common stock, including the election of directors and significant corporate transactions, such as a
merger or other sale of our company or its assets. Current investors, executives, and employees will have the ability to exercise significant
influence over those matters.

Board Vacancies. Our restated bylaws and certificate of incorporation will authorize generally only our board of directors to fill vacant
directorships resulting from any cause or created by the expansion of our board of directors. In addition, the number of directors constituting
our board of directors may be set only by resolution adopted by a majority vote of our entire board of directors. These provisions prevent a
stockholder from increasing the size of our board of directors and gaining control of our board of directors by filling the resulting vacancies
with its own nominees.
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m  Classified Board. Our restated certificate of incorporation and restated bylaws will provide that our board of directors is classified into three
classes of directors. The existence of a classified board of directors could delay a successful tender offeror from obtaining majority control of
our board of directors, and the prospect of that delay might deter a potential offeror.

m  Stockholder Action. Our restated certificate of incorporation will provide that our stockholders may not take action by written consent, but
may only take action at annual or special meetings of our stockholders. Stockholders will not be permitted to cumulate their votes for the
election of directors. Our restated bylaws will further provide that special meetings of our stockholders may be called only by a majority of
our entire board of directors. We also anticipate that our restated bylaws will limit the business that may be conducted at an annual meeting
of stockholders to those matters properly brought before the meeting.

m  Holding Requirements for Stockholder Proposals and Director Nominations. Our restated bylaws will require continuous, beneficial
ownership of 1% of our common stock for one year for stockholders seeking to bring business before our annual meeting of stockholders or
to nominate candidates for election as directors at our annual meeting of stockholders. These provisions may delay or preclude our
stockholders from bringing matters before our annual meeting of stockholders and from making nominations for directors at our annual
meeting of stockholders.

m  Advance Notice Requirements for Stockholder Proposals and Director Nominations. Our restated bylaws will provide advance notice
procedures for stockholders seeking to bring business before our annual meeting of stockholders or to nominate candidates for election as
directors at our annual meeting of stockholders. Our restated bylaws also will specify certain requirements regarding the form and content of
a stockholder’s notice. These provisions may preclude our stockholders from bringing matters before our annual meeting of stockholders or
from making nominations for directors at our annual meeting of stockholders.

m  Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws. Certain amendments to our restated certificate of incorporation will require approval
by the holders of at least two-thirds of our outstanding common stock. An amendment to our bylaws will require the approval of a majority of
our entire board of directors or approval by the holders of at least two-thirds of our outstanding common stock.

m  /ssuance of Undesignated Preferred Stock. We anticipate that after the filing of our restated certificate of incorporation, our board of
directors will have the authority, without further action by the stockholders, to issue up to shares of undesignated preferred stock with
rights and preferences, including voting rights, designated from time to time by the board of directors. The existence of authorized but
unissued shares of preferred stock enables our board of directors to render more difficult or to discourage an attempt to obtain control of us
by means of a merger, tender offer, proxy contest or otherwise.

Choice of Forum

Our restated certificate of incorporation will provide that, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware will be
the exclusive forum for any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf; any action asserting a breach of fiduciary duty; any action
asserting a claim against us arising pursuant to the DGCL, our restated certificate of incorporation or our restated bylaws; or any action asserting a
claim against us that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine. Our restated bylaws will provide that the federal district courts of the United States
of America will, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be the exclusive forum for resolving any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the
Securities Act, which we refer to as a Federal Forum Provision. Our decision to adopt a Federal Forum Provision followed a decision by the
Supreme Court of the State of Delaware holding that such provisions are facially valid under Delaware law. While there can be no assurance that
federal courts or state courts will follow the holding of the Delaware Supreme Court or determine that the Federal Forum Provision should be
enforced in a particular case, application of the Federal Forum Provision means that suits brought by our stockholders to enforce any duty or liability
created by the Securities Act must be brought in federal court and cannot be brought in state court. While neither the exclusive forum provision nor
the Federal Forum Provision applies to suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Exchange Act, Section 27 of the Exchange Act
creates exclusive federal jurisdiction over all claims brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Exchange Act or the rules and regulations
thereunder. Accordingly, actions by our stockholders to enforce any duty or liability created by the Exchange Act or the rules and regulations
thereunder also must be brought in federal court. Our stockholders
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will not be deemed to have waived our compliance with the federal securities laws and the regulations promulgated thereunder. Any person or entity

purchasing or otherwise acquiring or holding any interest in any of our securities shall be deemed to have notice of and consented to our exclusive

forum provisions, including the Federal Forum Provision. These provisions may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum of their

choosing for disputes with us or our directors, officers or other employees, which may discourage lawsuits against us and our directors, officers, and

other employees.

Transfer Agent and Registrar

Upon the completion of this offering, the transfer agent and registrar for our Class A common stock will be . The transfer agent’s address is
, and its telephone number is

Exchange Listing

We intend to apply to list our Class A common stock on the under the symbol “PUBM.”
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SHARES ELIGIBLE FOR FUTURE SALE

Before this offering, there has been no public market for our Class A common stock, and we cannot predict the effect, if any, that market sales of
shares of our Class A common stock or the availability of shares of our Class A common stock for sale will have on the market price of our Class A
common stock prevailing from time to time. Nevertheless, sales of substantial amounts of our Class A common stock, including shares issued upon
exercise of outstanding options, in the public market following this offering could adversely affect market prices prevailing from time to time and could
impair our ability to raise capital through the sale of our equity securities.

Upon the completion of this offering, based on the 45,092,048 shares of our capital stock outstanding as of December 31, 2019, we will have a total
of shares of our Class A common stock outstanding and shares of our Class B common stock outstanding. Of these outstanding
shares, all of the shares of Class A common stock sold in this offering will be freely tradable, except that any shares purchased in this offering
by our affiliates, as that term is defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act, only would be able to be sold in compliance with the Rule 144
limitations described below. Shares of our Class B common stock are convertible into an equivalent number of shares of our Class A common stock
and generally convert into shares of our Class A common stock upon transfer.

The remaining outstanding shares of our common stock will be deemed “restricted securities” as defined in Rule 144. Restricted securities may be
sold in the public market only if they are registered under the Securities Act or if they qualify for an exemption from registration under Rule 144 or
Rule 701 promulgated under the Securities Act, which rules are summarized below. In addition, holders of substantially all of our outstanding equity
securities have entered into market standoff agreements with us or lock-up agreements with the underwriters under which they have agreed, subject
to specific exceptions, not to sell any of our stock for at least 180 days following the date of this prospectus, as described below. Subject to the
provisions of Rule 144 or Rule 701, shares will be available for sale in the public market as follows:

m  Beginning on the date of this prospectus, all of the shares sold in this offering will be immediately available for sale in the public market; and
m  Beginning 181 days after the date of this prospectus, additional shares will become eligible for sale in the public market, of which
shares will be held by affiliates and subject to the volume and other restrictions of Rule 144, as described below.

Lock-Up/Market Standoff Agreements

All of our directors, officers, selling stockholders, and holders of substantially all of our outstanding equity securities are subject to lock-up
agreements or market standoff provisions that prohibit them from offering for sale, selling, contracting to sell, granting any option for the sale of,
transferring or otherwise disposing of (whether by actual disposition or effective economic disposition due to cash settlement or otherwise) any
shares of our common stock or securities convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for any shares of our common stock, or establishing or
increasing a put equivalent position or liquidating or decreasing a call equivalent position with respect to such securities, or publicly disclosing the
intention to effect any such transaction, for a period of 180 days following the date of this prospectus without the prior written consent of Jefferies
LLC. These agreements are subject to certain customary exceptions. See “Underwriting.”

Rule 144

In general, under Rule 144 as currently in effect, once we have been subject to public company reporting requirements for at least 90 days, a person
who is not deemed to have been one of our affiliates for purposes of the Securities Act at any time during the 90 days preceding a sale and who has
beneficially owned the shares proposed to be sold for at least six months, including the holding period of any prior owner other than our affiliates, is
entitled to sell those shares without complying with the manner of sale, volume limitation or notice provisions of Rule 144, subject to compliance with
the public information requirements of Rule 144. If such a person has beneficially owned the shares proposed to be sold for at least one year,
including the holding period of any prior owner other than our affiliates, then that person would be entitled to sell those shares without complying with
any of the requirements of Rule 144.
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In general, under Rule 144, as currently in effect, our affiliates or persons selling shares on behalf of our affiliates are entitled to sell upon expiration
of the lock-up and market standoff agreements described above, within any three-month period, a number of shares that does not exceed the
greater of:

m 1% of the number of shares of our Class A common stock then outstanding, which will equal approximately shares
immediately after this offering; or

m the average weekly trading volume of our Class A common stock during the four calendar weeks preceding the filing of a notice on
Form 144 with respect to that sale.

Sales under Rule 144 by our affiliates or persons selling shares on behalf of our affiliates are also subject to certain manner of sale provisions and
notice requirements and to the availability of current public information about us. Notwithstanding the availability of Rule 144, the holders of
substantially all of our restricted securities have entered into lock-up agreements as referenced above and their restricted securities will become
eligible for sale (subject to the above limitations under Rule 144) upon the expiration of the restrictions set forth in those agreements.

Rule 701

Rule 701 generally allows a stockholder who purchased shares of our common stock pursuant to a written compensatory plan or contract and who is
not deemed to have been an affiliate of our company during the immediately preceding 90 days to sell these shares in reliance upon Rule 144, but
without being required to comply with the public information, holding period, volume limitation or notice provisions of Rule 144. Rule 701 also permits
affiliates of our company to sell their Rule 701 shares under Rule 144 without complying with the holding period requirements of Rule 144. All
holders of Rule 701 shares, however, are required by that rule to wait until 90 days after the date of this prospectus before selling those shares
pursuant to Rule 701.

Stock Options

As soon as practicable after the completion of this offering, we intend to file one or more registration statements on Form S-8 under the Securities
Act covering all of the shares of our Class B common stock subject to outstanding options and restricted stock units and the shares of Class A
common stock reserved for issuance under our equity incentive plans. In addition, we intend to file a registration statement on Form S-8 or such
other form as may be required under the Securities Act for the resale of shares of our common stock issued upon the exercise of options that were
not granted under Rule 701. We expect to file this registration statement as soon as permitted under the Securities Act. However, the shares
registered on Form S-8 may be subject to the volume limitations and the manner of sale, notice, and public information requirements of Rule 144
and will not be eligible for resale until expiration of the lock-up and market standoff agreements to which they are subject.

Registration Rights

We have granted demand, piggyback, and Form S-3 registration rights to certain of our stockholders to sell our common stock. Registration of the
sale of these shares under the Securities Act would result in these shares becoming freely tradable without restriction under the Securities Act
immediately upon the effectiveness of the registration, except for shares purchased by affiliates. For a further description of these rights, see
“Description of Capital Stock—Registration Rights.”
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MATERIAL U.S. FEDERAL TAX CONSEQUENCES TO NON-U.S. HOLDERS OF OUR CLASS A COMMON STOCK

The following summary describes the material U.S. federal income tax consequences of the ownership and disposition of our Class A common stock
acquired in this offering by Non-U.S. Holders (as defined below). This discussion does not address all aspects of U.S. federal income taxes, does
not discuss the potential application of the alternative minimum tax or the Medicare contribution tax on net investment income, and does not deal
with state or local taxes, U.S. federal gift or estate tax laws (except to the limited extent provided below), or any non-U.S. tax consequences that
may be relevant to Non-U.S. Holders in light of their particular circumstances.

Special rules different from those described below may apply to certain Non-U.S. Holders that are subject to special treatment under the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the Code), such as:

insurance companies, banks, and other financial institutions;
tax-exempt organizations (including private foundations) and tax-qualified retirement plans;
persons required for U.S. federal income tax purposes to conform the timing of income accruals to their financial statements under Section
451(b) of the Code;

= “qualified foreign pension funds” as defined in Section 897(1)(2) of the Code and entities all of the interests of which are held by qualified
foreign pension funds;

m  persons subject to special tax accounting rules as a result of any item of gross income with respect to our Class A common stock being

taken into account in an applicable financial statement;

non-U.S. governments and international organizations;

broker-dealers and traders in securities;

U.S. expatriates and certain former citizens or long-term residents of the United States;

persons that own, or are deemed to own, more than five percent of our Class A common stock;

“controlled foreign corporations,” “passive foreign investment companies,” and corporations that accumulate earnings to avoid U.S. federal

income tax;

= persons that hold our Class A common stock as part of a “straddle,” “hedge,” “conversion transaction,
investment or other risk reduction strategy;

m  persons who do not hold our Class A common stock as a capital asset within the meaning of Section 1221 of the Code (generally, for
investment purposes); and

m partnerships and other pass-through entities, and investors in such pass-through entities (regardless of their places of organization or
formation).

synthetic security,” or integrated

Such Non-U.S. Holders are urged to consult their own tax advisors to determine the U.S. federal, state, local, and other tax consequences that may
be relevant to them.

Furthermore, the discussion below is based upon the provisions of the Code, Treasury regulations, rulings, and judicial decisions thereunder as of
the date hereof, and such authorities may be repealed, revoked, or modified, possibly retroactively, and are subject to differing interpretations which
could result in U.S. federal income tax consequences different from those discussed below. We have not requested a ruling from the Internal
Revenue Service, or IRS, with respect to the statements made and the conclusions reached in the following summary, and there can be no
assurance that the IRS will agree with such statements and conclusions or that the IRS will not take a contrary position regarding the tax
consequences described herein, or that any such contrary position would not be sustained by a court.

PERSONS CONSIDERING THE PURCHASE OF OUR CLASS A COMMON STOCK PURSUANT TO THIS OFFERING SHOULD CONSULT
THEIR OWN TAX ADVISORS CONCERNING THE U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES OF ACQUIRING, OWNING, AND
DISPOSING OF OUR CLASS A COMMON STOCK IN LIGHT OF THEIR PARTICULAR SITUATIONS AS WELL AS ANY TAX CONSEQUENCES
ARISING UNDER THE LAWS OF ANY OTHER TAXING JURISDICTION, INCLUDING ANY STATE, LOCAL, OR NON-U.S. TAX CONSEQUENCES
OR ANY U.S. FEDERAL NON-INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES, AND THE POSSIBLE APPLICATION OF TAX TREATIES.

For the purposes of this discussion, a “Non-U.S. Holder” is a beneficial owner of Class A common stock that is not a U.S. Holder or a partnership for
U.S. federal income tax purposes. A “U.S. Holder” means a beneficial
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owner of our Class A common stock that is, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, (1) an individual who is a citizen or resident of the United States,
(2) a corporation (or other entity taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes), created or organized in or under the laws of the
United States, any state thereof, or the District of Columbia, (3) an estate the income of which is subject to U.S. federal income taxation regardless
of its source, or (4) a trust if it (i) is subject to the primary supervision of a court within the United States and one or more United States persons
(within the meaning of Section 7701(a)(30) of the Code) have the authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust or (ii) has a valid election in
effect under applicable U.S. Treasury regulations to be treated as a United States person.

If you are an individual non-U.S. citizen, you may, be deemed to be a resident alien (as opposed to a nonresident alien) by virtue of being present in
the United States for at least 31 days in the calendar year and for an aggregate of at least 183 days during a three-year period ending in the current
calendar year. Generally, for this purpose, all the days present in the current year, one-third of the days present in the immediately preceding year,
and one-sixth of the days present in the second preceding year, are counted.

Resident aliens are generally subject to U.S. federal income tax as if they were U.S. citizens. Individuals who are uncertain of their status as resident
or nonresident aliens for U.S. federal income tax purposes are urged to consult their own tax advisors regarding the U.S. federal income tax
consequences of the ownership or disposition of our Class A common stock.

Distributions

We do not anticipate paying any dividends on our capital stock in the foreseeable future. If we do make distributions on our Class A common stock,
however, such distributions made to a Non-U.S. Holder of our Class A common stock will constitute dividends for U.S. tax purposes to the extent
paid out of our current or accumulated earnings and profits (as determined under U.S. federal income tax principles). Distributions in excess of our
current and accumulated earnings and profits will constitute a return of capital that is applied against and reduces, but not below zero, a Non-U.S.
Holder’s adjusted tax basis in our Class A common stock. Any remaining excess will be treated as gain realized on the sale or exchange of our
Class A common stock as described below under “—Gain on Disposition of Our Class A Common Stock.”

Any distribution on our Class A common stock that is treated as a dividend paid to a Non-U.S. Holder that is not effectively connected with the
holder’s conduct of a trade or business in the United States will generally be subject to withholding tax at a 30% rate or such lower rate as may be
specified by an applicable income tax treaty between the United States and the Non-U.S. Holder’s country of residence. To obtain a reduced rate of
withholding under a treaty, a Non-U.S. Holder generally will be required to provide the applicable withholding agent with a properly executed IRS
Form W-8BEN, IRS Form W-8BEN-E, or other appropriate form, certifying the Non-U.S. Holder’s entitlement to benefits under that treaty. Such form
must be provided prior to the payment of dividends and must be updated periodically. If a Non-U.S. Holder holds stock through a financial institution
or other agent acting on the holder’s behalf, the holder will be required to provide appropriate documentation to such agent. The holder’s agent will
then be required to provide certification to the applicable withholding agent, either directly or through other intermediaries. If you are eligible for a
reduced rate of U.S. withholding tax under an income tax treaty, you should consult with your own tax advisor to determine if you are able to obtain a
refund or credit of any excess amounts withheld by timely filing an appropriate claim for a refund with the IRS.

We generally are not required to withhold tax on dividends paid to a Non-U.S. Holder that are effectively connected with the holder’s conduct of a
trade or business within the United States (and, if required by an applicable income tax treaty, are attributable to a permanent establishment that the
holder maintains in the United States) if a properly executed IRS Form W-8ECI, stating that the dividends are so connected, is furnished to the
applicable withholding agent. In general, such effectively connected dividends will be subject to U.S. federal income tax on a net income basis at the
regular graduated rates applicable to U.S. persons. A corporate Non-U.S. Holder receiving effectively connected dividends may also be subject to an
additional “branch profits tax,” which is imposed, under certain circumstances, at a rate of 30% (or such lower rate as may be specified by an
applicable treaty) on the corporate Non-U.S. Holder’s effectively connected earnings and profits, subject to certain adjustments.
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See also the section below titled “—Foreign Accounts” for additional withholding rules that may apply to dividends paid to certain foreign financial
institutions or non-financial foreign entities.

Gain on Disposition of Our Class A Common Stock

Subject to the discussions below under the sections titled “—Backup Withholding and Information Reporting” and “—Foreign Accounts,” a Non-U.S.
Holder generally will not be subject to U.S. federal income or withholding tax with respect to gain realized on a sale or other disposition of our Class
A common stock unless (1) the gain is effectively connected with a trade or business of the holder in the United States (and, if required by an
applicable income tax treaty, is attributable to a permanent establishment that the holder maintains in the United States), (2) the Non-U.S. Holder is a
nonresident alien individual and is present in the United States for 183 or more days in the taxable year of the disposition and certain other
conditions are met, or (3) we are or have been a “United States real property holding corporation” within the meaning of Code Section 897(c)(2) at
any time within the shorter of the five-year period preceding such disposition or the holder’s holding period in the Class A common stock.

If you are a Non-U.S. Holder, gain described in (1) above will be subject to tax on the net gain derived from the sale at the regular U.S. federal
income tax rates applicable to U.S. persons. If you are a corporate Non-U.S. Holder, gain described in (1) above may also be subject to the
additional branch profits tax at a 30% rate or such lower rate as may be specified by an applicable income tax treaty. If you are an individual Non-
U.S. Holder described in (2) above, you will be required to pay a flat 30% tax on the gain derived from the sale, which gain may be offset by U.S.
source capital losses (even though you are not considered a resident of the United States), provided you have timely filed U.S. federal income tax
returns with respect to such losses. With respect to (3) above, in general, we would be a United States real property holding corporation if United
States real property interests (as defined in the Code and the Treasury Regulations) comprised (by fair market value) at least half of our assets. We
believe that we are not, and do not anticipate becoming, a United States real property holding corporation. However, there can be no assurance that
we will not become a United States real property holding corporation in the future. Even if we are treated as a United States real property holding
corporation, gain realized by a Non-U.S. Holder on a disposition of our Class A common stock will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax so long
as (1) the Non-U.S. Holder owned, directly, indirectly, or constructively, no more than five percent of our Class A common stock at all times within the
shorter of (i) the five-year period preceding the disposition or (ii) the holder’s holding period and (2) our Class A common stock is regularly traded on
an established securities market for purposes of the relevant rules. There can be no assurance that our Class A common stock will qualify as
regularly traded on an established securities market.

U.S. Federal Estate Tax

The estates of nonresident alien individuals generally are subject to U.S. federal estate tax on property with a U.S. situs. Because we are a U.S.
corporation, our Class A common stock will be U.S. situs property and, therefore, will be included in the taxable estate of a nonresident alien
decedent, unless an applicable estate tax treaty between the United States and the decedent’s country of residence provides otherwise. The terms
“resident” and “nonresident” are defined differently for U.S. federal estate tax purposes than for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Investors are
urged to consult their own tax advisors regarding the U.S. federal estate tax consequences of the ownership or disposition of our Class A common
stock.

Backup Withholding and Information Reporting

Generally, we or an applicable withholding agent must report information to the IRS with respect to any dividends we pay on our Class A common
stock, including the amount of any such dividends, the name and address of the recipient, and the amount, if any, of tax withheld. A similar report is
sent to the holder to whom any such dividends are paid. Pursuant to tax treaties or certain other agreements, the IRS may make its reports available
to tax authorities in the recipient’s country of residence.

Dividends paid by us (or our paying agents) to a Non-U.S. Holder may also be subject to U.S. backup withholding. U.S. backup withholding generally
will not apply to a Non-U.S. Holder who provides a properly executed IRS Form W-8BEN or IRS Form W-8BEN-E, as applicable, or otherwise
establishes an exemption, provided that the applicable withholding agent does not have actual knowledge or reason to know the holder is a U.S.
person.
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Under current U.S. federal income tax law, U.S. information reporting and backup withholding requirements generally will apply to the proceeds of a
disposition of our Class A common stock effected by or through a U.S. office of any broker, U.S. or non-U.S., unless the Non-U.S. Holder provides a
properly executed IRS Form W-8BEN or IRS Form W-8BEN-E, as applicable, or otherwise meets documentary evidence requirements for
establishing non-U.S. person status or otherwise establishes an exemption. Generally, U.S. information reporting and backup withholding
requirements will not apply to a payment of disposition proceeds to a Non-U.S. Holder where the transaction is effected outside the United States
through a non-U.S. office of a non-U.S. broker. Information reporting and backup withholding requirements may, however, apply to a payment of
disposition proceeds if the broker has actual knowledge, or reason to know, that the holder is, in fact, a U.S. person. For information reporting
purposes only, certain U.S. related brokers may be treated in a manner similar to U.S. brokers.

Backup withholding is not an additional tax. If backup withholding is applied to you, you should consult with your own tax advisor to determine
whether you have overpaid your U.S. federal income tax, and whether you are able to obtain a tax refund or credit of the overpaid amount.

Foreign Accounts

In addition, U.S. federal withholding taxes may apply under the Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act (FATCA), on certain types of payments,
including dividends on our Class A common stock, made to non-U.S. financial institutions and certain other non-U.S. entities. Specifically, a 30%
withholding tax may be imposed on dividends on our Class A common stock or gross proceeds from the disposition of our Class A common stock
paid to a “foreign financial institution” or a “non-financial foreign entity” (each as defined in the Code), unless (1) the foreign financial institution
agrees to undertake certain diligence and reporting obligations, (2) the non-financial foreign entity either certifies it does not have any “substantial
United States owners” (as defined in the Code) or furnishes identifying information regarding each substantial United States owner, or (3) the foreign
financial institution or non-financial foreign entity otherwise qualifies for an exemption from these rules. The 30% federal withholding tax described in
this paragraph cannot be reduced under an income tax treaty with the United States. If the payee is a foreign financial institution and is subject to the
diligence and reporting requirements in (1) above, it must enter into an agreement with the U.S. Department of the Treasury requiring, among other
things, that it undertake to identify accounts held by certain “specified United States persons” or “United States-owned foreign entities” (each as
defined in the Code), annually report certain information about such accounts, and withhold 30% on certain payments to non-compliant foreign
financial institutions and certain other account holders. Foreign financial institutions located in jurisdictions that have an intergovernmental
agreement with the United States governing FATCA may be subject to different rules. Under proposed Treasury Regulations (the preamble to which
specifies that taxpayers are permitted to rely on such proposed Treasury Regulations pending finalization), no withholding would apply with respect
to payments of gross proceeds with respect to the disposition of our class A common stock.

Prospective investors should consult their tax advisors regarding the potential application of withholding under FATCA to their investment in our
Class A common stock.

EACH PROSPECTIVE INVESTOR SHOULD CONSULT ITS OWN TAX ADVISOR REGARDING THE TAX CONSEQUENCES OF ACQUIRING,
OWNING, AND DISPOSING OF OUR CLASS A COMMON STOCK, INCLUDING THE CONSEQUENCES OF ANY PROPOSED CHANGE IN
APPLICABLE LAW, AS WELL AS TAX CONSEQUENCES ARISING UNDER ANY STATE, LOCAL, NON-U.S. OR U.S. FEDERAL NON-INCOME
TAX LAWS SUCH AS ESTATE AND GIFT TAX, AND THE POSSIBLE APPLICATION OF TAX TREATIES.
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UNDERWRITING

Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the underwriting agreement, dated , 2020, among us, the selling shareholders, and
Jefferies LLC and RBC Capital Markets, LLC, as the representatives of the underwriters named below and the joint book-running managers of this
offering, we and the selling shareholders have agreed to sell to the underwriters, and each of the underwriters has agreed, severally and not jointly,
to purchase from us and the selling shareholders, the respective number of shares of common stock shown opposite its name below:

Underwriter Number of Shares
Jefferies LLC
RBC Capital Markets, LLC

Total

The underwriting agreement provides that the obligations of the several underwriters are subject to certain conditions precedent such as the receipt
by the underwriters of officers’ certificates and legal opinions and approval of certain legal matters by their counsel. The underwriting agreement
provides that the underwriters will purchase all of the shares of common stock if any of them are purchased. If an underwriter defaults, the
underwriting agreement provides that the purchase commitments of the nondefaulting underwriters may be increased or the underwriting agreement
may be terminated. We and the selling shareholder have agreed to indemnify the underwriters and certain of their controlling persons against certain
liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act, and to contribute to payments that the underwriters may be required to make in respect of
those liabilities.

The underwriters have advised us that, following the completion of this offering, they currently intend to make a market in the common stock as
permitted by applicable laws and regulations. However, the underwriters are not obligated to do so, and the underwriters may discontinue any
market-making activities at any time without notice in their sole discretion. Accordingly, no assurance can be given as to the liquidity of the trading
market for the common stock, that you will be able to sell any of the common stock held by you at a particular time or that the prices that you receive
when you sell will be favorable.

The underwriters are offering the shares of common stock subject to their acceptance of the shares of common stock from us and the selling
shareholders and subject to prior sale. The underwriters reserve the right to withdraw, cancel or modify offers to the public and to reject orders in
whole or in part. In addition, the underwriters have advised us that they do not intend to confirm sales to any account over which they exercise
discretionary authority.

Commission and Expenses

The underwriters have advised us that they propose to offer the shares of common stock to the public at the initial public offering price set forth on
the cover page of this prospectus and to certain dealers, which may include the underwriters, at that price less a concession not in excess of §  per
share of common stock. The underwriters may allow, and certain dealers may reallow, a discount from the concession not in excess of §  per share
of common stock to certain brokers and dealers. After the offering, the initial public offering price, concession, and reallowance to dealers may be
reduced by the representatives. No such reduction will change the amount of proceeds to be received by us as set forth on the cover page of this
prospectus.

The following table shows the public offering price, the underwriting discounts and commissions that we and the selling shareholders are to pay the
underwriters, and the proceeds, before expenses, to us and the selling shareholders in connection with this offering. Such amounts are shown
assuming both no exercise and full exercise of the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares.
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Per Share Total

Without With Without With
Option to Purchase Option to Purchase Option to Purchase Option to Purchase
Additional Shares Additional Shares Additional Shares Additional Shares
Public offering price $ $ $ $
Underwriting discounts and commissions paid by us $ $ $ $
Proceeds to us, before expenses $ $ $ $
Underwriting discounts and commissions paid by the selling
shareholders $ $ $ $
Proceeds to the selling shareholders, before expenses $ $ $ $

We estimate expenses payable by us in connection with this offering, other than the underwriting discounts and commissions referred to above, will
be approximately $ .We estimate expenses payable by the selling shareholders in connection with this offering, other than the underwriting
discounts and commissions referred to above, will be approximately $

Determination of Offering Price

Prior to this offering, there has not been a public market for our common stock. Consequently, the initial public offering price for our common stock
will be determined by negotiations between us and the representatives. Among the factors to be considered in these negotiations will be prevailing
market conditions, our financial information, market valuations of other companies that we and the underwriters believe to be comparable to us,
estimates of our business potential, the present state of our development, and other factors deemed relevant.

We offer no assurances that the initial public offering price will correspond to the price at which the common stock will trade in the public market
subsequent to the offering or that an active trading market for the common stock will develop and continue after the offering.

Listing
We intend to apply to have our common stock approved for listing on under the trading symbol “PUBM”.

Stamp Taxes

If you purchase shares of common stock offered in this prospectus, you may be required to pay stamp taxes and other charges under the laws and
practices of the country of purchase, in addition to the offering price listed on the cover page of this prospectus.

Option to Purchase Additional Shares

We and the selling shareholder have granted to the underwriters an option, exercisable for 30 days from the date of this prospectus, to purchase,
from time to time, in whole or in part, up to an aggregate of shares from us and shares from the selling shareholders at the public
offering price set forth on the cover page of this prospectus, less underwriting discounts and commissions. If the underwriters exercise this option,
each underwriter will be obligated, subject to specified conditions, to purchase a number of additional shares proportionate to that underwriter’s initial
purchase commitment as indicated in the table above. This option may be exercised only if the underwriters sell more shares than the total number
set forth on the cover page of this prospectus.
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No Sales of Similar Securities

We, our officers, directors, and holders of all or substantially all our outstanding capital stock and other securities have agreed, subject to specified
exceptions, not to directly or indirectly:

m sell, offer, contract or grant any option to sell (including any short sale), pledge, transfer, establish an open “put equivalent position” within
the meaning of Rule 16a-I(h) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or

m  otherwise dispose of any shares of common stock, options or warrants to acquire shares of common stock, or securities exchangeable or
exercisable for or convertible into shares of common stock currently or hereafter owned either of record or beneficially, or

m  publicly announce an intention to do any of the foregoing for a period of 180 days after the date of this prospectus without the prior written
consent of Jefferies LLC.

This restriction terminates after the close of trading of the common stock on and including the 180t day after the date of this prospectus.

Jefferies LLC may, in its sole discretion and at any time or from time to time before the termination of the 180-day period release all or any portion of
the securities subject to lock-up agreements. There are no existing agreements between the underwriters and any of our shareholders who will
execute a lock-up agreement, providing consent to the sale of shares prior to the expiration of the lock-up period.

Stabilization

The underwriters have advised us that they, pursuant to Regulation M under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, certain persons
participating in the offering may engage in short sale transactions, stabilizing transactions, syndicate covering transactions or the imposition of
penalty bids in connection with this offering. These activities may have the effect of stabilizing or maintaining the market price of the common stock
at a level above that which might otherwise prevail in the open market. Establishing short sales positions may involve either “covered” short sales or
“naked” short sales.

“Covered” short sales are sales made in an amount not greater than the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares of our common stock in
this offering. The underwriters may close out any covered short position by either exercising their option to purchase additional shares of our
common stock or purchasing shares of our common stock in the open market. In determining the source of shares to close out the covered short
position, the underwriters will consider, among other things, the price of shares available for purchase in the open market as compared to the price
at which they may purchase shares through the option to purchase additional shares.

“Naked” short sales are sales in excess of the option to purchase additional shares of our common stock. The underwriters must close out any
naked short position by purchasing shares in the open market. A naked short position is more likely to be created if the underwriters are concerned
that there may be downward pressure on the price of the shares of our common stock in the open market after pricing that could adversely affect
investors who purchase in this offering.

A stabilizing bid is a bid for the purchase of shares of common stock on behalf of the underwriters for the purpose of fixing or maintaining the price of
the common stock. A syndicate covering transaction is the bid for or the purchase of shares of common stock on behalf of the underwriters to reduce
a short position incurred by the underwriters in connection with the offering. Similar to other purchase transactions, the underwriter’s purchases to
cover the syndicate short sales may have the effect of raising or maintaining the market price of our common stock or preventing or retarding a
decline in the market price of our common stock. As a result, the price of our common stock may be higher than the price that might otherwise exist
in the open market. A penalty bid is an arrangement permitting the underwriters to reclaim the selling concession otherwise accruing to a syndicate
member in connection with the offering if the common stock originally sold by such syndicate member are purchased in a syndicate covering
transaction and therefore have not been effectively placed by such syndicate member.

None of we, the selling shareholders nor any of the underwriters make any representation or prediction as to the direction or magnitude of any effect
that the transactions described above may have on the price of our common
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stock. The underwriters are not obligated to engage in these activities and, if commenced, any of the activities may be discontinued at any time.

Electronic Distribution

A prospectus in electronic format may be made available by e-mail or on the web sites or through online services maintained by one or more of the
underwriters or their affiliates. In those cases, prospective investors may view offering terms online and may be allowed to place orders online. The
underwriters may agree with us to allocate a specific number of shares of common stock for sale to online brokerage account holders. Any such
allocation for online distributions will be made by the underwriters on the same basis as other allocations. Other than the prospectus in electronic
format, the information on the underwriters’ web sites, and any information contained in any other web site maintained by any of the underwriters is
not part of this prospectus, has not been approved and/or endorsed by us or the underwriters and should not be relied upon by investors.

Other Activities and Relationships

The underwriter and certain of its affiliates are full service financial institutions engaged in various activities, which may include securities trading,
commercial, and investment banking, financial advisory, investment management, investment research, principal investment, hedging, financing, and
brokerage activities. The underwriter and certain of its affiliates have, from time to time, performed, and may in the future perform, various
commercial and investment banking and financial advisory services for us and our affiliates, for which they received or will receive customary fees
and expenses.

In the ordinary course of their various business activities, the underwriter, and certain of its affiliates may make or hold a broad array of investments
and actively trade debt and equity securities (or related derivative securities) and financial instruments (including bank loans) for their own account
and for the accounts of their customers, and such investment and securities activities may involve securities and/or instruments issued by us and our
affiliates. If the underwriters or their respective affiliates have a lending relationship with us, they routinely hedge their credit exposure to us
consistent with their customary risk management policies. The underwriters and their respective affiliates may hedge such exposure by entering into
transactions which consist of either the purchase of credit default swaps or the creation of short positions in our securities or the securities of our
affiliates, including potentially the common stock offered hereby. Any such short positions could adversely affect future trading prices of the common
stock offered hereby. The underwriters and certain of their respective affiliates may also communicate independent investment recommendations,
market color or trading ideas, and/or publish or express independent research views in respect of such securities or instruments and may at any time
hold, or recommend to clients that they acquire, long and/or short positions in such securities, and instruments.

Selling Restrictions
Canada
(A) Resale Restrictions

The distribution of shares of our common stock in Canada is being made only in the provinces of Ontario, Quebec, Alberta and British Columbia on a
private placement basis exempt from the requirement that we and the selling shareholders prepare and file a prospectus with the securities
regulatory authorities in each province where trades of these securities are made. Any resale of the shares of our common stock in Canada must be
made under applicable securities laws which may vary depending on the relevant jurisdiction, and which may require resales to be made under
available statutory exemptions or under a discretionary exemption granted by the applicable Canadian securities regulatory authority. Purchasers are
advised to seek legal advice prior to any resale of the securities.
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(B) Representations of Canadian Purchasers

By purchasing shares of our common stock in Canada and accepting delivery of a purchase confirmation, a purchaser is representing to us and the
selling shareholders and the dealer from whom the purchase confirmation is received that:

m the purchaser is entitled under applicable provincial securities laws to purchase the shares of our common stock without the benefit of a
prospectus qualified under those securities laws as it is an “accredited investor” as defined under National Instrument 45-106 — Prospectus
Exemptions;

m the purchaser is a “permitted client” as defined in National Instrument 31-103 - Registration Requirements, Exemptions, and Ongoing
Registrant Obligations;

m  where required by law, the purchaser is purchasing as principal and not as agent; and

m the purchaser has reviewed the text above under Resale Restrictions.
(C) Confiicts of Interest

Canadian purchasers are hereby notified that each of the underwriters is relying on the exemption set out in section 3A.3 or 3A 4, if applicable, of
National Instrument 33-105 — Underwriting Conflicts from having to provide certain conflict of interest disclosure in this document.

(D) Statutory Rights of Action

Securities legislation in certain provinces or territories of Canada may provide a purchaser with remedies for rescission or damages if the prospectus
(including any amendment thereto) such as this document contains a misrepresentation, provided that the remedies for rescission or damages are
exercised by the purchaser within the time limit prescribed by the securities legislation of the purchaser’s province or territory. The purchaser of
these securities in Canada should refer to any applicable provisions of the securities legislation of the purchaser’s province or territory for particulars
of these rights or consult with a legal advisor.

(E) Enforcement of Legal Rights

All of our directors and officers as well as the experts named herein and the Selling Shareholders may be located outside of Canada and, as a
result, it may not be possible for Canadian purchasers to effect service of process within Canada upon us or those persons. All or a substantial
portion of our assets and the assets of those persons may be located outside of Canada and, as a result, it may not be possible to satisfy a
judgment against us or those persons in Canada or to enforce a judgment obtained in Canadian courts against us or those persons outside of
Canada.

(F) Taxation and Eligibility for Investment

Canadian purchasers of shares of our common stock should consult their own legal and tax advisors with respect to the tax consequences of an
investment in the shares of our common stock in their particular circumstances and about the eligibility of the shares of our common stock for
investment by the purchaser under relevant Canadian legislation.

Australia

This prospectus is not a disclosure document for the purposes of Australia’s Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) of Australia, or Corporations Act, has not
been lodged with the Australian Securities & Investments Commission and is only directed to the categories of exempt persons set out below.
Accordingly, if you receive this prospectus in Australia:

You confirm and warrant that you are either:

m  a “sophisticated investor” under section 708(8)(a) or (b) of the Corporations Act;

m  a “sophisticated investor” under section 708(8)(c) or (d) of the Corporations Act and that you have provided an accountant’s certificate to the
Company which complies with the requirements of section 708(8)(c)(i) or (ii) of the Corporations Act and related regulations before the offer
has been made;
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m  a person associated with the Company under Section 708(12) of the Corporations Act;
= a “professional investor” within the meaning of section 708(11)(a) or (b) of the Corporations Act; or

m to the extent that you are unable to confirm or warrant that you are an exempt sophisticated investor, associated person or professional
investor under the Corporations Act any offer made to you under this prospectus is void and incapable of acceptance.

You warrant and agree that you will not offer any of the securities issued to you pursuant to this prospectus for resale in Australia within 12 months of
those securities being issued unless any such resale offer is exempt from the requirement to issue a disclosure document under section 708 of the
Corporations Act.

European Economic Area and United Kingdom

In relation to each member state of the European Economic Area and the United Kingdom (each, a Relevant State), an offer to the public of any
securities which are the subject of the offering contemplated by this prospectus may not be made in that Relevant State except that an offer to the
public in that Relevant State of any securities may be made at any time under the following exemptions under the Prospectus Regulation:

(a) to any legal entity which is a “qualified investor” as defined in the Prospectus Regulation;

(b) to fewer than 150 natural or legal persons (other than qualified investors as defined in the Prospectus Regulation), as permitted under the
Prospectus Regulation, subject to obtaining the prior consent of the underwriters or the underwriters nominated by us for any such offer; or

(c) in any other circumstances falling within Article 1(4) of the Prospectus Regulation,

provided that no such offer of securities shall require us or any of the underwriters to publish a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus
Regulation or supplement a prospectus pursuant to Article 23 of the Prospectus Regulation.

For the purposes of this provision, the expression “offer to the public” in relation to any securities in any Relevant State means the communication in
any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and the securities to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to
purchase or subscribe the securities, and the expression “Prospectus Regulation” means Regulation (EU) 2017/1129.

Hong Kong

No securities have been offered or sold, and no securities may be offered or sold, in Hong Kong, by means of any document, other than to persons
whose ordinary business is to buy or sell shares or debentures, whether as principal or agent; or to “professional investors” as defined in the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571) of Hong Kong (SFO) and any rules made under that Ordinance; or in other circumstances which do not
result in the document being a “prospectus” as defined in the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 32) of Hong Kong (CO) or which do not constitute an offer
or invitation to the public for the purpose of the CO or the SFO. No document, invitation or advertisement relating to the securities has been issued
or may be issued or may be in the possession of any person for the purpose of issue (in each case whether in Hong Kong or elsewhere), which is
directed at, or the contents of which are likely to be accessed or read by, the public of Hong Kong (except if permitted under the securities laws of
Hong Kong) other than with respect to securities which are or are intended to be disposed of only to persons outside Hong Kong or only to
“professional investors” as defined in the SFO and any rules made under that Ordinance.

This prospectus has not been registered with the Registrar of Companies in Hong Kong. Accordingly, this prospectus may not be issued, circulated
or distributed in Hong Kong, and the securities may not be offered for subscription to members of the public in Hong Kong. Each person acquiring
the securities will be required, and is deemed by the acquisition of the securities, to confirm that he is aware of the restriction on offers of the
securities described in this prospectus and the relevant offering documents and that he is not acquiring, and has not been offered any securities in
circumstances that contravene any such restrictions.

Israel

This document does not constitute a prospectus under the Israeli Securities Law, 5728-1968, or the Securities Law, and has not been filed with or
approved by the Israel Securities Authority. In Israel, this prospectus is being distributed only to, and is directed only at, and any offer of the shares
of our common stock is directed
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only at, (i) a limited number of persons in accordance with the Israeli Securities Law, and (ii) investors listed in the first addendum, or the Addendum,
to the Israeli Securities Law, consisting primarily of joint investment in trust funds, provident funds, insurance companies, banks, portfolio managers,
investment advisors, members of the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange, underwriters, venture capital funds, entities with equity in excess of NIS 50 million
and “qualified individuals,” each as defined in the Addendum (as it may be amended from time to time), collectively referred to as qualified investors
(in each case, purchasing for their own account or, where permitted under the Addendum, for the accounts of their clients who are investors listed in
the Addendum). Qualified investors are required to submit written confirmation that they fall within the scope of the Addendum, are aware of the
meaning of same and agree to it.

Japan

The offering has not been and will not be registered under the Financial Instruments and Exchange Law of Japan (Law No. 25 of 1948 of Japan, as
amended) (FIEL), and the underwriters will not offer or sell any securities, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, any resident of
Japan (which term as used herein means any person resident in Japan, including any corporation or other entity organized under the laws of Japan),
or to others for re-offering or resale, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, any resident of Japan, except pursuant to an exemption
from the registration requirements of, and otherwise in compliance with, the FIEL and any other applicable laws, regulations, and ministerial
guidelines of Japan.

Singapore

This prospectus has not been and will not be lodged or registered as a prospectus with the Monetary Authority of Singapore. Accordingly, this
prospectus and any other document or material in connection with the offer or sale, or invitation for subscription or purchase, of the shares of our
common stock may not be circulated or distributed, nor may the shares of our common stock be offered or sold, or be made the subject of an
invitation for subscription or purchase, whether directly or indirectly, to persons in Singapore other than (i) to an institutional investor under Section
274 of the Securities and Futures Act, Chapter 289 of Singapore (the SFA), (ii) to a relevant person pursuant to Section 275(1), or any person
pursuant to Section 275(1A), and in accordance with the conditions specified in Section 275, of the SFA, or (iii) otherwise pursuant to, and in
accordance with the conditions of, any other applicable provision of the SFA.

Where the shares of our common stock are subscribed or purchased under Section 275 of the SFA by a relevant person which is:

(a) a corporation (which is not an accredited investor (as defined in Section 4A of the SFA)) the sole business of which is to hold investments
and the entire share capital of which is owned by one or more individuals, each of whom is an accredited investor; or

(b) atrust (where the trustee is not an accredited investor) whose sole purpose is to hold investments and each beneficiary of the trust is an
individual who is an accredited investor,

securities (as defined in Section 239(1) of the SFA) of that corporation or the beneficiaries’ rights and interest (howsoever described) in that trust
shall not be transferred within six months after that corporation or that trust has acquired the shares of our common stock pursuant to an offer made
under Section 275 of the SFA except:

(i) to an institutional investor or to a relevant person defined in Section 275(2) of the SFA, or to any person arising from an offer referred to in
Section 275(1A) or Section 276(4)(i)(B) of the SFA;

(i) where no consideration is or will be given for the transfer;

(iii) where the transfer is by operation of law;

(iv) as specified in Section 276(7) of the SFA; or

(v) as specified in Regulation 32 of the Securities and Futures (Offers of Investments) (Shares and Debentures) Regulations 2005 of
Singapore.

Switzerland

The securities may not be publicly offered in Switzerland and will not be listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange (SIX) or on any other stock exchange or
regulated trading facility in Switzerland. This prospectus has been prepared without regard to the disclosure standards for issuance prospectuses
under art. 652a or art. 1156 of the Swiss Code of Obligations or the disclosure standards for listing prospectuses under art. 27 ff. of the SIX Listing
Rules
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or the listing rules of any other stock exchange or regulated trading facility in Switzerland. Neither this prospectus nor any other offering or marketing
material relating to the securities or the offering may be publicly distributed or otherwise made publicly available in Switzerland.

Neither this prospectus nor any other offering or marketing material relating to the offering, the Company or the securities have been or will be filed
with or approved by any Swiss regulatory authority. In particular, this prospectus will not be filed with, and the offer of securities will not be
supervised by, the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Authority FINMA, and the offer of securities has not been and will not be authorized under the
Swiss Federal Act on Collective Investment Schemes (CISA). The investor protection afforded to acquirers of interests in collective investment
schemes under the CISA does not extend to acquirers of securities.

United Kingdom

This prospectus is only being distributed to, and is only directed at, persons in the United Kingdom that are qualified investors within the meaning of
the Prospectus Regulation that are also (i) investment professionals falling within Article 19(5) of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000
(Financial Promotion) Order 2005, as amended (the Order) and/or (ii) high net worth entities falling within Article 49(2)(a) to (d) of the Order and
other persons to whom it may lawfully be communicated (each such person being referred to as a “relevant person”).

This prospectus and its contents are confidential and should not be distributed, published or reproduced (in whole or in part) or disclosed by
recipients to any other persons in the United Kingdom. Any person in the United Kingdom that is not a relevant person should not act or rely on this
document or any of its contents.
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LEGAL MATTERS

The validity of the shares of our Class A common stock offered by this prospectus will be passed upon for us by Fenwick & West LLP, Mountain
View, California. Certain legal matters relating to the offering will be passed upon for the underwriters by Latham & Watkins LLP, Menlo Park,
California.

EXPERTS

The consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2018 and 2019 and for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2019,
included in this prospectus have been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report
appearing herein. Such consolidated financial statements have been so included in reliance upon the report of such firm given upon their authority
as an expert in accounting and auditing.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

We have filed with the SEC a registration statement on Form S-1 under the Securities Act with respect to the shares of Class A common stock
offered hereby. This prospectus, which constitutes a part of the registration statement, does not contain all of the information set forth in the
registration statement or the exhibits filed therewith. For further information about us and the Class A common stock offered hereby, reference is
made to the registration statement and the exhibits filed therewith. Statements contained in this prospectus regarding the contents of any contract or
any other document that is filed as an exhibit to the registration statement are not necessarily complete, and in each instance we refer you to the
copy of such contract or other document filed as an exhibit to the registration statement. The SEC also maintains a website that contains reports,
proxy and information statements, and other information regarding registrants that file electronically with the SEC. The address of the website is
WWW.SEC.GQOV.

We currently do not file periodic reports with the SEC. Upon completion of this offering, we will be required to file periodic reports, proxy statements,
and other information with the SEC pursuant to the Exchange Act. These reports, proxy statements, and other information will be available for review
at the SEC’s website referred to above. We also maintain a website at www.pubmatic.com. Upon completion of this offering, you may access these
materials free of charge as soon as reasonably practicable after they are electronically filed with, or furnished to, the SEC. Information contained on
our website is not a part of this prospectus and the inclusion of our website address in this prospectus is an inactive textual reference only.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the stockholders and the Board of Directors of PubMatic, Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of PubMatic Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company") as of December 31, 2018 and
2019, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, convertible preferred stock, redeemable common stock and
stockholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2019, and the related notes (collectively referred to
as the "financial statements"). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as
of December 31, 2018 and 2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31,
2019, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's
financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB and in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform,
an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over
financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud,
and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

San Jose, California

September 16, 2020

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2012.



PUBMATIC, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2018 and 2019
(In thousands, except par values and share and per share data)

2018 2019
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 21,215 34,250
Marketable securities 14,294 21,202
Accounts receivable - net of allowance of $1,784 and $2,051 as of December 31, 2018 and 2019 109,293 117,655
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 5,104 4,534
Total Current Assets 149,906 177,641
Property, equipment and software - net 18,766 20,331
Intangible assets - net 337 —
Goodwill 6,250 6,250
Deferred income tax asset 2,332 2,139
Other assets, non-current 632 1,084
TOTAL ASSETS $ 178,223 207,445
LIABILITIES, CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK, REDEEMABLE COMMON STOCK, AND
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable $ 81,861 99,384
Accrued liabilities 8,595 11,120
Total Current Liabilities 90,456 110,504
Convertible preferred stock warrant 276 —
Other liabilities, non-current 3,021 3,405
TOTAL LIABILITIES 93,753 113,909
Commitments and contingencies (Note 6)
Convertible preferred stock, par value of $0.0001 per share; 34,000,000 shares authorized as of
December 31, 2018 and 2019; 33,398,753 and 33,443,969 shares issued and outstanding as of
December 31, 2018 and 2019; aggregate liquidation preference of $62,755 and $62,939 as of
December 31, 2018 and 2019 60,820 61,216
Redeemable common stock, 5,901,863 shares as of December 31, 2018 and 2019 19,025 19,025
Stockholders' Equity
Common stock, par value $0.0001 per share; 55,000,000 shares authorized as of December 31, 2018
and 2019; 5,726,954 and 5,746,216 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2018 and 2019,
respectively 1 1
Treasury stock, at cost - 3,136,698 and 3,138,419 shares as of December 31, 2018 and 2019 (11,426) (11,431)
Additional paid-in capital 6,615 8,641
Accumulated other comprehensive income — 6
Retained earnings 9,435 16,078
Total Stockholders' Equity 4,625 13,295
TOTAL LIABILITIES, CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK, REDEEMABLE COMMON STOCK, AND
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 178,223 207,445

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit

Operating expenses:
Technology and development
Sales and marketing
General and administration

Total operating expenses

Operating income
Interest income
Other expense, net

Total other income, net

Income before provision for income taxes

Provision for income taxes
Net income

PUBMATIC, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 and 2019
(In thousands)

Net income per share attributable to common stockholders:

Basic
Diluted

Weighted-average shares used to compute net income per share attributable to common stockholders:

Basic
Diluted

2018 2019
99,264 $ 113,871
31,235 36,104
68,029 77,767
12,619 12,453
33,444 36,498
16,998 20,307
63,061 69,258
4,968 8,509
877 1,290
(215) (577)
662 713
5,630 9,222
1,205 2,579
4,425 $ 6,643
— $ 0.04
— 3 0.04
11,249,579 10,036,983
14,157,492 12,169,884

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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PUBMATIC, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 and 2019
(In thousands)

2018 2019
Net income $ 4425 $ 6,643
Other comprehensive income:
Unrealized gain on marketable securities 4 6
Comprehensive income $ 4,429 $ 6,649

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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PUBMATIC, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK, REDEEMABLE COMMON STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 and 2019
(In thousands, except share data)

Balance — December
31,2017
Stock-based
compensation

Cashless exercise of
common stock
warrant

Exercise of stock
options

Cash settlement for
canceled stock
options

Repurchase of
treasury stock, at cost
Issuance of
stockholders notes
receivable
Reclassification of
redeemable common
stock

Other comprehensive
income

Net income

Balance — December
31, 2018
Stock-based
compensation
Cashless exercise of
Series D convertible
preferred stock
warrants
Exercise of stock
options
Repurchase of
treasury stock, at cost

Other comprehensive
income

Net income

Balance — December
31, 2019

Convertible Preferred

Redeemable Common

Additional

Accumulated

Other

Total

Stock Stock Common Stock Treasury Paid-In Comprehensive Retained Stockholders’
Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Stock Capital Income (Loss) Earnings Equity
33,398,753 $ 60,820 — 3 — 11,783,850 $ 2 $(11,125) $ 27,119 $ 4) $ 5010 $ 21,002
3,429 3,429
9,151 —
34,849 13 13
(922) (922)
(199,033) (301) (301)
(4,000) (4,000)
5,901,863 19,025 (5,901,863) (1) (19,024) (19,025)
4 4
4,425 4,425
33,398,753 60,820 5,901,863 19,025 5,726,954 1 (11,426) 6,615 = 9,435 4,625
2,022 2,022
45,216 396 =
20,983 — 4 4
(1,721) — (5) (5)
6 6
6,643 6,643
33,443,969 $ 61,216 5,901,863 $ 19,025 5,746,216 $ 1 $(11,431) $ 8641 § 6 $ 16,078 § 13,295

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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PUBMATIC, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 and 2019
(In thousands)

2018 2019
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net Income $ 4,425 § 6,643
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 12,285 12,671
Impairment of internally developed software — 702
Stock-based compensation 3,175 2,002
Provision for doubtful accounts 753 3,557
Change in fair value of preferred stock warrant liability (80) 120
Deferred income taxes 4) 193
Amortization of premiums on marketable securities (230) (341)
Other 7) 19
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (24,183) (11,919)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 836 618
Accounts payable 17,560 18,465
Accrued expenses 1,706 2,011
Other liabilities, non-current (641) 384
Net cash provided by operating activities 15,595 35,125
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of property and equipment (5,187) (9,553)
Capitalized software development costs (4,470) (5,442)
Purchases of marketable securities (26,992) (37,545)
Proceeds from sales of marketable securities — 696
Proceeds from maturities of marketable securities 23,900 30,255
Purchase of equity securities — (500)
Net cash used in investing activities (12,749) (22,089)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Payments on revolving line of credit (3,000) —
Issuance of stockholders’ notes receivable (4,000) —
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 13 4
Payments on cancellation of stock options (705) —
Payments to acquire treasury stock (301) (5)
Net cash used in financing activities (7,993) (1)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (5,147) 13,035
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - Beginning of Year 26,362 21,215
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - End of Year $ 21,215  § 34,250
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
Income taxes paid $ 769 $ 3,016
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING INFORMATION:
Stock-based compensation capitalized as internal use software costs $ 37§ 20
Property and equipment included in accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 1,717 § 770
Capitalized software costs included in accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 695 $ 1,214
Non-cash exercise of convertible preferred stock warrant $ — $ 396

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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PUBMATIC, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to consolidated financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2019

Note 1 - Organization and Description of Business

PubMatic, Inc. and subsidiaries (Company or PubMatic) was founded in 2006. The Company is headquartered in Redwood City, California and has
offices in New York, Europe, Asia, and Australia. The Company provides a specialized cloud infrastructure platform that enables real-time
programmatic advertising transactions. The purpose-built technology and infrastructure provides superior outcomes for both publishers and
advertising leveraging an efficient design, machine learning, and data processing capabilities, with customer alignment and global omnichannel
reach.

Note 2 — Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United
States of America (GAAP). The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of PubMatic, Inc. and its wholly-owned
subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the amounts of assets and liabilities reported, disclosures about contingent assets and liabilities, and reported amounts of revenue and
expenses.

Significant items subject to such estimates include: revenue recognition criteria, including the determination of revenue reporting as net versus gross
in the Company’s revenue arrangements, internal use software development costs, stock-based compensation, and income taxes, including the
valuation reserve on deferred tax assets. The Company evaluates its estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis using historical experience
and other factors and adjusts those estimates and assumptions when facts and circumstances dictate. Actual results could materially differ from
those estimates and assumptions. Due to the inherent uncertainty involved in making assumptions and estimates, events and changes in
circumstances arising after December 31, 2019, including those resulting from the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, may result in actual
outcomes that differ from those contemplated by the Company’s assumptions and estimates.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentration of credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, marketable
securities, and accounts receivable. The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalents with financial institutions in amounts which exceed
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation limits.

The Company’s investment policy limits investments to certain types of securities issued by the U.S. government and its agencies and institutions
with investment-grade credit ratings and places restrictions on maturities and concentration by type and issuer. The primary objective of its
investment activities is to preserve principal while maximizing income without significantly increasing risk.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity at the date of purchase of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Marketable Securities

The Company classifies marketable securities as available-for-sale at the time of purchase and reevaluates such classification at each balance
sheet date. The Company may sell these securities at any time for use in current operations even if they have not yet reached maturity. As a result,
the Company classifies its marketable securities, including those with maturities beyond twelve months, as current assets in the consolidated
balance



sheets. These marketable securities are carried at fair value and unrealized gains and losses are recorded in other comprehensive income, which is
reflected as a component of stockholders’ equity. These marketable securities are assessed as to whether those with unrealized loss positions are
other than temporarily impaired. The Company considers impairments to be other than temporary if they are related to deterioration in credit risk or if
it is likely the securities will be sold before the recovery of their cost basis. Realized gains and losses from the sale of marketable securities and
declines in value deemed to be other than temporary are determined based on the specific identification method. Realized gains and losses are
reported in other expense, net in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Financial instruments consist of cash equivalents, marketable securities, accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued liabilities, and a
convertible preferred stock warrant. Cash equivalents, marketable securities, and convertible preferred stock warrant liability are remeasured at fair
value at the end of every period. Accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities are stated at their carrying value, which approximates
fair value due to the short time to the expected receipt or payment.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount, are unsecured, and do not bear interest. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on
the best estimate of the amount of probable credit losses in existing accounts receivable. The allowance for doubtful accounts is determined based
on historical collection experience and the review in each period of the status of the then outstanding accounts receivable, while taking into
consideration current customer information, collection history, and other relevant data. The Company reviews the allowance for doubtful accounts on
a quarterly basis. Account balances are written off against the allowance when the Company believes it is probable the receivable will not be
recovered. The following table presents the changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts (in thousands):

December 31,

2018 2019
Allowance for doubtful accounts, beginning balance $ 1,144 $ 1,784
Provision 753 3,557
Write-offs (113) (3,290)
Allowance for doubtful accounts, ending balance $ 1,784 § 2,051

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, including leasehold improvements, are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation is
computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets, generally three years. Leasehold improvements are
amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the estimated useful lives of the assets or the remaining lease term.

Internal Use Software Development Costs

The Company capitalizes certain internal use software development costs associated with creating and enhancing internal use software related to its
platform and technology infrastructure. These costs include personnel and related employee benefits expenses for employees who are directly
associated with and who devote time to software projects, and external direct costs of materials and services consumed in developing or obtaining
the software. Software development costs that do not meet the criteria for capitalization are expensed as incurred and recorded in technology and
development expenses in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income.

Software development activities generally consist of three stages, (i) the planning stage, (ii) the application and infrastructure development stage,
and (iii) the post implementation stage. Costs incurred in the planning and post implementation stages of software development, including costs
associated with the post configuration training and repairs and maintenance of the developed technologies, are expensed as incurred. The Company
capitalizes costs associated with software developed for internal use when both the preliminary project stage is completed and management has
authorized further funding for the completion of the project. Costs incurred in the application and infrastructure development stages, including
significant enhancements and upgrades, are
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capitalized. Capitalization ends once a project is substantially complete and the software and technologies are ready for their intended purpose.
Internal use software development costs are amortized using a straight-line method over the estimated useful life of two to five years, commencing
when the software is ready for its intended use.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist of identifiable intangible assets that the Company has acquired from previous business combinations, namely customer
relationships and developed technology. Intangible assets are recorded at fair value, net of accumulated amortization. The Company amortizes its
intangible assets reflecting the pattern in which the economic benefits of the intangible assets are consumed. When a pattern cannot be reliably
determined, the Company uses a straight-line amortization method.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company continually monitors events and changes in circumstances that could indicate that carrying amounts of its long-lived assets, including
property and equipment and intangible assets may not be recoverable. When such events or changes in circumstances occur, the Company
assesses the recoverability of long-lived assets by determining whether the carrying value of such assets will be recovered through their
undiscounted expected future cash flows. If the future undiscounted cash flows are less than the carrying value of these assets, the Company
recognizes an impairment loss based on the excess of the carrying value over the fair value of the assets.

Goodwill

Gooduwill represents the excess of the aggregate fair value of the consideration transferred in a business combination over the fair value of the
assets acquired, net of liabilities assumed. The Company tests for impairment of goodwill annually during the fourth quarter or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the goodwill may be impaired.

Events or changes in circumstances which could trigger an impairment review include a significant adverse change in legal factors or in the business
climate, an adverse action or assessment by a regulator, unanticipated competition, a loss of key personnel, significant changes in the manner of the
Company’s use of the acquired assets, or the strategy for the Company’s overall business, significant negative industry or economic trends, or
significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future results of operations. The Company has not recorded any goodwiill
impairment to date.

Non-marketable Investments

The Company accounts for investments in non-marketable equity securities that it does not exercise significant influence using the measurement
alternative in accordance with Accounting Standards Update 2016-01. Under the measurement alternative, the carrying value is measured at cost,
less any impairment, plus or minus changes resulting from observable price changes in orderly transactions for identical or similar investments of the
same issuer. Adjustments are determined primarily based on a market approach as of the transaction date. The Company classifies its non-
marketable investments as non-current assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as those investments do not have stated contractual maturity
dates.

Revenue Recognition

On January 1, 2019, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Update 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) (ASU
2014-09) using a modified retrospective approach applied to all contracts. The adoption of ASU 2414-09 did not result in a change in timing or
amount of revenue recognized.

The Company recognizes revenue through the following steps:

Identification of a contract with a customer;

Identification of the performance obligations in the contract;

Determination of the transaction price;

Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and
Recognition of revenue when or as the performance obligations are satisfied.
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The Company refers to its publishers, app developers, and channel partners collectively as its publishers. The Company generates revenue through
the monetization of publisher ad impressions on its platform. The Company’s platform allows publishers to sell, in real time, ad impressions to buyers
and provides automated inventory management and monetization tools to publishers across various device types and digital ad formats. The
Company charges publishers a fee, which is typically a percentage of the value of the ad impressions monetized through the Company’s platform.

The Company maintains agreements with each publisher and buyer in the form of written service agreements, which set out the terms of the
relationship, including payment terms (typically ninety days or less) and access to its platform.

The Company invoices buyers for publisher digital advertising inventory purchased through its platform. The Company recognizes revenue when a
bid is won and a buyer purchases inventory on its platform. The Company estimates and records reductions to revenue for volume discounts based
on expected volumes during the incentive term.

The determination as to whether revenue should be reported gross of amounts billed to buyers (gross basis) or net of payments to publishers (net
basis) requires significant judgment, and is based on the Company’s assessment of whether it is acting as the principal or an agent in the
transaction. The Company has determined that it does not act as the principal in the purchase and sale of digital advertising inventory because it
does not control the advertising inventory and it does not set the price which is the result of an auction within the marketplace. Based on these and
other factors, the Company reports revenue on a net basis.

The Company generally invoices buyers at the end of each month for the full purchase price of ad impressions monetized in that month. Accounts
receivable are recorded at the amount of gross billings for the amounts it is responsible to collect, and accounts payable are recorded at the net
amount payable to publishers. Accordingly, both accounts receivable and accounts payable appear large in relation to revenue reported on a net
basis.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue consists primarily of data center co-location costs, depreciation expense related to hardware supporting the Company’s platform,
amortization expense related to capitalized internal use software development costs, personnel costs, and allocated facilities costs. Personnel costs
include salaries, bonuses, stock-based compensation, and employee benefit costs, and are primarily attributable to the Company’s network
operations group which maintains the Company’s servers and the Company’s client operations group, which is responsible for integration of new
publishers and buyers and providing customer support for existing customers.

Technology and Development Costs

Technology and development expenses consist primarily of personnel costs, including salaries, bonuses, stock-based compensation, and employee
benefits costs, allocated facilities costs, and professional services. These expenses include costs incurred in the development, implementation and
maintenance of internal use software, including platform and related infrastructure. Technology and development costs are expensed as incurred,
except to the extent that such costs are associated with internal use software development that meets the criteria for capitalization. The Company
amortizes internal use software development costs that relate to its revenue producing activities on its platform to cost of revenue.

Advertising Costs
Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and are included in sales and marketing expenses. The Company’s advertising costs recorded during
the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2019 were $0.1 million and $0.3 million, respectively.

Convertible Preferred Stock Warrant Liability

The Company accounts for a freestanding warrant to purchase shares of convertible preferred stock that is contingently redeemable as a liability in
the consolidated balance sheets at its estimated fair value. The convertible preferred stock warrant is subject to remeasurement at each balance
sheet date, and any change in fair value is recognized as a component of other expense, net in the consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive income.
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The Company will continue to adjust the liability for changes in fair value until the earlier of (1) the exercise or expiration of the warrant or (2) the
completion of a liquidation event, including the completion of a qualifying initial public offering, at which time the convertible preferred stock warrant
will terminate unless otherwise exercised and the liability will be reclassified to additional paid-in capital in stockholders’ equity.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company calculates the fair value of all stock-based awards, including stock options on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model for stock options, which is impacted by the fair value of the Company’s common stock, as well as changes in assumptions regarding a
number of highly complex and subjective variables. These variables include, but are not limited to, the expected common stock price volatility over
the term of the stock options, the expected term of the stock options, risk-free interest rates, and the expected dividend yield.

Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency of the Company'’s foreign subsidiaries is the U.S. dollar. Accordingly, all monetary assets and liabilities of these subsidiaries
are remeasured at the current exchange rate at each balance sheet date, nonmonetary assets and liabilities are measured at historical rates, and
revenue and expenses are remeasured at average exchange rates during the period. Transaction gains and losses are included in other expense,
net in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income. The Company’s net foreign currency losses recorded
during the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2019 were $0.4 million and $0.4 million, respectively.

Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income is composed of two components: net income and other comprehensive gain. The Company’s changes in unrealized gains
and losses on available-for-sale marketable securities represent the components of other comprehensive gain (loss) that are excluded from the
reported net income.

Income Taxes

The Company utilizes the asset and liability method under which deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from the temporary differences between the
tax basis of an asset or liability and its reported amount in the consolidated financial statements, as well as from net operating loss and tax credit
carryforwards. Deferred tax amounts are determined by using the tax rates expected to be in effect when the taxes will actually be paid or refunds
received, as provided for under currently enacted tax law. A valuation allowance is established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the
amount expected to be realized.

The Company recognizes the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained on
examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. The tax benefits recognized in the consolidated financial
statements from such positions are then measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized. The
Company recognizes interest and penalties related to income tax matters as income tax expense.

Segment Information

Operating segments are components of an enterprise for which separate financial information is available and is evaluated regularly by the
Company'’s chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and assessing performance. The Company’s chief operating
decision maker is its Chief Executive Officer.

The Chief Executive Officer reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis, for purposes of allocating resources and evaluating
financial performance. The Company has one business activity and there are no segment managers accountable for operations, operating results
beyond revenue or gross profit, or plans for levels or components below the consolidated unit level. Accordingly, the Company has a single reporting
segment.

Concentration of Revenue and Accounts Receivable

The Company defines its revenue concentration based on revenue recognized from individual publishers. For the year ended December 31, 2018,
one publisher represented 30% of the Company’s revenue. For the year ended December 31, 2019, one publisher represented 28% of the
Company'’s revenue. As of December 31, 2018, two
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buyers accounted for 26% and 15%, respectively, of accounts receivable. As of December 31, 2019, two buyers accounted for 34% and 17%,
respectively, of accounts receivable.

Net Income Per Share Attributable to Common Stockholders

Basic and diluted net income per share is computed in conformity with the two-class method required for participating securities. The Company
considers all series of convertible preferred stock as participating securities. Holders of Series A, Series B, Series C, Series D, and Series D Prime
convertible preferred stock are each entitled to receive noncumulative dividends at the rates of $0.0609, $0.0329, $0.04799, $0.3259, and $0.3857
per share per annum respectively, payable prior and in preference to any dividends on shares of the Company’s common stock. In the event a
dividend is paid on common stock, the holders of convertible preferred stock are also entitled to a proportionate share of any such dividend as if they
were holders of common stock on an as-if converted basis. Holders of participating securities do not have a contractual obligation to share in the
Company’s losses. In accordance with the two-class method, earnings allocated to these participating securities and the related number of
outstanding shares of the participating securities have been excluded from the computation of basic and diluted net income per share attributable to
common stockholders.

Under the two-class method, in periods when the Company has net income, net income attributable to common stockholders is determined by
allocating undistributed earnings, calculated as net income less current period convertible preferred stock non-cumulative dividends, between
common stock and convertible preferred stock. In computing diluted net income attributable to common stockholders, undistributed earnings are re-
allocated to reflect the potential impact of dilutive securities. Basic net income per share attributable to common stockholders is computed by
dividing the net income attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period. All
participating securities are excluded from basic weighted-average common stock outstanding. The diluted net income per share attributable to
common stockholders is computed by dividing the net income attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of common
shares outstanding, including potential dilutive common shares assuming the dilutive effect of outstanding stock options using the treasury stock
method.

Unaudited Pro Forma Net Income Per Share Attributable to Common Stockholders

In contemplation of the Company’s initial public offering, the Company has presented unaudited pro forma basic and diluted net income per share
amounts, which have been calculated assuming: (i) the conversion of all series of the Company’s convertible preferred stock (using the as-if
converted method) into shares of common stock as though the conversion had occurred as of January 1, 2019 or, if later, the issuance date of the
convertible preferred stock; and (ii) the net exercise of the Company’s convertible preferred stock warrants as though the net exercise had occurred
as of January 1, 2019 or, if later, the net exercise date of the preferred stock warrants. As a result, the Company has removed the gains and losses
from the remeasurement of the convertible preferred stock warrant liability to fair value from the numerator in the pro forma basic and diluted net
income per share calculation.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In August 2016, FASB issued ASU No. 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230), Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments
(ASU 2016-15), which addresses eight specific cash flow issues with the objective of reducing the existing diversity in practice. The Company
adopted ASU 2016-15 effective January 1, 2019 using a retrospective transaction method and such adoption had no impact on the periods
presented.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

In February 2016, FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases, which requires an entity to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities on its
balance sheet and disclose key information about leasing arrangements. The guidance offers specific accounting guidance for a lessee, lessor, and
sale and leaseback transactions. Lessees and lessors are required to disclose qualitative and quantitative information about leasing arrangements to
enable a user of the financial statements to assess the amount, timing, and uncertainty of cash flows arising from leases. Leases will be classified as
either finance or operating, with the classification affecting the pattern of expense recognition in the income statement. The guidance is effective for
the Company for fiscal year 2022 and requires a modified retrospective adoption, with early adoption permitted. Although the Company is currently
evaluating the impact of this guidance on its consolidated financial statements, the Company expects



that most of its operating lease commitments will be recognized as operating lease liabilities and right-of-use assets upon adoption of the new
guidance.

In June 2016, FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments — Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial
Instruments (ASU 2016-13). This update changes the accounting for recognizing impairments of financial assets, such that credit losses for certain
types of financial instruments will be estimated based on expected losses. The update also modifies the impairment models for available-for-sale
debt securities and for purchased financial assets with credit deterioration since their origination. ASU 2016-13 is effective for the Company in fiscal
year 2023. Early adoption is permitted after for periods beginning after December 15, 2018. The Company has not yet determined the potential
effects of this ASU on its consolidated financial statements.

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-04, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other: Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment (ASU 2017-04).
ASU 2017-04 eliminates Step 2 from the goodwill impairment test which measures a goodwill impairment loss by comparing the implied fair value of
a reporting unit's goodwill with the carrying amount of that goodwill. Under ASU 2017-04, an entity should perform its annual or interim goodwiill
impairment test by comparing the fair value of the reporting unit with its carrying amount, and should recognize an impairment loss for the amount by
which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit’s fair value, with the loss not exceeding the total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting
unit. ASU 2017-04 will be effective for the Company beginning on January 1, 2023. Early adoption is permitted for interim or annual goodwill
impairment tests performed after January 1, 2017. At adoption, this update will require a prospective approach. The Company is currently evaluating
the impact of adopting ASU 2017-04 on its consolidated financial statements.

In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-07, Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718) (ASU 2018-07). ASU 2018-07 aligns the
accounting for share-based awards to employees and non-employees to follow the same model. The guidance is effective for the Company
beginning on January 1, 2020 using a modified retrospective transition approach and early adoption is permitted but no earlier than a Company’s
adoption date of Topic 606. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting ASU 2018-07 on its consolidated financial statements.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-13, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820), Disclosure Framework - Changes to the Disclosure
Requirements for Fair Value Measurement (ASU 2018-13) which amended its conceptual framework to improve the effectiveness of disclosures in
notes to financial statements. ASU 2018-13 eliminates such disclosures around the amount of and reasons for transfers between Level 1 and Level
2 of the fair value hierarchy. The guidance also adds new disclosure requirements for Level 3 measurements. ASU 2018-13 is effective for the
Company beginning January 1, 2020. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of ASU 2018-13 on its
consolidated financial statements.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-15, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other - Internal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-40) - Customer's
Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement That Is a Service Contract (ASU 2018-15). ASC 2018-15 aligns
the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs in a cloud computing arrangement that is a service contract with the requirements for
capitalizing implementation costs incurred to develop or obtain internal-use software. This standard will be effective for the Company beginning
January 1, 2021 and should be applied either retrospectively or prospectively. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the
impact of ASU 2018-15 on its consolidated financial statements.

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12—Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes (ASU 2019-12). ASU 2019-12 simplifies the
accounting for income taxes by removing certain exceptions to general principles in Topic 740 and clarifies and amends existing guidance for clarity
and consistent application. This guidance is effective for the Company beginning January 1, 2022. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is
evaluating the impact of adopting this new accounting guidance on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.
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Note 3 — Fair Value Measurements

Assets and liabilities recorded at fair value on a recurring basis in the consolidated balance sheets are categorized based upon the level of judgment
associated with the inputs used to measure their fair values. Fair value represents the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer
a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Valuation techniques used to measure fair value must
maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The authoritative guidance on fair value measurements
establishes a three-tier fair value hierarchy for disclosure of fair value measurements as follows:

Level | — Inputs are unadjusted, quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date;

Level Il — Inputs are observable, unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities, unadjusted quoted prices for
identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by
observable market data for substantially the full term of the related assets or liabilities; and

m  Level lll — Unobservable inputs that are significant to the measurement of the fair value of the assets or liabilities that are supported by little
or no market data.

A financial instrument’s categorization within the valuation hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value
measurement. The Company’s assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires management
to make judgments and consider factors specific to the asset or liability.

The Company’s financial assets consist of Level | and Il assets. The Company classifies its cash equivalents and marketable securities within Level |
or Level Il because they are valued using either quoted market prices or inputs other than quoted prices which are directly or indirectly observable in
the market, including readily-available pricing sources for the identical underlying security which may not be actively traded. The Company’s fixed
income available-for-sale securities consist of high quality, investment grade securities from diverse issuers. The valuation techniques used to
measure the fair value of the Company’s marketable securities were derived from non-binding market consensus prices that are corroborated by
observable market data and quoted market prices for similar instruments.

The Company’s financial liabilities consist of Level lll liabilities. The convertible preferred stock warrant liability is measured at fair value on a

recurring basis. The valuation methodology and underlying assumptions are discussed further in Note 10 “Warrants.” Changes in fair value of Level
Il liabilities are recorded in other expense, net.
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The following table sets forth the fair value of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities measured on a recurring basis by level within the fair

value hierarchy (in thousands):

December 31, 2018

Level | Level Il Level lll Total
Financial Assets
Cash equivalents $ 5545 § 2,693 $ — 3 8,238
Commercial paper $ — $ 12,111 $ — 3 12,111
U.S. Treasury and government debt securities $ — 3 2,183 § — 3 2,183
Financial Liabilities
Convertible preferred stock warrant liability $ — 3 — 3 276 $ 276
December 31, 2019
Level | Level Il Level lll Total
Financial Assets
Cash equivalents $ 15,280 $ 3,692 $ — 3 18,972
Commercial paper $ — 3 15,186 $ — 3 15,186
U.S. Treasury and government debt securities $ — 3 6,016 $ — 3 6,016
Financial Liabilities
Convertible preferred stock warrant liability $ — 3 — — 3 —

The following table sets forth a summary of the changes in the fair value, which is recognized as a component of other expense, net within the
consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income, of the Company’s Level lll financial liabilities (in thousands):

Convertible Preferred

Stock Warrant

Balance — December 31, 2017 $ 356

Change in fair value (80)
Balance — December 31, 2018 276

Change in fair value 120

Exercise of warrants (396)
Balance — December 31, 2019 $ —
Note 4 — Balance Sheet Components
Marketable Securities
The following table summarizes the Company’s marketable securities by significant investment categories (in thousands):

December 31, 2018
Gross Unrealized Gross Unrealized
Amortized Cost Gains Loss Fair Value

Commercial paper $ 12,111 $ — 3 — 3 12,111
U.S. Treasury and government debt securities $ 2,183 $ — % — 3 2,183
Total $ 14,294 § — $ — 5 14,294
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December 31, 2019

Gross Unrealized Gross Unrealized
Amortized Cost Gains Loss Fair Value
Commercial paper $ 15,186 $ — % — 3 15,186
U.S. Treasury and government debt securities $ 6,010 $ 6 $ — 3 6,016
Total $ 21,196 $ 6 $ — $ 21,202

The remaining contractual maturity of all marketable securities was within one year as of December 31, 2019. Realized gains and losses were not
material for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2019. As of December 31, 2019, there were no securities that were in an unrealized loss
position for more than twelve months.

Property, Equipment and Software, Net
Property, equipment and software, net consists of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

2018 2019
Internal-use software $ 19,596 $ 19,692
Network hardware, computer equipment and software 36,831 45173
Leasehold improvements 1,605 1,622
Furniture and fixtures 905 906
Property, equipment and software, gross 58,937 67,393
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (40,171) (47,062)
Total property, equipment and software, net $ 18,766 $ 20,331

Depreciation and amortization expense related to property, equipment, and software (excluding amortization of internal use software) was $6.3
million and $6.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2019.

The Company capitalized $4.6 million and $6.0 million in software development costs during the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2019,
respectively. Amortization expense of internal use software was $5.0 million and $5.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2019.
These costs are included within cost of revenue in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income.

The Company did not recognize any impairment charges on its long-lived assets during the year ended December 31, 2018. During the year ended
December 31, 2019 the Company discontinued offering its Unified Ad Server product which is part of the capitalized software development and
recorded a $0.7 million impairment charge in cost of revenue in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income.

Intangible Assets, Net
Intangible assets, net consists of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

2018 2019
Amortizable intangible assets:

Customer relationships $ 4370 $ 4,370
Developed technology 2,940 2,940
Trademarks 90 90

Total amortizable intangible assets, gross 7,400 7,400
Accumulated amortization — intangible assets (7,063) (7,400)
Total intangible assets, net $ 337 $ —
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The amortization period for customer relationships, developed technology, and trademark intangible assets is 60 months, 60 months, and 12
months, respectively. As of December 31, 2019, all intangible assets have been fully amortized.

Amortization expense of intangible assets, which is included as a component of cost of revenue, was $1.0 million and $0.3 million for the years
ended December 31, 2018 and 2019, respectively.

Accounts Payable
Accounts payable consists of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

2018 2019
Payable to publishers $ 78,186 $ 96,834
Other 3,675 2,550
Total accounts payable $ 81,861 $ 99,384

Accrued Expenses
Accrued expenses consist of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

2018 2019
Accrued compensation $ 8,184 §$ 9,986
Accrued and other current liabilities 411 1,134
Total accrued expenses $ 8,595 $ 11,120

Note 5 — Loan and Security Agreement

In February 2011, the Company entered into a Loan and Security Agreement (Loan Agreement), with Silicon Valley Bank, or SVB, which was
subsequently amended at various times to provide the Company with additional borrowing capacity and/or flexibility.

As of December 31, 2019, under the revolving line of credit with SVB, the amount the Company can borrow was the lesser of $45.0 million or 80% of
eligible accounts receivable less certain reserves, minus the aggregate principal amount of all outstanding advances. Interest accrues on advances
under the revolving line of credit at a variable rate equal to the prime rate. An unused revolver fee in the amount of 0.30% per annum of the average
unused portion of the revolver line is charged and is payable quarterly in arrears in any quarter where the average closing outstanding balance is
less than $5.0 million. As of December 31, 2019, the applicable interest rate under the revolving line of credit was 4.75%. The maturity date of the
revolving line of credit is November 7, 2020. As of December 31, 2018 and 2019 there was no outstanding advances under the revolving line of
credit.

The Company’s obligations under the line of credit and the letters of credit (described in Note 6) with SVB are secured by substantially all of its
assets excluding its intellectual property. The Loan Agreement contains affirmative covenants including financial covenants that, among other things,
require the Company to maintain an adjusted quick ratio of no less than 1.0 to 1.0. The adjusted quick ratio is defined as the ratio of unrestricted
cash and cash equivalents at SVB, plus billed accounts receivable to total accounts payable plus all SVB loans outstanding and outstanding letters
of credit. The Loan Agreement also restricts the Company from paying dividends to stockholders without prior consent from SVB. The Company was
in compliance with the financial covenants as of December 31, 2019.

Note 6 — Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Leases and Other Contractual Obligations

The Company has commitments for future payments related to office facilities leases and other contractual obligations. The Company leases its
office facilities under operating lease agreements that expire over varying time periods through the year ending December 31, 2023. Certain of these
lease agreements have free or
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escalating rent payment provisions or fund certain leasehold improvements, which the Company accounts as lease incentives. The Company
recognizes rent expense under such agreements on a straight-line basis over the lease term, with any lease incentive amortized as a reduction of
rent expense over the lease term. The Company also has other contractual obligations expiring over varying time periods through the year ending
December 31, 2022. Other contractual obligations primarily relate to minimum contractual payments due to data center providers.

Future minimum commitments as of December 31, 2019, are as follows (in thousands):

Other

Contractual

Years ending December 31, Leases Obligations
2020 $ 2,962 $ 1,519
2021 1,748 1,595
2022 766 706
2023 104 —
Future minimum commitments 5,580 3,820
Less: minimum payments to be received from non-cancelable subleases (447) —
Total future minimum commitments, net $ 5,133 § 3,820

Rent expense, net of sublease income, incurred under operating leases was $2.5 million and $2.6 million for years ended December 31, 2018 and
2019, respectively. Rent expense was offset by sublease income of $0.7 million and $0.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2019.

Letters of Credit

As of December 31, 2019, the Company had two irrevocable letters of credit outstanding related to noncancelable facilities leases in the amounts of
$0.7 million and $0.3 million, with annual automatic renewal and final expiration dates in June 2022 and October 2020, respectively.

Legal Matters

From time to time, the Company has become involved in claims and other legal matters arising in the normal course of business. The Company
investigates these claims as they arise and accrue for contingencies when the Company believes that a loss is probable and that the Company can
reasonably estimate the amount of any such loss. The Company has made an assessment of the probability of incurring any such losses and
whether or not those losses are estimable and although claims are inherently unpredictable the Company concluded that these losses are not
material to the Company’s business, financial position, results of operations, or cash flows. To the extent there is a reasonable possibility that a loss
exceeding amounts already recognized may be incurred, and the amount of such additional loss would be material, the Company will either disclose
the estimated additional loss or state that such an estimate cannot be made.

In June 2020, one of the Company’s buyers which had filed for bankruptcy in March 2019, brought a cause of action to recover amounts paid to the
Company 90 days prior to its bankruptcy filing on the basis that such payments constituted preferential payments by the buyer. This lawsuit is being
managed by the bankruptcy court in consolidation with the buyer’s overall bankruptcy process. The lawsuit claim represents a reasonably possible
loss contingency under the applicable accounting standards. The range of the potential loss contingency is between $0 to $3.4 million. As of
December 31, 2019, no amounts have been recorded as payable, as the Company does not believe any amounts are probable of being owed by the
Company. The Company intends to vigorously defend itself against the lawsuit.
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Indemnification

In the normal course of business, the Company enters into contracts and agreements that contain a variety of representations and warranties and
provide for general indemnification. The Company’s exposure under these agreements is unknown because it involves future claims that may be
made against the Company, but have not yet been made. To date, the Company has not paid any material claims or been required to defend any
actions related to its indemnification obligations. However, the Company may record charges in the future as a result of these indemnification
obligations. In addition, the Company has indemnification agreements with certain of its directors and executive officers that require it, among other
things, to indemnify them against certain liabilities that may arise due to their status or service as directors or officers of the Company. The terms of
such obligations may vary.

Note 7 — Common Stock Reserved for Issuance
The Company had reserved shares of common stock, on an as-converted basis, for future issuance as follows:

December 31, 2019

Conversion of outstanding convertible preferred stock 33,443,969
Exercise of common stock warrants 18,216
Outstanding stock options 7,626,452
Shares reserved for future option grants 1,527,728

Total 42,616,365

Note 8 — Convertible Preferred Stock

Convertible preferred stock as of December 31, 2019 consisted of the following (in thousands, except share amounts):

Shares Issued Aggregate

Shares and Net Carrying Liquidation

Convertible Preferred Stock: Authorized Outstanding Value Preference
Series A 6,973,055 6,973,055 $ 7,061 $ 7,075
Series B 6,614,432 6,614,432 3,605 3,630
Series C 9,376,233 9,376,233 7,464 7,500
Series D 8,000,000 7,753,006 29,971 31,584
Series D Prime 3,000,000 2,727,243 13,115 13,150
Undesignated 36,280 — — —
Total convertible preferred stock 34,000,000 33,443,969 $ 61,216 $ 62,939

The Company recorded the convertible preferred stock at fair value on the dates of issuance, net of issuance costs. Shares of the convertible
preferred stock are not currently redeemable. The Company classified the convertible preferred stock outside of stockholders’ equity because, in the
event of certain “liquidation events” that are not solely within its control (including merger, acquisition, or sale of all or substantially all of its assets),
the shares would become redeemable at the option of the holders. The Company did not adjust the carrying values of the convertible preferred stock
to the deemed liquidation values of such shares since a liquidation event was not probable at any of the balance sheet dates. Subsequent
adjustments to increase or decrease the carrying values to the ultimate liquidation values will be made only if and when it becomes probable that
such a liquidation event will occur.



The holders of the Company’s convertible preferred stock have various rights, preferences, and privileges as follows:

Conversion Rights

Each share of convertible preferred stock is convertible, at the option of the holder, into one fully paid non assessable share of common stock. The
conversion formula is adjusted for such events as dilutive issuances, stock splits, or business combinations. Each and every series of convertible
preferred stock shall convert automatically into common stock at the earlier of (i) a firmly underwritten public offering meeting certain criteria,
including an offering price per share of not less than $12.0543 and at least $50.0 million in gross proceeds; or (i) for Series A, Series B, and Series
C upon the receipt of a written request for such conversion from holders of a majority of the holders of Series A, Series B, and Series C then
outstanding (voting as a single class and on an as-converted to common stock basis) and for Series D and Series D Prime upon the receipt of a
written request for such conversion from holders of a majority of the holders of Series D and Series D Prime then outstanding (voting as a single
class and on an as-converted to common stock basis).

The respective conversion prices are subject to adjustment upon any future stock splits or stock combinations, reclassifications or exchanges of
similar shares, or upon a reorganization, merger, or consolidation of the Company. In addition, the conversion prices are subject to adjustment upon
issuance of additional common stock without consideration or for a consideration per share less than the applicable conversion price of a series of
convertible preferred stock.

Voting Rights

The holders of the convertible preferred stock are entitled to the number of votes equal to the number of shares of common stock into which such
convertible preferred stock is convertible. The holders of Series D, voting as a separate class, have the right to elect one director. The holders of
Series A, Series B, and Series C, voting as a separate class on an as-converted to common stock basis, have the right to elect two directors. The
holders of the common stock, voting as a separate class, have the right to elect two directors. Any additional directors are elected by the holders of
the common stock and preferred stock, voting together as a single class on an as-converted to common stock basis.

Liquidation Rights

In the event of any liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of the Company, holders of Series D and Series D Prime are entitled to a liquidation
preference of $4.0738 per share for the Series D and $4.8217 per share for the Series D Prime, plus any declared but unpaid dividends prior to, and
in preference to, any distributions to the holders of Series A, Series B, Series C, and common stock. Holders of Series C are entitled to a liquidation
preference of $0.7999 per share, plus any declared but unpaid dividends prior to, and in preference to, any distributions to the holders of Series A,
Series B, and common stock. Holders of Series B are entitled to a liquidation preference of $0.5488 per share, plus any declared but unpaid
dividends prior to, and in preference to, any distributions to the holders of Series A and common stock. Holders of Series A are entitled to a
liquidation preference of $1.0146 per share, plus any declared but unpaid dividends prior to, and in preference to, any distributions to the holders of
common stock. Any assets remaining following the distribution to the holders of Series A, Series B, Series C, Series D, and Series D Prime will be
distributed ratably among the holders of Series D, Series D Prime, and common stock pro rata on the basis of the number of shares of common
stock issuable upon the conversion of the convertible preferred stock until the holders of Series D and Series D Prime have received two and one
half times the liquidation preference for the Series D and Series D Prime shares. Thereafter, any remaining assets of the Company will be distributed
pro rata to the holders of common stock.

Any acquisition of the Company by means of merger or other form of corporate reorganization in which the outstanding shares of the corporation are
exchanged for securities or other consideration issued, or caused to be issued, by the acquiring corporation or its subsidiary (other than a
reincorporation transaction) or a sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company shall be treated as a liquidation, dissolution, or winding
up of the corporation and shall entitle the holders of convertible preferred stock and common stock to receive at the closing the funds and assets that
are legally available to them (deemed liquidation). Deemed liquidation may be waived by (i) with respect to the Series A, Series B, and Series C, the
consent or vote of at least a majority of the outstanding Series A, Series B, and Series C, voting together as a single class on an as-converted to
common stock basis; and (ii) with respect to the Series D and Series D Prime, the consent or vote of at least a majority of
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the outstanding Series D and Series D Prime, voting as a single class and on an as-converted to common stock basis.

Dividend Rights

The convertible preferred stockholders are entitled to receive dividends at a rate of $0.0609 per share of Series A per annum, $0.03290 per share of
Series B per annum, $0.04799 per share of Series C per annum, $0.32590 per share of Series D per annum, and $0.38570 per share of Series D
Prime per annum. Such dividends are payable out of funds legally available, are payable only when and if declared by the Company’s board of
directors and are noncumulative. No dividends shall be payable on any common stock until dividends on the convertible preferred stock have been
paid or declared by the board of directors. As of December 31, 2019, no dividends have been declared or paid.

Contingent Redemption

The holders of convertible preferred stock have no rights to voluntarily redeem shares. A liquidation or winding up of the Company, a greater than
50% change in control, or a sale of substantially all of its assets would constitute a redemption event. Although the convertible preferred stock is not
mandatorily or currently redeemable, a liquidation or winding up of the Company would constitute a redemption event outside its control. Therefore,
all shares of convertible preferred stock have been presented outside of stockholders’ equity.

Note 9 — Stockholders’ Notes Receivable and Redeemable Common Stock

In August 2018, the Company loaned its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Growth Officer a total of $4.0 million under secured nonrecourse
promissory notes (the “Notes”). The Notes bear interest at a rate of 2.42% per annum compounded annually and mature on August 30, 2021, with
interest and principal due at maturity. The Notes are secured by pledges of 1.6 million shares of outstanding common stock of the Company owned
by the two officers (the “Pledged Shares”). The Notes may be prepaid in cash at any time without penalty. At maturity and in certain events of
default, the Notes may, at the option of the two officers, be repaid in cash or surrender and cancellation of the Pledged Shares at fair market value. If
the Pledged Shares are insufficient to repay the entire amount due under the Notes, then the value of the Pledged Shares will be deemed to be the
full amount due under the Notes.

As the Company’s only recourse on the Notes and associated interest is the Pledged Shares then the Notes are accounted for as nonrecourse and
recorded to stockholders’ equity. This is accounted for as though the Company repurchased the Pledged Shares and in exchange issued the Notes
and granted 1.6 million fully vested stock options with an exercise price equal to the face value of Notes plus interest. Incremental compensation
expense of $1.0 million was recorded as stock-based compensation expense within the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive
income and was calculated as the difference between the Repurchase Price (defined as the face value of the Notes and the fair value of the stock
options) and the fair value of the Pledged Shares. Periodic principal and interest payments, if any, will be recorded as deposit liabilities until the
Notes are paid off, at which time the deposit balance will be transferred to additional paid in capital. No principal or interest payments were paid
during the year ended December 31, 2019.

In connection with the Notes, the Company provided the officers with a right to sell to the Company outstanding shares of common stock upon
settlement of the Notes (the “Put Option”). The officers may only exercise the Put Option upon repayment of the Notes using the Pledged Shares or
upon the prepayment of the Notes using proceeds from the officers’ sale or disposal of the Pledged Shares at a price less than the face value of the
Notes. The Put Option allows the officers to require the Company to repurchase any or all common stock held or beneficially owned to offset their tax
liabilities resulting from the settlement of the Notes via one of the above methods. As the exercisability of the Put Option and therefore redemption of
the common stock is outside the control of the Company then all common stock held or beneficially owned by the officers requires temporary equity
classification. The Company therefore classified $19.0 million of common stock outside of stockholders’ equity, which represented the fair value of
the shares held or beneficially owned on the transaction date. The Company did not adjust the carrying value of the redeemable common stock
during the year ended December 31, 2019 since a redemption event was not probable.
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Note 10 — Warrants

Convertible Preferred Stock Warrant

In conjunction with the Series D convertible preferred stock financing, the Company issued in September 2012 a warrant to purchase 122,736
shares of Series D convertible preferred stock at an exercise price of $4.0738 per share to a financial advisor. The fair value of the convertible
preferred stock warrant at the time of issuance was $0.2 million, which was recorded as non-cash issuance costs against the proceeds of the Series
D convertible preferred stock. The convertible preferred stock warrant was immediately exercisable in whole or in part over the term of the warrant.
The convertible preferred stock warrant expires at the earlier of (i) seven years from issuance; (ii) immediately prior to the closing of a qualifying
initial public offering; or (iii) completion of a liquidation event.

In September 2019, the Company issued 45,216 Series D convertible preferred shares upon a cashless exercise of all outstanding convertible
preferred stock warrants. The Company recorded a $0.4 million increase in convertible preferred stock and a $0.4 million decrease in convertible
preferred warrant liability on the exercise.

The convertible preferred stock warrant is classified as a liability in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The convertible preferred stock
warrant liability was $0.3 million and $0 as of December 31, 2018 and 2019.

As of December 31, 2018, the Company remeasured the convertible preferred stock warrant liability to fair value using a Probability Weighted
Expected Return Method, or PWERM. The PWERM involves a forward-looking analysis of the possible future outcomes of the enterprise. This
method is particularly useful when discrete future outcomes can be predicted at a high confidence level with a probability distribution. Discrete future
outcomes considered under the PWERM may include a sale, initial public offering, or IPO, and dissolution scenarios. To derive the fair value of the
convertible preferred stock warrant, the Company considered scenarios of completing an IPO and remaining private in the PWERM analysis.

Note 11 — Stock Option Plans

The Company maintains two equity incentive plans: the 2006 Stock Option Plan (2006 Plan) and the 2017 Equity Incentive Plan. In February 2017,
the Company adopted the 2017 Equity Incentive Plan (2017 Plan) and all shares remaining unissued under the 2006 Stock Option Plan were
assumed by the 2017 Plan. Under the 2017 Plan, the Company may grant stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units, or stock appreciation
rights. Stock options granted under the stock option plans may be either incentive stock options (ISOs) or nonqualified stock options (NQSOs). ISOs
may be granted to employees with exercise prices not less than the fair value of the common stock on the grant date as determined by the board of
directors. Under the 2017 Plan, NQSOs may be granted to employees, consultants, and outside directors at exercise prices not less than the fair
value of the common stock on the grant date as determined by the Company and the board of directors. No new awards were issued under the 2006
Plan after the effective date of the 2017 Plan. Outstanding awards granted under the 2006 Plan will remain subject to the applicable award
agreements until such awards are exercised or otherwise terminated or expired by their terms.

Options Outstanding

Number of Shares Weighted Average
Underlying Remaining
Outstanding Weighted-Average Contractual Term Aggregate Intrinsic
Options Exercise Price (Years) Value (in thousands)
Outstanding — December 31, 2018 7,702,079 $ 1.94 6.54 $ 9,512
Options granted 1,411,077 2.97
Options exercised (20,983) 0.20
Options canceled (505,567) 2.4
Options expired (960,154) 1.15
Outstanding — December 31, 2019 7,626,452 § 2.20 6.58 § 8,739
Vested — December 31, 2019 5,387,443 § 1.84 570 §$ 7,996
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Aggregate intrinsic value represents the difference between the exercise price of the options and the estimated fair value of the Company’s common
stock as determined by the board of directors. The intrinsic value of options exercised was $0.1 million and $0.1 million for the years ended
December 31, 2018 and 2019.

The weighted-average grant date fair value of options granted was $1.81 and $1.65 for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2019. As of
December 31, 2019, unrecognized stock-based compensation of $3.8 million related to unvested stock options will be recognized on a straight-line
basis over a weighted average period of 2.33 years.

In August 2018, the Company and certain executives entered into option cancellation agreements whereby the Company and the executives agreed
to cancel 325,000 fully-vested options held by the executives and convert the options into the right to receive an amount of cash consideration equal
to $0.9 million. As the cash paid was $0.2 million greater than the fair value of the common stock issuable under the option agreements this excess
was recorded as stock-based compensation expense within the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income.

Stock-Based Compensation
The total stock-based compensation recognized for both incentive and non-statutory stock options granted under the 2017 and 2006 Plan in the
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income is as follows (in thousands):

December 31,

2018 2019
Cost of revenue $ 38 § 26
Technology and development 554 402
Sales and marketing 759 684
General and administrative 2,041 890
Total stock-based compensation 3,392 2,002
Tax benefit from stock-based compensation (148) (181)
Total stock-based compensation, net of tax effect $ 3,244 $ 1,821

Determination of Fair Value

Year Ended December 31,

2018 2019
Fair market value of common stock $3.04-$3.69 $3.01-$3.18
Expected term (in years) 5.0-6.6 5.2-6.6
Risk-free interest rate 2.6%-3.1% 1.4%—-2.6%
Expected volatility 52%—-54% 52%-54%
Dividend rate —% —%

The fair value of each grant of stock options was determined by the Company and its board of directors using the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model and assumptions discussed below. Each of these inputs is subjective and generally requires significant judgment to determine.

Fair Value of Common Stock - Given the absence of a public trading market, the Company’s board of directors considers numerous objective and
subjective factors to determine the fair value of its common stock at each grant date. These factors include, but are not limited to (i) independent
contemporaneous third-party valuations of common stock; (ii) the prices for the Company’s convertible preferred stock sold to outside investors; (iii)
the rights and preferences of convertible preferred stock relative to common stock; (iv) the lack of marketability of its common stock; (v)
developments in the business; and (vi) the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event, such as an initial public offering or sale of the Company, given
prevailing market conditions.
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Expected Term - The expected term represents the period that the Company’s stock-based awards are expected to be outstanding. For option
grants that are considered to be “plain vanilla,” the Company determines the expected term using the simplified method. The simplified method
deems the term to be the average of the time-to-vesting and the contractual life of the options. For other option grants, the Company estimates
expected term using historical data on employee exercises and post-vesting employment termination behavior taking into account the contractual life
of the award.

Risk-Free Interest Rate - The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant for zero-coupon U.S.
Treasury notes with maturities approximately equal to the option’s expected term.

Expected Volatility - Since the Company does not have a trading history of its common stock, the expected volatility is derived from the average
historical stock volatilities of several unrelated public companies within the Company’s industry that the Company considers to be comparable to its
business over a period equivalent to the expected term of the stock option grants.

Dividend Rate - The expected dividend is assumed to be zero as the Company has never paid dividends and has no current plans to do so.

Note 12 — Net Income Per Share and Unaudited Pro Forma Net Income Per Share Attributable to Common Stockholders

The following table sets forth the computation of the Company’s basic and diluted net income per share (in thousands, except share and per share
data):

Year Ended December 31,

2018 2019
Net income per share attributable to common stockholders — basic:
Numerator:

Net income $ 4425 $ 6,643

Less: Undistributed earnings allocated to participating securities (4,425) (6,204)
Net income attributable to common stockholders — basic $ — 3 439

Denominator:

Weighted average common shares outstanding — basic 11,249,579 10,036,983
Net income per share attributable to common stockholders — basic: $ — $ 0.04
Net income per share attributable to common stockholders — diluted:

Numerator:
Net income attributable to common stockholders - diluted $ —  $ 508
Denominator:
Weighted average shares outstanding — basic 11,249,579 10,036,983
Options to purchase common stock 2,890,121 2,119,796
Warrants to purchase common stock 17,792 13,105
Weighted average shares outstanding — diluted 14,157,492 12,169,884
Net income per share attributable to common stockholders — diluted $ — 9 0.04
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The following weighted-average outstanding shares of common stock equivalents were excluded from the computation of diluted net income per

share attributable to common stockholders for the periods presented because including them would have been anti-dilutive:

Year Ended December 31,

2018 2019
Options to purchase common stock 2,731,945 3,359,458
Common stock issuable upon conversion of convertible preferred stock 33,398,753 33,410,274
Common stock issuable upon exercise and conversion of preferred stock warrant 122,736 —
Total excludable from net income per share attributable to common stockholders — diluted 36,253,434 36,769,732

The following table sets forth the computation of the Company’s unaudited pro forma basic and diluted net income per share attributable to common

stockholders (in thousands, except share and per share data):

Numerator:
Net income
Add: Change in fair value of convertible preferred stock warrant liability
Pro forma net income attributable to common stockholders — basic and diluted
Denominator — basic:
Weighted average common shares outstanding
Pro forma adjustment to reflect assumed conversion of convertible preferred stock to common stock
Pro forma adjustment to reflect assumed net exercise of in-the-money convertible preferred stock warrants
Pro forma weighted-average shares outstanding — basic
Pro forma net income per share attributable to common stockholders — basic
Denominator — diluted:
Pro forma weighted-average shares outstanding - basic
Options to purchase common stock
Warrants to purchase common stock

Pro forma weighted-average shares outstanding — diluted

Pro forma net income per share attributable to common stockholders — diluted
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$ 6,643
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$ 6,763

10,036,983
33,398,753
45,216

43,480,952

$ 0.16

2,119,796
13,105
2,132,901

$ 0.15




Note 13 — Income Taxes
The geographical breakdown of the Company’s income before provision for income taxes is as follows (in thousands):

December 31,

2018 2019
Domestic $ 3,631 $ 6,995
International 1,999 2,227
Income before provision for income taxes $ 5630 $ 9,222

The components of the provision for income taxes are as follows (in thousands):

December 31,

2018 2019
Current provisions for income taxes:
Federal $ 535 $ 1,639
State 145 58
Foreign 529 689
Total current tax expense 1,209 2,386
Deferred tax expense:
Federal $ 458 $ 254
State (440) 4
Foreign (22) (65)
Total deferred tax expense (4) 193
Total provision for income taxes $ 1,205 $ 2,579

In December 2017, the U.S. government enacted the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (Tax Act). The Tax Act includes significant changes to the US corporate
income tax system including: a federal corporate tax rate reduction from 35% to 21%; limitations on the deductibility of executive compensation and
research and development expenditures, immediate expensing of qualified property, the creation of new minimum tax rates such as the base erosion
anti-abuse tax (BEAT), and Global Intangible Low Taxed Income (GILTI) tax; and the transition of U.S. international taxation from a worldwide tax
system to a modified territorial tax system, which will result in a one time U.S. tax liability on those earnings which have not previously been
repatriated to the U.S. (Transition Tax).

The Company has not historically provided for U.S. deferred taxes on the cumulative earnings of non-U.S. affiliates that have been reinvested
indefinitely. However, under the Tax Act the Company was deemed to have repatriated the cumulative earnings of its non-U.S. affiliates and the U.S.
liability associated with those cumulative earnings has been reflected in the current federal tax provision. In addition, the Tax Act has enacted tax
provisions that will subject all foreign earnings to U.S. taxation. The Company will continue to maintain its policy of indefinite reinvestment to the
extent that the repatriation of foreign earnings are restricted by local laws, accounting rules, substantial incremental costs associated with
repatriating the foreign earnings, or other business requirements.

The primary differences between the effective tax rate and the federal statutory tax rate relates to the valuation allowances on the Company’s net
operating losses, uncertain tax positions, the reduction of the federal tax rate as part of the Tax Act, foreign tax rate differences, and non-deductible
stock-based compensation expense.

The income tax provision differs from the amount of income tax determined by applying the applicable U.S. federal statutory income tax rate of 21%
to pre-tax income.
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The reconciliation of the statutory federal income after-tax rate and the Company’s effective income after-tax rate is as follows:

December 31,

2018 2019

Statutory federal income tax rate 21.00 % 21.00 %
State after-tax rate (5.24) 0.67
Stock options 10.57 5.48
Research credit (7.22) (2.85)
Transfer pricing reserve (3.99) (0.68)
Foreign rate differential 5.52 2.37
Foreign derived intangible income (1.18) (7.89)
Other 1.94 9.86

21.40 % 27.96 %

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of deferred income tax assets (liabilities) are as follows (in thousands):

December 31,

2018 2019
Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards $ 233 §$ 194
Accruals and allowances 753 784
Tax credits 864 1,064
Stock-based compensation 1,958 1,749
Intangibles assets 1,310 1,202
Other 824 967
Total deferred tax assets 5,942 5,960
Deferred tax liabilities:
Property, equipment, and software (2,825) (3,003)
Goodwill (508) (562)
Other (277) (256)
Total deferred tax liabilities (3,610) (3,821)
Net deferred income tax asset $ 2332 §$ 2,139

A valuation allowance is provided for deferred tax assets where the recoverability of the assets is uncertain. The determination to provide a valuation
allowance is dependent upon the assessment of whether it is more likely than not that sufficient future taxable income will be generated to utilize the
deferred tax assets. Management has determined that there is sufficient positive evidence that a valuation allowance against deferred tax assets is
not required as of December 31, 2018 and 2019.

The Company had gross state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $3.2 million as of December 31, 2019. These net operating losses
will expire at various dates beginning in 2032 if not utilized and may be subject to annual limitations of usage, as promulgated by the Internal
Revenue Service, due to ownership changes that may have occurred in the past. As of December 31, 2019, the Company has state research and
development credit carryforwards of $2.1 million. The federal credits were fully utilized in 2019. The state credits can be carried forward indefinitely.

Pursuant to Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (Code), the Company’s ability to utilize net operating loss carryforwards
or other tax attributes, such as research tax credits, in any taxable year
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may be limited if the Company experiences an “ownership change.” A Section 382 “ownership change” generally occurs if one or more stockholders
or groups of stockholders who own at least 5% of the Company’s stock increase their ownership by more than 50 percentage points over their lowest
ownership percentage within a rolling three year period. Similar rules may apply under state tax laws. Net operating loss carryforwards and other tax
attributes generated are currently not subject to limitation by Section 382, but subsequent changes in the Company’s stock ownership as well as
other changes that may be outside of the Company’s control, could result in additional ownership changes under Section 382 of the Code.

The Company files U.S., state and foreign income tax returns with varying statutes of limitations. The federal, state, and foreign returns statute of
limitations remains open for tax years from 2013 and thereafter. There are currently no income tax audits involving the Company by U.S., state, or
foreign tax authorities. The India audit was closed in 2019, without any adjustments to tax expense.

Uncertain Tax Positions
The activity related to the unrecognized income tax benefits is as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2018 2019
Gross unrecognized income tax benefits — beginning balance $ 1,956 $ 2,210
Increases related to tax positions taken during the current year 543 541
Decreases related to tax positions taken during prior years (353) (382)
Increases related to tax positions taken during the prior years 64 —
Gross unrecognized income tax benefits — ending balance $ 2210 $ 2,369

The Company recognizes interest and penalties, if any, related to uncertain tax positions in its income tax provision. As of December 31, 2018 and
2019, the Company had approximately $0.2 million and $0.2 million, respectively, of accrued interest related to uncertain tax positions.

All of the $2.4 million of unrecognized income tax benefits would, if recognized, impact the effective tax rate in the period in which each of the
benefits is recognized.

Note —14 Segment Information
The following table represents total revenue by geographic area based on the publisher’s billing address (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2018 2019
United States $ 63,899 $ 77,314
EMEA 24,561 23,642
APAC 10,026 10,988
Rest of the world 778 1,927
Total $ 99,264 $ 113,871
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The Company’s long-lived assets, net by geographic area are summarized as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2018 2019
United States $ 16,393 $ 16,886
Rest of the world 2,710 3,445
Total $ 19,103 $ 20,331

Note 15 — 401(k) Plan

The Company has a 401(k) Savings Plan (the 401(k) Plan) that qualifies as a deferred salary arrangement under Section 401(k) of the Internal
Revenue Code. Under the 401(k) Plan, participating employees may elect to contribute up to 100% of their eligible compensation, subject to certain
limitations. The 401(k) Plan provides for a discretionary employer matching contribution. The Company made no matching contribution to the 401(k)
Plan in 2018 and 2019.

Note 16 — Subsequent Events

The Company evaluated subsequent events through September 16, 2020, the date on which these consolidated financial statements were available
to be issued.

In February 2020, the Company granted stock options under the 2017 Plan to purchase 178,170 shares of common stock at an exercise price of
$3.20 per share.

In July 2020, the Company granted stock options under the 2017 Plan to purchase 1,350,000 of shares of common stock at an exercise price of
$2.16 per share.

In August 2020 an officer prepaid $1.0 million and interest due under the Stockholders’ Notes Receivable.
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PART I

INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

ITEM 13. OTHER EXPENSES OF ISSUANCE AND DISTRIBUTION.

The following table sets forth all costs and expenses, other than underwriting discounts and commissions, paid or payable by the Registrant in
connection with the sale of the Class A common stock being registered. All amounts shown are estimates except for the SEC registration fee and
the FINRA filing fee:

Amount
Paid or
to be Paid

SEC registration fee $
FINRA filing fee

Stock exchange listing fee

Blue sky qualification fees and expenses

Printing and engraving expenses

Legal fees and expenses

Accounting fees and expenses

Transfer agent and registrar fees and expenses

Miscellaneous expenses

Total $

* To be completed by amendment.
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ITEM 14. INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS.

Section 145 of the Delaware General Corporation Law authorizes a court to award, or a corporation’s board of directors to grant, indemnity to
directors and officers under certain circumstances, and subject to certain limitations. The terms of Section 145 of the Delaware General Corporation
Law are sufficiently broad to permit indemnification under certain circumstances for liabilities, including reimbursement of expenses incurred, arising
under the Securities Act.

As permitted by the Delaware General Corporation Law, the Registrant’s restated certificate of incorporation to be effective upon the completion of
this offering contains provisions that eliminate the personal liability of its directors for monetary damages for any breach of fiduciary duties as a
director, except liability for the following:

any breach of the director’s duty of loyalty to the Registrant or its stockholders;

acts or omissions not in good faith or that involve intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law;

under Section 174 of the Delaware General Corporation Law (regarding unlawful dividends and stock purchases); or

any transaction from which the director derived an improper personal benefit.

As permitted by the Delaware General Corporation Law, the Registrant’s restated bylaws to be effective upon the completion of this offering,

provide that:

m the Registrant is required to indemnify its directors and executive officers to the fullest extent permitted by the Delaware General
Corporation Law, subject to very limited exceptions;

m the Registrant may indemnify its other employees and agents as set forth in the Delaware General Corporation Law;

m the Registrant is required to advance expenses, as incurred, to its directors and executive officers in connection with a legal proceeding to
the fullest extent permitted by the Delaware General Corporation Law, subject to very limited exceptions; and

= the rights conferred in the restated bylaws are not exclusive.

Prior to completion of this offering, the Registrant has entered or will enter into indemnification agreements with each of its current directors and
executive officers to provide these directors and executive officers additional contractual assurances regarding the scope of the indemnification set
forth in the Registrant’s restated certificate of incorporation and restated bylaws and to provide additional procedural protections. There is no
pending litigation or proceeding involving a director or executive officer of the Registrant for which indemnification is sought. Reference is also made
to the underwriting agreement to be filed as Exhibit 1.1 to this registration statement, which provides for the indemnification of executive officers,
directors, and controlling persons of the Registrant against certain liabilities. The indemnification provisions in the Registrant’s restated certificate of
incorporation, restated bylaws, and the indemnification agreements entered into or to be entered into between the Registrant and each of its
directors and executive officers may be sufficiently broad to permit indemnification of the Registrant’s directors and executive officers for liabilities
arising under the Securities Act.

The Registrant has obtained insurance policies under which, subject to the limitations of the policies, coverage is provided to its directors, and
executive officers against loss arising from claims made by reason of breach of fiduciary duty or other wrongful acts as a director or executive officer,
including claims relating to public securities matters, and to the Registrant with respect to payments that may be made by us to these directors and
executive officers pursuant to the Registrant’s indemnification obligations or otherwise as a matter of law.

Certain of the Registrant’s non-employee directors may, through their relationships with their employers, be insured and/or indemnified against
certain liabilities incurred in their capacity as members of the Registrant’s board of directors.

ITEM 15. RECENT SALES OF UNREGISTERED SECURITIES.
Since January 1, 2017, the Registrant has issued and sold the following securities:

1. The Registrant has granted to its directors, officers, employees, and consultants options to purchase 6,349,936 shares of Class B common
stock under its 2017 Equity Incentive Plan with per share
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exercise prices ranging from $2.15 to $4.12. These transactions were exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act in
reliance upon Rule 701 promulgated under the Securities Act, Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act or Regulation D or Regulation S
promulgated under the Securities Act.

2. The Registrant issued to its directors, officers, employees and consultants 144,805 shares of Class B common stock upon exercise of
options granted by the Registrant under its 2006 Stock Option Plan and 2017 Equity Incentive Plan, with purchase prices ranging from
$0.15 to $4.12 per share. These transactions were exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act in reliance upon Rule
701 promulgated under the Securities Act, Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act or Regulation D or Regulation S promulgated under the
Securities Act.

3. In September 2012, the Registrant issued to GCA Savvian Advisors, LLC a warrant to purchase an aggregate of 122,736 shares of Series D
Preferred Stock, with an exercise price per share of $4.0738. On September 5, 2019, GCA Savvian Advisors, LLC exercised its warrant for
45,216 shares of Series D Preferred Stock for an aggregate exercise price of $184,200.95. The securities issued in this transaction were
exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act in reliance on Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act.

4. In May 2013, the Registrant issued to MediaLink, LLC warrants to purchase an aggregate of 18,216 shares of common stock at a purchase
price of $0.7999 per share. In October 2019, MediaLink, LLC transferred its warrants to purchase common stock to MLEHCO, LLC. On May
1, 2020, the warrants expired pursuant to their terms. The securities issued in this transaction were exempt from the registration
requirements of the Securities Act in reliance on Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act.

5. In February 2011, the Registrant issued to Silicon Valley Bank a warrant to purchase an aggregate of 40,000 shares of common stock at a
purchase price of $3.00 per share. In February 2018, Silicon Valley Bank transferred its warrant to purchase common stock to SVB
Financial Group. On February 21, 2018, SVB Financial Group exercised its warrant for 9,151 shares of common stock pursuant to the net
exercise terms of the warrant. The securities issued in this transaction were exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act
in reliance on Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act.

6. InJuly 2011, the Registrant issued to Silicon Valley Bank a warrant to purchase an aggregate of 80,000 shares of common stock at a
purchase price of $3.00 per share. On July 29, 2018, the Registrant and Silicon Valley Bank agreed to extend the term of the warrant to
December 31, 2018. On December 31, 2018, the warrant expired pursuant to its terms. The securities issued in this transaction were
exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act in reliance on Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act.

None of the foregoing transactions involved any underwriters, underwriting discounts or commissions, or any public offering, and the Registrant
believes each transaction was exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act as stated above. All recipients of the foregoing
transactions either received adequate information about the Registrant or had access, through their relationships with the Registrant, to such
information. Furthermore, the Registrant affixed appropriate legends to the share certificates and instruments issued in each foregoing transaction
setting forth that the securities had not been registered and the applicable restrictions on transfer.
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ITEM 16. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES.

(a) Exhibits.

Exhibit

Number Description of Document

1.1* Form of Underwriting Agreement.

3.1 Seventh Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as currently in effect.

3.2* Form of Restated Certificate of Incorporation, to be effective immediately prior to the completion of this offering.

3.3* Bylaws, as currently in effect.

3.4* Form of Restated Bylaws, to be effective immediately prior to the completion of this offering.

4.1* Form of Class A Common Stock Certificate.

4.2 Fifth Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights Agreement, dated May 19, 2014, by and among the Registrant and certain of its
stockholders.

5.1* Opinion of Fenwick & West LLP.

10.1* Form of Indemnification Agreement.

10.2*# 2006 Stock Option Plan, as amended, and forms of equity agreements thereunder.

10.3"# 2019 Executive Bonus Plan.

10.4*# 2017 Equity Incentive Plan and forms of equity agreements thereunder.

10.5*# 2020 Equity Incentive Plan, to become effective on the day immediately before the date of this prospectus, and forms of award
agreements.

10.6*# 2020 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, to be effective on the effective date of this registration statement, and form of subscription
agreement.

10.7*# Employment Agreement, effective as of , by and between the Registrant and Rajeev K. Goel.

10.8*# Employment Agreement, effective as of , by and between the Registrant and Amar K. Goel.

10.9*# Employment Agreement, effective as of , by and between the Registrant and Steven Pantelick.

10.10* Promissory Note, dated as of August 30, 2018, by and between the Registrant and The Goel Family Trust.

10.11* Promissory Note, dated as of August 30, 2018, by and between the Registrant and the Blue Rock Trust.

10.12* Stock Repurchase Agreement, dated as of November 20, 2018, by and between the Registrant and Mukul Kumar.

10.13* Second Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated June 26, 2014, by and between the Registrant and Silicon
Valley Bank, as amended.

10.14* Google Exchange Integration Agreement, dated May 14, 2018, by and between the Registrant and Google Inc, as amended.

10.15* PubMatic Demand Partner Agreement, dated November 5, 2011, by and between the Registrant and The Trade Desk, Inc., as

amended.
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10.16* PubMatic Master Advertising Agreement, effective as of June 1, 2015, by and between the Registrant and Verizon Sourcing LLC,

as amended.
21.1* Subsidiaries of the Registrant.
23.1* Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP, independent registered public accounting firm.
23.2* Consent of Fenwick & West LLP (included in Exhibit 5.1).
24 1% Power of Attorney (included in the signature page to this Registration Statement on Form S-1).

* To be filed by amendment.
# Indicates management contract or compensatory plan.

(b) Financial Statement Schedules.

No financial statement schedules are provided because the information called for is not required or is shown either in the financial statements or
notes.

ITEM 17. UNDERTAKINGS.

The undersigned Registrant hereby undertakes to provide to the underwriters at the closing specified in the underwriting agreement certificates in
such denominations and registered in such names as required by the underwriters to permit prompt delivery to each purchaser.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to directors, officers, and controlling persons of the
Registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the Registrant has been advised that in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange
Commission such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act of 1933 and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event
that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the Registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer, or
controlling person of the Registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer, or controlling
person in connection with the securities being registered, the Registrant will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by
controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as
expressed in the Securities Act of 1933 and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.

The undersigned Registrant hereby undertakes that:

(a) For purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, the information omitted from the form of prospectus filed as part
of this registration statement in reliance upon Rule 430A and contained in a form of prospectus filed by the Registrant pursuant to
Rule 424(b)(1) or (4) or 497(h) under the Securities Act of 1933 shall be deemed to be part of this registration statement as of the time it
was declared effective.

(b) For the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each post-effective amendment that contains a form of
prospectus shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities
at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act, the Registrant has duly caused this registration statement on Form S-1 to be signed on its behalf
by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in Redwood City, California, on the day of , 2020.

PUBMATIC, INC.

By:

Rajeev K. Goel
Chief Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below hereby constitutes and appoints Rajeev K. Goel
and Steven Pantelick, and each of them, as his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact, proxies and agents, each with full power of substitution, for him in
any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this registration statement (including post-effective amendments or any abbreviated
registration statement and any amendments thereto filed pursuant to Rule 462(b) increasing the number of securities for which registration is
sought), and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission,
granting unto said attorneys-in-fact, proxies and agents full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and
necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully for all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming
all that said attorneys-in-fact, proxies and agents, or their or his substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this registration statement on Form S-1 has been signed by the following persons in the
capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
Chief Executive Officer and Director 2020
Rajeev K. Goel (Principal Executive Officer) ’
Chief Financial Officer 2020
Steven Pantelick (Principal Financial Officer) ’
Controller 2020
Michael Van Der Zweep (Principal Accounting Officer) ’
Director , 2020
Cathleen Black
- Director , 2020
W. Eric Carlborg
Director , 2020
Amar K. Goel
- Director , 2020
Ashish Gupta
Director , 2020

Narendra Gupta



